Child Health and Mortality in resource-poor settings: a life-course and systemic approach

Kananura Rornald Muhumuza International Development Department, The London School of Economics and Political Science

A thesis submitted to the Department of International Development of the London School of Economics and Political Science for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

London, August 2021

Declaration of authorship

I certify that the thesis I have presented for examination for the MPhil/PhD degree of the London School of Economics and Political Science is solely my own work other than where I have clearly indicated that it is the work of others (in which case the extent of any work carried out jointly by me and any other person is clearly identified in it).

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. Quotation from it is permitted, provided that full acknowledgement is made. This thesis may not be reproduced without my prior written consent. I warrant that this authorisation does not, to the best of my belief, infringe the rights of any third party. I declare that my thesis consists of 55,875 words.

Statement of co-authorship

This thesis conforms to the requirements of a doctoral thesis from the London School of Economics and Political Science. Guidelines state a minimum of three papers of publishable standard out of which at least one should be sole-authored. Accordingly, this thesis presents an introductory chapter that gives an overview, the motivation, and objectives. The second chapter presents the methods applied in sub-studies. The third, fourth, fifth and sixth chapters are presented in the style of a journal article. Finally, chapter 7 brings together the key findings of the thesis, discusses their implications and limitations, and provides areas for further research.

I confirm that my second, third and fourth papers in chapters 4, 5 and 6 are sole-authored papers. I declare that the first paper presented in chapter 3 is jointly co-authored with my supervisors, Tiziana Leone and Arjan Gjonca, the Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Surveillance Site team (Tryphena Nareeba and Dan Kajungu) and Peter Waiswa. For that chapter, I led and carried out most of the work. The details of the contributions are provided in the table below.

	Chapter 3
RMK	Conceptualisation, data curation, formal
	analysis, writing – original draft, Writing –
	review & editing
TL	Conceptualisation, manuscript review and
	editing
AG	Conceptualisation, manuscript review and
	editing
PW	Conceptualisation, manuscript review and
	editing
TN	Data validation and manuscript review
DK	Data validation and manuscript review
RMK: Rornald Muhumuza Kananura, AG: Arjan Gjonca, TL: Tiziana Leone, TN: Tryphena	
Nareeba. PW: Peter Waiswa, and DK: Dan Kajungu	

Table of authorship contributions

Abstract

While there has been a staggering decline in global child mortality, sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) has consistently contributed the largest share. The 2020 global estimates on child mortality indicate SSA contributing 42%, 53% and 61% of neonatal, under-five, and 5-9 deaths, respectively. Moreover, the 1990-2020 child mortality data indicate an upward trend in SSA's contribution in all age groups. The persistent high child mortality within the region could be attributed, amongst others, to inequities in health services' access within countries. Additionally, there have been limited interventions that target children aged 5 years and beyond due to the limited research and data systems. As the focus of this paper-based thesis, Uganda as the study area shows the same issues within the SSA context. Therefore, it presents a novel opportunity to understand child health and mortality mechanisms among children aged 0-9 years. Guided by the concepts of interdependence, social interactions and health service delivery systems' drawn from social and health systems and life-course perspectives, the thesis' specific objectives are to: 1) determine the under-10 mortality age-specific estimates; 2) assess the epidemiological shift in the under-10 mortality risk factors and causes of death; 3) assess the role of Low Birth Weight (LBW) in mediating the new-born mortality risk factors and the role of institutional delivery in new-born mortality; 4) identify key community and household predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea, and 5) examine how multiple factors concurrently affect access to appropriate health care services.

Using a decade (2005-2015) of event history data collected by Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Surveillance Site (HDSS) in Eastern Uganda in Chapter 3¹, I found that the under-10 and 5-9 years of age mortality probabilities were 99 per 1000 live births and 11 per 1000 children aged 5-9 years, respectively. The new-born mortality and perinatal mortality were estimated at 22 and 31 per 1000 live births, respectively, with death within the first day of life (0-1 day) contributing the largest share (62%). I found that the magnitude of the association of the risk factors with under-10 mortality varied by age, with a stronger association observed among infants. The order of the top causes of mortality altered with age, with gastrointestinal infections and injuries emerging among 5-9 years old, but malaria and malnutrition remaining among the leading four mortality causes. Using Iganga-Mayuge HDSS data in Chapter 4², I found that institutional delivery had an insignificant inverse effect on new-born mortality. The LBW mediated multiple factors, including adolescence age, rural residence, multiple births and unmarried marital status.

¹ Kananura, R., M., Leone, T., Tryphena, N., Kajungu, D., Waiswa, P., & Gjonca, A. (2020). Under 10 mortality patterns, risk factors, and mechanisms in low resource settings of Eastern Uganda: An analysis of event history demographic and verbal social autopsy data. *PLoS ONE*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234573</u>

² Kananura, R. M. (2021). Mediation role of low birth weight on the factors associated with newborn mortality and the moderation role of institutional delivery in the association of low birth weight with newborn mortality in a resource- - poor setting. *BMJ Open*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046322

The novel machine learning technique applied on 2006-2016 Uganda DHS data in Chapter 5³ helps us identify rural-urban differentials in the deterministic pattern of a child's diarrhoea and acute respiratory infection (ARI). The study findings confirm the notion that ARI and diarrhoea risk factors overlap. These factors relate to the household's structure and composition, which is characterised by poor hygiene and sanitation and poor household environments that make children more suspectable of developing these diseases; maternal socio-economic factors such as education, occupation, and fertility (birth order); individual risk factors such as child age, birth weight and nutritional status; and protective interventions (immunisation). Furthermore, the qualitative data analysis collected in Chapter 6⁴ revealed how multiple factors concurrently affect access to obstetric and child health care services. Chapter 6 findings were used to develop a multisectoral and multidimensional implementation framework for obstetric and child health care services in resource-poor settings.

Overall, the application of life course and systemic approach in the analysis and interpretation of the results provides an insight into the need for holistic interventions (social, structural, and health systems) throughout the stages of child development. Each paper brings new insights into the mechanisms and determinants of under-10 mortality in resource-poor settings. Together, the papers help us build a stronger life-course and health systems framework for child health and survival, contributing to the recent call for redesigning child health programs.

³ Kananura, R. M. Machine learning predictive modelling for identification of predictors of acute respiratory infection and diarrhoea in Uganda's rural and urban settings. Under production in PLOS Global Public Health (<u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000430</u>).

⁴ Kananura, R. M. Towards a multidimensional and multisectoral approach: rethinking access to obstetric and under-5 child healthcare implementation framework. *To be submitted in a peer review journal (Social science and medicine or BMJ Global Health)*

Acknowledgement

Studying at LSE was an immense privilege for me, not only as someone from the Global South but also as someone who lived and studied in a rural-poor setting within Uganda. This would not have been possible without the shoulders of my supervisors Tiziana Leone and Arjan Gjonca, who tirelessly worked with me throughout my PhD journey. I cannot thank them enough for the constant support I received for all four years of my studies at LSE. Their coordinated words "work well", "we see you among the best global researchers", "you have the potential", and "yes you can" gave me a "go forward". Special thanks to Tiziana for sharing the PhD call on her Twitter page, and guiding me through the application process.

Thank you, Peter Waiswa, for encouraging me to do a PhD and moving with me throughout this journey. You have indeed selflessly supported me, and as an advocate for building the capacity of young African researchers, you should be happy about this achievement. I thank all the LSE colleagues who have always inspired me: Laura Sochas, Joe Strong, Ginevra Floridi, Diego Alburez-Gutierrez, Filippo Temporin, Rishita Nandagiri, Orsola Torris, Kim SanJune, Rafael Carranza, Liz Mann, Rana Khazbak, Philippa Mullins, Victoria Donnaloja, Alexander Soderholm, Mario Battaglini, and Valentina lemmi.

I am grateful to Philip Mwondha and Muzaforo Rubanga, whom I lived with in the same flat and who helped me materially and psychologically when I got Covid-19 in the first month of the wave. Christina Namasembe and Justine Nakimuli, thank you for always checking on me and for inviting me to live in your homes during festive seasons. I am also grateful to David Kibirige, who drove from Oxford to pick me up from Heathrow in the first week of reporting and oriented me on how to navigate London. Thank you, Francis Mpagi, for introducing me to David. I am thankful to Goodenough London College for its conducive academic environment for graduate students and the financial support they provided whenever I was short of funds. Thank you, Alpha Forna, for our usual evening and weekend meetings where we would share our academic experiences and culture.

I thank the Department of Health Policy, Planning and Management at Makerere University School of Public Health for supporting me financially and providing working space whenever I was in Uganda. Thank you to my friends and colleagues for your inspiration. You are too many to list here, but special mention goes to Joseph Akuze, Elizabeth Ekirapa, Moses Tetui, Doris Kwesiga, Aloysious Ssenyonjo, Aloysious Mutebi, Philip Wanduru, Ayub Kakaire and Catherine Birabwa.

Finally, and most importantly, I am most grateful to my family, especially my partner Akampurira Catherine and our children Kevin Kananura, Ahumuza Catherine, Amanya Karly, and Agaba Tatiana, who have been patient with me amidst several challenges while doing this PhD. I am thankful to my parents Joyce Kananura, Herbert Kananura and my siblings for your continued encouragement. You indeed wanted to see me through as the first PhD holder in our family, clan and perhaps the village. This would not have been possible without the financial support provided by the LSE.

In memory of Aunt Beatrice Nyeinomwe, who used the little she had to pay for my undergraduate tuition.

Table of Contents

List of tables	12
List of figures and field photographs	13
	16
1.1. Why study child health and survival	
1.2. Why Uganda	22
1.2.1. Under-five mortality	22
1.2.2. Access to maternal and child health care services	23
1.2.3. Current health policies and health structure in Uganda	24
1.3. Why the life-course and systemic framework	26
1.4. A life-course and systemic approach to child health and survival	29
1.4.1. Preconception and pregnancy health interventions	
1.4.2. Birth and neonatal health interventions	32
1.4.3. Other postnatal and childhood health interventions	32
1.4.4. Challenges to access prevention and care services	33
1.5. Factors that affect health care access, child health and survival	34
1.5.1. Socioeconomic factors	34
1.5.2. Maternal demographic factors	37
1.5.6. Behavioural risk factors	
1.5.7. Child physical characteristics	
1.5.8. Place of residence	38
1.6. Aim and objectives of the thesis	40
1.7. The structure of the thesis	41
CHAPTER TWO: DATA AND METHODS	44
2.1. Study setting	44
2.1.1. Study area setting field observation case	45
2.1.2. Health facility's setting field observation case	46
2.3. Health and demographic surveillance data	48
2.4. Uganda demographic and health survey data	
2.5. Qualitative data	50
2.5.1. Selection of study area and participants	50
2.5.2. Ethics	50
2.6. Data Analysis	52
2.6.1. Analysis of event histories data	52

2.6.2. Estimation of under 10 mortality patterns	53
2.6.3. Assessing the under-10 mortality risk factors' patterns	53
2.6.4. Assessing Mediation role of low birth weight in the association of new-born mortality factors	/ risk 54
2.6.5. Missing data and multiple imputations for event histories data	58
2.6.6. Causes of death	61
2.6.7. HDSS birth registration data quality issues	61
2.6.8. Predicting community and household factors for suspected pneumonia and diarrhoe	a63
2.6.7. Model evaluation	65
2.7. Data management and analysis of qualitative data	66
2.8. Reflexivity	66
2.8.1. Reflexivity in the thesis	67
2.8.2. Reflexivity in Qualitative data collection	67
2.8.3. Reflexivity in using HDSS data	70
CHAPTER THREE: UNDER 10 MORTALITY PATTERNS, RISK FACTORS, AND MECHANISMS Abstract	72 72
3.1. Introduction	73
3.2. Methods	74
3.3. Results	75
3.3.1. Event histories study participants' information	75
3.3.2. Mortality estimates and patterns	75
3.3.3. Causes of Mortality.	77
3.4. Drivers of death during the life-course	77
3.4.1.Maternal morbidity in pregnancy	77
3.4.2. Access to health services among children who died	78
3.4.3. Multivariate analysis for under-10 child mortality risk factors using event histories da	ta 81
3.5. Discussion	84
3.6. Conclusion	88
3.7. Strengths and limitations	88
CHAPTER FOUR: LOW BIRTH WEIGHT, INSTITUTIONAL DELIVERY, AND NEW-BORN MORTALITY Abstract	90 90
4.1. Introduction	91
4.2. Methods	92
4.3. Results	96
4.3.1. Participants' characteristics	96

4.3.2. Perinatal mortality, neonatal mortality, and LBW est	imates96
4.3.3. Perinatal mortality, neonatal mortality, and LBW dist demographic characteristics	tribution by social-economic and
4.3.4. The perinatal mortality pathways	
4.3.5. Factors associated with late neonatal mortality	
4.5. Discussion	
4.5.1. Health facility delivery and neonatal mortality	
4.5.2. LBW effect on perinatal and neonatal mortality	
4.6. Conclusion	
4.7. Strengths and limitations	
CHAPTER FIVE: HOUSEHOLD AND INDIVIDUAL-LEVEL PREDICTOR DIARRHOEA AMONG UNDER-5	RS OF SUSPECTED PNEUMONIA AND
Abstract	
5.1. Introduction	
5.2. Analysis and theoretical approaches to the measures of a	child morbidity risk factors
5.3. Methods	
5.3.2. Response and explanatory variables	
5.3.3. Data analysis	
5.4. Results	
5.4.1. Descriptive Statistics	
5.4.2. Rural-urban differences in the predictors of diarrhoe data	a and ARI using 2006-2016 UDHS 124
5.4.3. Key household and individual predictors of diarrhoea	a in rural and urban areas125
5.4.4. Key household and individual predictors of ARI in run	ral and urban areas127
5.4.5. Association of identified predictors with the occurre	nce of ARI and diarrhoea129
5.5. Discussion	
5.5.1. Individual characteristics and child morbidity	
5.5.2. Maternal characteristics and child morbidity	
5.5.3. Household characteristics and child morbidity	
5.5.4. Protective interventions and child morbidity	
5.6. Strengths and limitations	
5.7. Conclusion	
5.8. Acknowledgement	
5.9. Appendices	

5.9.1. Appendix 1	142
5.9.2. Appendix 2	143
CHAPTER SIX: RETHINKING ACCESS TO OBSTETRIC AND UNDER-5 CHILD HEALTHCARE ACCESS CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	146 146
6.1. Introduction	147
6.2. Theoretical framework	148
6.3. Methods	149
6.4. Reflexivity	149
6.4. Findings	150
6.4.1. Description of study participants	150
6.5. Thematic findings	152
6.5.1. Theme 1: the role of family and community social support networks	152
6.5.2. Theme 2: the role of community system characteristics	154
6.5.3. Theme 3: Health services system factors	156
6.5.4. Concurrent barriers	158
6.6. Discussion	161
6.7. Conclusion	164
6.8. Strengths and limitations	166
6.8. Appendices	166
Appendix 6.1: Interview quotation on family networks in maternal and child health	166
Appendix 6.2: Interviews' quotation on community systems that affect assess to appropria	ate
services	168
Appendix 6.3: Interviews' quotation on health systems services factors that affect appropr care services	iate 172
CHAPTER SEVEN: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	174 175
7.2. Conceptual and methodological contribution	178
7.3. Strengths and limitations	180
7.4. Implications for child health policies in Uganda and other countries with similar context .	183
7.4.1. Preconception	184
7.4.2. Pregnancy	188
7.4.3. Birth and postnatal	190
7.4.4. Beyond birth and early postnatal	192
7.4.5. Implications for strengthening surveillance data	193

7.4.6. Operationalising the implementation of suggested recommendations	194
CHAPTER EIGHT: THESIS APPENDICES	199
8.1. Qualitative data collection tools	199
8.1.1. Interview consent form	199
8.1.2. Focus Group Discussion interview guide for Women with children aged 6 moths-5 years	201
9.1.2. Koy Informant Interview Guide for women who experience propatal deaths	202
8.1.5. Key informatic interview Guide for women who experience prenatal deaths	202
Bibliography of Works Cited	213

List of tables

Table 1.1: Trends in the percentage share of the number of global child mortality
Table 1.2: Comparing access to obstetric health care services across regions as of 201919
Table 1.3: Trends in the percentage share of global 5-9 child mortality
Table 1.4: Health facility by ownership in Uganda25
Table 2.1: Distribution of unweighted sample size across years of data collection 50
Table 2.2: HDSS variables and description
Table 2.3: Logistic and firth logit bivariate analysis using 2011-2015 Iganga-Mayuge event history data.
Table 2.4: Distribution of individual characteristics for completed and imputed data using the 2005-2015 birth registration dataset.58
Table 2.5: Determinants of birth weight, wealth, and marital status missingness in birth registration dataset
Table 2.6: Assessing the number of registered births in Iganga-Mayuge HDSS between 2005-201562
Table 2.7: Codes that were generated through open coding using RQDA
Table 3.1: Under 10 mortality estimated-abridged life table using 2005-2015 birth registration dataset
Table 3.2: Stillbirth and new-born mortality causes using 2005-2015 Iganga-Mayuge verbal autopsy data. 77
Table 3.3: Maternal morbidities experienced in the last 3 months of pregnancy using 2005-2015Iganga-Mayuge verbal autopsy data
Table 3.4: Average number of days before sick children accessed medical treatment after symptomrecognition using 2005-2015 Iganga-Mayuge verbal autopsy data
Table 3.5: Multivariate analysis of Child mortality risk factors using 2005-2015 Iganga-Mayuge HDSS event histories data 81

Table 4.1: Distribution of new-born mortality and LBW by stratifiers
Table 4.2: Analysis of direct determinants of perinatal mortality using 2011-2015 Iganga-Mayuge HDSS event histories data 102
Table 4.3: Perinatal mortality indirect determinants mediated through LBW using Iganga-MuyugeHDSS event history data104
Table 4.4: Indirect pathways of the association between LBW and perinatal mortality105
Table 4.5: Late neonatal mortality risk factors using 2011-2015 Iganga-Mayuge HDSS event histories data 105
Table 5.1: Distribution of unweighted sample size across years of data collection122
Table 5.2: Trends in the prevalence of ARI and diarrhoea among under-5 of age children .123
Table 5.3: Comparing the performance of logistic, Lasso and GBM models in the identificationof the predictors of ARI and diarrhoea124
Table 5.4: Differences in identified predictors of diarrhoea in traditional logistic regression and GBM 125
Table 5.5: Differences in identified predictors of ARI in traditional logistic regression and GBM
Table 5.6: Differences in identified predictors of ARI and diarrhoea between the places of residence
Table 6.1: Description of men who participated in focus group discussion150
Table 6.2: Interviewed women in the focus group discussion and in-depth interviews

List of figures and field photographs

Figure 1.1: Comparing sub-Saharan Africa trends in under five and neonatal mortality with global and other regional trends17
Figure 1.2: Changes in child mortality rate in Uganda (1998-2016)23
Figure 1.3: Changes in health service access indicators in Uganda (1998-2016)24
Figure 1.4: Life-course and systems framework for child health and survival
Figure 1.5: conceptual framework illustrating the mechanisms through which various factors affect child survival
Figure 2.1: Map of Uganda showing regions and districts boundaries45
Figure 2.2: Field photos illustrating the community transport system
Figure 2.3: Field photo illustration boda-boda as the major means of transport for referral at lower-level facilities

Figure 2. 4: Path diagram of a relatively simple mediation model
Figure 2.5: Comparing the LBW and household poor status for imputed and completed cases60
Figure 2.6: Comparing wealth index (1 and 2) imputed and complete case analysis estimates61
Figure 2.7: Assessment of the association of ARI and Diarrhoea with child age64
Figure 3.1: Infant (1-12 months) mortality causes79
Figure 3.2: Child (1-5 years) mortality causes79
Figure 3.3: Childhood (5-10 years) mortality causes79
Figure 3.4: Access to health facility delivery80
Figure 3.5: Access to treatment for sick children80
Figure 3.6: Association of birth weight and birth category with under-10 mortality82
Figure 3.7: Association of maternal age and marital status with under-10 mortality82
Figure 3.8: Association of maternal education and household wealth with under-10 mortality83
Figure 3.9: Relationship between the place of residence and under-10 mortality84
Figure 4.1: Relationship between age and birth outcomes for age categorization using event histories data93
Figure 4.2: New-born mortality pathways analysis95
Figure 4.3: Annual changes in perinatal mortality and neonatal mortality rates97
Figure 4.4: Perinatal and New-born mortality distribution by days of death
Figure 4.5: Annual changes in low birth weight99
Figure 5.1: Percentage of under-five aged children with suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea in sub-Saharan countries
Figure 5.2: Predictors of diarrhoea among rural and urban residents in order of importance
Figure 5.3: predictors of ARI in rural and urban residents in order of importance
Figure 5.4: Association between children's characteristics and child morbidities131
Figure 5.5: Association between maternal characteristics and child morbidities132

Figure 5.7: Association of vaccination with child morbidities	134
Figure 6.1: Healthcare access conceptual framework	160
Figure 7.1: Life course and systemic interventions for improving child health	185
Figure 7.2: Unmet need for and access to modern family planning services	187
Figure 7.3: Teenagers who have begun childbearing	188
Figure 7.4: Operationalizing the implementation of suggested recommendations	195

List of abbreviations

ANC	Antenatal care
ARI	Acute Respiratory Infections
AUC	Area under the ROC curve
CHW	Community Health Workers
DHS	Demographic Health Surveys
EBW	Extreme Birth Weight
FGD	Focus Group Discussions
GBM	Gradient Boosted Model
HC	Health Center
HDSS	Health and Demographic Surveillance Site
HIC	High Income Countries
	International Network for the Demographic Evaluation of Populations and
INDEPTH	their Health
KI	Key Informant
LBW	Low Birth Weight
LMIC	Low- and Middle-Income Countries
LSE	London School of Economics
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
NM	Neonatal Mortality
OR	Odds Ratio
PM	Perinatal Mortality
RA	Research Assistant
RF	Random Forest
ROC	Receiver Operating Characteristic
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SE	Standard Error
UDHS	Uganda Demographic Health Surveys
UN IGME	United Nations Inter-Agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Emergency Fund
VHT	Village Health Teams
WHO	World Health Organisation

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

1.1. Why study child health and survival

There has been a remarkable global reduction in child mortality (0-9 years old) (UNICEF, 2014; United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME), 2017, 2020; World Health Organization (WHO), 2010), partly due to the governments, funder, and international agencies' commitments, and global economic and health technological improvements (Tomlinson et al., 2021). Since 2000, when the global Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were initiated, there has been an increase in global accountability for economic and health indicators, including child health (WHO, 2015a). The countries and global reporting, investment and research have been majorly aligned to global commitments' objectives, which contributed to having standard indicators that have been used to measure the countries' and regions' progress. Nontheless, comparing the regional estimates, inequalities in child mortality and health care access have persistently remained high (Figure 1.1). The under-five and neonatal mortality rates in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) have recurrently remained above the global average and even higher than other regions within the African continent in the past 10-20 years (Fig 1.1). For instance, the under-five mortality rate in sub-Saharan Africa is two times higher than the global rates and almost 15 times higher than in high-income countries (Figure 1.1). Similarly, the neonatal mortality rate is 56% higher than the global estimate and about nine times higher than in high-income countries. The rates are even higher than in North Africa - a region within the same continent (Figure 1.1).

Figure 1.1: Comparing sub-Saharan Africa trends in under five and neonatal mortality with global and other regional trends.







Source: Analysis of UNICEF data on global child mortality

Worryingly, the SSA's share of global under-five and neonatal mortality has been increasing: underfive mortality increased from 30% in 1990 to 55% in 2019, and neonatal mortality increased from 20% in 1990 to 43% in 2019 (Table 1.1). Chapter 1: Introduction

Table 1.1: Trends in the percentage share of the number of global child mortality

			Unde	er-five mortality			
	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2015	2019
Total number of global under-five mortality	12,493,789	11,199,745	9,749,206	8,234,218	6,950,022	5,861,991	5,188,872
Sub-Saharan Africa	30.6	36.1	40.9	44.4	47.5	51.8	54.8
West and Central Africa	16.2	19.3	22.5	25.4	28.6	32.9	35.4
Eastern and Southern Africa	14.5	16.8	18.4	19	18.9	19	19.4
Middle East and North Africa	4.4	3.7	3.3	3.3	3.5	4.1	4.2
South Asia	38	37.4	36.4	35.4	32.7	29.3	27.1
East Asia and Pacific	18.4	15.2	12.9	11	10	9.2	8.4
Latin America and Caribbean	5.1	4.5	3.9	3.5	3.8	3.3	3.3
North America	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5
Europe and Central Asia	3.1	2.7	2.2	2	1.9	1.8	1.7
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	2.6	2.3	1.9	1.7	1.6	1.5	1.3
Western Europe	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4
			Neo	natal mortality			
Total number of global new-born mortality	5,013,549	4,491,365	3,995,551	3,492,048	3,061,645	2,687,706	2,440,464
Sub-Saharan Africa	20.3	24	27.8	31.5	35.6	40.1	43.4
West and Central Africa	10.3	12.5	14.7	16.9	19.6	22.9	25.2
Eastern and Southern Africa	6.6	11.5	13.1	14.5	16	17.2	18.2
Middle East and North Africa	4.7	4.3	1 .4	4.2	4.7	5	5.1
South Asia	43.7	44.7	9'77	43.7	41.3	38.1	36.2
East Asia and Pacific	22.1	18.4	15.9	13.5	11.6	10.1	8.9
Latin America and Caribbean	5.3	5	4.6	4.1	3.9	3.9	3.9
North America	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6
Europe and Central Asia	3.5	3	2.6	2.4	2.3	2.1	1.9
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	2.9	2.5	2.2	2	1.9	1.7	1.5
Western Europe	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5

Source: Analysis of UNICEF data on global child mortality

18

Worse still, universal access to obstetric and child health care services in sub-Saharan Africa is below the average. For instance, access to acute respiratory infection (ARI), fever and diarrhoea treatment for children aged 0-5 years is estimated at 45%, 60% and 51%, respectively (United Nations Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF), n.d.). Similarly, access to early ANC services, attending the recommended number of ANC, and skilled birth attendance are estimated at 82%, 53%, and 60%, respectively (Table 1.2). Furthermore, health facilities in sub-Saharan Africa usually lack life-saving technologies. For instance, access to cesarean sections is estimated at 5% (Table 1.2). These disparities in access to health care services may explain the persistent child mortality attributed to sub-Saharan Africa.

Indicators/regions	Estimates
ANC first attendance	
Global (Reporting)	87.2
East Asia and the Pacific	97.5
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	97.6
Western Europe	-
Latin America and the Caribbean	97.0
South Asia	79.9
Sub-Saharan Africa	82.5
Middle East and North Africa	88.0
ANC 4 times attendance	
Global (Reporting)	60.1
Western Europe	-
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	-
East Asia and the Pacific	-
Latin America and the Caribbean	90.6
South Asia	49.3
Sub-Sanaran Africa	53.8
	/0.8
Institutional delivery	
Global (Reporting)	77.5
East Asia and the Pacific	91.9
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	98.1
Western Europe	99.0
Latin America and the Caribbean	93.7
Middle East and North Africa	88.0
South Asia	/3./
	00.2
	21.2
Western Europe	21.2
Fact Asia and the Desifie	-
East Asia and the Pacific	32.6
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	30.0
Latin America and the Caribbean	43.7
South Asia	19.3
Sub-Saharan Africa	4.6
Middle East and North Africa	33.9
Note: - Data not available	

Table 1.2: Comparing access to obstetric health care services across regions as of 2019.

Source: Unicef 2019

Certainly, the inadequacies in accessing appropriate obstetric and child health care services explain the reasons for mortality due to preventable causes. For instance, complications due to preterm birth, asphyxia or trauma during birth, infections, severe malformations, or other related perinatal complications that occur during and after delivery are well known as significant causes of death (Bhutta et al., 2014; Black et al., 2008; Liu, Hill, et al., 2016). It is also well known that the complications due to preterm birth, asphyxia and those that occur during and immediately after delivery contribute to the highest proportion (75%) of early neonatal mortality (death within one week) (Upadhyay et al., 2017; Zupan, 2005). However, despite the available evidence on when, why and how to intervene, the puzzle is the persistent wider disparities between and within regions (UN IGME, 2015, 2017, 2019, 2020).

Furthermore, until recently (UN IGME, 2015, 2017, 2019, 2020), evidence on the health and mortality of children aged 5-10 years has been limited in global publications (Abajobir, Abate, et al., 2017; Abajobir, Abbafati, et al., 2017; Were et al., 2015). Nevertheless, children aged 5-9 years, particularly those living in SSA, may remain susceptible to infections, including pneumonia, diarrhoea, malaria, and other life events such as accidents/injuries and non-communicable diseases (Were et al., 2015). As it is for new-born and under-five mortality, the reanalysis of the UN estimates on 5-9 mortality indicates sub-Saharan Africa persistently contributing the highest share with an increasing trend observed (Table 1.3). While the 2020 global report on child mortality provides mortality estimates for children aged 5-9 years (UN IGME 2020), the 5-9 mortality risk factors and causes remain elusive.

	1991	1996	2001	2006	2011	2016	2020
Total number global 5-9 mortality	1,122,836	1,035,719	856,712	736,967	649,330	554,239	505,915
Sub-Saharan Africa	36.3	39.5	44.6	48.7	51.4	57.4	61.2
West and Central Africa	16.6	18.4	22.2	25.7	29.6	35.1	38.4
Eastern and Southern Africa	19.7	21.2	22.5	22.9	21.8	22.3	22.8
Middle East and North Africa	4.0	3.3	3.0	3.3	3.0	4.8	4.1
South Asia	35.6	34.3	32.9	31.2	27.8	23.6	20.8
East Asia and Pacific	17.9	17.1	13.9	11.7	10.0	9.4	9.1
Latin America and Caribbean	3.0	2.6	2.7	2.8	5.7	2.7	2.6
North America	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5
Europe and Central Asia	2.8	2.9	2.5	2.0	1.7	1.6	1.6
Eastern Europe and Central Asia	2.3	2.4	2.0	1.7	1.3	1.3	1.2
Western Europe	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4

Table 1.3: Trends in the percentage share of global 5-9 child mortality

Source: Analysis of UNICEF data on global child mortality

The global sustainable development goals, target 3 ambitiously aims to reduce new-born and under-five mortality rate in each country to no more than 12 per 1000 live births and 25 per 1000 live births, respectively. The SDGs also aim to reduce the prematurity death resulting from preventable and treatable causes of death such as pneumonia, malaria, and diarrhoea. Achieving such ambitious SDGs targets in low-resource settings requires optimum delivery of

high impact interventions to the most vulnerable groups, which was also recognised and emphasised toward the end of the millennium development goals (MDG) era (Barros et al., 2012; Boerma et al., 2008; Hosseinpoor et al. 2011). Moreover, the need for attention to the vulnerable groups is not new, as, in 1989, the World Health Assembly mandated the WHO to turn its attention to the plight of the poorest countries (Jancloes, 1998). While access to maternal and child health preventive interventions, labour and new-born health interventions, and appropriate treatment and management of sick children are known as the most effective interventions in averting child mortality (Darmstadt et al., 2005; Haws et al., 2007; Rutherford, Mulholland, and Hill, 2010), access is still challenging in sub-Saharan Africa (Table 1.2). For the interventions to reach those in need, we need to go beyond the national and regional (inequality) estimates by understanding the micro-level mechanisms that generate vulnerability and disparities. There is a need to identify the vulnerable groups by understanding the pathway to health care access and how mortality risk factors and causes vary across the age groups.

The life-course as a concept and a framework has been shown through evidence to better understand different levels and groups of vulnerability over the life span of child development (Settersten et al., 2020; Smith, 2007). In fact, the life-course approach to health corresponds to SDG 3 calls for holistic, people-centred, and multisectoral approaches to human health and development (WHO, 2015a). However, the approach is less applied in LMIC, particularly in the sub-Saharan context, because of inadequate skills in the application and inadequate investments in life-course data systems and research such as longitudinal (Ye et al., 2012). The SSA countries majorly depend on donor sponsored demographic and health surveys, usually collected every five years (Lawn et al., 2008; Mikkelsen et al., 2015; Waiswa et al., 2012). As such, while national surveys such as DHS data have been used to understand the inequalities in mortality and health access in SSA at the macro-level (Barros et al., 2012; Boerma et al., 2008; Hosseinpoor et al., 2011), they may mask the invisible vulnerable groups within the community (Bhuiya et al., 2009). Additionally, the national surveys may insufficiently monitor (changes in) cause-specific mortality, social, behavioural and health systems determinants of health (Waiswa et al., 2012). Furthermore, frameworks that have been enormously applied in studying child mortality and health care access (Marsh et al., 2002; Mosley and Chen, 1984; Thaddeus and Maine, 1994) overlook the interplay and multidimensional nature of survival and health care access factors.

Note that incorporating life-course perspective into the implementation of interventions and studies that address health disparities requires a systemic approach: individual, family, community, and responsiveness and organisation of health institutions (Jones et al., 2019). Such an approach considers a broader system with its specific functions related to health care access and health outcomes. The systemic approach aims to identify prevention and protection means in response to health risk factors, vulnerability, and health outcomes over the life course. The life-course and systemic approach showcase the interdependence within the multiple sectors, thus acknowledging multisectoral approaches to addressing health

challenges. For instance, the economic and social policies should, to a large extent, be considered health policies (Jones et al., 2019).

With the aim of understanding how social and health systems elements shape children's health in their life-course of development in a poor-resource setting, I use Uganda Demographic Health Surveys, health demographic surveillance data, and qualitative interviews. Using multiple data sources in this thesis, I apply the life-course and systemic perspective in the design, interpretation, and analysis of data to describe various vulnerability categories across childhood life span. More importantly, methodological approaches applied in the analysis and synthesis of the evidence contribute to the current call to redesign child health programs (Requejo & Strong, 2021) in resource-poor settings.

1.2. Why Uganda

1.2.1. Under-five mortality

While under-five mortality in Uganda has plummeted over the years, slow progress in reducing neonatal mortality has been observed. In fact, neonatal mortality has stagnated at 27 per 1000 live births in the last two decades, while child and infant mortalities have significantly dropped to less than a half and by a quarter, respectively (Figure 1.2). It is also evident that the under-five mortality patterns are unevenly distributed between the places of residence. Though the reduction in the mortality gaps between rural and urban areas has significantly reduced, under-five mortality remains high in rural areas and remains comparatively high in urban areas (Figure 1.2).

The major causes of under-five mortality are labour and preterm related complications, infections (pneumonia, diarrhoea, fever, malaria), and injuries (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2019, 2020). However, the data is mainly based on the health facility reports, and it is not well disaggregated to show how the causes vary across the age groups (Uganda Ministry of Health 2019, 2020), which affects the true estimates of mortality causes since the community deaths are excluded in the reporting. Additionally, the health facility reporting faces challenges such as reporting completion and timely reporting that affect the reliability of the results (Amouzou et al., 2013; Diaz et al., 2021; Kiberu et al., 2014; Maïga et al., 2019). Further, despite the paucity of research on mortality among children aged 5-10 years and the lack of health programs and policies that target them, in countries with high mortality levels, such as Uganda, children aged 5-10 years are susceptible to the high risk of infection and injuries. While the Iganga-Mayuge health demographic and surveillance data may be seen to represent eastern Uganda, the results may provide national estimates given the homogeneity in the community and health systems characteristics across most of the districts in Uganda. The HDSS data also provides an insight into the under-10 age-specific mortality causes.

Distribution of Neonatal mortality by place of residence



Figure 1.2: Changes in child mortality rate in Uganda (1998-2016)

Source: Generated using Demographic Health Survey STATCompiler

1.2.2. Access to maternal and child health care services

The current estimates in antenatal care, health facility delivery and treatment for sick children indicate a challenge in attaining universal health coverage and henceforth meeting the SDGs and national targets of reducing under-five and neonatal mortality. Though we observe an increase in access to obstetric health interventions such as antenatal care, delivery, and caesarean sections (Figure 1.3), the increase in the coverage of these interventions does not match neonatal mortality changes as one would expect. Yet, these are high impact interventions that have been shown to significantly reduce maternal and new-born mortality. Besides, access to the caesarean section is estimated at 6%, accessed mainly by urban residents (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3: Changes in health service access indicators in Uganda (1998-2016)

Source: Generated using Demographic Health Surveys STATCompiler

Furthermore, while access to treatment for sick children with pneumonia and diarrhoea seems to be higher, the estimates have remained stagnant for the last two decades (Figure 1.3). Moreover, the UDHS 2016 data reanalysis reveals that only 39% and 48% of children with suspected pneumonia and fever sought care within 24 hours, respectively (Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International, 2018).

1.2.3. Current health policies and health structure in Uganda

To improve access to health services, Uganda has implemented various policies. For instance, since 2001, the user fee was abolished in all public health facilities except for private "wings" within the public hospitals (Nabyonga-Orem et al., 2011). While this attracted high demand for services, the health facilities have struggled to match the demand because of various health services system factors: persistent stockout of drugs, inadequate health workers, underfunding, and corruption (Kiwanuka et al., 2008; Uganda National Population Council, 2018). Furthermore, while close to 72% of the population live within a 5 Km radius of the

health facilities⁵, due to the construction of new health facilities, 25% of health facilities provide maternal labour services at lower levels. Only 4% (hospitals and health centre IVs) provide comprehensive services (Table 1.4). Overall there are 6,138 health facilities (Table 1.4) serving a population of 37.7 million (Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2017), of which 50% are private health facilities (Table 1.4). These facts show that access to obstetric services and advanced services for sick children could be far from the community, which could be worse in a rural setting. With unavailable estimates on informal providers such as drug shops, clinics and traditional healers⁶, the majority of the country's population seek care from the informal providers (WHO, 2017).

Health facility categories	Government	Private-for-profit	Private-not-for-profit	Total
Blood collection and				
distribution points	6	-	-	6
Clinic	-	245	15	260
General Hospital	51	36	66	153
Health Centre II	1834	1854	520	4208
Health Centre III	992	219	299	1510
Health Centre IV	175	19	21	215
National Blood Bank	1	-	-	1
National Referral Hospital	2	-	-	2
Regional Blood Bank	7	-	-	7
Regional Referral Hospital	16	-	-	16
Special clinics	-	-	26	26
Total	3078	2128	932	6138

Table 1.4: Health facility by ownership in Uganda

Source: 2018 Health facility inventory report, Ministry of Health

Like other national priorities, the national maternal and child health priorities are aligned with global sustainable development goals. For example, reducing infant and under-five mortalities are among the National Development Plan (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2015; Uganda National Planning Authority, 2020). As such, there is a strategic investment plan known as "the Reproductive, Maternal, New-born, Child and Adolescent Health Sharpened Plan 2015/2020" that aims at reducing under-five and neonatal mortality rates to less than 47 and 12 per 1,000 live births by 2020, respectively (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2016). In addition, the Ministry of Gender, Labour, and Social Development has a strategic plan known as "the National Integrated Early Childhood Development Policy Action Plan 2015/2020" with the vision of "all children in Uganda from conception to 8 years of age grow and develop to their full potential" (Uganda Ministry of Gender Labour and Social Development, 2016). While

⁵ Health centre IIs- based at parish level and largely providing only outpatient with an Enrolled Comprehensive Nurse running the facility; Health Centre IIIs-based at sub-county level and offer basic preventive and curative outpatient services and inpatient care (largely through general and maternity wards) and laboratory services. Health centre IVs – based at county or district level providing Preventive, Promotive Outpatient Curative, Maternity, inpatient Health Services, Emergency surgery and Blood transfusion and Laboratory services; Hospitals- based at district or regional or national level as teaching, research institutions in addition to handling emergences.

⁶ Though not documented, usually not regulated, and supervised, many people seek care from these services providers as the first entry point.

these policies emphasise the need to address multi-dimensional needs of improving child health through multisectoral approaches in the implementation of child health interventions, the lack of information analysed to show the areas of focus makes the implementation unclear. A holistic approach that shows the mortality and morbidity pathways and how the different age groups are affected may guide the mechanism through which the multisectoral approach can be applied.

Therefore, the national and global policy priorities and the current evidence on child health justify the need for approaches that seek to understand how mortality and access to health care are distributed across different segments of the population. Consistent with the global call of *"leaving no one behind"*, we need to go beyond the national and regional estimates to unmask the most vulnerable to the risk of mortality, morbidity, and inappropriate health care access. However, the current national survey may limit such discovery. Like other sub-Saharan African countries, Uganda's child health monitoring and planning are majorly dependent on demographic health surveys (DHS) that are often conducted every five years. Yet, there are at least five independent Health and Demographic Surveillance (HDS) sites, some of which have existed for at least 20 years collecting data on most health indicators through households' registration and follow-up. However, these data have been inadequately used to measure most health indicators changes (Baiden, 2006). Yet, in the current situation of poor civil and vital registration systems, these data would provide national estimates on mortality estimates and patterns (Waiswa et al., 2019; Ye et al., 2012).

Applying life-course and systemic approaches, I use multiple data sources (collected in Uganda) and multiple analysis techniques to examine the child's health and survival within the life span of 0-10 years of age. The research focus is based on the global and national need for applying the life-course in the design and implementation of child health interventions and the need for clearer child health and survival life-course frameworks. It is also aligned with the recent call of redesigning child health (Requejo & Strong, 2021). In section 1.3, I discuss the importance of the life-course approach in child health research and implementation and subsequently explain the child health and survival life-course framework in relation to available literature in section 1.4.

1.3. Why the life-course and systemic framework

The life course approach involves studying life transition and trajectories, which contributes to understanding mechanisms of health inequalities over a lifetime as it incorporates critical health and well-being determinants e.g.; material, behavioural, institution, and social (Cable, 2014). Additionally, life course emphasises time as an important element in shaping the health and well-being of the population (Cable, 2014). Relatedly, from a systemic perspective, child health and development are composed of complex variables that include multiple factors with their multiple agents, which requires multiple agencies and groups to improve their health and well-being (Midgley, 2006).

For successful initiation modification and sustainability of programs for improving population health, including maternal and child health, there must be a thorough understanding of social systems and the responsiveness of the health service system in which populations live (Kroelinger et al., 2015). From the life-course perspective, individuals' health and well-being are shaped by a wider health determinant throughout their life span (Aagaard-Hansen et al., 2019; WHO, 2015a). The determinants are categorised as behavioural, biological, psychological, social and health service systems. The effect at any stage of development within the life cycle may affect the health and well-being in a later stage of development (Aagaard-Hansen et al., 2019; WHO, 2015a). Unlike the disease and age-specific approaches to health that often target a specific condition and groups, usually at a single life stage, a lifecourse approach involves all stages, particularly focusing on the transitional mechanisms (Kuruvilla et al., 2018). Thus, highlighting major gaps that may lead to the quest of understanding the differences in the determinants as well as specific health and well-being interventions. I discuss these determinants' effects based on the five principles (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Halfon et al., 2014): life span development, the timing of outcomes, agency, linked lives, and time and place. The five principles steer research away from age and diseases specific studies by promoting the holistic understanding of lives over time and across changing social contexts (Halfon et al., 2014).

Life span development

Under this principle, an individual's current health and well-being can be affected by previous events – indicating that the current events can also affect future individuals' well-being and health (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Halfon et al., 2014; Jeylan & Michael, 2003). This also means that early experienced advantages or disadvantages can lead to a series of cascading health events that have consequences across different domains in later life (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015). Under this PhD project, I study how initial maternal socioeconomic, environmental, and demographic factors affect children's survival over the life span in Chapter 3. In Chapter 3, I study how the socioeconomic status, maternal characteristics and child characteristics at birth continued to affect children's survival to their 10th birthday.

Timing of outcomes

Under this principle, the health events' patterns, such as morbidity and death; and the magnitude of the effect of the risk factors change with an individual's age (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Halfon et al., 2014; Jeylan & Michael, 2003) and therefore lead to *critical or sensitive period*. Exposure to the risk factors may lead to the *intrinsic capacity* that may affect the *individual's functional ability* throughout the life-course if moderating interventions are not appropriately provided. I consider the intrinsic capacity as internal attributes that children are born with, such as preterm and low birth weight, that affect their life span functional ability. The lives (functional ability) of such categories of children can be improved through a better environment in which they live and appropriate social and healthcare support. Nonetheless, all children's functional ability depends on continued

exposure to a better environment and health care from conception and throughout all stages of development. From a systems perspective, the functional ability considers the complex interplay of individual, social, and environmental determinants of health; and the individual agency and collective actions required to ensure health and well-being throughout their life. The social and environmental determinant of health involves health systems, essential public health functions, multisectoral factors and cross-sectoral actions (Kuruvilla et al., 2018). Thus, the functional ability can be enhanced throughout life by a supportive environment, altering society norms and policies, and addressing the inequalities that affect the life-course trajectory. Under this PhD study, the principle of timing outcome is studied by examining the mortality and risk exposure patterns (age-specific mortality and age-cause-specific mortality) in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4. In addition, under this principle, I assess the timing of access to healthcare services (delivery and treatment for sick children) known to avert mortality in Chapter 3 and study how institutional delivery modifies the effect of intrinsic capacity on child survival in Chapter 4.

Agency and linked lives

The principle of agency stresses how the interaction between individual action and the social structure shapes the health and well-being of the population (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Halfon et al., 2014; Jeylan and Michael, 2003). The individuals' actions and choices are dependent on the available opportunities and constraints within the families and communities in which they live (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015). At a family level, available evidence indicates how women's agency who are primary caretakers depend on their husbands and other influential family networks (Colvin et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2016) – this also applies to the linked lives principle. The individuals' actions and decisions are shaped by the community structure at the community level: transport system and neighbourhood. From the linked lives perspective, the individual's health and well-being are interdependent within a network of shared relationships (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Halfon et al., 2014; Jeylan and Michael, 2003). For instance, a woman's exposure to poor health in the preconception or pregnancy stage may lead to adverse birth outcomes. Under this PhD work, I apply the agency and linked lives principles by examining and interpreting how the social network ties, the structure of the community, and the organisation of health services shape children's health in Chapter 6.

Time and place

The time and place principle highlights that an individual's health and well-being are embedded in and shaped by the historical context (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Halfon et al., 2014; Jeylan and Michael, 2003). A place is composed of time variant characterised by infrastructure (both public and private), culture, leadership, family composition and individuals' socioeconomic position. Thus, the principle of time and place considers how changes in the institutional, community and family factors affect individual development. For instance, institutional policy changes or changes in the family's socioeconomic status may affect behavioural changes. Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of this thesis present the differentials in

rural-urban residents' mortality patterns and risk exposures, while Chapter 5 presents ruralurban morbidity patterns.

There is a growing interest in the application of the life-course approach in the design and implementation of health interventions (Aagaard-Hansen et al., 2019; Alfvén et al., 2019; Bundy et al., 2018; Chan, Lake, and Hansen, 2016; Kuruvilla et al. 2018; Requejo et al. 2020; Richter et al. 2017; R. Sharma et al., 2017; United Nations, 2016; WHO, 2015a; WHO, 2015b). The 2030 sustainable development goal 3 is to "Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being" for all, at all ages" (WHO, 2015a). SDG 3 indicates the need for holistic, people-centred, and multisectoral approaches to human health and development, which align with the life-course approach to health (WHO, 2015a). Further, the 2016-2030 global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health with its slogan "survive, thrive and transform" (United Nations, 2016) emphasises the life-course approach in designing and implementing the intervention. Nevertheless, despite the emphasis on its application, the approach has not been extensively applied in the studies and policy implementation of maternal and child health (Kuruvilla et al., 2018). Most studies that have applied the life-course approach are in non-communicable diseases and ageing, primarily in high-income countries (Lynch & Smith, 2005; B. Mikkelsen et al., 2019). A search strategy "(((Child[MeSH Terms]) AND (*Health*[*MeSH Terms*])) AND ("*life-course*")) AND (*Africa*[*Text Word*]) in PubMed as of 17th/February/2021 revealed only three articles (Clark & Hamplová, 2013; Lule et al., 2019; Requejo et al., 2020) that applied the life-course approach to child health and survival in Africa. Aligned with the global interest, I apply life-course and systemic approaches to child health to comprehensively understand the distribution of morbidities and mortality across different groups and the mechanism of the events' occurrences.

1.4. A life-course and systemic approach to child health and survival

The current frameworks on child health and survival, including obstetric health (Marsh et al., 2002; Mosley and Chen, 1984; Thaddeus and Maine, 1994), overlook how multiple factors throughout the development affect child health and survival. While Marsh et al. (2002) framework indicate the importance of health facility delivery, identification and care for risk groups, including mothers with danger signs, LBW babies, and new-borns with asphyxia and other infections, it is limited to obstetric and new-born health care services. Moreover, the framework ignores how the social, environmental, and health service systems affect access to such important suggested interventions. Further, while the framework by Mosley & Chen (1984) has contributed much to the understanding of child health and survival in developing countries, the framework shows a linear relationship between the socioeconomic determinants and child health events (sickness and death) that is out of touch with the reality of multidimensional factors. The interplay within the socioeconomic determinants and how the health service system contributes to children's survival may be overlooked in studies that apply or have applied Mosley & Chen (1984) model.

Further, accessing appropriate health facility services is well known as the most effective intervention in reducing new-born and child mortality. For instance, available studies indicate that accessing appropriate obstetric services at the time of delivery could avert at least 40% of new-born death (Darmstadt et al., 2005; Haws et al., 2007; Rutherford et al., 2010). However, various impediments usually interact to affect appropriate access in resource-poor settings. Although the delay model has been extensively applied to understand the barriers to obstetric health care access and child health care access, the model abandons how the interplay within the factors or barriers generates various categories of vulnerability (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994).

Building on these frameworks, I generate a life-course and systems framework for child health and survival that highlights the levels of risk and vulnerability from the preconception to the childhood stage (Figure 1.4). This framework is the foundation of this PhD work. The framework (Figure 1.4) illustrates that the risk of occurrences of the events that affect the functional ability and mortality increases with child age from preconception to infancy, beyond which the risk starts reducing. Similarly, the risk increases with the level of vulnerability. Consistent with (R. Sharma et al., 2017), the framework highlights the vulnerability of children at different stages of development and how the vulnerability is linked to various outcomes over the life course, which showcases the importance of life-course interventions in improving the health and survival of children. From the systems perspective, the framework also shows the need for addressing the social and environmental determinants of health, particularly using social justice approaches. The changes and differences in vulnerability and risk suggest specific point interventions are elaborated on in the subsequent sub-sections.

1.4.1. Preconception and pregnancy health interventions

WHO emphasises the importance of antenatal care (ANC) in identifying and managing pregnancy that may result in labour complications (WHO, 2016). Access to ANC may expose the mother-foetus dyad to preventive and care interventions that may improve their health by reducing the occurrences of maternal morbidities (Darmstadt, Oot, & Lawn, 2012; Dickson et al., 2014; Engmann et al., 2013; Lincetto et al., 2013; Vesel et al., 2015; WHO and UNICEF, 2014; WHO, 2016). This might explain why some studies (Bailey et al., 2017; Lincetto et al., 2013; Momeni et al., 2017) have reported a significant reduction in LBW and neonatal mortality among women who accessed ANC. Additionally, ANC attendance provides an opportunity for increased, skilled birth attendance and other healthy behaviours such as breastfeeding, early postnatal care, and planning for optimal pregnancy spacing (Lincetto et al., 2013; WHO, 2016). Nevertheless, the global gap in early ANC attendance is still low – estimated at 59%, as reported by Moller et al. (2017); moreover, with a wider disparity between the LMICs (24%) and HICs (82%) (Moller et al., 2017). Additionally, in the sub-Saharan context, even those who reach health facilities may inappropriately and inadequately receive the service (Benova et al., 2018; Heredia-Pi et al., 2016; Kyei et al., 2012).

Figure 1.4: Life-course and systems framework for child health and survival



Source: Author

Apply human right based, gender-responsive, and equity driven approaches

Furthermore, access to modern contraceptives, particularly birth control methods, is an important preconception intervention. Family planning access during preconception is the most effective intervention that reduces the unwanted pregnancies among women of adolescent and advanced age and short interval between birth (Blumenthal and Voedisch 2011; Dean et al. 2013; Kopp 2016; Norton, Chandra-Mouli, and Lane 2017; Tsui, Mcdonald-mosley, and Burke 2010). Unwanted pregnancies among women of adolescent and advanced age and short intervals between birth are associated with adverse birth outcomes, including mortality, birth defects and low birth weight (Khalil et al., 2013; Oakley et al., 2016; Vaughan & Cleary, 2013).

While this thesis does not comprehensively study how access to preconception and pregnancy interventions may reduce child mortality, studying mortality and morbidity risk factors such as low birth weight, adolescent births, and births in advanced age groups in Chapter 3, Chapter 4, and Chapter 5 gives us an insight into the preconception and pregnancy interventions that should target women.

1.4.2. Birth and neonatal health interventions

Most child deaths occur during labour/delivery and within 28 days after birth; hence, the labour period is critical and sensitive for child survival. Therefore, access to quality care within the labour period and early postnatal period may be crucial in averting neonatal deaths. It is well known that during labour, women should be attended to by skilled health workers, who should be able to assess the labour complications such as obstructed labour conditions that may need emergency services such as caesarean-section (Campbell, 2014; Darmstadt et al., 2013; Salam et al., 2014; Wall et al., 2010). After delivery, the new-borns should access specific recommended postnatal care services such as immunisation and other special care for high-risk children. For instance, in the presence of LBW and preterm birth, sepsis, and asphyxia, interventions such as resuscitation, corticosteroid treatment administration, and kangaroo mother care should be provided (Berkley et al., 2014; Darmstadt et al., 2014).

This thesis comprehensively analyses how access to labour interventions affects new-borns. By presenting the causes of stillbirths and new-born deaths in Chapter 3 and showing the trends in stillbirths and deaths within the first day of life in Chapter 4, the thesis gives insight into access to the quality of health care services. Similarly, by showing how institutional delivery is associated with neonatal death and its role in moderating the association between low birth weight and new-born deaths in Chapter 4, the thesis provides an insight into how access to health interventions benefits the most at-risk new-borns.

1.4.3. Other postnatal and childhood health interventions

Access to health interventions throughout childhood is essential (Were et al., 2015). However, the interventions need to be implemented at scale and with quality. The interventions include both preventive and protective services such as immunisation, proper hygiene and sanitation, use of mosquito nets, and access to healthcare services for sick children (Bhutta et al., 2013; Lassi et al., 2015, 2014; Leung et al., 2017; Were et al., 2015). In addition, WHO recommends exclusive

breastfeeding for at least 6 months and henceforth breastfeeding with supplements up to 2 years of age and beyond (Lassi et al., 2015, 2014; Were et al., 2015). Further, injuries and accidents are common incidences among children aged 5+ years (Were et al., 2015) and as Kendrick et al. (2013) indicate, prevention interventions targeting families are needed (Kendrick et al., 2013). The other emerging non-communicable diseases, such as diabetes, need policy interventions on, for instance, the marketing of unhealthy food and beverages targeting children (Were et al., 2015).

Understanding the age-specific causes of death and mortality risk factors in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 and morbidity predictors in Chapter 5 helps us understand which age-specific interventions should be designed and implemented.

1.4.4. Challenges to access prevention and care services

The known cost-effective interventions that have been mentioned earlier have not been replicated in most resource-limited setting communities (Hatt et al., 2017; Haws et al., 2007). For instance, 30% of women and sick children in LMICs do not access health services from skilled professionals (Källander et al., 2008; Rutebemberwa et al., 2009; Van der Stuyft et al., 2007), and sometimes, care is first sought from informal providers such as drug shops and traditional providers (Kalyango et al., 2013; Kiwanuka et al., 2008). Challenges to prevention and care services access arise from the supply and demand side. The supply-side challenges include recurrent inadequate life-saving supplies and skilled health professionals⁷ (Ackers, Ioannou, & Ackers-Johnson, 2016; Barros et al., 2011; Kiwanuka et al., 2008; Van der Stuyft et al., 2007; Wall et al., 2010). Indeed, in LMICs, there are inadequate midwives to conduct deliveries and doctors to provide comprehensive services to mothers and children with complications (Kiwanuka et al., 2008; Wall et al., 2010).

The demand side challenges include behavioural, maternal, and community factors (Donnell, 2007; Upadhyay et al., 2017; Waiswa et al., 2010). Details of how demand factors could affect health access and child survival are in Section 1.6 of this Chapter. Such challenges may lead to failure or delays in receiving appropriate care, thus predisposing the mother and child to mortality risk factors. Such complexity suggests that reducing neonatal mortality needs interventions that tackle both demand and supply-side bottlenecks simultaneously (Darmstadt et al., 2013) and interventions that influence those in charge to take action.

In this thesis, Chapter 3 describes the delays or failures in accessing obstetric and child health care services. Chapter 6 comprehensively examines how various barriers concurrently affect access to appropriate obstetric and child health care services. The findings in Chapter 6 showcase how multiple barriers concurrently affect different categories of people differently based on their economic position, age, marital status, and place of residence, thus creating different groups of vulnerability. The vulnerability resulting from exposure to multidimensional factors is twofold. First, these factors are associated with morbidities, access to appropriate health care services, and mortality. Secondly, most of these factors interrelate and make some other individuals more vulnerable. Section 1.5 of this Chapter discusses the mechanisms through which these factors affect

⁷ Health workers who can provide services as required.

child survival in four themes: socio-economic, maternal demographic, behavioural, place of residence, and health systems factors.

1.5. Factors that affect health care access, child health and survival

In this section, I discuss the mechanisms through which various factors affect child survival (Figure 1.5). Socioeconomic and demographic factors may affect child survival directly or indirectly through birth weight, morbidity, and health facility intervention access. In addition, birth weight and morbidity may be affected directly or indirectly by access to prenatal health interventions. Moreover, as presented under Section 1.5.1, socioeconomic factors are sometimes interrelated and may affect maternal factors. In line with the available literature, I discuss how these factors affect child health and survival in subsequent subsections and provide how their association was studied in this thesis.

1.5.1. Socioeconomic factors

The socioeconomic variables considered in this thesis were household wealth position, maternal education level and maternal occupation (Figure 1.5).

Wealth position

Wealth may be an important factor that may directly or indirectly affect the general population's health and survival and is usually considered a proxy indicator of poverty. Indeed, poor groups⁸, including high-income countries, are always at high risk of several morbidities and mortality (Victora et al., 2003). In the context of SSA communities, wealth may act as a "central point player" as it may directly affect most of the maternal factors such as education, access to income/finances, early pregnancies, high fertility rate, and access to health interventions (Victora et al., 2003). In addition, the poorer groups sometimes lack access to quality health services resulting from their limited decision-making power over healthcare choices. While the user fees were abolished in several sub-Saharan African countries'⁹ public health facilities, usually, such facilities persistently experience scarce life-saving commodities (Kananura et al., 2017; Nabyonga-Orem et al., 2011). Thus, the poor may not be able to incur an extra bill aside from what government provides (Ntenda et al., 2014; Kayode, Adekanmbi, & Uthman, 2012). Such may expose women and children to poor health services that could lead to poor birth outcomes, increase children's morbidity and deaths (Manyeh et al., 2016), or lead to catastrophic expenses (Leone et al., 2013).

The association of a family's wealth position with child survival is studied extensively in all the substudies. In Chapter 3, I study how the family's wealth position is associated with under-10 mortality and how this association changes with the child's age. In Chapter 4, I study how the wealth position is associated with intrinsic capacity and new-born mortality. In Chapter 6, I identify family wealth or financial position as one of the key factors that contribute to women's agency in accessing obstetric and child health care services.

⁸ These may include individuals, households/families and communities.

⁹ Some of the countries include Uganda, Ethiopia, India, Zambia, Ghana, and Kenya,

Figure 1.5: conceptual framework illustrating the mechanisms through which various factors affect child survival.



35

Education level

As Nattey et al. (2013) indicate, child mortality is likely to be higher among mothers with no education level than at primary and higher levels (Nattey et al., 2013). As mentioned earlier, the effect of education, particularly in SSA may be linked to wealth. Sometimes, women from poor groups are less educated or may not attain a higher level beyond the free public level or become pregnant during adolescence. In fact, in conformity with Prakash et al. (2017) and Sekine & Hodgkin (2017), girls from the poorest families sometimes drop out of school to complement the household's income if not forced to marry (Prakash et al., 2017; Sekine & Hodgkin, 2017) and such are common in LMICs (Snilstveit et al., 2016). Besides, the pathway could be childcare practices' knowledge and healthcare access. Several studies have indicated the contribution of maternal education toward better health behaviours' practices such as nutrition, childhood immunisation and better sanitation (Ehrenstein et al., 2014; Grépin & Bharadwaj, 2015; Makoka & Masibo, 2015; Semba et al., 2008). Furthermore, as Semba et al. (2008) heed, education may lead to delayed age at marriage, sexual debut, first birth and better economic opportunities for women (Ehrenstein et al., 2014). The association between child mortality and education level is studied in Chapters 3 and 4. The pathway in the association of new-born mortality with education is further studied in Chapter 4, with a focus on how such could be mediated by low birth weight.

Occupation

Women's engagement in productive work contributes to financial autonomy and agency. However, in LMICs, most women are not engaged in productive work and have limited access to income-generating resources. Yet, access to finance may influence access to health prevention and care interventions (Darmstadt et al., 2005; Hatt et al., 2017; Kananura et al., 2017; Kiwanuka et al., 2008). Besides, it is important to note that the type of work may predispose the womanfoetus dyad and infants to adverse risks and with the existing poor maternal employment policies in LMICs, such may be worse. For instance, Nandi et al. (2016), Rossin (2012) and Ruhm (2000) indicate that maternal employment with inadequate maternal leave may increase the risk of child mortality (Nandi et al., 2016; Rossin, 2012; Ruhm, 2000). This could be due to the little time, if not none; the employed receive to access prenatal services in addition to a few maternal and postnatal¹⁰ leave days needed for the delivery preparations and new-borns care, respectively. Additionally, as several studies conducted in HICs indicate, women who are involved in manual work involving heavy carrying or exposure to other health risk hazards such as pollution are more likely to experience poor birth outcomes (Ahmed & Jaakkola, 2007; Althabe et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2007; Demelash et al., 2015; Dhaded et al., 2015; Mahumud, Sultana, & Sarker, 2017; Manyeh et al., 2016; Momeni et al., 2017; Ronda et al., 2009). However, such information on the type of work and exposure to occupational hazards appears to be inadequately collected in several LMICs surveys and studies, yet this would help draft maternal employment policies.

Assessing the effect of maternal occupation on child mortality in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 could not be possible as this was based on the data collected from rural communities whose main

¹⁰ The inadequate postnatal leave days predisposes new-born to poor care practices that may lead to morbidities such as infection.
occupation was the peasantry. Although the occupation levels were considered as variables under Chapter 6, I did not examine how this could be associated with child morbidity as the focus was mainly on identifying the topmost predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea among underfive aged.

1.5.2. Maternal demographic factors

The maternal or demographic factors are marital status, age, and parity/gravida (Figure 1.5). The complex effect of maternal age on child survival needs to be analysed with care. In their studies, Blomberg et al. (2014) and Sinha et al. (2017) note the age-related mortality risk U-shaped curve (Blomberg, Tyrberg, and Kjølhede 2014; Sinha et al 2016), which could indicate the high mortality risk among younger and older aged mothers. Pregnancy in adolescents and women aged above 35 years is associated with increased risks of preterm births and LBW, which are the major causes of new-born death (Khalil et al., 2013; Oakley et al., 2016; Vaughan & Cleary, 2013). Additionally, pregnancy in adolescents and women aged above 35 years is associated labour, which are the major causes of stillbirths, including maternal death (Khalil et al., 2013; Oakley et al., 2016; Shah et al., 2011; Vaughan & Cleary, 2013).

Adolescent women are usually isolated in the communities, not engaged in any income activity, and unmarried/single, thus having inadequate support for appropriate care-seeking while pregnant, during, and after labour. Studies on the effect of marital status on birth outcome indicate how unmarried, cohabiting, and single women are more likely to experience LBW/preterm births (Kayode, Adekanmbi, & Uthman, 2012) and under-five death (Bado & Susuman, 2016; Hale, Davanzo, & Razzaque, 2009; Huq & Tasnim, 2008; Kanmiki et al., 2014; Lartey, Khanam, & Takahashi, 2016; Makate & Makate, 2016; Quamruzzaman et al., 2014; Singh-manoux et al., 2008). Therefore, one would argue that marital status affects child mortality via access to income and decision-making power, which usually influences healthcare access. Usually, married women have support from their spouse in the form of joint income and joint care (Kaiser et al., 2018), which may contribute to their birth preparedness, child nutrition and general health of the household.

Further, studies have indicated how first pregnancies and pregnancies of fourth-order and above are more likely to result in preterm, LBW and stillbirth (Aliyu et al., 2005; J. Bai et al., 2002; Lisonkova et al., 2010; Shah, 2010). Further, as Oakley et al. (2016) indicate, the first pregnancy conceived at 35 years and above may lead to stillbirth (Oakley et al., 2016). This may result from the fact that the nulliparity and grand parity women may acquire pregnancy and labour complications that could lead to the death of either the dyad or one of them if care received is inappropriate. Therefore, the association of maternal demographic factors with child health and survival is extensively studied in this thesis.

In Chapter 3, I study how maternal age and marital status are associated with the under 10 mortalities, while in Chapter 4 I study how maternal age and marital status are associated with new-born mortality and low birth weight. In Chapter 5, maternal factors were among the set of variables included in identifying the most important factors that predict child morbidity: suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea.

1.5.6. Behavioural risk factors

Common maternal behaviours that affect child health are drug abuse (smoking, drug consumption, and traditional medicine) and exclusive breastfeeding (Figure 1.5). However, exposure to these categories of behaviours varies by context and country. For example, the use of harmful substances such as tobacco, alcohol, and traditional medicines while pregnant that affect the pregnancy outcome seems to vary between and within regions and countries, resulting from differences in societal norms. Caleyachetty et al. (2014) estimated 2.2% tobacco use among pregnant women in Uganda compared to 15% in Turkey and 6% in Namibia (Caleyachetty et al., 2014). Popova et al. (2016) estimated 20% of alcohol use among pregnant women in Uganda compared to 13% in Cameroon and 4% in Algeria (Popova et al., 2016). Additionally, Kayom et al. (2015) indicate that at least 60% of women in Uganda use traditional drugs to induce labour and treat their new-borns morbidities before seeking formal healthcare (Kayom et al., 2015). Important to acknowledge is the limited research on the use of harmful substances in pregnancy and inadequate data in LMICs.

While I did not study the effect of behavioural risk factors on child health and mortality in this thesis comprehensively, the identification of various ways applied in caring for pregnancies and sick children gives us an idea of community practices. However, studies on understanding various behaviours and how the practices vary across contexts would provide better results are needed. For instance, to my knowledge, the use of alcohol may be common in slum settings, while tobacco use and traditional medicine may be common in rural settings, and these could be associated with the household and community socioeconomic status.

1.5.7. Child physical characteristics

Child physical characteristics such as sex, birth order and birth category (multiple and singleton births) are associated with adverse birth outcomes and survival (Figure 1.5). Studies have indicated how multiple births and sex are associated with birth weight (Tamirat et al., 2021). Multiple births are usually associated with preterm births (Tamirat et al., 2021), while the variation between sexes has been identified to be associated with foetal growth, size and risk for adverse pregnancy outcomes. Studies have indicated a slower growth in female foetuses as compared to their male counterparts, where the second-trimester head circumference (HC) is usually smaller in females than in male foetuses (Melamed et al., 2013; Wainstock et al., 2015). The association of child sexes with intra-uterine growth retardation is inconsistent. Some studies have shown that it is more prevalent in female foetuses (Engel et al., 2008; Melamed et al., 2013; Wainstock et al., 2013; Wainstock et al., 2015) and others otherwise (Tamirat et al., 2021). Studies have also indicated the high-risk gestation diabetes and stillbirth among male foetus relative to female counterparts (Engel et al., 2008; Khalil & Alzahra, 2013; Melamed et al., 2013; Wainstock et al., 2015). In this thesis, I study the association of child sexes, birth order and birth category with child mortality and low birth weight in Chapters 3 and 4.

1.5.8. Place of residence

The socioeconomic, maternal factors and health interventions mentioned earlier may vary across and within the countries/communities, possibly explaining the mortality variations. This appears to be consistent with Halonen et al. (2013) and Martikainen et al. (2003), who indicate the significant contribution of the area's context to health and mortality (Halonen et al., 2013; Martikainen et al., 2003). The place of residence is characterised by community behaviours such as alcohol use, geographic characteristics such as calamities, and facility proximity, all of which may contribute to the child's health and survival. For instance, while studies have indicated how rural women residents are more likely to experience LBW/preterm and infant deaths than urban residents (Dahlui et al., 2016; He et al., 2018), the urban settings include deprived communities that are also characterised by the undesirable community and geographical factors (X. Bai et al., 2012; Fotso, 2007; Van de Poel et al., 2007). National surveys such as the DHS are sometimes insufficiently collected and analysed to articulate child health and mortality variations between districts within countries. Yet, such information would direct the specific design of the interventions targeting the underserved populations.

Because of the limitations of the data used in this thesis, I could not study how child mortality and health vary across the geography beyond the rural-urban residence. Analysing the national surveys by population segmentation in the form of topography such as mountainous, island, low-land, and drought areas, gross domestic product, and economic activities could have provided a better picture, though this was not the focus of this thesis. Nonetheless, by indicating the rural-urban mortality and morbidity differentials in Chapters 3, 4 and 6, the thesis gives us an idea of how the place of residence affects child health and survival. However, moving beyond urban-rural disaggregation would provide better ideas. For instance, to my knowledge of Uganda's context, there are many emerging urban or town centres, and most of them share the same characteristics as slum areas in big cities. Therefore, grading such areas as urban areas as could be done in the DHS is an "injustice" as this provides unrealistic evidence.

1.5.9. Health service systems factors

Often, like other health services such as immunisation and HIV/AIDs, the health facility services for maternal and child health in low and middle-income countries do not match the demand because of numerous constraints: shortage and distribution of appropriately qualified staff; weak technical guidance, programme management and supervision; inadequate drugs and medical supplies; and lack of equipment and infrastructure, including poor accessibility of health services (Bohren et al., 2015; Colvin et al., 2014; Jacobs et al., 2012; Kananura et al., 2017; Oliveira-Cruz et al., 2003).

Studies on health services access are fragmented and thus do not provide a comprehensive package of interventions that should improve access to appropriate health care services. Yet, these factors usually happen concurrently and affect access to appropriate or quality health services and, ultimately, mortality and long-term consequences. Most studies applying quantitative analysis approaches usually consider maternal socioeconomic and demographic variables such as gender, age, education, wealth position and religion but leave out the mechanisms through which these factors are associated with health services access. Analysis through regression models or stratifying by these variables may not provide the complexity of health care access. Going beyond the "hardware" factors that inhibit service delivery, there are other health services systems' "software" factors that affect access to appropriate services, which include power, trust, leadership and management skills, institutional culture and norms, and (unclear) policy

implementation and governance processes (Campos & Reich, 2019; Gilson et al., 2017; Hay et al., 2019; Jacobs et al., 2012; Kabir et al., 2011; Mukuru et al., 2021). There is an interaction between the hardware and software factors and across two domains; however, this complexity is usually overlooked. As such, few studies have studied such health systems' complexity (Bigdeli et al., 2013). Besides, these may be difficult to study quantitatively.

In Chapter 6 of this thesis, I challenge the available frameworks and approaches to the health system by understanding how multiple factors concurrently affect access to appropriate services. For example, I consider how health facilities and community social systems affect obstetric and child health care access. The aim is not to "rubbish" the existing frameworks but to build on them to generate realistic frameworks that contribute to having a clear package or set of interventions.

1.6. Aim and objectives of the thesis.

In previous sections of this chapter, I have discussed how social and health care systems significantly shape child morbidities and mortality patterns, asserting the need to understand how the environment and the operation of the social and health systems impact children's health and survival. However, the inadequacies in applying the social system approach in health research make the exploration and explanation of health systems difficult, leading to flaws in designing and implementing realistic interventions. This PhD thesis is based on a series of four interlinked research studies that were written to understand how social and health systems elements shape children's health in their life-course of development in a poor-resource setting. The thesis specific objectives are:

- I. To examine the under-10 mortality age-specific estimates, mortality risk factors and causes of death
- II. To assess the role of birth weight in mediating new-born mortality and the role of institutional delivery in their association
- III. To identify rural-urban differentials in the predictors of children's suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea
- IV. To examine how the interaction within the social contextual and the health institutional systems' factors influence children's healthcare access in resource-poor settings

Table 1.5 shows research questions for each of the objectives. Using multiple analytical methods and data sources, the four studies illustrate several aspects that affect healthcare access and children's survival. Additionally, the analytical approaches are applied to illustrate the need for a much broader range of methodologies that are typically combined to guide a comprehensive interpretation of how a combination of human, societal and health facility system problems affect children's health. Thus, the combined papers help us build a more robust life-course framework on child health and survival in resource-poor settings.

Table 1.5: Research questions

Study	Sub research questions	Data Sources
objectives		
Objective I	 What are under-10 age-specific mortality estimates, causes, mechanisms, and risk factors? <i>i.</i> What are under-10 age-specific mortality estimates? <i>ii.</i> How are the causes of mortality among the under-10 differ by the age group? <i>iii.</i> How do intrinsic factors at birth, such as low birth weight, associated with children's survival within 10 years after birth? <i>iv.</i> How do socioeconomic and maternal characteristics at birth shape children's survival within 10 years after birth? 	2005-2015 Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Surveillance Site
Objective II	 What is the role of birth weight in mediating new-born mortality and the role of institutional delivery in their association? <i>i.</i> Does institutional delivery affect inversely affect the association between LBW and new-born mortality? ii. What are some of the new-born mortality factors mediated by low birth weight? <i>iii.</i> Are the perinatal and late neonatal mortality factors the same? 	2011-2015 Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Surveillance Site
Study objectives	Sub research questions	Data Sources
Objective III	 What are the key household and individual-level predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea in Uganda? i. Do the identified predictors differ by place of residence (rural Vs. Urban)? 	2006-2016 Uganda Health Demographic Surveys
Objective IV	 What are social contextual and the health institutional systems' factors that influence children's healthcare access in resource-poor settings of eastern Uganda? <i>i.</i> How do social constraints and opportunities shape appropriate healthcare access? <i>ii.</i> How do social network ties, the structure of the community, and the health services' organisation shape access to the appropriate services? 	Primary data collection was collected through in-depth interviews, key informant interviews and focus group discussions.

1.7. The structure of the thesis

In addition to the Introduction (Chapter 1), Data and Methods (Chapter 2) and Conclusions (Chapter 7), the thesis consists of four interlinked sub-studies. The first study, which I report in Chapter 3, addresses objective I, where I applied a life-course and systemic perspectives in analysing and interpreting the data to understand the under-10 mortality age-specific estimates, mortality risk factors and causes of death. I analysed a decade (2005-2015) of event histories data

on 22385 and 1815 verbal autopsies data collected by Iganga-Mayuge HDSS in eastern Uganda. I used the lifetable for mortality estimates and patterns and the Royston-Parmar survival analysis approach for the assessment of mortality risk factors. I follow the international classification of diseases (ICD-11) to analyse causes of death patterns. In the same chapter, I present descriptive statics on the timing of access to obstetric care access and health care services for sick children and morbidity in pregnancy. Such a holistic approach guides the generation of prevention and healthcare interventions that not only improve the children's survival but also being able to thrive and transform. These results have been published in a peer-reviewed journal (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234573)

The second study, which I report in Chapter 4, addresses objective II and builds on the results of the first paper, where preterm and LBW are identified as the major cause of mortality. In this chapter, I used the 2011-2015 event histories health demographic data collected by Iganga-Mayuge HDSS to examine how birth weight mediates new-born mortality and the role of institutional delivery in their association. The dataset consisted of 10,758 registered women whose birth occurred at least 22 weeks of the gestation period and records of new-borns living status within 28 days after birth. The motive arises from Uganda's unchanged neonatal mortality rates for the last 2 decades, despite the remarkable increase in health facility delivery. Yet, health facility delivery has been indicated as the most effective intervention in averting neonatal mortality. The "puzzle" is if the designed interventions properly address the challenges. Specifically, the chapter presents the groups of new-borns at high risk of mortality and critical time of death. The study results provide an insight into new-born survival life-course and health systems interventions, particularly targeting the prevention of LBW occurrences and management of or care for LBW newborns. These results have been published in а peer-reviewed journal (https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046322).

The third study, which I report in Chapter 5 responds to objective III and builds on the results of the first paper that indicated pneumonia and diarrhoea as the top five causes of child mortality. In this chapter, I applied machine learning (ML) techniques to 2006-2016 Uganda DHS data to identify rural-urban differentials in the predictors of child's diarrhoea and ARI. To the best of my knowledge, this study is the first to apply an algorithmic modelling approach to identify the household and individual predictors of pneumonia and diarrhoea in LMICs settings based on crosssectional surveys. The analysis approach contributes to the knowledge of the application of ML in the population health and social science field. Additionally, the results inform the decision-makers in public health work on which variables or measurements should be used while reaching those in need of services. Further, understanding the priority risk factors by place of residence help in developing and implementing area-specific interventions. The study manuscript has been accepted for publication in the journal of PLOS Global Public Health (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000430).

The fourth study, which I report in Chapter 6, responds to objective IV and builds on the first and second studies' results on new-born mortality causes and access to obstetric and child health care. In this chapter, I used qualitative data to examine how the interaction within the social contextual

and the health institutional systems factors influence children's healthcare access in resource-poor settings of eastern Uganda. The findings are based on in-depth interviews with mothers who experienced pregnancy or new-born death, focus group discussions with mothers and fathers' children aged 0-59 years of age, and key informant interviews with public health workers. The study goes beyond examining individual factors such as biological, socioeconomic status, sex, gender, and race to understand how relationships and interactions between such factors and across multiple levels of society shape a particular population group's health. The findings unmask the differences within population groups that are often viewed as homogenous, thus providing a detailed understanding of differences in vulnerabilities and the complex nature of health inequalities. Additionally, the findings illustrate how differences in the populations' well-being are shaped by the interaction of different social identities such as marital status, family networks, age, geography, and family socioeconomic position. The study manuscript will be submitted to the Social Science and Medicine or BMJ Global Health.

CHAPTER TWO DATA AND METHODS

2.1. Study setting

This thesis is based on the Iganga-Mayuge HDSS event histories data, the qualitative data collected in Iganga and Mayuge districts, and the Uganda demographic and health surveys data.

Iganga and Mayuge districts are located in central-eastern Uganda, and like other districts in the country, the largest population (80%) live in rural communities (Uganda National Population Council, 2018). Iganga and Mayuge districts have 49 and 55 Health Centres (HC), respectively (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018b), serving an average population of 500,000 in each district (Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2016). Close to 18% and 15% of the HC in Mayuge district are clinics (private for profit) and private not for profit, respectively (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018b). Additionally, close to 20% and 24% of the HC in Iganga district are clinics (private for profit, respectively (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018b). Additionally, close to 20% and 24% of the HC in Iganga district are clinics (private for profit, respectively (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018b). An estimate of 27% and 15% are government or private-not-for-profit facilities that can provide maternal deliveries (HC III and HC IV) in Iganga and Muyuge, respectively. One referral public hospital serves the two districts and the other four neighbouring districts (Luuka, Bugiri, Namutumba and Kaliro). The health staffing level in the eastern region is 71%, close to the national average of 73% (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018b).

In Uganda, and as Chapter 3 of the thesis reports, malaria, malnutrition, pneumonia, and diarrhoea are among the top causes of child mortality. Because of pluralism in child health care providers, there are various therapeutic services for treating child morbidities. Before accessing formal health care services, the children's caretakers usually try traditional therapies provided by caretakers, family members, or traditional herbalists – and these are common in rural and urban slums. The formal health institutions also have levels: clinics or drug shops, lower public health facilities, middle level public and private health facilities, and higher-level public and private health facilities. Normally, access to each of these levels of services depends on the family's wealth position and place of residence. The clinics or drug shops are the lowest private level facilities that are usually close to the community and in a rural and urban slum setting and are unregulated (WHO 2017).

According to Uganda's health structure flow (WHO, 2017), the HC IIs are based at the parish level and largely provide only outpatient services with an Enrolled Comprehensive Nurse running the facility. The HC IIIs are based at the sub-county level and offer basic preventive and curative outpatient services, inpatient care (largely through general and maternity wards), and laboratory services. HC IVs are based at the county or district level providing preventive, promotive and curative outpatient, maternity, inpatient health services, emergency surgery and blood transfusion and laboratory services; Hospitals are based at the district or regional or national level as teaching, research institutions in addition to handling emergencies. With unavailable estimates on informal providers such as drug shops, clinics and traditional healers, most of the country's population seek care from informal providers (WHO, 2017). Additionally, almost 30% of the health facilities are not within the 5 km recommended distance (Government of Ministry of Health 2015). Similarly, nearly 30% of the required health workers' posts are not filled (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018b), and 44.7% is an estimate of health workers' absenteeism (Uganda National Population Council, 2018). Section 1.2 of Chapter 1 summarises Uganda's health context regarding child health indicators.



Figure 2.1: Map of Uganda showing regions and districts boundaries

Source: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/76380.pdf

2.1.1. Study area setting field observation case

This field observation case was documented during the collection of qualitative interviews in August 2019. In one of the villages in Kityerera Subcounty (Mayuge district), where my Research Assistant and I conducted interviews with women, we were transported by an old taxi [van used for public transport] from Mayuge town council to Kityerera trading centre. We were told to wake up very early in the morning as there was only one taxi that usually leaves early in the morning to Kityerera at the time of the study. The other means of transport that we could have used in case we missed is a *boda-boda*¹¹. The road is murram and bumpy, and the distance from Mayuge town council to Kityerera trading centre is about 30 km. The distance from Kiteyera to the place where

¹¹ Two tyred motorcycle that is commercially used for the transportation of people in Uganda.

we went is about 5 km, and the means of transport is the *boda-boda* or bicycle. Because of the many *boda-bodas* associated with the increasing demand for fuel, some "petrol stations" are in the form of stalls/kiosks where the fuel is kept in a jerrycan, and fuel is measured in a 300ml bottle at 3,000 Ugx.

The place has poor roads, and during the rainy season, movements by *boda-boda* may be difficult. For instance, while we were travelling to the village, we witnessed a woman travelling with her child (aged about five years) on a boda-boda getting into an accident because it had rained, and the road was bumpy and slippery. The falling resulted in injuries for all three: the rider, woman, and child. On asking the woman where she was going, she said she was taking her child to the health facility for fever treatment. The distance from the place where the accident occurred to the health facility was about 4 km. The public health centre IV is located 30 Km away from the interview venue. The HC IV is also located 30 km away from Iganga and Jinja general hospitals¹². This means that accessing advanced services that are only provided in these health facilities may be difficult. Returning to the place of residence in the evening, we could not get any vehicle, and the only transport option was a boda-boda, yet it was raining. This scenario indicates how poor access to transport means and roads may make health services access hard even if the health facility is within the recommended 5 km distance. Chapter 6 of the thesis presents how the transport system was a major barrier to health services access in these communities.





Left – the situation of Iganga and Mayuge districts' rural roads after the rain; right – fuel stall station in a rural setting

2.1.2. Health facility's setting field observation case

This fieldwork observation case was documented in September 2019 while conducting interviews with the health workers at one of the facilities. While interviewing the health workers, later (after

¹² Mayuge district is between Iganga and Jinja district

30 minutes into the interview), we had someone calling [non-medical health worker] – "*Musawo*¹³ *Jesca, there is a woman in labour that has arrived. She seems to be in critical condition*", she said. Immediately "Musawo Jesca" left to attend to her, and we remained around observing¹⁴. The patient had travelled with a female caretaker who was her family relative. I verbally asked the caretaker to tell me how the labour had started. "The labour started in the morning at around 11:00 pm, but we delayed coming to the health facility because it was at night, and we did not have any means of transport", she said. "Even then, we did not have enough money for transport bec ause our village is quite a distance away from this facility, so we had to walk, and when you are in labour, you have to walk slowly", she added. They reached the health facility at around 11:00 am.

Figure 2.3: Field photo illustration boda-boda as the major means of transport for referral at lower-level facilities



A woman who had come for delivery is being helped to sit on a boda-boda. Because of posthaemorrhage, she was referred to the hospital for further management.

Indeed, the midwife did her work to ensure that the woman delivered well. Unfortunately, the mother got a post-haemorrhage that necessitated her to be referred to the district hospital. The facility had no means of referral transport. The caretaker started mobilising the family members to look for money (I heard her talking on the phone, communicating with different people). She spent at least 30 minutes at the health facility with the caretaker making calls to the relative before being transported. They were later transported using the *boda-boda* that was owned by the VHT attached to the health facility. With nurse's and VHT's, the patient was lifted onto the *boda-boda* to be transported to the district hospital. She sat in the middle holding the rider (and looking at her face, she was in so much pain that she could not let her eyes open or talk to someone), and the caretaker sat behind carrying the baby.

The distance from the facility to the hospital is about 15 Km. We returned to the health facility for some additional research work, and we followed up on this case with the health worker and the

¹³ Meaning health worker

¹⁴ We suspended the interview since the health worker became engaged with the patient.

VHT who transported her. We were told that there was no blood when they reached the hospital, and the decision was to refer her to the regional hospital. However, the family had to first look for money by selling some items, which contributed to the delays. Tragically, this woman died and left her new-born baby behind. This case presents multiple barriers that affected appropriate access to health care services. I present in-depth how such multiple barriers affect obstetric and child health care access in Chapter 6 of this thesis.

2.3. Health and demographic surveillance data

Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 findings are based on 2005-2015 anonymised Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Surveillance Site (HDSS) event histories and Verbal Social Autopsy (VSA) data. The HDSS is located in central-eastern Uganda, covering at least 185¹⁵ villages in seven sub-counties within the districts of Iganga and Mayuge, with at least 100,000 registered population, of which 59% live in rural areas (Kajungu et al., 2020). The HDSS is managed by Makerere University Center for Health and Population Research (MUCHAP)—a not-for-profit, semi-autonomous organ of Makerere University. The site is an active member of the International Network for the Demographic Evaluation of Populations and Their Health (INDEPTH) (<u>www.indepth-network.org</u>).

The HDSS routinely collects data on core demographic events of births, deaths and migrations. Each household within the HDSS is geo-referenced, and every household member has a unique identifier. The main data collection tools are household registration, pregnancy registration, pregnancy outcome, and verbal autopsy forms. The household registration form is used to capture household assets, individual socioeconomic and demographic status, and residence status (migration). These data are collected twice a year. The HDSS employs community health workers known as the village health team to register pregnancy registration and pregnancy outcome using registers. The variables collected in these registers include expected date of delivery, maternal age, marital status, birth outcome and date, place of birth and child's gender. In addition, the HDSS employs Field Assistants responsible for verifying the pregnancy and birth outcome registers. The Verbal Social Autopsy information is collected using WHO/INDEPTH Network tools (INDEPTH Network, n.d.). These tools capture VA data for different age groups: Neonates (0-28 days), children (29 days to 14 years), and Adults (15 years and above). The verbal autopsy is usually conducted after mourning days – usually 3-4 weeks after the event.

The data elements under stillbirth and new-born mortality verbal autopsy tool include places of birth, maternal morbidity's experience, childbirth status (live or stillbirth), time the baby died after birth, birth weight, gestation period and causes of death. The data elements for the 29 days-15 years mortality's verbal autopsy tool include treatment before death, the time it takes to receive treatment in days, and death causes. A responsible team of trained physicians assign death causes using the international classification of diseases (WHO, 2012). For all pregnancies, births, and deaths events, a community health worker in each village is responsible for notifying the HDSS within two weeks. Thereafter, the reported events are verified by the HDSS Field Assistants to check for residential status and henceforth use a structured respective standard tool for actual

¹⁵ New villages/cells within the traditional 65 HDSS villages were created.

data collection. The HDSS has standard operating procedures for administering each tool, training, and data management. Refresher training is conducted before the actual days of data collection. In the field, each team of 4 Field Assistants is assigned to a supervisor whose role is to ensure that the data collection standards are adhered to. The forms that only have the supervisor's signature are then submitted to the Field Manager, who later submits them to the data management office. The data is managed by a data scientist team that includes two statisticians, two computer scientists, one data entry supervisor and four data entrants who ensure that the data is well entered and cleaned.

2.4. Uganda demographic and health survey data

In Chapter 5, I used the Uganda Demographic and Health Survey (UDHS) data to determine the community and household predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea. To have a sufficient dataset for identifying the predictors of this study's outcomes, I pooled the UDHS data collected between 2006 and 2016 and publicly accessed as of March 2020. The DHS uses a multistage, stratified sampling design with households as the sampling unit. The age and sex of each household member are obtained in the household questionnaire used to identify women, men, and children eligible for individual interviews, anthropometry measurement, and anaemia testing. The household questionnaire also collects information on the household's dwelling unit's characteristics, including water source, toilet facilities, materials used for the dwelling unit floor, and ownership of various household items.

The data were pooled using the IPUMS-DHS online system (Boyle, King & Sobek, 2020), by choosing children under five and their related records. This included only children aged 0-59 months born in the five years preceding the survey. During data cleaning, I excluded children who were not staying with the mothers on the interview day for better estimates, which is not in line with the DHS analysis (ICF, 2018) and may lead to differences in the reported estimates of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea. The premise was that including children that were not living with their parents at the time of data collection may lead to underestimation as mothers may not be sure of their health status in recent days when they were not home. The total sample size for the pooled dataset is 27687 after leaving out children who were not staying with their parents at the time of data collection.

				Sample size that only includes children residing				
	5	ample size	of all child	aren	with their pare	nts at the t	ime of interv	lew
Diago of residence	2006	2011	2016	Total	2006	2011	2016	Total
Place of residence	2006	2011	2010	sample	2006	2011	2010	sample
					0-59 months			
	6,746	5,772	12,037	24,555	6,436	5,492	11,222	23,150
Rural	(88.9%)	(78.4%)	(81.8%)	(82.8%)	(89.4%)	(79.6%)	(82.5%)	(83.6%)
Urban	847	1,583	2,673	5,103	763	1,407	2,367	4,537
UIDAII	(11.1%)	(21.6%)	(18.2%)	(17.2%)	(10.6%)	(20.4%)	(17.5%)	(16.4%)
Total	7,593	7,355	14,710	29,658	7,199	6,899	13,589	27,687
					6-59 months			
Dural	6035	5171	10824	22030	5726	4894	10023	20643
Kurai	(89%)	(78.9%)	(81.6%)	(82.7%)	(89.6%)	(80.1%)	(82.4%)	(83.7%)
Urban	747	1387	2445	4579	664	1213	2142	4019
Urban	(11%)	(21.2%)	(18.4%)	(17.2%)	(10.4%)	(19.9%)	(17.6%)	(16.3%)
Total	6782	6558	13269	26609	6390	6107	12165	24662

Table 2.1: Distribution of unweighted sample size across years of data collection

2.5. Qualitative data

2.5.1. Selection of study area and participants

Chapter 6 findings are based on the qualitative data that I collected between June-November 2019 in Iganga and Mayuge districts. The main aim was to examine how multiple barriers concurrently affect access to obstetric and child health care services. The study participants were eligible if they lived or worked within the area for at least six months before the data collection. The qualitative methods included 29 in-depth interviews, 8 focus group discussions and 6 key informant interviews with public health facility workers. Before the actual data collection, I reviewed documents on the distribution of the health facilities across the sub-counties to guide the interview allocation. Based on the distribution list, I made sure that the interviews were conducted in both areas with easy access or hardships in accessing maternal and child health services. The villages were randomly selected from a list of the sub-counties. The in-depth interviews were purposively conducted with women who had experienced new-born death (death within the first month of delivery, including stillbirths) in the last four months preceding the month of the data collection. The focus group discussions were conducted with women and men whose households had children aged 0-5.

2.5.2. Ethics

Ethical approval

The LSE Research Ethics Committee approved the study (REC ref. 000731). The protocol was also approved by the Makerere University School of Public Health institutional review board (HDREC 674) and Uganda National Science for Technology (HS395ES).

Recruitment and training of research assistants

During data collection, I worked with three Research Assistants (Ras) who understood the study area's context and had experience in collecting verbal autopsy data and conducting FGDs. In addition, two research assistants were assigned to conduct in-depth interviews, while the other was assigned to work with me on conducting focus group discussions and key informant interviews.

Before the actual days of data collection, the research assistants were trained on data ethics, collection and management protocols. The main ethical concern was the collection of data from bereaved mothers and health providers, as I expected emotional risk during the interview process. During the training and fieldwork, I emphasised the importance of providing enough time to the in-depth research participants before and during the interview. Before the interview, the study was explained to the research participants five days before the data collection, and they were later contacted about their decision to participate. In addition, the training of RAs included a session on how to conduct interviews with bereaved participants and the ethics involved. For any emotional distress that arose during interviews, the research participants would be asked if she (respondent) could first take a break or stop the interview. I did not experience any participants, including those who wept, embraced their interaction with the RAs as one of the women narrates.

"I am very happy that someone has reached me to ask for the reasons why my baby died. No one in this community has ever sat with me to ask me why my child died. I now feel relieved, and I hope what I have shared with you will help to improve the health of the community".

Participants' consent and data confidentiality.

The consent forms were prepared to protect and ensure the dignity and positions of all participants and those who may be affected by the research results. The forms had the contacts of the lead researcher and those of the research authorising institutions. All participants were asked to sign a consent form and were informed about their participation. The consent forms for the health facility workers were in English, while those of community participants were translated into Lusoga Language and were read for those who could not read. In acquiring the participants' consent, we emphasised how the participants could withdraw at any point of the study without giving a reason and how they were free not to respond to the questions that could make them uncomfortable. The consent form was read to those who could not read and later asked to append their thumbprint to approve their participation. The research participants took one copy of the consent form and another retained in the research files (Appendix 8.1.1). We emphasised how we were not interested in the participants' names and asked them to choose a preferred pseudo name for both interviews. In reporting results, I use identification numbers for vignettes, and where photos are used, I ensure that the participants' faces are unidentified.

The women's in-depth interviews were conducted in their homes, while the FGDs were conducted at VHTs homes but in the absence of the VHTs. At the end of the interview, each participant, including the health worker, received a bar of soap equivalent to one pound. All the interviews were audio-recorded and subsequently verbatim transcribed.

2.6. Data Analysis

2.6.1. Analysis of event histories data

I used the HDSS event history data to estimate the age-specific mortality patterns and risk factors presented in Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis. The HDSS data manager provided the dataset with the variables indicated in Table 2.2.

The residents' live births, migration out of the HDSS for less than 6 months and in-migration for at least 6 months were considered for analysis. The HDSS in-migrants are considered residents if they stayed within HDSS for at least 6 months, and out-migrated are considered residents for fewer than 6 months before returning to the HDSS. The study's primary outcome is an event (death) that is experienced after "alive" birth by time t (10th birthday). The cleaning and analysis of data were done in STATA version 15. Details of how the data was analysed and the variables considered are explained in the following subsections.

Variables	Description of variables
mother id	UDSS family member unique identification number
child identification	HDSS family member unique identification number
Birth outcome,	Birth outcomes recoded as LBR-live birth and STB-stillbirth
	Assessment of if the registered child is alive or dead at follow-up. This
Status of child	is recorded as OBE-still under observation, DTH- Death, OMG – out-
	migration, LBR – live birth, STB – stillbirth
end date of the individual's episode	Date the event occurred
	Place where the child delivery was coded as private health facility,
Delivery place	public health facility, traditional birth attendance's home, home, and
	en-route to the place of delivery.
Mother religion	The religion of the mother
District	Residence – district
Parish	Residence – parish
Village	Residence – village
Sub-county	Residence – sub-county
	Weight of the child at birth. This is captured from the child's
Childbirth weight	immunization certificate
Gender	sex of the child
Birth category	Number of children born at birth was recorded in numbers
Marital status	The mother's marital status was coded as married, single, cohabiting,
	widowed, and separated.
Mother date of birth	Mother's date of birth was recorded in complete dates.
Wealth	Household wealth index calculated based on the households' assets
weath	using principal component analysis
advestion level	The mother's education level was recorded as none, primary level,
	secondary level, advanced level, and tertiary level.
Childbirth order	Child pregnancy position was recorded in numbers

Table 2.2: HDSS variables and description

2.6.2. Estimation of under 10 mortality patterns

I applied a life table approach to assess child age-specific mortality estimates reported in Chapter 3 of this thesis. For the life table computation, let t be the interval time $x, x - n, I_t$ be the number of participants who are at risk during interval t, D_t – number of participants who die during interval $t, C_{\frac{t}{2}}$ – number of participants who are censored during interval t, N_t^* - the average number of participants at risk during interval t, q_t – proportion dying during interval t, p_t – proportion surviving interval t, S_t – the proportion surviving past interval t (cumulative survival probability).

$q_t = \frac{D_t}{N_t^*}$ $p_t = 1 - q_t$	(2.1) (2.2)
$N_t^* = I_t - C_{\frac{t}{2}}$ $S_t = P_{t+1} * S_{t-1}$	(2.3) (2.4)
$F_{t} = 1 - S_{t}$	(2.5)

Note that the calculation of N_t^* assumed the occurrence of events of interest at the end of the interval, and the censored events are assumed to occur uniformly or evenly throughout the interval. Therefore, an adjustment on the initial number of participants for each time interval (I_t) was made to reflect the average number of participants at risk during the interval t.

2.6.3. Assessing the under-10 mortality risk factors' patterns

To assess the under-10 mortality risk factors reported in Chapter 3 of this thesis, Royston-Parmar (RP) flexible parametric model for survival analysis was performed using *stpm2* user-written STATA command (Royston & Lambert, 2011) with individual-level clustering while controlling for all covariates after multiple imputations. The approach was used because of its flexibility as compared to other survival parametric models such as the exponential and Weibull models(Royston & Lambert, 2011). Further, death among children has a monotone hazard rate that reduces with time, which is suitable for the RP method. Give the cumulative hazard function linked to the survival function as;

$$H_t = -ln(S_t) \tag{2.6}$$

$$H_t = H_{0t} e^{x\beta} \tag{2.7}$$

$$ln(-ln (S_t) = ln(-ln (S_{0t}) + x\beta)$$
 (2.8)

Equation 2.8 may be generalised as;

$$g_{\theta}(S_t) = g_{\theta}(S_{0t}) + x\beta \tag{2.9}$$

Where $g_{\theta}(.)$ is a monotonic increasing function, depending on the parameter θ . This was considered as Aranda-Ordaz's (Aranda-Ordaz, J., 1981) function.

Chapter 2: Data and Methods

$$g_{\theta}(x) = ln\left(\frac{x^{-\theta} - 1}{\theta}\right)$$
 (2.10)

Where $\theta > 0$. As θ tends to 0, $g_0(x) = \ln(-lnx)$ so that if $\theta = 0$, we get a proportional-hazard model (2.8).

When $\theta = 1$, then $g_1(x) = \ln(x^{-1} - 1) = \ln\left\{\frac{(1-x)}{x}\right\}$. Writing $x = S_t$ yields equation 2.11.

$$g_1(S_t) = \ln\left\{\frac{(1-S_t)}{S_t}\right\}$$
 2.11

From the standard survival model, $F_t = 1 - S_t$ and $S_t = 1 - F_t$ as a cumulative distribution function (probability of failure or survival in an interval (0, t))

$$g_1(S_t) = \ln\left\{\frac{(F_t)}{1 - F_t}\right\}$$
 2.12

Thus $g_1(S_t)$ is the logit of the cumulative distribution function and the covariates effects are proportionated on the scale of the cumulative odds of an event. Equation 2.8 presents the survival model under RP family and the transformed survival function $g_1(S_t)$ can be estimated by a restricted cubic spline. However, since the focus was on the hazard rates, the transformed hazard function was;

$$g_1(F_t) = \ln\left\{\frac{(1-F_t)}{F_t}\right\} = \ln\left\{\frac{(S_t)}{1-S_t}\right\} = -\ln\left\{\frac{(1-S_t)}{S_t}\right\}$$
2.13

Therefore, in the analysis using *stpm2* user-written STATA command, the *scale* category considered was a hazard at 3 degrees of freedom. The 3 degree of freedom is the same as a spline with 2 interior knots (Royston & Lambert, 2011), which provides better estimates(Royston & Lambert, 2011). Further, the hazard probability graphs were generated to assess how the mortality varies across the child's age for each risk factor. The censoring was done at 120 months (10 years), and the analysis was restricted to children born alive. The study covariates are LBW (<2.5 Kgs), maternal age, marital status, household wealth index, maternal education level, child sex, place of residence, and birth category (multiple or singleton).

2.6.4. Assessing Mediation role of low birth weight in the association of new-born mortality risk factors

To assess the mediation role of LBW on the factors associated with new-born health and the role of institutional delivery moderating the association between LBW and new-born mortality reported in Chapter 4 of the thesis, I analysed a cohort of births registered between 2011-2015. The outcome variables (LBW, prenatal mortality, late neonatal mortality) were in the form of binary, with 1 – indicating the presence of outcome exposure and 0 – the absence of outcome exposure. Considering new-born mortality as a rare event, I ran a model for rare events known as

the firth logistic model (Coveney, 2008) to assess the sample size bias for perinatal mortality, late neonatal mortality, and LBW coefficient estimates. Comparing the firth logit model results with the logistic regression model, I found consistent results (Table 2.3).

Because of the consistencies in results generated through logistic and firth logit models, I later decided to use logistic modelling because of the lower computing time while running imputed data as compared to the firth logit model. I, therefore, used a generalised linear modelling approach with a logit link function. To examine the new-born mortality pathway, several analysis steps were applied. First, bivariate model(s) with all covariates on the perinatal, late mortality and LBW as outcome variables were performed to identify the variables that would significantly affect these outcomes of interest in the adjusted models.

Let y_i represents the outcome of interest as a binary variable (*i*) that takes the probability of the presence of the outcome's exposure as P and the probability of absence of the outcome's exposure as 1-P. The bivariate regression model would be of the form as in Eq. 2.14

$$ln\left(\frac{P_j}{1-P_j}\right) = \alpha_i + \beta_i x_i \tag{2.14}$$

data.									
Table 2.3: Logistic and firth	Table 2.3: Logistic and firth logit bivariate analysis using 2011-2015 Iganga-Mayuge event history								

		Perinatal mortality			Late neonatal mortality				
		Logit	Firth logit		L	Logit		th logit	
	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	
Annual birth quarters									
1	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	
2	1.08	0.63	1.08	0.63	1.55	0.41	1.51	0.42	
3	1.26	0.14	1.26	0.14	1.63	0.35	1.58	0.36	
4	1.20	0.27	1.20	0.27	1.43	0.51	1.40	0.52	
Childbirth weight									
<2.5 Kgs	2.52	<0.001	2.53	< 0.001	2.37	0.05	2.45	0.04	
25 Kgs+									
Maternal education level									
None	1.69	<0.001	1.70	< 0.001	1.37	0.49	1.46	0.39	
Primary+	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	
Place of delivery									
Health facility	1.01	0.91	1.01	0.93	1.22	0.61	1.18	0.67	
Community	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	
Maternal age (years)									
<20	1.12	0.46	1.13	0.42	0.88	0.80	0.97	0.95	
20—29	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	
30+	1.48	<0.001	1.48	< 0.001	1.73	0.12	1.74	0.11	
Childbirth order									
1	0.80	0.07	0.80	0.07	0.70	0.32	0.71	0.33	
2—4	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	
5th+	0.46	0.06	0.49	0.07	2.20	0.20	2.52	0.10	
OR – Odds Ratio	·								

	Perinatal mortality				Late neonatal mortality			
		Logit	Fir	th logit	L	Logit		th logit
	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	OR	P-value
Place of residence								
Urban	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-
Rural	1.40	0.01	1.39	0.01	0.77	0.45	0.76	0.43
Marital status								
No partner	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-
Has a partner	0.74	0.07	0.74	0.07	0.63	0.31	0.60	0.24
Experienced neonatal or								
pregnancy loss previously								
No								
Yes	4.18	0.00	4.20	< 0.001	3.60	0.01	3.89	0.00
Birth category								
Singleton	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-
Multiple	1.02	0.96	1.08	0.83	7.70	<0.001	8.31	0.00
Child sex								
Male	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-
Female	1.06	0.68	1.06	0.68	0.57	0.12	0.58	0.12
Household Wealth								
Poor(er) (1-2)	1.10	0.43	1.10	0.43	0.73	0.39	0.75	0.41
Less poor (3-5)	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	-
OR – Odds Ratio								

Table 2.3 continued

Where *j* represents categories of perinatal, late neonatal mortality, and LBW, x_i covariates of choice for each of the outcomes and β_i their respective coefficients.

To assess the moderation effect of health facility delivery on the effect of LBW on perinatal mortality (*pm*), an interaction term between the LBW and institutional delivery (*hf*) was introduced as indicated in Eq. 2.15.

$$ln\left(\frac{P_{pm}}{1-P_{pm}}\right) = \alpha_i + \beta_{lbw} x_{lbw} + \beta_{hf} x_{hf} + \beta_{lbw*hf} (x_{lbw} * x_{hf})$$
(2.15)

Subsequently, a multivariable regression model controlling for other factors added on eq. 2.17 was run (Eq. 2.16). In this model, I also assessed how the intersection between birth order and maternal age would affect perinatal mortality.

$$ln\left(\frac{P_{pm}}{1-P_{pm}}\right) = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{lbw}x_{lbw} + \beta_{hf}x_{hf} + \beta_{Age}x_{Age} + \beta_{educ}x_{educ} + \beta_{birth \, order}x_{birth \, order}$$
$$+ \beta_{multiple \, birth}x_{multiple \, birth} + \beta_{wealth}x_{wealth}$$
$$+ \beta_{nm \, expreinced \, preiviously}x_{nm \, expreinced \, preiviously} + \beta_{sex}x_{sex}$$
$$+ \beta_{birth \, quarter}x_{birth \, quarter} + \beta_{marital \, status}x_{marital \, status}$$
(2.16)

The independent variables that were included under the multivariate regression model for the late neonatal mortality (*nm*) are as indicated in Eq. 2.17

$$ln\left(\frac{P_{nm}}{1-P_{nm}}\right) = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{lbw}x_{lbw} + \beta_{Age}x_{Age} + \beta_{educ}x_{educ} + \beta_{birth order}x_{birth order} + \beta_{multiple birth}x_{multiple birth} + \beta_{wealth}x_{wealth} + \beta_{nm \ expreinced \ preiviously}x_{nm \ expreinced \ preiviously} + \beta_{sex}x_{sex} + \beta_{birth \ quarter}x_{birth \ quarter} + \beta_{marital \ status}x_{marital \ status}$$
(2.17)

The mediating variable was selected if the predetermined endogenous – in this case, LBW was strongly associated with the primary outcome variable in the multivariate model. The effect of selected covariates on LBW was determined using a multivariate regression model as indicated in Eq. 2.18

$$ln\left(\frac{P_{lbw}}{1-P_{lbw}}\right) = \alpha_{i} + \beta_{age}x_{age} + \beta_{educ}x_{educ} + \beta_{birth \ order}x_{birth \ order}$$
$$+ \beta_{multiple \ birth}x_{multiple \ birth} + \beta_{wealth}x_{wealth}$$
$$+ \beta_{nm \ expreinced \ preiviously}x_{nm \ expreinced \ preiviously} + \beta_{sex}x_{sex}$$
$$+ \beta_{birth \ quarter}x_{birth \ quarter} + \beta_{marital \ status}x_{marital \ status}$$
(2.18)

The total and indirect effects were estimated based on (Rijnhart et al., 2019) recommendation for binary outcomes and mediators, where given a mediation model (Figure xx), indirect effect is estimated as *ab* and proportion mediated based on multiple regression estimated as ab/(ab + c').

Figure 2.4: Path diagram of a relatively simple mediation model



Source: (Rijnhart et al., 2019)

For instance, using Eq. 2.16 and Eq. 2.18, the indirect effects were calculated as indicated in Eq. 2.19.

indirect
$$effect_i = \beta_{lbw \ i} * \beta_{lbw} x_{lbw}$$
 (2.19)

Total effects were calculated as

$$total \ effect = \frac{\beta_{lbw \ i} \ast \beta_{lbw} x_{lbw}}{\beta_{lbw \ i} \ast \beta_{lbw} x_{lbw} + \beta_{pm \ i}}$$
(2.20)

Where, $\beta_{lbw} x_{lbw}$ represents LBW coefficient in the PM model, $\beta_{lbw i}$ represents variable coefficient in the LBW model and $+\beta_{pm i}$ represents variable coefficient in the PM model that matches $\beta_{lbw i}$.

2.6.5. Missing data and multiple imputations for event histories data

The HDSS data that was used under Chapters 3 and 4 had issues with the missing field in some data variables. Birth weight, wealth index, and Marital status records were missing among 64%, 22.3%, and 29% of registered birth records, respectively (Table 2.4). For all other variables, data were missing for <1% of the study participants (Table 2.4).

To check if the missingness status was missing completely at random or missing at random, I ran a model of missing dummies (0: not missing and 1: missing), controlling for variables that I expected to increase the probability of missingness.

$$ln\left(\frac{P_{ij}}{1 - P_{ij}}\right) = \alpha_i + \beta_{1i}x_{i1} + \dots + \beta_{ki}x_{ik}$$
(2.21)

where P_{yi} is a proportion of missingness *i* for outcome *j*.

Table 2.4: Distribution of individual	characteristics for	completed and	imputed data	using the
2005-2015 birth registration dataset.				

	Compl	ete	Mis	0/ 1	
	Freq.	%	Freq.	%	% Imputed
Overall total	22,385	100.0	-	-	-
Sex					
Male	11,192	50.0	-	-	-
Female	11,193	50.0	-	-	-
Total	22,385	100.0	0	0.0	-
Birth Category					
Singleton	21,599	97.5	-	-	97.5
Multiple	564	2.5	-	-	2.5
Total	22,163	100.0	222	1.0	100.0
Birth weight					
>=2.5 Kg	7004	86.9	-	-	85.5
Low birth weight	1059	13.1	-	-	14.5
Total	8063	100.0	14,322	64.0	100.0
Place of residence					
Urban	7461	33.3	-	-	-
Rural	14,924	66.7	-	-	-
Total	22,385	100.0	0	0.0	-
Maternal age ¹⁶					
<20	993	4.4	-	-	-
20-29	9737	43.5	-	-	-
30+	11,655	52.1	-	-	-
Total	22385	100.0	0	0.0	-
Marital status ¹⁷					
Not married	2113	11.7	-	-	12.8
Married	15,902	88.3	-	-	87.2
Total	18,015	100.0	4,370	19.5	100.0

 16 – because of the possibility of non-linearity between age and childhood mortality a restricted cubic splines analysis was used to determine the age-group, from which the childhood mortality was a u-shaped with mortality being higher among those aged below 20 and 30+ years.

¹⁷ – the married women included those who were both officially married and cohabiting, while the unmarried women included those staying alone, widowed and divorced or separated.

Table 2.4 continued

	Compl	ete	Mi	ssing	% Imputed
	Freq.	%	Freq.	%	% imputed
Overall total	22,385	100.0	-	-	-
Education level					
None	5931	26.5	-	-	-
Primary	10,856	48.5	-	-	-
Post-primary	5598	25.0	-	-	-
Total	22,385	100.0	0	0.0	-
Wealth index ¹⁸					
Index 1-2	8650	49.8	-	-	47.2
Index 3	3758	21.6	-	-	21.0
Index 4-5	4974	28.6	-	-	31.8
Total	17,382	100.0	5003	22.3	100.0

Table 2.5: Determinants of birth weight, wealth, and marital status missingness in birth registration dataset

	Low birth \	weight missing	Wealth s	tatus missing	Marital s	tatus missing
	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	OR	P-value
Place of birth						
Public health facilities	1.00					
Community delivery	2.28	<0.001	-	-	-	-
Private Clinics	2.10	<0.001	-	-	-	-
Place of residence						
Urban	1.00		1.00		1.00	
Rural	1.35	<0.001	0.45	<0.001	0.66	<0.001
Time of child death						
Child died after day one			-	-	-	-
First day or stillbirth	2.05	<0.001	-	-	-	-
Education level						
None	1.00	-	1.00	-	-	-
Primary	0.30	<0.001	0.83	0.018	-	-
	Low birth v	weight missing	Wealth status missing		Marital status missing	
	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	OR	P-value
Post-primary	0.20	<0.001	1.01	0.918	-	-
Age group (in years)						
<20	1.00	-	1.00	-	1.00	
20-29 years	1.17	0.032	0.80	0.036	0.51	<0.001
30 and above	2.01	<0.001	0.42	<0.001	0.20	<0.001
Marital status						
Not married	-	-	1.00		-	-
Married	-	-	1.57	<0.001	-	

¹⁸ – household wealth index was calculated through principal component analysis, and the items included were electricity, cassette, radio, fan, television, telephone, bicycle, fridge, television, generator, bicycle, fridge, motor vehicle and motorcycle ownership, household floor structure, household wall and roof structures, type of fuel used for cooking

For birth weight, I found that the likelihood of missing was highly associated with those who did not deliver in the health facilities and those born as stillbirths or died immediately after birth (Table 2.6) – indicating a possibility of birth weight missing at random. Similarly, the likelihood of wealth index was highly associated with the maternal age of less than 20 years (Supplement Table 1) – indicating a possibility of the wealth index missing at random. The consideration of missing at random is based on the assumption that the missingness of variables' fields depends on some of the observable variables (Carpenter & Kenward, 2013; Pampaka et al., 2016). Given the determinants of missingness, I ran multiple imputations (m=100), controlling for identified factors that contribute to the likelihood of missingness and all other variables (as auxiliary) in the dataset. The multiple imputation method has been indicated as an essential approach for minimising the missingness bias (Graham et al., 2007). This does not depend on the magnitude of missingness (Lee & Huber, 2011; Madley-Dowd et al., 2019). After imputation, LBW was found to be underestimated for completed cases data (Figure 2.4), while the household's poor status was found to be overestimated for completed cases data (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5: Comparing the LBW and household poor status for imputed and completed cases



Figure 2.6: Comparing wealth index (1 and 2) imputed and complete case analysis estimates

2.6.6. Causes of death.

The causes of death results reported in Chapter 3 of this thesis were based on the VSA data on 844 neonatal deaths, including stillbirths and 986 children (1 month-10 years). The VSA data were provided as a separate file, and one of the limitations was that the data could not be linked to the event histories dataset. Based on the HDSS data manager's explanation, this limitation arises from the fact that during the collection of verbal autopsy data, the data collectors were not assigning the VSA form with the standard HDSS household and individual identifiers, which makes it hard to merge the two. Because of the limitation of linking the VSA data to the event histories data, the cause-specific mortality probabilities and rates cannot be estimated directly. Additionally, the dataset did not include all the variables that could be used to assign the causes of death using the available software algorithm such as InSilicoVA (McCormick et al., 2016) or SmartVA (Serina et al., 2015) or InterVA (Byass et al., 2019). Thus, the results only depend on the causes of death that the Physicians assigned. The Physicians follow the international classification of diseases (ICD-11).

2.6.7. HDSS birth registration data quality issues

While I never comprehensively assessed the quality of HDSS data, the limitations of HDSS, including stillbirth and newborn underestimation resulting, birth weight heaping, and causes of death missclassificantion are well known (Akuze et al., 2020; Amek et al., 2018; Anker, 1997; Biks et al., 2021; Blencowe et al., 2021; Chandramohan et al., 2001; Channon et al., 2011; Herrera et al., 2017; Kadobera et al., 2017; Nareeba et al., 2021). In this thesis, the inconsistencies in the proportion of births and deaths registered by Iganga-Mayuge HDSS over the years highlight the quality issues with birth and death registration data (Table 2.6). Moreover, the migration that could have affected such inconsistencies was insignificant. I used the birth concertation index or birth displacement (Eq. 2.24)) to measure the quality of birth registration data.

Birth concetration index (Bi) =
$$100 * \frac{2 * B_t}{B_{t-1} + B_{t+1}}$$
 (2.22)

where B_{t-1} , B_t , and B_{t+1} are the number of births in the t-1, t, and t+1 calendar years. The index *Bi* should be close to 100. A value of less than 100 implies fewer births than expected for year t. Table 2.8 shows the annual birth and death registration and birth concentration index.

	0	0	00			
Year of HDSS entry	Total birth registration	Outmigration after registration	Death among registered at birth	B_{t+1}	B_{t-1}	$100 * \frac{2 * B_t}{B_{t-1} + B_{t+1}}$
2005	1179	2	95	2154		
2006	2154	4	155	2038	1179	133.9
2007	2038	5	134	2174	2154	94.2
2008	2174	2	194	2143	2038	104.0
2009	2143	5	182	2309	2174	95.6
2010	2309	2	158	2356	2143	102.6
2011	2356	2	164	2328	2309	101.6
2012	2328	1	157	2208	2356	102.2
2013	2208	0	124	1932	2328	103.7
2014	1932	2	104	1939	2208	93.2
2015	1939	0	81			
Total	22760	25	1548			

Table 2.6: Assessing the number of registered births in Iganga-Mayuge HDSS between 2005-2015

Using the cut off as Bi >=95 for No under registration 90 < Bi < 95 - little under registration problem and Bi < 90 - Serious under registration, there were little under documentation of birth problem in 2014 and 2007 (Table 2.8).

Table 2.7: Comparing the number	of deaths	reported in	n verbal	autopsy	and birth	registration
datasets						

		Stillbirth	New-born mortality			
		Birth registration			Birth registration	
Year of	Verbal	and follow-	% Point	Verbal	and follow-	% Point
event	autopsy	ир	difference	autopsy	ир	difference
2011	37	29	21.6	74	51	31.1
2012	33	23	30.3	52	54	-3.8
2013	42	25	40.5	72	49	31.9
2014	29	20	31.0	65	47	27.7
2015	44	31	29.5	45	36	20.0
Total	185	128	30.8	308	237	23.1

In terms of data systems interoperability or linkage, the number of children reported in the causes of death data did not to match the number reported in the birth registration and follow-up dataset (Table 2.7). For instance, considering the data collected between 2011 and 2010, the total number of deaths in the verbal autopsy dataset is 26% points higher than the number of deaths reported in the birth registration and follow-up dataset. In addition, stillbirth and new-born death reported in the verbal autopsy data are higher than the number registered in the birth registration and

follow-up dataset. Nonetheless, this is expected as the causes of death data captures death outside the HDSS but buried in the HDSS catchment.

2.6.8. Predicting community and household factors for suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea

To identify the community and household predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea, I used two models based on ML techniques and a traditional logistic regression model to select the best model that predicts the probability of ARI and diarrhoea prevalence. The ML models were lasso logistic and gradient boosting machine. Based on the theoretical framework, including available literature (Kamal et al., 2015; Kandala et al., 2008; Mosley & Chen, 1984), the predictor variables (Supplement 2) that could be associated with the occurrence of diarrhoea and ARI were entered in all the ML models. Instead of generating a latent variable or index that is normally done through principal component or factor analysis, for instance assent index (a measure of wealth) that is based on the list of household assets and environmental index that is based on the household environmental characteristics, all the variables (Appendix 5.9) were included in the models to determine those that were substantial in predicting the occurrence of diarrhoea and ARI. Furthermore, in Uganda, the vaccines included in this manuscript are administered to children at the of 6 months. As such, the modelling only considered children aged 6-59 months. However, before the modelling, I first assessed the association of diarrhoea and ARI with child age, which showed a steep curve in diarrhoea and pneumonia at 6 – indicating how quickly child health can worsen within this period (Figure 2.6).

Logistic regression

For each of the outcomes and place of residence, I ran the logistic regression model with all the independent variables included (Supplement 2). The modelling was done on the full dataset (training set) and also on the sample of the two datasets (testing or validation set). Both stepwise and backwards were considered in the selection of important variables.

Lasso regularization

When faced with many predictors (p), Lasso regularization – an extended standard regression model- is superior in selecting important predictors (feature selection) that are more interpretable and more useful than the standard logistic regression. Unlike the standard logistic regression model, the lasso approach shrinks logistics regression coefficients towards zero, thus performing variable selection (James et al., 2013). Shrinking of coefficients helps to reduce the model complexity and multi-collinearity. However, with high dimensional data, it may be hard to select the important variables with respect to the model. Through shrinkage, parameters with low coefficients are shrunk to zero, thereby reducing the number of parameters. Reducing the number of parameters reduces variance and increases the bias (variance-bias trade-off). In this study, I performed Lasso with binomial link function using the *glmnet* package (James et al., 2013) implemented in R.



Figure 2.7: Assessment of the association of ARI and Diarrhoea with child age

Decision tree classification

The decision tree classifications are tree bagging, Random Forest (RF), and Gradient-Boosted Machine (GBM) (James et al., 2013). Bagging as a technique of aggregating bootstraps (James et al., 2013) is used to reduce the variance in the decision tree predictions. It is done by combining the result of multiple classifiers modelled on different random sub-samples of the same training dataset (James et al., 2013). A separate prediction model for each sub-training set is generated and later the overall result mean prediction is generated. However, RF provides an improvement over the bagged tree by decorrelating the trees (James et al., 2013) and generating better predictions of the response variable by recursively splitting the data into more homogenous units (nodes) independent of the other. Furthermore, GBM is another ensemble approach applied to improve the predictions of the decision tree. Like the RF, boosting involves creating multiple copies of the original training dataset using the bootstrap, fitting a separate decision tree to each copy, dependent on each other, unlike the RF. Each tree is built on a bootstrapped dataset, dependent on the other trees, but in boosting the trees are grown sequentially – each tree is grown using information from previously grown trees (James et al., 2013). A mean prediction is later generated by combining all the trees (James et al., 2013). Therefore, GBM is usually considered the best ML model approach. In this study, GBM was the decision tree classification ML model that I applied. To get the best results, the model was tuned with the number of trees (500, 1000, 1500, and 2000) in an interval of 500, hyperparameter (1, 2, 3, 4, 5) and the training rate (shrinkage) (0.1, 0.01,

0.001) and the tuning parameters selected best on the combination of parameters that provider better (higher) accuracy and kappa.

For each area of residence (urban and rural), the data was partitioned into three sets: testing set (10%), validation set (30%) and training set (60%). The training set is used in running the model(s), the testing set is used for validating the performance of the model(s) in other new datasets with the same parameters (Fuller et al., 2017), and the validation set is used to assess the consistence of the model on new datasets. For both models, the measure of prediction was based on 10-fold cross-validation. After running the best model for the selection of the most important variables, predictive probabilities were generated to assess the actual direction of the selected variables in affecting their respective outcomes.

2.6.7. Model evaluation

Four measures were used to select the best model: sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and area under the roc curve.

Sensitivity

The sensitivity of a test is its ability to determine the patient cases correctly (Baratloo et al., 2015). Sensitivity is the proportion of real positive cases that were predicted as positive. This implies that there could be another proportion of real positive cases that could be predicted as negative (false negative). This can also be presented in the form of a false negative rate (Eqn. 2.23).

$$\frac{True \ Positives}{True \ Positives + False \ Negative}$$
(2.23)

Specificity

The specificity of a test is its ability to determine the healthy cases correctly (Baratloo et al., 2015). It is the proportion of real negative cases that were predicted as negative. This implies that there could be another proportion of real negative cases that could be predicted as positive (false positives). This can also be presented in the form of a false positive rate (Eqn. 2.24).

Accuracy

The accuracy of a test is its ability to differentiate the patient and healthy cases correctly (Baratloo et al., 2015). It is calculated as the true positive and true negative proportion in all evaluated cases (Eqn. 2.25).

The area under the roc curve

I measured the prediction performance of each model by computing the ROC, and the model with the highest ROC curve estimates was considered the best model.

Identification of the influential variables

The variable importance for the best model was also computed relative to the highest. The variable importance is a scaled measure to have a maximum value of 100.

2.7. Data management and analysis of qualitative data

As mentioned earlier, the qualitive findings reported in Chapter 6 included 29 in-depth interviews, 8 focus group discussions and 6 key informant interviews with public health facility workers. Audio recordings were done upon the formal consent of the study participants. Each day, all recordings were uploaded onto the LSE OneDrive server. The recordings were transcribed verbatim and then translated into English. Ten per cent of the transcripts were reviewed against audio recordings to check for consistency. The transcripts were then managed and analysed in R using RQDA package and SQLite. I applied a combined approach to analysis for generating themes through inductive coding on research participants' accounts and deductive coding from existing literature. The codes were generated and indexed to each transcript and then grouped into categories, forming a working analytical framework. The categories were then used to generate the study themes. **Table 2.7** indicates the codes for each of the themes and sub-themes.

Themes	Categories	Codes
I. Role of family and community social support networks	1. Existing family support networks	 Husband Grandparents Family friends or neighbours Community transporters
	2. Ways of support	 5. Therapeutic provision 6. Enforce Cultural values and practices. 7. Caretaking 8. Financial and material support 9. Information and experience sharing about health services, treatment options
II. Role of community systems' characteristics	3. Social infrastructures or services	10. Community roads 11. Health facilities (quality and proximity)
	4. Civil institutions	 12. Voucher provision 13. Subsidised services at the community level 14. Outreaches 15. mobilization and sensitisation 16. Support community health workers
	5. Leadership or political will (authority)	 17. 18. Transport services (ambulances) 19. Enforce behavioural change
II. Role of community systems' characteristics	6. Community diagnosis and therapeutic systems	20. Traditional birth attendants21. Drug shops22. Community health workers
III. Health services system factors	7. Health responsiveness8. Community trust in health services	 23. Respectful care 24. Service charges 25. Stock out of drugs 26. Health workers availability 27. Experience, and skills 28. Customer care 29. Patients' experience with health institutions or health workers

 Table 2.7: Codes that were generated through open coding using RQDA.

2.8. Reflexivity

2.8.1. Reflexivity in the thesis

The Critical Realistic perspective as a philosophy and systems thinking perspective indicates the agent-agent and agent-structure relations as the object of the study; hence, society is nothing but the sum of these interactions (Connelly, 2001). Some social system agents exist at different levels of social structure and have multiple roles that affect well-being. Because of the layered social structure within which multiple agents live, multi-method approaches are needed to understand the multilevel relationships between population well-being and social structures. This is the motivation of this PhD project, which seeks to understand the under-10 child survival mechanisms. Applying the multiple methods and the different data sources were based on the data access and methodological limitations. While the Iganga-Mayuge HDSS data provides us with information on under-10 child mortality estimates, mortality risk factors, and causes of death, the limitation of linking the individual causes of death data with the birth registration data provides an unclear picture of how the morbidity is distributed across various vulnerable groups. The use of UDHS addresses such limitations by providing the understanding of children at high risk of morbidities that were identified among the major causes of mortality.

Further, moving beyond the empirical results presented in Chapters 3-5, I found it important to understand why a segment of women in labour and sick children were not accessing appropriate health care services. Chapter 3 of the thesis found that 30% of deliveries and sick children did not access appropriate health facility services. Given the complexity of social and health systems factors that affect health care access, qualitative findings presented in Chapter 6 were important in understanding the communities' experiences in accessing health care services. Finally, with the notion of generating realistic frameworks that steer research and implementation of interventions, I identified how the child mortality mechanism provides an insight into how to address harmful effects or enhance beneficial effects. Overall, the thesis gives us a sense of rethinking and redefining the current obstetric and child health care frameworks, including the interventions' package.

2.8.2. Reflexivity in Qualitative data collection

In this section, I reflect on how the qualitative data collection procedures and the involvement of the participants contribute to the ethical consideration of future similar studies. While I was aware of the emotional concerns that could arise during the in-depth interviews with the bereaved women, I was not fully equipped to provide psychosocial support. Though most women did not weep during the interview, their faces showed that they were still grieving and needed more social support. Indeed, it was *weeping in silence*, as studies have indicated (Kiguli et al., 2015; Mills et al., 2021) (*see Box 2.1*). However, the interviews were conducted by RAs who had the experience of conducting verbal and social autopsies and had professional counselling training. Based on my prior experience of interviewing bereaved women and working with the RAs experienced in verbal and social autopsy data collection, listening, and feeling concerned without blaming was a critical approach to be employed (*see Box 2.1*).

Box 2.1: Qualitative vignette on bereavement during interview among women who experienced child loss.

"We would reach somewhere [in the course of the interview], and she would just keep quiet with her face down and her hands on her face", **research assistants said.**

"Whenever she would keep quiet, I would understand that she is grieving. So I would pose, give her time, and after 5-10 minutes, she would gain strength and start talking to me", research assistants said.

"I asked her what happened at the facility that could have led to the child's death. She kept silent for 5 minutes and later started crying. I started counselling her and asked her if we could stop the interview, but she said no, let us talk while shedding the tires. She said no one had ever asked her what could have led to the death of her new-born. She indicated how my coming [RA] was very important for her to tell why her baby died", **research assistants said**.

Signalling the understanding of their position and feelings throughout the interaction was crucial. All women involved in the in-depth interviews, including a few who wept, indicated how important it was to talk to them as they felt neglected in the community (*see Box 2.1*). Whereas the RAs had some training in counselling, to my observation, the bereaved women needed more psychosocial support. Unfortunately, I could not find a formal organization that would provide psychosocial services. I suggest a post-natal psychosocial package that targets postpartum women who have experienced stillbirth and new-born death. Studies done in the same context have indicated a lack of support for bereaved families (Kiguli et al., 2015; Mills et al., 2021). However, more research is needed on how such a package can be delivered to reach the affected women and their partners.

All women who participated in the FGD interviews brought their children. Children would cry or want to play with their parents, obstructing the interview process, and increasing the time spent on the interviews. A few pieces of foodstuff, such as biscuits and juice, were beneficial in keeping children away from their parents, though this was not initially planned for. Bringing children along with them was understandable because 1) most of the children were still breastfeeding and could not be left home with other siblings or any other family member, 2) usually, when women are mobilised to attend meetings involving children's health, they assume that there is a sort of health camp that has been brought to the community, and 3) most women in rural settings do not have other people to leave children with at home since they are often the main children caregivers. Women considered the RAs, and I as medical health workers and some women would seek consultation on their children's health despite telling them that the work was a student's research. However, we told them that we had nothing to offer and advised them to take the children to the health facilities.

I identified power relations. During the FGD interviews, the younger women (adolescents) were not always active, and the older women would dominate and laugh whenever we asked the adolescents to talk. During training and our reflection meetings, we emphasised the need to pay attention to the silent participants and motivate them to speak. However, if I had considered splitting the FGDs in terms of ages (adolescents, youth and older), I would have understood issues that affect adolescents while pregnant. Similarly, as earlier mentioned, there were power relations between the interviewers and the researchers. The researchers were known as health workers and were always referred to as health workers. However, the research assistants were experienced in how to engage the participants in the conversation, and so this encouraged more interactive and open discussions by creating a feeling of empathy that enabled people to talk about their lives' experiences openly.

Further, as presented in Chapter 6, men were reported as the main family authorities in decisionmaking. Even though the women were involved in farming, they [women] indicated having no authority to sell farming produces without their husbands' permission. Some women indicated how their men sell the farming produces and spend it on alcohol without leaving anything for the family, which usually results in gender-based violence whenever women ask how money was spent. Additionally, some women indicated how their husbands are usually drunk, which usually leads to fighting and forced sex. Cases of men forcing their women to have sex within a few weeks after birth were reported. RAs and I did not know how to handle gender-based violence as this was complex. Although we tried to establish the organisations or institutions that provide such services within the districts where such cases could be referred, we did not find any.

Further, social identity, position, ethnicity, and gender have been indicated to shape how research participants respond to the interview questions (Jacobson & Mustafa, 2019; Williams & Heikes, 1993). Throughout the data collection, I was aware of how these would affect interaction with the research participants. For instance, I knew that being a male could restrict women from talking about other reproductive health issues. Additionally, although I understood the local language, my local language speech accent could indicate that I was an outsider. While I tried to dress casually, my appearance remained urban. I, therefore, had to recruit three female RAs who were acquainted with the community setting. I also did not know the location of the sampled areas as I have never been to study villages. However, working with Iganga-Mayuge HDSS helped me generate a list of villages that I used to select the four study villages randomly. I also used the Iganga-Mayuge death registration register to identify women who had experienced pregnancy or new-born death in the last four months preceding the data collection. The death register had contacts for the community health workers who assisted with the mobilisation and rapport building. As mobilisation facilitation, the community health workers were paid 15,000 Ugandan shillings (Equivalent to 3 British pounds sterling as of June 2021).

Though the approval for conducting research went through multiple ethical reviews, and while this delayed the data collection, the Makerere University School of Public Health Institution Review Board provided critical comments that were beneficial for my study. For instance, they advised me to consider including men as respondents whom I had not initially included. They also advised me to consider how I would address the physical and emotional issues that would need psychosocial support. Although no organisations were providing such services, the feedback guided me on the training package and whom to consider as RAs. However, I acknowledge that this was not enough because of the lack of formal social support interventions that target bereaved families. Understanding the stillbirth and new-born death post-natal bereavement that targets bereaved women and men is an area that needs more research in such contexts.

Movements within the community were challenging because of poor transport systems. As shown in section 2.5 of this chapter, and as is the case for all rural communities in Uganda, the roads are always challenging during the rainy season, making movements difficult. As the data collection was done during the rainy season, there were difficulties in reaching rural communities. Moreover, the most common means of transport are motorcycles, which are usually not safe. Indeed, as earlier reported in section 2.5 of this chapter and Chapter 6, accidents happen while transporting women in labour and sick children. In addition, we experienced fuel outage challenges while travelling with motorcycles, which would take some time to refill as the rider walked to a nearby trading centre. The long-distance coupled with poor roads makes transportation expensive or even inaccessible. These issues were also reported in Chapter 6 as the main barriers to obstetric and child health care access.

2.8.3. Reflexivity in using HDSS data

The use of HDSS data was based on my understanding of and knowledge of the data collection tools within the INDEPTH network. Before enrolling for the PhD, I voluntarily did work with INDEPTH, which oriented me to the enormous valuable yet unexploited data that the network had. My participation in reviewing the HDSS tools for different sites and various INDEPTH review workshops helped me understand the potential of HDSS data in monitoring most health indicators. I then picked an interest in studying child health and survival. My initial PhD plan was to use data from all HDSS sites under INDEPTH network to study child health mortality in Asia and sub-Saharan Africa to compare countries and regions. However, accessing data that matched my PhD work objectives was not easy because of bureaucracies and data access fees.

While some of the data are freely accessed through the INDEPTH website after submitting the research plans, the available datasets are specific to death and birth outcome variables without other covariate variables (INDEPTH, n.d.). As presented by other researchers (Chandramohan et al., 2008), restricted access to HDSS data poses a challenge for interested researchers who want to do comprehensive analysis on regional and global issues. Yet, if pooled together, these data could be used to measure regional and national health and economic transitions. For instance, 38 HDSS under INDEPTH consortium – 26 in Africa, ten in Asia, one in Oceania, and one in Central America (Chandramohan et al., 2008). Moreover, within countries, there are multiple HDSS. Except for Agincourt (Agincourt, n.d.) and Nairobi HDSS under APHRC (APHRC, n.d.), most HDSS do not have clear guidelines on data accessibility. This observation was also highlighted by other researchers (Chandramohan et al., 2008). However, while Agincourt provides a sample of their datasets on their website, access was bureaucratic, and the authorising officer could not respond to the data access application request. Nairobi urban HDSS data is unique as the data is freely available through the APHRC website after formal application. There are available documents for each of the datasets on available variables, sample size, and collection procedures. Additionally, Nairobi urban HDSS has a person responsible for responding to the researcher's needs. Unfortunately, I could not use those datasets because they missed some of the key variables for my research question.

While I was able to access the Iganga-Mayuge HDSS data because of my affiliation with the site, there are no clear instructions on the site's website on how to access the data. There is a profile about the site presenting some of the data elements collected, including data collection approaches (Kajungu et al., 2020), but having links to the data collection tools would guide the interested researcher on what questions to answer. Nevertheless, the site has a responsible person (info@muchap.mak.ac.ug) for responding to the data request. The data is also not freely accessed as there is a fee levied – as a contribution to sustaining the site. Although the HDSS thought that being a student at a UK university makes me have research funding, my PhD studentship did not cater for research data collection and access.

In addition to the discussion and conclusion chapter (Chapter 7), I present the findings in Chapters 3, 4, 5 and 6 in a manuscript format. The versions of published papers may, to some extent, differ from what is presented in this thesis. Some parts of the text were not included in the published papers because of restrictions on the length of the paper. This relates particularly to the methods and results where certain tables and figures could be missing in the published papers.

CHAPTER THREE

UNDER 10 MORTALITY PATTERNS, RISK FACTORS, AND MECHANISMS

This paper has been published in PLOS ONE: Kananura RM, Leone T, Nareeba T, Kajungu D, Waiswa P, and Gjonca A (2020). Under 10 mortality patterns, risk factors, and mechanisms in low resource settings of Eastern Uganda: An analysis of event history demographic and verbal social autopsy data. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234573</u>

Abstract

Globally, the under-10 years of age mortality has not been comprehensively studied. We applied the life-course perspective in analysing and interpreting the 22385 recodes of event history demographic and 1815 recodes of verbal autopsy data to examine when and why children die before their 10th birthday. These data were collected between 2005 and 2015 by the Iganga-Mayuge health and demographic surveillance site in eastern Uganda. The lifetable approach was used to estimate mortality patterns, while the Royston-Parmar survival analysis approach was used to assess mortality risk factors. The under-10 and 5-9 years of age mortality probabilities were 99 (95% Confidence Interval [CI]= 94-105) per 1000 live births and 11 (95% CI=7-26) per 1000 children aged 5-9 years, respectively. The top four causes of new-born mortality and stillbirth were antepartum maternal complications (31%), intrapartum-related causes including birth injury, asphyxia, and obstructed labour (25%), Low Birth Weight (LBW) and prematurity (20%), and other unidentified perinatal mortality causes (18%). Malaria, protein deficiency including anaemia, diarrhoea or gastrointestinal, and acute respiratory infections were the major causes of mortality among those aged 0-9 years - contributing 88%, 88% and 46% of all causes of mortality for the post-neonatal, child and 5-9 years of age respectively. 33% of all causes of mortality among those aged 5-9 years as a share of Injuries (22%) and gastrointestinal (11%).

Regarding the deterministic pattern, nearly 30% of the new-borns and sick children died without access to formal care. Access to the treatment for the top five morbidities was after 4 days of symptoms' recognition. The childhood mortality risk factors were LBW, multiple births, having no partner, adolescence age, rural residence, low education level and belonging to a poor household, but their association was stronger among infants. The analysis identified the vulnerable groups at risk of mortality: LBW children, multiple births, rural dwellers, those whose mothers are of low socioeconomic position, adolescents and unmarried. The differences in causes of mortalities between children aged 0-5 and 5-9 years were noted. These findings suggest a strong life-course approach to designing and implementing child health interventions that target pregnant women and children of all ages.
3.1. Introduction

Whilst there is enormous global evidence on the under-five mortality rate(UN IGME, 2018, 2019), very little on the level, patterns and mortality causes among 5-10 age group is known as the group is inadequately included in global reporting, yet in countries with high mortality rates, children aged 5-10 may remain at high risk of morbidity and mortality. The global 5-9 years of age mortality rate is estimated at 4 per 1000, and out of the 6.22 million children aged 0-14 years that died in 2018, 9% was a share of 5-9 years of age (UN IGME, 2019). Additionally, of the 5-14 years of age global annual deaths, 60% is a share of those aged 5-9 years (Masquelier et al., 2018; UN IGME, 2019). In countries with no or poor civil and vital registration systems, particularly those in the sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) region, very little is known about the level, patterns, and mortality causes among 5-9 years of age (Countdown to 2030, 2017). For instance, based on the recent literature search at the time of this study, there is a dearth of evidence on mortality estimates, causes and risk factors in SSA among those aged 5-9 years. Yet, given the high mortality rates in all age groups and many infectious morbidities in SSA, the 5-9 years of age remain susceptible to contracting infections that increase their likelihood of death. For instance, pneumonia, diarrhoea, and malaria that are major causes of under-five mortality recurrently occur among children aged 5-9 years in SSA (Liu, Oza, et al., 2016; Were et al., 2015) and thus contributing to prematurity mortality.

Building on the life-course framework presented in Chapter 1 (Section 1.4) of the thesis, children are always exposed to life-threatening events such as injuries, malnutrition, and noncommunicable diseases that may inhibit them from thriving and transforming (H. Clark et al., 2020). The new-born individual risk factors such as Low Birth Weight (LBW) and preterm birth that are associated with the risks of contracting morbidities such as cardiovascular diseases, congenital anomalies, and chronic lung diseases (Kajantie et al., 2005; Li et al., 2003; Lindberg et al., 2012; Swamy et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2013), may continue affecting their survival beyond infancy and childhood. However, in SSA, there is a dearth of evidence on how such new-born individual factors may affect their survival beyond infancy. Further, family structures such as socio-economic and maternal characteristics affect the birth outcomes and new-born survival at a later age. There is enormous evidence on how family structures and childbirth characteristics affect childhood and adolescence survival in high-income countries (HIC)(Anderson, 2014; Blakely et al., 2003; Remes et al., 2011), but very little is known for SSA countries. We also know that access to health care is crucial in preventing infection-related mortality causes. However, the community and health facility bottlenecks often lead to failures or delays in receiving the required healthcare services. The persistent healthcare access challenges in SSA have continued to predispose children to inappropriate services such as informal care and certainly, compromising the quality of care (Källander et al., 2008; Rutebemberwa et al., 2009; Waiswa et al., 2010) and assessing when children with morbidities or at high risk of mortality access treatment in such resources-limited settings is needed to understand the mortality mechanisms.

In settings with expected high childhood mortality, there is a need for information on how the overall system shapes children's health for them to be able to survive, thrive and transform. In line with the current global Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) theme of "leaving no one behind" (WHO, 2015a), United Nations Secretary-General's Health Global Strategy for Women, children and adolescents (United Nations, 2016), and the WHO–UNICEF–Lancet Commission on children (Clark et al., 2020), evidence that accounts for when and why do children die before their 10th birthday is an initial step for generating optimal solutions that may accelerate the SDG global and national commitments.

Therefore, using what is believed to be the largest and most recent event histories and verbal autopsies data in Uganda, we applied life-course and systemic perspectives in the analysis and interpretation of the data to understand how a combination of individual and family factors, morbidity and access to healthcare may be associated with under-10 child mortality. The study specifically provides evidence on the under-10 age-specific mortality estimates; under-10 age-specific mortality causes; mortality mechanisms in relation to health access to health services, and maternal morbidity; and how the socioeconomic, maternal, and child intrinsic factors continue to affect their survival. Such a holistic approach is essential in generating prevention and healthcare interventions that improve the children's survival and thrive and transform (Bhutta et al., 2019; H. Clark et al., 2020; Countdown to 2030, 2017; Kerber et al., 2007; Lassi et al., 2015).

3.2. Methods

Results in this chapter are based on the analysis of a cohort of children born between 2005 and 2015 in the Iganga-Mayuge HDSS dataset. From the life-course perspective, I study how the socioeconomic, maternal and individual (child) factors at birth shape children's survival within 10 years. Thus, the study's main outcome is an event (death) that is experienced after "alive" birth by time t (10th birthday). The study covariates are LBW (<2.5 Kgs), maternal age (grouped as <20 years, 20-29 years and 30 years and above), marital status (1 – having or staying with a partner and 0 – having no partner), household wealth index (least poor for indices 4-5, 3 middle poor and 1-2 poorer), maternal education level, child sex, place of residence, and birth category. Because of the missingness in some of the data variables, I performed multiple imputation for the imputation of missingness (see section 2.6.5 of Chapter 2). The life table approach was used to estimate age-specific mortality patterns (see section 2.6.2 of Chapter 2). At the same time, Royston-Parmar flexible parametric model for survival analysis was performed to assess under-10 mortality risk factors with individual-level clustering while controlling for all covariates after multiple imputations. The censoring was done at 120 months (10 years), and the analysis was restricted to children born alive (see section 2.6.3 of Chapter 2). Additionally, we examined the epidemiological shift in the causes of death across child age groups using verbal autopsy data. Furthermore, from the systemic perspective, the verbal autopsy¹⁹ data were used to describe the timing of access to appropriate for sick children and women's labour and maternal morbidities experienced by the women who lost.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Event histories study participants' information

A total of 22,385 birth were registered between 2005 and 2015, of which 14% were LBW and 3% multiple births (Appendix 3.1). By the end of the follow-up period, the mothers of 4% and 13% of children were still adolescents and unmarried, respectively. In addition, the mothers of 27% and 47% of children had no education and belonged to poor(er) households, respectively (Appendix 3.1).

3.3.2. Mortality estimates and patterns

Table 3.1 presents the age-specific mortality lifetable. The under-10 and 5-10 mortality probabilities were 99 per 1000 live births and 11 per 1000 children aged 5-9 years, respectively. Additionally, the likelihood of infant mortality and under-five mortality was 46 and 89 per 1000 live births, respectively.

¹⁹ Verbal autopsy data included information on the time the sick child accessed health care services and the type of service provider. It also included information on the place of delivery.

Interval	Number of persons at risk (lt)	Deaths (d _t)	ت	* Ž	Conditional haza probability (q _t)	Conditional rd survival probability (Pt)	Cumulative survival probability (S _t)	Cumulative hazard probability (F _t)
					(95% Confidence Interval)		(95% Confidence Interval)	(95% Confidence Interval)
Age-specific	mortality							
0-1 years	22385	946	3308	20731	0.046	0.954	0.954	0.0456
					(0.043-0.131)		(0.9514- 0.9571)	(0.0429-0.0486)
1-5 years	18131	563	11205	12529	0.045	0.955	0.911	0.0885
					(0.041-0.126)		(0.907- 0.9158)	(0.0842-0.093)
5-10 years	6363	38	6104	3311	0.011	0.989	0.901	0.09
					(0.007-0.026)		(0.8954- 0.8954)	(0.0937-0.1046)
Male								
0-1 years	11192	474	1659	10363	0.046	0.954	0.954	0.0457
					(0.042-0.129)		(0.9501-0.9581)	(0.0499-0.0419)
1-5 years	9058	296	5620	6248	0.047	0.953	0.909	0.0909
					(0.041-0.129)		(0.9025-0.9152)	(0.0975-0.0848)
5-10 years	3145	22	3015	1637.5	0.013	0.987	0.897	0.1032
					(0.008-0.028)		(0.8885-0.9046)	(0.1115-0.0954)
Female								
0-1 years	11193	472	1649	10369	0.046	0.954	0.954	0.0455
					(0.042-0.128)		(0.9503-0.9583)	(0.0497-0.0417)
1-5 years	9073	267	5586	6280	0.043	0.957	0.914	0.0861
					(0.038-0.117)		(0.9076-0.9198)	(0.0924-0.0802)
5-10 years	3218	16	3085	1675.5	0.01	0.99	0.905	0.0948
					(0.005-0.020)		(0.8975-0.9123)	(0.1025-0.0877)

Table 3.1: Under 10 mortality estimated-abridged life table using 2005-2015 birth registration dataset

3.3.3. Causes of Mortality.

Stillbirth and new-born mortality causes

Of the 844 new-born deaths identified in VASA data, 32.2% were stillbirths. Antepartum and intrapartum complications contributed 56.3% of all mortality causes of stillbirth and new-born death – each contributing 31% and 25% respectively (Table 3.2). Prematurity and low birth weight had a share of almost 20% of all causes of stillbirth, and new-born mortality and 18% was a share of other unidentified perinatal causes (Table 3.2).

	Stillbirth		New-born	1	Total	
	Freq.	9/	Freq.	9/	Freq.	9/
Stillbirth and new-born mortailty causes	(n=272)	70	(n=572)	70	(n=844)	70
Antepartum maternal complications						
Hypertensive disorders	34	12.5	30	5.2	64	7.6
Other Antepartum Maternal diseases	186	68.4	-	-	186	22.0
Antepartum haemorrhage	12	4.4	-	-	12	1.4
Intrapartum-related causes						
Birth injury and or asphyxia	-	-	157	27.5	157	18.6
Obstructed labour	27	9.9	29	5.1	56	6.6
Prematurity and or low birth weight	13	4.8	155	27.1	168	19.9
All other unidentified perinatal causes	-	-	149	26.1	149	17.7
Other causes						
Febrile Infections	-	-	21	3.7	21	2.5
Sepsis or Tetanus	-	-	18	3.2	18	2.1
Abnormalies	-	-	9	1.6	9	1.1
Communicable diseases	-	-	2	0.4	2	0.2
Injuries or accidents	-	-	2	0.4	2	0.2

Table 3.2: Stillbirth and new-born mortality causes using 2005-2015 Iganga-Mayuge verbal autopsy data.

Child (0-10 years) mortality causes

Malaria, protein deficiency, diarrhoea or gastrointestinal, and acute respiratory infections were major causes of mortality among those aged 0–9 years – contributing 88%, 88% and 46% of all causes of mortality for the 1-12 months (post-neonatal), 1-4 years and 5-9 years of age respectively (Figure 3.1-3.3). Injuries and gastrointestinal had a share of 33% of all causes of mortality among those aged 5-9 years (Figure 3.3).

3.4. Drivers of death during the life-course

3.4.1.Maternal morbidity in pregnancy

80% of the mothers experienced morbidity in pregnancy (Table 3.3). These were febrile illness (44%), severe abdominal pain (31%), blurred vision (22%), smelly vaginal discharge (14%), vaginal bleeding (14%), pallor in the last trimester (13%), heart diseases (12%), puffy face (9%), high blood pressure (9%), and convulsion (5%).

Maternal obstetric conditions	Percentage (n=844)
Overall	77.49
Febrile illness	44.08
Severe Abdominal pain in the last trimester	30.69
Blurred vision in the last trimester	21.68
Smelly vaginal discharge in the last trimester	14.45
Vaginal bleeding in the last trimester	13.86
Pallor in the last trimester	13.03
Heart diseases in the last trimester	12.68
Puffy face in the last trimester	9.24
Shortness of breath in the last trimester	8.53
High blood pressure in the last trimester	7.58
Convulsion during pregnancy	4.74
Epilepsy	1.30
Diabetes	0.47

Table 3.3: Maternal morbidities experienced in the last 3 months of pregnancy using 2005-2015 Iganga-Mayuge verbal autopsy data.

3.4.2. Access to health services among children who died

Of the 844 stillbirth and neonatal deaths identified in the VASA data, 63% were delivered in the health facilities, and 10% (3.2/33.4%) of community deliveries occurred en-route to the health facilities (Figure 3.4).

Of the 986 children that died, 71% of the children accessed treatment from the health facility, of which 20% was a share of private health facilities (Figure 3.5). On average, access to the treatment for the top five morbidities was after 4 days of symptoms' recognition (3 days – Malaria, 3 days – malnutrition, 9 days – protein-energy deficiency, 11 days – Acute respiratory infections, and 3 days - diarrhoea) (Table 3.4)

Table 3.4: Average number of days before sick children accessed medical treatment aftersymptom recognition using 2005-2015 Iganga-Mayuge verbal autopsy data

Cause of death	Mean number of the before seeking hospital treatment after symptom recognition				
Malaria	2.4				
Malnutrition	2.7				
Severe protein-energy malnutrition	8.9				
Acute respiratory infection	11.1				
Diarrhoea	3.0				
Total	3.9				

Figure 3.1: Infant (1-12 months) mortality causes







79



Figure 3.4: Access to health facility delivery

Figure 3.5: Access to treatment for sick children



3.4.3. Multivariate analysis for under-10 child mortality risk factors using event histories data

Association of birth weight and birth category with under-10 mortality

The under-10 likelihood of death was higher by 53% and 79% among LBW and multiple births, respectively (Table 3.5).

Table 3	.5: Multivariate	analysis of	Child	mortality	risk	factors	using	2005-2015	lganga-
Mayuge	HDSS event his	stories data							

	Unadju	isted	Adjuste	ed
	HR	95% Confidence interval	HR	95% Confidence interval
Birth category				
Singleton	1.00	-	1.00	-
Multiple	1.76	1.37-2.25***	1.76	1.31-2.35***
Birth weight				
>=2.5 Kg	1.00	-	1.00	-
<2.5 Kg	1.65	1.34-2.04***	1.75	1.33-2.32***
Child sex				
Male	1.00	-	1.00	-
Female	0.95	0.86-1.05	0.93	0.84-1.03
Place of birth				
Urban	1.00	-	1.00	-
Rural	1.68	1.49-1.90***	1.24	1.02-1.5*
Maternal Age				
Adolescent (<20 years)	4.36	3.7-5.14***	3.16	2.60-3.85
20-29 years	1.00	-	1.00	-
30 years+	0.47	0.42-0.52***	0.49	0.43-0.55***
Education level				
None	1.00	-	1.00	-
Primary	1.13	1.02-1.25**	0.98	0.87-1.11
Post primary	0.70	0.62-0.80	0.81	0.69-0.96**
Wealth index				
Index 1-2	1.00	-	1.00	-
Index 3	1.04	0.92-1.18	0.89	0.77-1.02
Index 4-5	0.58	0.51-0.66***	0.66	0.53-0.82***
Marital status				
Married	1.00	-	1.00	-
Unmarried	1.33	1.14-1.55***	1.22	1.01-1.48**
Note: HR- Hazard Ratio,	***P<0.0	001, **P<0.01		

The probability of death among LBW was higher among children aged 0-1 years, after which the probability became parallel to that of the normal birth weight up to 3 years but remained higher among the LBW children (Figure 3.6). By 5 years, the mortality probability was close to zero (Figure 3.6). Similarly, the mortality probability was higher among multiple children aged 0-1 years, after which the probability became parallel to that of the singleton up to 5 years but remained higher for multiple birth children (Figure 3.6). By 6 years, the mortality probability curve flattened towards zero (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6: Association of birth weight and birth category with under-10 mortality

Association of maternal age and marital status with under-10 mortality

The under-10 mortality likelihood was lower by 32% and 16% among mothers aged 20-29 years and 30 years+ respectively, relative to those aged less than 20 years (Table 3.5). It remained parallel until 2 years, beyond which it became close to zero for the remaining 8 years (Figure 3.7). For infants, the child mortality likelihood among adolescent mothers (<20) was extremely high, and it remained slightly higher until 3 years (Figure 3.7). Unmarried women or those with no partners were 22% more likely to experience children mortality within 10 years after birth (Figure 3.7). The likelihood was higher for infant children beyond which it matched the married counterparts but remained high until the age of 2 years (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: Association of maternal age and marital status with under-10 mortality

Association of maternal education and household wealth with under-10 mortality

The likelihood of under-10 mortality was 19% lower among women with post-primary education levels than those who had no education level (Table 3.5). However, the probability was only higher among infant children whose mother's education levels were lower than post-primary, beyond which the likelihood became close to each other but remained high until 2-years of age and thereafter became close to zero at nearly 6 years of age (Figure 3.8). Similarly, the likelihood of child mortality was 34% lower among the least poor women than those who were poor(er). However, the mortality likelihood was only higher for infants whose mothers were poor(er), beyond which it became parallel but remained lower among the least poor until 2-years of age and became close to zero at nearly 6 years of age (Figure 3.8).





Relationship between the place of residence and under-10 mortality

The likelihood of mortality was 24% higher among children who were residents of rural communities than urban residents (Table 3.5). However, the mortality likelihood was also high among urban infants, and it remained high in both areas up to the age of 2 years. The mortality probability curve flattened towards zero at the age of 6 years in both areas (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.9: Relationship between the place of residence and under-10 mortality

3.5. Discussion

We have attempted to comprehensively provide an insight into when and why children die before their 10th birthday in a resource-limited setting using event history demographic and verbal social autopsy data that was collected by Iganga-Mayuge Demographic Surveillances Site in Eastern Uganda. The results are not entirely new but tend to reaffirm the key findings of previous reports on global and regional mortality. Particularly, our study provides the under-10 and 5-9 years mortality estimates and the importance of HDSS data in mortality estimates in areas with no or weak vital registration systems. Thus, our results contribute to the much-needed accountability of when and why children, particularly in a resource-limited context. In addition, we applied the life-course perspective in analysing and interpreting the data to understand how the child's individual, maternal, family, and community characteristics may be associated with childhood mortality. Similarly, we also assessed the mortality mechanism by analysing mortality causes and other associated determinants.

The mortality probabilities among under-10 and 5-9 years were 99 per 1000 live births and 11 per 1000 children aged 5-9 years, respectively. Our study's under-five and child mortality probabilities' estimates were slightly higher than the study's regional estimates on ten-year early childhood mortality rates reported in the recent national health survey report (Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2017) and close to the global report on global, regional and national estimates (UN IGME, 2018, 2019). In this study, the mortality probability estimates among 5-9 years of age were close to the reported figures on SSA on the same age group in the global reports (Masquelier et al., 2018; UN IGME, 2019) – indicating a need for investing in Demographic Surveillance Sites for population health monitoring including mortality and death registrations, particularly, in countries with no or poor civil registration and vital data system. The difference in the mortality estimates between HDSS and other surveys based on

probability sampling such as DHS data are expected since the HDSS collected data on all registered households. Thus, HDSS data may provide accurate and reliable estimates of life events in their regional localities. However, from the analysis of this data, we identified a mismatch between birth registration and verbal autopsies data, where the two could not be linked as the birth registration unique identifier was missing in the verbal autopsy data. Yet matching the two datasets would provide direct estimates of cause-specific mortality rates. Our analysis, therefore, contributes to the identification of data gaps for data quality and system strengthening strategies for existing and emerging HDSS.

The high proportion of antepartum morbidities that this study identified indicates that the absence of adequate prevention, identification, and treatment interventions predisposes women to the increased risks of adverse birth outcomes (Vogel et al., 2014; Weiner et al., 2003). Additionally, health services' access failures or delays during labour contributes to the increased likelihood of new-born mortality or other injuries that may lead to long-term consequences. The substantial proportion of deliveries conducted outside the health facility (30%) confirms the existing challenges in accessing appropriate services since, in such low resources setting, the home deliveries are normally conducted under the assistance of unskilled health personnel. Indeed, the high proportion of stillbirth and birth asphyxia and injuries that this study has identified as major causes of mortality are related to the failures or delays in accessing appropriate healthcare services. In such context, the delays or failures in reaching the health facility are usually associated with transport challenges in accessing the health facility (Kananura et al., 2017). In fact, this study has indicated that 10% of the women who delivered in the community occurred while travelling to the health facility. Improved systems for prevention, identification and treatment of maternal morbidities at both community and health facility levels and improving access to required services are important in saving mothers with obstetric complications and new-bornsn with danger signs such as birth asphyxia and LBW. Furthermore, improving referral transport systems and women's birth preparedness practices could improve timely access to the required maternal and newborn health services.

The notable differences in causes of mortalities between children aged 0-5 and 5-9 years confirm an epidemiological shift of diseases between age bands. Malaria, protein deficiencies or malnutrition and acute respiratory infection (ARIs) were the major causes of mortality among children aged 0-5 years, but these were reduced by almost half among those aged 5-9 years. Gastrointestinal disorder and injuries were substantial emerging morbidities after 4 years of age. These emerging morbidities could be resulting from the transition of new behaviours and curiosity among children aged 5-9 years, and thus, their limited supervision may predispose them to unintended injuries such as poisoning, falls, drowning, burns and suffocation (Khatlani et al., 2017; Ruiz-Casares et al., 2018; WHO & UNICEF, 2008). Similarly, children aged 5-9 years may be exposed to ingestion of unhealthy items that may lead to gastrointestinal disorders such as worms and typhoid. The variation in some of the mortality causes across the age groups suggests age-specific interventions at different levels of growth.

Morbidities like malaria, protein deficiency, diarrhoea and ARIs identified in this study as some of the major causes of mortality among children aged 5-9 years indicate the need for prevention and treatment interventions that target all age groups.

However, access to treatment and preventive interventions is still a challenge in SSA. For instance, 46% and 90% of children in Uganda have no access to pneumococcal, and rotavirus vaccines, respectively (Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International, 2018), and such could be worse in rural communities. Further, despite the recommendation of accessing treatment within 12 hours for children with suspected symptoms of fever, malaria, cough, and diarrhoea, this study revealed that on average, most children with these diseases were taken to the health facility after 4 days of symptom recognition and 30% never reached the health facility at all. Therefore, childcare integrated community prevention package targeting parents and caretakers as well as interventions for early identification and treatment of morbidities are needed. Community interventions that have been effective in such low resource settings include integrated community case management (Kalyango et al., 2013; Nanyonjo et al., 2013) and the use of community health workers for mobilisation, sensitisation and community-to-facility linkage (Aboubaker et al., 2014; Haver et al., 2015).

Adolescence age and unmarried or single motherhood status were associated with increased risk of child mortality, although the association was stronger among infants. Some of the worrying findings identified are that some girls become pregnant as early as 10 years, and 26% of the adolescent mothers were aged 17 years and lower. Such indicates that a mother whose first birth was between 10 and 17 years would have a 7-year-old child and many more children while still an adolescent or youth. Indeed, these mothers are characterised by other mortality risk factors such as LBW, low level of education, having no partner, and lack of access to resources. Adolescent women are normally isolated in the communities and not engaged in any income-generating activity and thus have inadequate support to cater to their children's health. The effect of marital status could also be via access to income and decisionmaking power, which normally shapes the choice of healthcare services. Married women may have collective decision-making and support, contributing to child health and wellbeing. These results suggest interventions that address issues of teenage pregnancy in such settings. Though still controversial in Uganda's setting because of culture and religion, one of the proposed interventions would be pushing for improved knowledge of and access to contraceptive methods, which could help reduce unwanted pregnancies. For teenagers that become pregnant or deliver, there is a need for interventions that help them produce and sustain healthy babies.

LBW and multiple births, which could be related, were important individual risk factors of child survival, particularly the infants. The LBW babies are always susceptible to infections and other risk factors such as proteins deficiency that may increase their risk of death (Ntenda & Chuang, 2018; Rahman et al., 2016). Similarly, multiple births may be susceptible to malnutrition and, ultimately, infections, which would increase their risk of mortality.

Interestingly, despite the importance of recording birth weight for the identification of LBW babies, many births had no birth weight taken, which has been indicated as a challenge in SSA countries (Cutland et al., 2017; UNICEF & WHO, 2004). Therefore, intervention targeting LBW risk factors such as maternal chronic illnesses, substance abuse, poor nutritional status, infections, maternal age under 20 and over 30, short birth intervals, and high parity should be designed and implemented to reach women and girls. For instance, improved access to family planning has multiple effects on reducing LBW risk factors such as deliveries among high parity women, pregnancies following short birth intervals, and adolescent pregnancies. The other low cost and effective interventions that contribute to the identification and survival of LBW babies in resource-limited settings are foot length measurements (Marchant et al., 2010, 2014) and Kangaroo Mother care (Colony, 2008; Suman et al., 2008; Vesel et al., 2015) respectively. As alluded to earlier, it is also recommended that mothers attend ANC as required if they are to benefit from the interventions that prevent or control the LBW effect and identify complications such as multiple births. Additionally, there is a need for guidelines on caring for LBW and multiple births at the facility and community level (Hanson et al., 2019). Further, the effect of LBW and multiple births on children's survival beyond the first month of life suggests strategies that improve the survival of such groups beyond infancy.

Higher levels of education and belonging to the least poor household were inversely associated with the increased likelihood of child mortality, but the association was higher among infants. Nattey et al., 2013 indicate that child mortality is likely to be higher among mothers with no education level than those with a primary level and higher (Nattey et al., 2013). Girls from the poorest families often drop out of school to complement the household's income and ultimately get exposed to early sex and pregnancy (Prakash et al., 2017; Sekine and Hodgkin, 2017). Such are common in LMICs (Snilstveit et al., 2016). Several studies have indicated the contribution of maternal education towards better health behaviours' practices such as nutrition, childhood immunization and better sanitation (Makoka & Masibo, 2015; Semba et al., 2008). Regarding the wealth effect, poor groups within the communities are always at high risks of several morbidities and mortality (Victora et al., 2003). Such groups often lack access to quality health services resulting from their limited decision-making power over the choice of healthcare.

The likelihood of mortality was also high among rural residents, but the association was higher among infants. Noteworthy is that the socio-economic, maternal factors and health interventions that affect the child's health may vary across and within regions, possibly explaining mortality variations (Halonen et al., 2013; Martikainen et al., 2003). The place of residence is characterised by community behaviours such as alcohol use, geographic characteristics such as calamities, and facility proximity, all of which are well known to affect the health and survival of the child. In Uganda's rural context, the high child mortality rates in rural communities are not surprising. Such communities are characterised by limited access to health facilities, poor transport systems, and poverty, each contributing to the delays or failure in accessing the required health services. As earlier mentioned, even the few health facilities in such communities frequently experience inadequate amenities and qualified health workers to provide the required services.

3.6. Conclusion

The mortality causes such as LBW, premature, birth asphyxia injuries, diarrhoea, malaria, and pneumonia, as well as some of the identified risk factors such as adolescent pregnancy and LBW in this study, could be avoidable and amendable if pregnant women, women in labour and sick children received required prevention and treatment interventions. We note that proteins deficiency or malnutrition is, in most cases, not recognised as a direct cause of child mortality (Akombi et al., 2017; Bhutta et al., 2019) and has not gained global and national attention, yet in such a resource-limited context, the prevalence of malnutrition is high (Akombi et al., 2017). The epidemiological shifts in causes of death and the highest mortality in infancy and children aged 1-4 years, as well as the continued effect of risk factors among under-5 aged children, emphasize the need for a life course (Clark et al., 2020; Countdown to 2030, 2017; Kerber et al., 2007; Lassi et al., 2015; Tinker et al., 2005) approach in the design and implementation of child health interventions that include the pre-conception, pregnancy, birth or labour, and children of all age interventions. Some of the pre-conception and after delivery interventions include increased access to contraceptive use among adolescents and newly delivered women, which reduce adolescent pregnancy and short birth intervals. Pregnancy interventions may include strategies that mobilize women for antenatal care services, including sensitization on care for pregnancies, which may contribute to preventing LBW and identifying pregnancy complications and morbidities at an early stage. New-borns born with adverse outcomes such as LBW, preterm, and multiple births should be exposed to appropriate treatment and care interventions until 5 years of age. Such interventions should particularly target the uneducated, poor, and rural women dwellers. Other interventions on preventing accidents or injuries, hygiene-related infections and nutrition should target mothers, women, and other children's caretakers. In addition to under-10 protein deficiency research studies, we also recommend more evidence on how child morbidity and treatment access vary across different groups, which may guide the design of group-specific interventions.

3.7. Strengths and limitations

The main strength of the HDSS is that it comprehensively collects information on the same individuals that describe the changes in population over time. In particular, the capacity of the DHSS data in linking the health events' information with socio-economic, maternal demographic, structural and biological factors helps to assess how these factors shape the survival and wellbeing of the population over their life cycle. The limitations are that, first, the findings are generalisable to the two-district covered by HDSS and perhaps central-eastern Uganda. Nonetheless, since most of the communities not only in Uganda but also in other sub-Saharan Africa share the same community and health characteristics, the study's findings may contribute to the design of children's age-specific interventions that improve their survival and wellbeing. Second, as has been highlighted in other studies, the challenges

HDSS in reporting stillbirth and new-born mortality (Akuze et al., 2020; Kadobera et al., 2017; Nareeba et al., 2021) may affect the estimates. The problem of underreporting could be explained by the discrepancies in the death reported in verbal autopsy and birth registration data. Third, there was a considerate proportion of missingness for some variables, particularly birth weight, which was addressed through multiple imputation. Fourth, the limitation of linking the accessed verbal autopsy data with the birth registration dataset limited us from generating the cause-specific mortality rates. Lastly, the heaping of birth weight was observed in multiples of 1000g with high frequencies observed for 2000g (14%), 3000g (63%), 4000g (21%) and 5000g (3%), which affected the classification children birth weight categories. Section 7.3 (Chapter 7) of this thesis provides a comprehensive discussion on the strengths and limitations of HDSS.

CHAPTER FOUR

LOW BIRTH WEIGHT, INSTITUTIONAL DELIVERY, AND NEW-BORN MORTALITY

This paper has been published in BMJ Open Journal: Kananura RM, 2021: Mediation role of low birth weight on the factors associated with new-born mortality and the moderation role of institutional delivery in the association of low birth weight with new-born mortality in a resource-poor setting: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046322

Abstract

The study's objective was to assess Low Birth Weight (LBW)'s mediation role on the factors associated with New-born Mortality (NM), including stillbirth and the role of institutional delivery in the association between LBW and NM. I used the 2011-2015 event histories health demographic data collected by Iganga-Mayuge Health Demographic and Surveillance Site (HDSS). The dataset consisted of 10,758 registered women whose birth occurred at least 22 weeks of gestation and records of new-borns living status 28 days after delivery. The factors that were directly associated with PM were LBW (Odds Ratio(OR)=2.55, 95% confidence interval(95%CI) =1.15-5.67)), maternal age of 30+ (OR=1.68, 95%CI=1.21-2.33), rural residence(OR=1.38, 95%CI=1.02-1.85), mothers with previous experience of NM (OR=3.95, 95%CI=2.86-5.46), and mothers with no education level (OR=1.63, 95%CI=1.21-2.18). Multiple births and the mother's prior experience of NM were positively associated with NM at a later age. Institutional delivery had a modest inverse role in the association of LBW with PM. LBW mediated the association of PM with residence status, mothers' previous NM experience, multiple births, adolescent mothers, and mothers' marital status. Of the total effect attributable to each of these factors, LBW mediated +47%, +54%, +15%, 100%, and -45% of rural resident mothers, adolescent mothers, mothers with previous experience of new-born or pregnancy loss, multiple births, and mothers with partners, respectively. The findings demonstrate the need for a holistic life-course approach that gears the health systems to tackle NM.

4.1. Introduction

The evidence is clear that the availability of maternal and new-born life-saving technologies and effective interventions have worked towards reducing new-born mortality in developed countries and other developing countries (Darmstadt et al., 2005; Dickson et al., 2014; Zupan, 2005). However, new-born mortality continues to have the largest portion of under-five mortality (47%) and has remained unacceptably high in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) (UN IGME 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020). Of the 2.5 and 2.4 million new-born deaths in 2018 and 2019, respectively, 42% was a portion of SSA in both years of reporting (UN IGME 2018, 2020). The neonatal mortality rate (NMR) in SSA has persistently remained unacceptably high at an average of 27-28 per 1000 live births (UN IGME, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020). At least 75% of new-born mortality occurs within the first week of life (Sankar et al., 2016), close to 55% within 24 hours (Sankar et al., 2016). These rates could be underestimated as stillbirths are normally misclassified because of weak documentation systems in SSA (Reinebrant et al., 2018).

The high proportion of new-born mortality has been attributed to Low Birth Weight (LBW) (Blencowe et al., 2012; Lawn et al., 2015) and their related consequences (Barros et al., 2011). The direct effect of the socio-economic and demographic factors such as wealth, education level, and maternal age on new-born mortality indicated in existing frameworks has been widely studied; however, evidence of how these could be mediated by LBW is elusive. For instance, a direct effect of adolescent age and advanced maternal age on neonatal mortality has been observed in some studies (Fawole et al., 2011; Kibria et al., 2018; V. Sharma et al., 2009; Sinha et al., 2017). However, maternal age extremes are associated with an increased risk of LBW and other adverse complications (Althabe et al., 2015; Blencowe et al., 2019; Blomberg et al., 2014; Grønvik & Sandøy, 2018; Lean et al., 2017; Manyeh et al., 2016; Weng, Yang, & Chiu 2014), ultimately leading to new-born mortality. Regarding socio-economic factors, educated and less poor women are more likely to access better maternal health prevention services that control LBW (Barros et al., 2012; Fenn et al., 2007; Lohela et al., 2019; Ronsmans et al., 2006) and can afford to incur an extra bill, aside from what is freely provided by the government (Ntenda et al., 2014; Kayode et al., 2012). Other LBW contributors include morbidity in pregnancy (syphilis and malaria), pre-pregnancy and pregnancy malnutrition exposure, and exposure to environmental factors, particularly indoor air pollution (Accrombessi et al., 2018; Blencowe et al., 2012, 2019), which are common among vulnerable populations. The scarcity of evidence on how LBW mediates new-born mortality limits the design of moderating interventions. Understanding the mediating role of LBW in the association of new-born mortality with socio-economic, demographic and other individual factors may generate clinical and community-based interventions that focus on women's health before and after pregnancy; and after delivery.

Further, access to health services is the most effective intervention in preventing maternal morbidities and controlling LBW and other complications' consequences (Darmstadt et al., 2005; Dickson et al., 2014). Attending the recommended number of antenatal care exposes

the mother to the interventions for identifying and managing pregnancies (WHO, 2016) that may lead to LBW. Additionally, access to ANC exposes the mother-foetus dyad to preventions and care interventions that reduce maternal morbidities associated with the increased likelihood of LBW and prematurity. The first day of life is vital for the survival of new-born, and thus, access to quality care within labour or delivery time is crucial. During childbirth, women should be attended to by skilled health workers, who should assess the labour complications, including obstructed labour conditions that may need emergency services such as caesarean section (Campbell, 2014; Darmstadt et al., 2013; Salam et al., 2014; Wall et al., 2010). After delivery, the new-borns should be screened for life-threatening signs, including LBW and asphyxia, to benefit from health interventions such as resuscitation for asphyxia and corticosteroid treatment administration/kangaroo mother care for LBW (Berkley et al., 2014; Darmstadt et al., 2005; Dickson et al., 2014; Salam et al., 2014). Notably, reaching the health facilities in the SSA context does not guarantee access to the required services (Benova et al., 2018; Lohela et al., 2019) because of multiple (concurrent) barriers that impede access to needed services. The health facility-based interventions could be performed inappropriately or too late, or women and new-borns may fail to access the necessary interventions because of inadequacies in supplies and skilled health workers (Goldenberg et al., 2018; Zupan, 2005). With the increasing rates of LBW and preterm birth vis-à-vis the stagnation of high neonatal mortality rates in SSA despite the increase in health facility delivery, evidence on how the health facility deliveries moderates the survival of LBW new-borns is warranted.

The above discussion highlights the role of LBW in mediating the association of some of the factors with new-born mortality and the role of institutional delivery in the relationship between LBW and new-born mortality. However, the pathways and mechanisms of the interactions are unclear, particularly in the sub-Saharan African context. In the light of life-course and systemic perspectives, I analyse the Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Surveillance Site (HDSS) data to assess the LBW's mediation role on the factors associated with new-born mortality. Additionally, I study if identified perinatal mortality risk factors continue to affect the survival of new-borns in the later stage (late neonatal mortality).

4.2. Methods

Results in this chapter are based on the 2011-2015 Iganga-Mayuge HDSS birth registration cohort. Details about Iganga-Mayuge HDSS have been presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis. The key outcomes or endogenous factors that were used to describe the perinatal and newborn mortality or survival system are perinatal mortality, late neonatal mortality and LBW (mediating factor). Perinatal mortality includes deaths within seven days after birth and all stillbirths, while late neonatal mortality is defined as death within 21 days after the first week of survival (7-28 days)(Da Silva et al., 2016; Pathirana et al., 2016) – describing the timing of death within the new-born survival system. LBW – defined as a birth weight that is less than

2.5 Kgs at birth (Cutland et al., 2017) explains how new-born survival could be indirectly affected by other factors through birth weight.

The new-born adverse outcomes' exogenous variables were categorised as maternal and household factors (having a partner, maternal education level, maternal age, household wealth index), child individual risk factors (childbirth order, birth category - multiple or singleton, child's sex), institutional delivery, mother's previous experience of new-born loss or stillbirth, place of residence (rural or urban), and birth season (in annual quarters). Having a partner was categorised as a dummy variable for 1 - having a partner (those who were either married or cohabiting) and 0 – having no partner (those who were single or widowed). The wealth indices 3-4 were considered less poor, and wealth indices 1-2 were considered poorer. The wealth index was generated using principal component analysis, and the items were household assets, household roof structure, household floor structure, and household wall structure. Birth order was categorised as 1 -first order, $2 - 2^{nd}$ to 4^{th} order and $3 - 5^{th}$ order. Education was categorised as no education attained, primary level attained, and the post-primary level attained; however, education level of at least primary was related to the reduced risks of perinatal and late neonatal mortality, so I later made it as a single dummy variable of no education (0 – at least primary level attained and 1 – no education level at all). Maternal age was grouped as <20 years, 20-29 years and 30 years and above based on the non-parametric analysis (Figure 4.1).





Data analysis and cleaning, such as categorisation and removal of duplicates, were done in STATA v.15. The analysis was guided by this study's new-born pathway framework (Figure 4.2), which was generated based on the available variables in the dataset and literature on the factors associated with new-born mortality and low birth weight. The outcome variables (LBW, prenatal mortality, late neonatal mortality) were in the form of binary, with 1 - indicating the presence of outcome exposure and 0 - the absence of outcome exposure. I, therefore, used a generalised linear modelling approach with a logit link function. To examine the new-born mortality pathway, several analysis steps were applied. Bivariate model(s) with all covariates on the perinatal, late mortality and LBW as outcome variables were performed to identify the variables that would significantly affect outcomes of interest in the adjusted models. The results were reported in terms of odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI). The level of significance was determined at a p-value of <=0.05. Details on the analysis of the mediation effect of LBW on new-born mortality are indicated in Chapter 2 (section 2.6.4).

The model was assessed for multicollinearity between the independent variables. Considering the presence of multicollinearity at the cut-off point of Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) <10 (Hair et al., 2006), there was no evidence of potential multicollinearity as each variable's VIF was less than 6 (Appendix 4.1). However, because of strong correction between the multiple birth and LBW, the multiple birth variable was dropped under the perinatal mortality multivariable model, while LBW was dropped under the late neonatal mortality multivariable model. Furthermore, because of the homogeneity across the study clusters, such as villages and sub-counties within the HDSS, the clustering or multilevel modelling approach could not yield a variation across these clusters. Nonetheless, the use of a fixed-effect approach with the inclusion of variables such as place of residence (urban or rural) and household wealth index as key variables of interest provides an insight into the variation in new-born mortality across the place of residence and households.

Chapter 4: Low birth weight and New-born mortality

Figure 4.7: New-born mortality pathways analysis



Sources: Generated by the author based on available variables in the dataset and literature

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Participants' characteristics

Of the total registered births between 2011 and 2015, 64% were rural residents (Appendix 6.2). The average maternal age was 27.3 years (standard deviation=±6.5), and 14% were adolescent mothers. Overall, 84% of deliveries occurred in health facilities, of which 15% occurred in private health facilities (Appendix 4.2). Regarding maternal socioeconomic, 86% of the mothers had attained at least primary level education, 53% belonged to a wealth index of 3-5, and 86% were staying with a partner or married (Appendix 4.2).

4.3.2. Perinatal mortality, neonatal mortality, and LBW estimates

Comparing the neonatal and perinatal mortality across five years of birth and death outcome registration, we see a slight change in the perinatal mortality curve between 2011-2014, with the mortality rate reducing from 31 to 28 per 1000 total birth and gaining its position in the subsequent years (Figure 4.3). The new-born mortality within days 0-1 has also not significantly changed (27 per 1000 in 2011 versus 26 per 1000 in 2015). Similarly, slight changes in neonatal mortality rates were observed between 2013 and 2015, with the rates increasing by three units between 2013 and 2014 and reducing by six units in the subsequent year (Figure 4.3). The new-born mortality within days 1-6 has also not significantly changed (10 per 1000 in 2011 versus 11 per 1000 in 2015).

Of the total prenatal mortality cases, death within 24 hours (0-1 days + stillbirths) accounted for 83%, while death within 1-6 days accounted for 30.8% (Figure 4.4). Similarly, the overall neonatal mortality rate in the five years preceding 2016 was 22 per 1000 live births. Of the neonatal mortality cases, 62% were deaths within 24 hours of life (0-1 days), and 14 per 1000 live births were deaths within 7-27 days (Figure 4.4).





Note:

- Perinatal mortality was calculated as the number of births that resulted in stillbirths or died within 6 days after birth per the number of births (0-6 days + stillbirths). 1.
 - Neonatal mortality was calculated as the number of new-borns that died within 27 days immediately or during birth (0-27 days) ю. Э. К
 - Mortality within 1-6 days was calculated as death among new-borns who were alive after their birthday



Figure 4.9: Perinatal and New-born mortality distribution by days of death



Regarding the LBW, we observe a linear trend between 2011 and 2012 that was later reduced by three units in the subsequent year – remaining uniform for the rest of the reporting years (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.10: Annual changes in low birth weight

4.3.3. Perinatal mortality, neonatal mortality, and LBW distribution by socialeconomic and demographic characteristics

I examined the study's LBW distribution and perinatal and neonatal mortality by socioeconomic and demographic characteristics. LBW among adolescent aged women, unmarried women, and rural residents was 5%, 4% and 5%, points higher than those aged 20 years and above; married women and rural residents, respectively (Table 4.1). Similarly, LBW among new-borns whose mothers have ever experienced child loss and children born as multiple was 5% and 15% points higher than those whose mothers never experienced child loss and singleton births, respectively (Table 4.1). Perinatal and new-born mortality were slightly higher among adolescents and advanced aged mothers than those aged 20-29 years, and also slightly higher among rural residents than urban residents (Table 4.1). Additionally, perinatal and new-born mortality among low birth weight was 3% points higher than those with normal birth weight. Similarly, new-born mortality among children born as multiple births was 3% higher than in singleton (Table 4.1).

	Perinatal mortality	Neonatal mortality	LWB
	distribution	distribution	distribution
Childbirth weight			
Low birth weight (<2.5Kgs)	6.3	4.7	-
Normal Birthweight	2.6	1.8	-
Institutional delivery			-
Public Health facility	3.1	2.3	-
Community	3.5	2.1	-
Private health facility	2.6	2.1	-
Maternal education level			
None	4.7	2.1	15.3
Primary	3.1	2.4	13.9
Post primary	2.4	2.1	12.7
Maternal age group (years)			
<20	3.4	2.7	17.9
20-29	2.5	1.8	12.9
30+	3.9	2.7	13.3
Childbirth order			
1	2.7	1.9	13.2
2	3.6	2.5	14.1
3	1.7	2.0	14.3
Place of residence			
Rural	3.4	2.4	15.1
Urban	2.5	1.9	11.3
Marital status			
Has a partner	3.0	2.1	13.1
Does not a partner	3.9	3.1	17.5
Previous experience of death			
Experienced pregnancy loss	10.4	8.0	18.0
Never experienced pregnancy loss	2.7	1.9	13.5
Birth season in annual guarters			
1	2.7	2.0	13.1
2	2.9	2.2	14.7
3	3.4	2.3	13.6
4	3.2	2.4	13.4
Child sex			
Female	3.2	2.2	14.4
Male	3.0	2.2	13.0
Household wealth index			
Index 1 and 2	3.2	2.3	14.7
Index 3	3.2	2.5	14.9
Index 4 and 5	2.8	2.0	11.8
Birth category		-	
Multiple	3.2	5.1	32.6
Singleton	3.1	2.2	13.2

Table 4.1: Distribution of new-born mortality and LBW by stratifiers

4.3.4. The perinatal mortality pathways

To describe the perinatal mortality pathway, I provide the results in two tables (Table 4.2 and Table 4.3). Table 4.3 indicates how the association of LBW with perinatal mortality changes with institutional delivery and the inclusion of other factors. Table 2 shows the indirect factors associated with perinatal mortality via LBW. At the bivariable level, the crude odds of perinatal mortality were slightly higher for facility deliveries relative to those conducted in the community (Odds Ratio (OR)=1.01, 95% confidence interval (95%CI) = 0.80-1.28) (Table 4.2). Also, at the bivariable level, the crude odds of perinatal mortality were higher among LBW babies than those weighing 2.5Kgs+ (OR=2.54, 95%CI=1.74-3.70). Controlling for health facility delivery and introducing an interaction between LBW, a modest effect of health facility delivery on the effect of LBW was observed (OR=0.91, 95%CI=0.40-2.07) (Table 4.2). Controlling for other factors in the final model, the odds of perinatal mortality among the LBW new-borns remained almost the same (OR=2.37, 95%CI=1.61-3.48). The other factors that were directly associated with the increased odds of perinatal mortality were being a rural resident (OR=1.38, 95%CI=1.02-1.85), a mother's previous experience of perinatal mortality (OR=3.93, 95%CI=2.85-5.42), advanced maternal age (OR=1.5, 95%CI=1.21-1.99) and having no education at all (OR=1.63, 95%CI=1.22-2.19). Birth of 5th order and above was inversely associated with perinatal mortality (OR=0.39, 95%CI=0.17-0.89) (Table 4.2).

As mentioned earlier, LBW was strongly associated with perinatal mortality and was considered a potential mediating factor for perinatal mortality. Table 4.3 indicates the magnitude effect of the LBW factors in the study's dataset. The factors that were associated with the increased odds of LBW were adolescent mothers (OR=1.40, 95%CI=1.14-1.71), rural resident mothers (OR=1.40, 95%CI=1.19-1.65), mothers with previous experience of newborn or pregnancy loss (OR=1.33, 95%CI=1.01-1.76), babies born as multiple births (OR=3.12, 95%CI=2.31-4.21). Having a partner or being married was inversely associated with LBW (OR=0.76, 95%CI=0.63-0.92) (Table 4.3).

Of the total effect attributable to each of these factors, LBW mediated +47% of rural resident mothers, +54% of adolescent mothers, +15% of mothers with previous experience of newborn or pregnancy loss, +100% of multiple births and -45% of mothers with partners **(**Table 4.4).

4.3.5. Factors associated with late neonatal mortality

The increase in the odds of late neonatal mortality was associated with previous experience of pregnancy loss or neonatal mortality (OR=3.17, 95%CI= 1.15-8.74) and multiple births (OR=6.93, 95%CI=2.58-18.55) (Table 4.5).

UnadjustedChildbirth weightOR95%CIChildbirth weight0.95%CI<2.5 kgs1.00-25 kgs+2.541.74-325 kgs+2.541.74-3Place of delivery1.00-Health facility1.00-Place of delivery and LBW interaction a<2.5 kgs and health facility delivery interaction1.001.011.00-Annual birth quarters1.0011.00<	%CI 0	dineted 1	Adinete	,		1
Childbirth weightOR95%CIChildbirth weight95%CI<2.5 kgs1.00-1.00-<25 kgs+2.54[1.74-3]1.00-25 kgs+2.54[1.74-3]1.00-Place of delivery1.001.00Place of delivery and LBW interaction a1.01[0.8-1.2]-<2.5 kgs and health facility delivery interactionAnnual birth quarters1.00-1.00-10.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.00 <th>%CI 0</th> <th>ujusteu ±</th> <th>Juluar</th> <th>5 N Z</th> <th>runy at</th> <th>rjusted</th>	%CI 0	ujusteu ±	Juluar	5 N Z	runy at	rjusted
Childbirth weight1.00<2.5 kgs1.00<2.5 kgs1.0025 kgs2.54Place of delivery1.00Place of delivery1.00Health facility1.01Place of delivery and LBW interaction a-<2.5 kgs and health facility delivery interaction-Annual birth quarters1.001-		R 95%CI	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI
 <2.5 kgs 25 kgs 25 kgs+ 25 kgs+ 2.54 [1.74-3 Place of delivery Health facility Health facility 1.00 - 1.01 [0.8-1.5 Place of delivery and LBW interaction ^a <2.5 kgs and health facility delivery interaction 1.00 - 						
25 kgs+ 2.54 [1.74-3 Place of delivery Community 1.00 - 1.00 - 1.01 [0.8-1.5 Health facility 1.01 [0.8-1.5 Place of delivery and LBW interaction a - 2.5 kgs and health facility delivery interaction - 1.00 - 0.00 - 0	1.	- 00	1.00		1.00	ı
Place of delivery1.00Community1.00Health facility1.01Place of delivery and LBW interaction a1.01<2.5 Kgs and health facility delivery interaction	74-3.70]*** 2.	54 [1.75-3.71]***	2.73	[1.21-6.14]*	2.37	$[1.61-3.48]^{***}$
Community1.00Health facility1.01Place of delivery and LBW interaction a1.01<2.5 Kgs and health facility delivery interaction						
Health facility1.01[0.8-1.2]Place of delivery and LBW interaction a2.5 Kgs and health facility delivery interactionAnnual birth quarters1.00	1	- 00	1.00	ı	1.00	ı
Place of delivery and LBW interaction ^a - <2.5 Kgs and health facility delivery interaction	8-1.28] 1.	04 [0.82-1.32]	1.06	[0.82-1.37]	1.14	[0.88-1.47]
<2.5 Kgs and health facility delivery interactionAnnual birth quarters1.00						
Annual birth quarters 1.00 -	1		0.91	[0.4-2.07]	I	I
1 1.00 -						
	1		ı		1.00	
2 1.08 [0.78-1	78-1.49] -		1		1.07	[0.78-1.49]
3 1.26 [0.93-1	93-1.72] -		ı		1.23	[0.90-1.68]
4 1.20 [0.87-1	87-1.64] -		1	ı	1.19	[0.87-1.65]
Maternal education level						
Primary+ 1.00 -	1	ı	ı	ı	1.00	ı
None 1.27-2	27-2.25]***		ı	ı	1.63	$[1.22-2.19]^{**}$
Maternal age						
<20 <1.12 [0.83-1	83-1.53] -		ı		1.28	[0.89-1.83]
20–29 1.00 -	1				1.00	
30+ 1.18-1 1.48 [1.18-1	18-1.85]***	ı	ı	ı	1.55	$[1.21-1.99]^{**}$
Childbirth order						
1 0.79 [0.62-1	52-1.01] -	ı	ı	ı	0.97	[0.73-1.29]
24 1.00 -	1	ı	ı	ı	1.00	ı
5th+ 0.51 [0.23-1	23-1.14] -		1		0.39	[0.17-0.89]*

Chapter 4: Low birth weight and New-born mortality

	Unadju	sted	Adjust	ed 1	Adjust	ed 2	Fully a	djusted
	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI
Place of residence								
Urban	1.00	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	1.00	ı
Rural	1.40	$[1.1-1.78]^{**}$	ı	ı	ı	ı	1.38	$[1.02 - 1.85]^{*}$
Marital status								
No partner	1.00	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	1.00	ı
Has a partner	0.74	[0.54-1.02]		ı	I	I	0.75	[0.52-1.06]
Experienced neonatal or pregnancy loss previously								
No	1.00	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	1.00	ı
Yes	4.18	[3.1-5.63]***	ı	ı	ı	I	3.93	[2.85-5.42]***
Household Wealth								
Poor(er) (1-2)	1.00		ı	ı	ı	ı	1.00	ı
Less poor (3-5)	1.10	[0.88-1.38]	I	ı	I	I	0.86	[0.65-1.13]
Child sex								
Male	1.00	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	1.00	ı
Female	1.07	[0.82-1.40]		ı	ı	I	1.04	[0.79-1.36]
Birth category								
Singleton	1.00	ı	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	1
Multiple	1.02	[0.5-2.08]	I		I	ı	I	
Intercept	I	I	I		I	ı	0.02	[0.01-0.03]***
Note: 95%CI – 95% confidence interval; OR – Odds Ra	ation; **	* P<0.001; ** P<0.01	l; * P<0.	.05				

Table 4.2 Continued

	Unadju	usted	Adjusted	
	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI
Annual birth quarters				
1	1.00	-	1.00	-
2	1.11	[0.93-1.34]	1.12	[0.93-1.35]
3	1.05	[0.87-1.27]	1.06	[0.88-1.27]
4	1.03	[0.86-1.24]	1.03	[0.85-1.24]
Maternal education level				
Primary+	1.00	-	1.00	-
None	1.14	[0.95-1.37]	1.14	[0.94-1.37]
Maternal age				
<20	1.43	[1.2-1.7]***	1.40	[1.14-1.71]***
20—29	1.00	-	1.00	-
30+	0.94	[0.82-1.08]	0.98	[0.84-1.14]
Childbirth order				
1	0.91	[0.8-1.04]	0.88	[0.75-1.02]
2—4	1.00	-	1.00	-
5 th +	1.03	[0.75-1.41]	0.97	[0.70-1.35]
Place of residence				
Urban	1.00	-	1.00	-
Rural	1.39	[1.22-1.59]***	1.40	[1.19-1.65]***
Marital status				
No partner	1.00	-	1.00	-
Has a partner	0.71	[0.6-0.85]***	0.76	[0.63-0.92]**
Experienced neonatal or pregnancy loss				
previously				
No	1.00	-	1.00	-
Yes	1.45	[1.11-1.89]**	1.33	[1.01-1.76]*
Birth category				
Singleton	1.00	-	1.00	-
Multiple	3.10	[2.31-4.16]***	3.11	[2.30-4.19]***
Household Wealth				
Poor(er) (1-2)	1.00	-	1.00	-
Less poor (3-5)	1.16	[1.02-1.32]*	0.92	[0.79-1.09]
Child sex				
Male	1.00	-	1.00	-
Female	1.13	[0.99-1.29]	1.12	[0.99-1.28]
Intercept			0.15	[0.11-0.19]***
Note: 95%CI – 95% confidence interval; O	R – Odds	Ration; *** P<0.001;	** P<0.01;	* P<0.05

Table 4.3: Perinatal mortality indirect determinants mediated through LBW using Iganga-Muyuge HDSS event history data

	Indirect effect (IE)	Total effect (TE)	% Mediated through LBW (IE/TE*100)
Multiple birth	1.134	1.134	100.0
Experienced neonatal or pregnancy loss			
previously	0.246	1.615	15.2
Has a partner	-0.237	-0.524	45.2
Adolescent age	0.290	0.537	54.0
Rural residence	0.290	0.615	47.4

Table 4.4: Indirect pathways of the association between LBW and perinatal mortality

Table 4.5: Late neonatal mortality risk factors using 2011-2015 Iganga-Mayuge HDSS event histories data

	Unadj	usted	Adjus	ted
	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI
Annual birth quarters				
1	1.00	-	1.00	-
2	1.55	[0.55-2.91]	1.65	[0.58-4.68]
3	1.63	[0.59-3.02]	1.64	[0.59-4.56]
4	1.43	[0.49-2.72]	1.41	[0.49-4.09]
Education Level				
No level of education	1.00	-	1.00	-
Primary education+	1.37	[0.56-2.35]	1.24	[0.51-3.06]
Maternal age (years)				
<20	0.87	[0.31-1.66]	1.21	[0.37-3.97]
20-29	1.00	-	1.00	-
30+	1.73	[0.87-2.63]	1.73	[0.81-3.69]
Childbirth order				
1st	0.70	[0.34-1.07]	0.88	[0.38-2.04]
2—4	1.00	-	1.00	-
5th+	2.20	[0.67-4.54]	1.89	[0.54-6.61]
Place of residence				
Urban	1.00	-	1.00	-
Rural	0.77	[0.38-1.17]	0.82	[0.35-1.95]
Marital status				
Has no partner	1.00	-	1.00	-
Has a partner	0.66	[0.27-1.14]	0.54	[0.21-1.43]
Experienced neonatal or pregnancy loss				
previously				
No	1.00	-	1.00	-
Yes	3.60	[1.39-6.46]**	3.17	[1.15-8.74]*
Birth category				
Singleton	1.00	-	1.00	-
Multiple	7.71	[2.95-13.85]***	6.93	[2.58-18.55]***
Household Wealth				
Poorer (1-2 index)	1.00	-	1.00	-
Less poor (3-5 index)	0.75	[0.37-1.16]	0.72	[0.29-1.74]
Note: 95%CI – 95% confidence interval; OF	R – Odd	s Ration; *** P<0.00	1; ** P	<0.01; * P<0.05

	Unadjusted		Adjusted	
	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI
Child sex				
Male	1.00	-	1.00	-
Female	0.57	[0.28-0.88]	0.55	[0.27-1.12]
Place of delivery				
Community	1.00	-	-	-
Health facility	1.22	[0.57-1.95]	-	-
Note: 95%CI – 95% confidence interval; OR – Odds Ration; *** P<0.001; ** P<0.01; * P<0.05				

Table 4.5 Continued

4.5. Discussion

To the best of my knowledge, this is the first study in a resource-poor setting that seeks to understand how LBW new-born mediates new-born mortality and how the institution delivery may moderate the LBW effect on new-born survival. The analysis was based on an event history health demographic dataset that has not been exploited in studying new-born survival in Uganda and other countries with the same context. The study results provide an insight into new-born survival life-course and health systems interventions, particularly targeting the prevention of LBW occurrences and management of or care for LBW new-borns. In the subsequent sub-sections, I discuss 1) the health facility pathways in affecting the survival of new-borns, and 2) the pathway through which LBW mediate the new-born survival. The results are interpreted, and where possible, recommendations for the design of appropriate interventions are discussed based on the available studies and implementation research evidence in a similar context.

4.5.1. Health facility delivery and neonatal mortality

The study results confirm the persistent high perinatal mortality rates in Uganda, with stillbirths and death within 24 hours contributing the largest share. The modest effect of health facility delivery on the survival of LBW new-borns and the large proportion of new-born death within 24 hours after birth indicates a gap in accessing the required health services. We know that, during labour, women should be attended to by skilled health workers who are knowledgeable and qualified to screen for labour complications such as obstructed labour conditions, which need life-saving emergency services, for instance, caesarean section (Darmstadt et al., 2013; Das et al., 2014). However, access to these interventions is usually limited in such resource-limited settings (Zupan, 2005). Further, the substantial effect of LBW on the survival of new-borns is well documented (Barros et al., 2011; Blencowe et al., 2012), but interventions for preventing or controlling the effect of LBW are always inadequately available in such resource-limited settings. For instance, kangaroo mother care and resuscitation that are easy to implement, inexpensive and effective (Das et al., 2014; Dickson et al., 2014) for helping such new-borns survive are not universally implemented in most health facilities in such settings. Additionally, access to ANC, such as

screening for maternal morbidities and prenatal interventions, may help protect the motherfoetus dyad from maternal morbidities (Lincetto et al., 2013) and ultimately reduce the likelihood of adverse outcomes. However, usually, most women do not access such services (Benova et al., 2018).

Noteworthy is that in this study's setting and in sub-Saharan Africa in general, such interventions may fail to work effectively because of community contextual problems, particularly poor transport and referral systems, which contribute to delays and failures in receiving required services. For instance, one public hospital (Iganga Hospital) in this study setting provides Comprehensive Emergency Obstetric and New-born Care services in the district (Uganda Ministry of Health 2018b). However, because of the long-distance coupled with poor transport and referral systems, women from rural or remote areas usually fail to access the services and, for those that make it, reach when they are in advanced stages of complications. Such could perhaps explain why rural residents were associated with a high risk of perinatal mortality in this study.

Further, most women first access services at different care points within the community in such settings because of pluralism in healthcare. They are later referred or go to accredited or higher-level facilities when adverse complications have emerged. Thus, most women who deliver in higher-level facilities often have complications associated with a high likelihood of perinatal mortality. These highlighted challenges could explain why health facility delivery could not contribute substantially to the reduced probability of stillbirth and death within 24 hours. Additionally, the rural communities are characterised by cultural and social behaviours that affect access to pregnancy, delivery and new-born care interventions. These findings suggest interventions that simultaneously improve healthcare access coverage and quality of care if the facility interventions match better outcomes.

4.5.2. LBW effect on perinatal and neonatal mortality

LBW was identified as a potential determinant of perinatal mortality. The other determinants of new-born mortality were marital status, maternal age, and maternal education. Having a partner was inversely associated with LBW, which was consistent with another study on the effect of marital status on the birth outcome (Singh et al., 2017) – implying that it may reduce perinatal mortality indirectly through birth weight. The effect of marital status on child health outcomes could be via decision-making power, influencing the choice of appropriate services. In the study's context and sub-Saharan Africa, men usually possess resources and assets; thus, unmarried or single women access inadequate health services (Cohen et al., 2014). In addition to the negotiating power with the health workers, married women have support from their spouse in terms of joint income, joint care and joint decision-making, which may contribute to their birth preparedness (Kaiser et al., 2018), child nutrition and general health of the household.

Furthermore, the health policy or rule in Uganda that requires women to attend maternal services in accompany of their spouses may limit their unmarried from accessing maternal health facility services (Påfs et al., 2015; Peneza & Maluka, 2018; Sochas, 2019) that would address LBW. Studies done in similar settings have indicated that women would be denied services unless they attended with their husbands. Sometimes, those with husbands would be prioritised (Påfs et al., 2015; Peneza & Maluka, 2018; Sochas, 2019). While male engagement is a positive factor, it has been found that it could end up being a discriminative strategy that could create stigma among unmarried women, inhibiting them from accessing the required services (Påfs et al., 2015; Sochas, 2019). Inclusive interventions that target all women groups regardless of statuses, such as age and marital status, should be designed.

Maternal age of 30 years+ was positively associated with perinatal mortality as the adolescence age (15-19 years) was positively associated with LBW – indicating how the tail ends of maternal age are associated with the increased likelihood of new-born mortality. Notwithstanding, the effect of maternal age on perinatal mortality needs to be interpreted with care because of other confounding factors such as birth order or parity. On the first hand, the effect of maternal age of 30 years+ could be related to birth order. Consistent with a study done in India and Bangladesh (Al Kibria et al., 2018), new-borns of birth order of at least 5 were at lower risk of mortality compared to the first birth order. When an interaction between maternal age and birth order was introduced, the first births among women aged at least 30 years were positively associated with perinatal mortality.

On the other hand, we also know that high parity is associated with pregnancy complications such as hypertension, leading to an increased likelihood of adverse birth outcomes. In low and middle-income countries where maternal age at the first delivery begins as early as 10 years (Christiansen et al., 2013), by the age of 25-30, most women have experienced at least four pregnancies that would increase the risk of hypertension and ultimately adverse birth outcomes. In this study, 28% and 49% of women aged 20-29 and 30 years, respectively, had children of 3rd and 4th birth order. These results suggest adolescent pregnancy and fertility control interventions targeting adolescents, newly delivered women and multiparous women. Furthermore, the results suggest clinical screening and treatment for morbidity in pregnancy, which may reduce adverse birth outcomes.

In this study, multiple births were not strongly associated with perinatal mortality but were strongly associated with mortality at a later age. Although some studies have indicated multiple births to be highly associated with infant and under-five mortality (Monden & Smits, 2017; Uthman et al., 2008), this study highlights that the association may vary by age. The association of multiple births with perinatal mortality in this study has been indicated to be mediated by LBW. The association of multiple births with LBW and preterm births has also been studied in other studies (Blondel et al., 2002; Dudenhausen & Maier, 2010). Women with multiple births need special care (Heather et al. 2017; Montgomery et al. 2005) in terms of nutrition to produce enough breast milk to feed the new-borns.
Further, multiple new-borns are more likely to be very small new-borns, and appropriate regular postnatal examinations are recommended (Dudenhausen & Maier, 2010). However, such care could be inadequate for marginalised communities and families because of limited resources. In addition, multiple birth children are, in most cases, preterm or very LBW new-born and thus susceptible to recurrent infections that may need frequent health care services, which are often inadequately available in rural communities. Interventions within community and health facility levels for supporting women with multiple births are thus needed. I also recommend a comprehensive study on the care for multiple births, including small new-borns, beyond the facility interventions, particularly focusing on the burden and the community practices of caring for such new-borns in a resource-limited setting.

Attending at least a primary education level was directly associated with the reduced likelihood of perinatal mortality – a finding that has been indicated in another study (Nattey et al., 2013). The pathway could be better health behavioural practices such as nutrition, better sanitation, and appropriate healthcare access. In most cases, educated women have access to health information on maternal nutrition, good hygiene practices and maternal danger signs that could have been attained either while at school or through reading media publications. These findings suggest a need to design and implement behavioural interventions that integrate less educated communities. One of the strategies that have been effective in mobilising and sensitising poor and illiterate communities in such resource-limited settings is the use of community health workers, which could be exploited to target such groups with maternal and new-born specific health information. Additionally, interventions that promote girl child education and prevent early pregnancies targeting girls and families could increase education levels among women in the long run.

Previous stillbirth and neonatal death experience was related to a high likelihood of perinatal mortality and continued to affect the neonates in the later stage, which is consistent with other studies done in developed countries (Heazell & Clewlow, 2015; Patterson et al., 2014). Women with previous experience of pregnancy loss are susceptible to risk conditions such as preeclampsia, preterm births, intrauterine growth retardation and foetal distress that could affect the health of subsequent pregnancies (Getahun et al., 2009). Additionally, perinatal mortality recurrence, particularly stillbirths, could be related to chronic maternal conditions (Heazell & Clewlow, 2015). Proper screening for the histories of pregnancy loss and neonatal mortality in addition to the histories of related risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes and epilepsy should be emphasised during the prenatal and labour period.

4.6. Conclusion

This manuscript contributes to understanding child mortality by analysing the new-born mortality pathways in a resource-poor setting. The study affirms the role of LBW in mediating the association of socio-economic and demographic factors with new-born mortality. The study has also identified the continued effect of multiple birth and the mother's previous pregnancy loss experiences on new-borns survival at a later age. Further, in addition to the

large proportion of mortality that occurs within the first day (24 hours), the study has discovered that institutional deliveries had a modest moderation effect on the association of LBW with new-born mortality.

The continued association of the multiple birth or low birth weight and previous experience of new-born loss with child mortality in the later stage, as well as the association of maternal factors such as adolescence and advanced age pregnancies that could be prevented through preconception interventions, demonstrate the need for a life-course approach in the design of interventions. These interventions should include control of LBW and management or treatment of LBW new-borns. The LBW control interventions should target the socially and economically disadvantaged women, who include adolescents, unmarried women and rural residents, with information on birth preparedness and care for pregnancies. I propose a postnatal treatment and care package for mothers and health workers throughout the newborn life-course for the LBW new-borns and multiple birth. Intensifying the health systems by replicating known LBW effective strategies such as identifying LBW cases through immediate new-born weighing and their management through kangaroo mother care, better nutrition, and other medical interventions are needed.

Additionally, the effect of institutional delivery in such resource-limited settings is complex because of the plural health services points the women go through before reaching the formal care points. The challenges of inadequate amenities for maternal and new-born health, including qualified staff, may make it difficult for the health facilities to address obstetric emergencies appropriately. I suggest a comprehensive health systems audit, both internal and external, to provide an insight into the reasons for the insignificant effect of institutional deliveries on the survival of LBW new-borns and the large proportion of death within the first day of life.

4.7. Strengths and limitations

The main strength of HDSS in the estimation of new-born mortality is that the HDSS register and follow-up all pregnant women until the end of pregnancy. In addition, collecting data in two rounds annually helps get information on those who were missed to be registered in the preceding rounds due to some issues, including migration and sociocultural issues related to the registration of pregnancies. However, various limitations relate to the representation, collection, and analysis of the provided datasets. First, the study findings are generalisable to Iganga-Mayuge districts; however, because of the similarities in most Ugandan communities in terms of social and health systems, the findings may provide an insight into the national and sub-national (Busoga region) perinatal and new-born mortality estimates. Second, as alluded to earlier, HDSS has been indicated to have issues with the reporting stillbirth and new-born mortality that affect the estimates (Akuze et al., 2020; Kadobera et al., 2017; Nareeba et al., 2021), which is explained by the discrepancies in the death reported in verbal autopsy and birth registration data reported in Section 2.6.7 (Chapter 2). Third, the high proportion of birth weight missingness and heaping poses a concern to the quality of the data in providing reliable birth weight categories. Last, the causes of death could be misclassified since the causes of death are based on the child's mother's narrative of the signs and symptoms recognised before death (Amek et al., 2018; Anker, 1997; Chandramohan et al., 2001; Herrera et al., 2017). For instance, the death due to malaria could be misclassified since malaria is usually based on fever as a major symptom, which is usually a diagnostic symptom for other morbidities such as diarrhoea and respiratory infections. Such misclassification leads to underestimation or overestimation of the true mortality cause-specific fraction. Nonetheless, in areas where most deaths are unregistered and unverified, VA remains an important way of establishing the causes of death. Details on the strengths and limitations of HDSS are provided in Section 7.3 (Chapter 7) of this thesis.

Appendix 4.1: Mult	icollinearity	assessment for	perinatal and	neonatal	mortality	variables
in the event history	, dataset					

		SQRT		R-
Variable	VIF	VIF	Tolerance	Squared
Birth season in quarters				
2	1.53	1.23	0.6557	0.3443
3	1.54	1.24	0.6481	0.3519
4	1.56	1.25	0.6404	0.3596
Child as Low birth weight	1.43	1.19	0.7006	0.2994
Child low birth weight and delivered in private facility	1.38	1.18	0.7238	0.2762
Child low birth weight and delivered in community	1.4	1.19	0.7118	0.2882
Primary Education	5.04	2.25	0.1982	0.8018
Post Primary Education	5.41	2.33	0.1848	0.8152
Delivered in private health facilities	1.3	1.14	0.7712	0.2288
Delivered in community	1.25	1.12	0.7991	0.2009
Maternal age				
<20 years	1.3	1.14	0.7707	0.2293
30+ years	1.19	1.09	0.8435	0.1565
Birth order 1	1.39	1.18	0.7208	0.2792
Birth order 5+	1.06	1.03	0.9397	0.0603
Rural residence	2.23	1.49	0.4477	0.5523
Has a partner	1.19	1.09	0.8412	0.1588
Experienced pregnancy or child loss previously	1.04	1.02	0.9631	0.0369
Multiple birth	1.02	1.01	0.9833	0.0167
Child sex as female	1	1	0.997	0.003
Wealth index				
Index 3	1.26	1.12	0.794	0.206
Index 4 and 5	2.81	1.68	0.3557	0.6443
Mean VIF	1.78			

	Comp	Complete case* In	
		n=10,758	
	%ge	missing	%ge
Institutional delivery		1.0	
Public Health facility	68.7		68.7
Community	16.0		16.0
Private health facility	15.4		15.4
Maternal education level		0.5	
None	14.3		14.3
Primary	52.3		52.3
Post primary	33.4		33.4
Maternal age group (years)		0.0	
<20	13.7		-
20-29	53.6		-
30+	32.8		-
Place of residence		0.0	
Rural	64.0		-
Urban	36.0		-
Marital status		9.1	
Has a partner or married	86.2		86.2
Has no a partner	13.8		13.8
Household wealth index		18.8	
Index 1 and 2	46.0		43.7
Index 3	21.2		20.6
Index 4 and 5	32.8		35.7
Previous experience of death		0.0	
Experienced pregnancy loss	5.1		-
Never experienced pregnancy loss	94.9		-
Childbirth weight		27.3	
LBW (<2.5Kgs)	13.1		13.7
Normal Birth weight	86.9		86.3
Childbirth order		1.2	
First	45.0		45.0
2 nd -4 th	50.6		50.7
5 th +	4.3		4.3
Child sex		1.2	
Female	50.2		50.2
Male	49.8		49.8
Birth category		0.9	
Multiple	2.4		2.4
Singleton	97.6		97.6

Appendix	4.2:	2011-2015	Iganga-Mayuge	HDSS	event	histories	participants'	descriptive
statistics								

Appendix 4.2 Continued

	Comp	lete case*	Imputed
		n=10,758	3
	%ge	missing	%ge
Birth season in annual quarters		0.0	
1	25.2		-
2	24.6		-
3	26.1		-
4	24.1		-
Birth Year		0.0	
2011	21.9		-
2012	21.6		-
2013	20.5		-
2014	17.9		-
2015	18.0		-
New-born mortality			
Deaths with 28 days (0-27 days)	2.2**		-
Deaths within 7 days (0-6 days)	1.9**		-
Stillbirths	1.19		-
Deaths within 7 days (0-6 days) +Stillbirths	3.1		-
Late neonatal mortality (7-27 days)	0.32***		
Note: ** the denominator excludes stillbirths (128), ***	the denominator ex	cludes those wh	o died in the first
seven days of lif	e + stillbirths		

CHAPTER FIVE HOUSEHOLD AND INDIVIDUAL-LEVEL PREDICTORS OF SUSPECTED PNEUMONIA AND DIARRHOEA AMONG UNDER-5

The paper is under production in PLOS Global Public Health as: Kananura RM. Machine learning predictive modelling for identification of predictors of acute respiratory infection and diarrhoea in Uganda's rural and urban settings (<u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000430</u>).

Abstract

Despite the widely known preventive interventions, the dyad of acute respiratory infections (ARI) and diarrhoea remain among the top global under – 5 years mortality causes. Studies on child morbidity have enormously applied "traditional" statistical techniques that have limitations in handling high dimension data, which leads to the exclusion of some variables. Machine Learning (ML) models appear to perform better on high-dimensional data. Using Uganda's 2006-2016 DHS pooled data on children aged 6-59 months, I applied ML techniques to identify rural-urban differentials in the predictors of child's diarrhoea and ARI. I also used ML to identify other omitted variables in the current child morbidity frameworks. Four categories of variables were considered: child characteristics, maternal characteristics, household characteristics and immunisation. For each area of residence (urban and rural), the data was partitioned into three sets: testing set (10%), validation set (30%) and training set (60%). The measure of prediction was based on 10-fold cross-validation. The gradient-boosted machine was the best-selected model for identifying ARI predictors (Accuracy: 100% -rural and 100%-urban) and diarrhoea predictors (Accuracy: 70%-rural and 100%-urban). These factors relate to the household's structure and composition, which is characterised by poor hygiene and sanitation and poor household environments that make children more suspectable of developing these diseases; maternal socio-economic factors such as education, occupation, and fertility (birth order); individual risk factors such as child age, birth weight and nutritional status; and protective interventions (immunisation). The study findings confirm the notion that ARI and diarrhoea risk factors overlap. The results highlight the need for a holistic approach with multisectoral emphasis in addressing the occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea among children. In particular, the results provide an insight into the importance of implementing interventions that are responsive to the unique structure and composition of the household. Finally, alongside traditional models, machine learning could be applied in generating research hypotheses and providing insight into the selection of key variables that should be considered in the model.

Keywords: Machine Learning; algorithmic analysis; child health; pneumonia; diarrhoea

5.1. Introduction

The global inequities in child mortality have consistently remained large, with sub-Saharan Africa contributing the largest share (United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME), 2017, 2018, 2019b). In 2019, the under-five mortality rate in sub-Saharan Africa was 78 per 1000 live births, twice higher than the global rate and at least 16 times higher than high-income countries' average (UN IGME, 2019). Despite the widely known yet cost-effective preventive and protective measures (Bhutta et al., 2013), pneumonia and diarrhoea have persistently appeared among the leading causes of under-five mortality. Globally, pneumonia and diarrhoea have recurrently contributed an estimate of at least 24% of all under-five years mortality causes (UN IGME, 2019, 2018, 2017) and the burden of the two diseases remains high in sub-Saharan Africa (Mokomane et al., 2017; Scharf et al., 2014; UN IGME, 2017; Whitney, 2017; WHO, 2018).

In Uganda, the prevalence of suspected pneumonia (hereinafter referred to as "Acute Respiratory Infection (ARI)") and diarrhoea in the recent Uganda Demographic and Health Survey (UDHS) is estimated at 20% and 9%, respectively (Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International, 2018) – making Uganda among the top 5 countries with a high proportion of children that experience diarrhoea and ARI (Figure 5.1). Like other sub-Saharan African countries, pneumonia and diarrhoea are the leading causes that burden the health facilities in Uganda. For instance, in Uganda, out of the 8.8 million under-five health facility outpatient admissions in 2017/2018, 13.3% were due to either pneumonia (4.3%) or diarrhoea (9.1%) (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018a). During the same period, out of 0.68 million under-five health facility inpatient admissions, 22% were due to pneumonia (14%) and diarrhoea (8.1%) (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2018a). The recurrent episodes of pneumonia and diarrhoea among children in sub-Saharan Africa lead to not only persistent high child mortality and longterm disabilities in the region but also catastrophic expenditure as well as a long-term economic burden on the individuals and families (Baral et al., 2020; Ekirapa – Kiracho et al., 2021; Memirie et al., 2017; Niyibitegeka et al., 2021; Soremekun et al., 2018). For instance, the studies done in Ethiopia and Uganda indicated an average of \$62-64 for each hospitalised episode of pneumonia and an average of \$79 for each hospitalised episode of diarrhoea (Ekirapa – Kiracho et al., 2021; Memirie et al., 2017).

Diarrhoea and ARI have common risk factors such as poor nutrition, poor hygiene and sanitation, and poor living conditions (Bhutta et al., 2013; Chan & Lake, 2013) and both diseases lead to the occurrence of other health consequences such as anaemia that could later increase the probability of death or inhibit children from thriving. Noteworthy, the association of the risk factors with the prevalence of morbidities is a complex process of interrelated mechanisms (Mokomane et al., 2017), and the health sector cannot solely address such complexity. Indeed, the SDGs framework and the Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health underscore the interrelations between most of the goals by highlighting how progress in one area may affect progress in many others, which calls for

a multisectoral approach in design and implementation of child health interventions (Every Woman Every Child, 2015; WHO, 2015).





Source: The DHS Program STAT compiler, with recent data (2013-2018) as of August 2020.

Ending the preventable causes of child death, such as pneumonia and diarrhoea, is among the global health priorities (Every Woman Every Child, 2015; WHO, 2015). Sustainable development goals (SDGs) include interrelated goals that contribute to the reduction of deaths due to preventable causes. The Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health, which is aligned to SDG targets, recognises how a range of health and health-related goals and targets must be addressed for children to "Survive-Thrive-Transform" (Every Woman Every Child, 2015), thus, emphasising the importance of the multisectoral approach in the design and implementation of child health interventions. Some of the SDG indicators that are relevant in reducing the occurrence of pneumonia and diarrhoea include 1) SDG target 3.9 – reducing mortality and morbidity due to water and soil pollution and contamination; 2) SDG target 2.2 – ending all forms of malnutrition: child stunting, child wasting, child overweight; 3) SDG target 6.1 – achieving universal and equitable access to safe and affordable drinking water for all; 4) SDG 6.2 – achieving access to adequate and equitable sanitation and hygiene for all; 5) SDG 7.1 – ensuring universal access to affordable, reliable and modern energy services; 6) SDG 11.1 – ensuring access for all to adequate, safe and affordable housing and basic services and upgrade slums. And end open defecation, paying special attention to the needs of women and girls and those in vulnerable situations; and 7) including other parts of targets in goals on poverty, hunger, education, gender.

Furthermore, children's health and well-being depend dramatically on where they are born or reside (CSDH, 2008). Such differences could be due to the residential variations in the earlier alluded risk factors: environmental, healthcare access, socio-economic and demographic characteristics, and food access. For instance, it is known that rural dwellers' children are susceptible to a high risk of diseases such as malaria, pneumonia, and diarrhoea (X. Bai et al., 2012; Van de Poel et al., 2007), which could be explained by the poor environmental measures such as lack of access to clean water, poor toilet coverage, and indoor pollution and socioeconomic factors such as poverty and low levels of education (Sahn & Stifel, 2003). However, it should also be noted that those in the urban marginalised setting are susceptible to a high risk of morbidities such as malaria, pneumonia and diarrhoea compared to their rural counterparts (X. Bai et al., 2012; Fotso, 2007; Van de Poel et al., 2007). The urban marginalised are more characterised by risk factors that have been mentioned to increase the likelihood of morbidities prevalence among rural dwellers (X. Bai et al., 2012). Nonetheless, information on the differences in the predictors of pneumonia and diarrhoea between urban and rural settings is elusive since the analysis usually considers rural-urban disaggregation, which masks the vulnerable groups living in urban areas.

In light of the above, there is a need for risk assessment approaches that can comprehensively provide a set of variables that may describe a child at risk of contracting morbidities and how these variables may differ across the place of residence. Such is not only important in setting priority areas of focus but also in guiding the collaboration and integrations at different societal levels and ultimately addressing the fragmentation of different pieces of interventions. We know that pneumonia and diarrhoea have a range of risk factors and determinants that are usually correlated, which usually limit the number of variables in the traditional models, such as logistic regression, linear regression, and Cox regression. On the one hand, because of the limitations of traditional statistical approaches in handling highly

117

dimensional and correlated variables (collinearity assumption), usually, variables are dropped out of the model, and normally, the exclusion or inclusion of variables is dependent on the researchers' interest. On the other hand, dimensionality reduction approaches such as factors analysis or principal component analysis are always applied to create indices, thus leading to the loss of information.

Furthermore, the conclusion and interpretation of traditional models are based on statistical significance (p-value), where the focus is usually on variables with a lower p-value for a given level of significance. Conclusion and interpretation of data based on p-value have been recognized to provide limited information about the data (Halsey, 2019). Additionally, large samples generate smaller p-values and therefore relying on p-values may lead to claim support for results (Lin et al., 2013). Drawing on the limitations of the traditional models that have been applied in the current literature, the available frameworks or theories that have based their formulation on traditional analysis approaches may lead to inappropriate conclusions and fragmentation of interventions (Breiman, 2001; Luo et al., 2015).

Building on the limitations of the traditional statistical models, such as linear and non-linear regression models that have been applied in the current literature, I apply Machine Learning (ML) on a pooled dataset of 2006-2016 UDHS with the main aim of examining the urban-rural differences in the predictors of pneumonia and diarrhoea. ML models such as lasso, random forest and deep learning appear to perform better than the traditional linear and non-linear models on high dimensional datasets or correlated variables and datasets with more variables than observations (Breiman, 2001; Luo et al., 2016). The ML modelling idea is to let the algorithm determine the way the outcome and independent variables are linked (Breiman, 2001; Song et al., 2004). So far, ML has not been extensively applied to the available crosssectional data in LMICs. The key applications refer to clinical research data (Correa et al., 2018; Delen et al., 2010; S. Gupta et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2018; Naydenova et al., 2016; Rose, 2013; Silterra et al., 2017) and only a handful studies have applied ML using crosssectional population health data (Daoud et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2015). Thus, to my knowledge, this study is the first to apply an algorithmic modelling approach to identify predictors of pneumonia and diarrhoea in LMICs settings based on cross-sectional surveys. I study how the predictors of ARI and diarrhoea vary across the places of residence (rural versus urban). The identification of these predictors not only provides a set of measures for vulnerable children at risk of ARI and diarrhoea but also provides a new direction for rethinking the implementation mechanism of preventive interventions that target communities, families, and children with such identified characteristics. Finally, studying how the predictors by place of residence may give us an insight into a package of interventions for each of the places of residence.

5.2. Analysis and theoretical approaches to the measures of child morbidity risk factors

While available studies (Kamal et al., 2015; Kandala et al., 2009, 2008; Mulatya & Ochieng, 2020) have based their analysis on Mosley and Chen model to understand the determinants of child morbidities in developing countries (Mosley & Chen, 1984), the application of traditional analysis approaches appear to have limited the consideration of other important variables. The framework by Mosley and Chen considers a range of social, economic, cultural, and health system variables that impact child health and survival through a set of proximate determinants. These are categorized as maternal demographics and socioeconomic, environmental, nutrient deficiency, and geographic position. The occurrence of diarrhoea has been indicated to be highly associated with underweight or malnourished children (Amare et al., 2019; McGovern, 2019; Ntenda, 2019; Rahman et al., 2016). The socio-economic factors that are associated with the occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea among children include the wealth position of the family, the education level of the parents and employment status (Kamal et al., 2015; Kandala et al., 2008). For instance, in their study on morbidity among children in Bangladesh, Kamal et al., 2015 indicate that children from low-income families were at least 40% more likely to suffer from a common illness than those from less poor families (Kamal et al., 2015). The demographic factors associated with ARI and diarrhoea among children include maternal and household age (Kandala et al., 2009, 2008). The main environmental factors that have been identified to increase morbidity among children are poor sanitation and hygiene, access to unsafe water, and household air pollution (Kamal et al., 2015). Notably, and as Hill, 2003 indicates, birth weight as a potential risk factor that affects the child's health throughout their childhood age is missing in the Mosley and Chen framework (Hill, 2003), although this could be correlated with the nutrition deficiency that is indicated in the framework. The association of LBW with diarrhoea and ARI has been indicated in some studies conducted in low and middle-income countries (Fonseca Lima et al., 2016; Jackson et al., 2013; Martins et al., 2016; McGovern, 2019).

While a sheer volume of research has offered a lot in understanding and improving child health, building on this available evidence, there is a need to advance research methodologies that may contribute to the generation of new interventions and implementation approaches in this area. Our current methods in this field majorly rely on "traditional" statistical analysis approaches that are based on several assumptions. For instance, the assumption of collinearity and the number of parameters versus sample size may lead to the exclusion of important variables, leading to elusive conclusions. Reducing dimensionality or exclusion of parameters reduces the information of model accuracy prediction (Breiman, 2001).

Furthermore, what has been missing is that the child health and well-being factors may vary across and within the countries/communities (Halonen et al., 2013; Martikainen et al., 2003), and perhaps the magnitude of each factor may vary. As alluded to earlier, the places of residence are characterised differently by community behaviours such as myths and

geographic characteristics such as exposure to environmental risk factors that contribute to the high incidence and re-occurrence of morbidities.

Contrary to the different approaches that have been adopted by previous studies in the same field – and this is a key strength of this study, I use an algorithmic approach to identify the potential rural-urban differentials in the predictors of child's diarrhoea and ARI in Uganda. I compare the ML results with the traditional logistic regression to identify the model with better accuracy in predicting ARI and diarrhoea. To test the impact of wealth, instead of generating indices that have been used to generate some measures, such as the wealth index, I include all the variables available in the dataset that are known to affect the health and wellbeing of children to generate diarrhoea and ARI predictive algorithm. Notably, the application of different approaches and modelling in data analysis is usually affected by the availability of the relevant data, which also affects ML approaches. Therefore, I am not claiming that ML would be the best alternative and unique approach that would not suffer from data availability limitations.

5.3. Methods

5.3.1. Data source

To have a sufficient dataset for identifying the predictors of this study's outcomes, I pooled the UDHS data collected between 2006 and 2016 and publicly accessed as of March 2020. For all waves of data collection considered under this study, the DHS used a multistage, stratified sampling design with households as the sampling unit. DHS has a standard household questionnaire that collects information on characteristics of the household's dwelling unit, such as the source of water, type of toilet facilities, materials used for the floor of the dwelling unit, and ownership of various household items. The household tool also includes a household roster that captures data on each household member's age and sex, which is used to identify women, men, and children eligible for individual interviews, anthropometry measurement, and anaemia testing. Furthermore, the DHS uses the women's questionnaire to collect information about their reproduction and fertility history, sexuality, pregnancy and birth experience, and child health. The questions on child health include asking eligible women to recall if their children had symptoms of diarrhoea and ARI in the recent period preceding the day of data collection. Information on vaccination coverage was collected from the child's health card or the mother's direct report. In Uganda, the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine was introduced in April 2013. Although the rotavirus vaccine became part of the national routine immunisation schedule in February 2018, while it was not part of the schedule at the time of the recent (2016) survey, some private health facilities were offering the rotavirus vaccine for a fee.

Furthermore, questions that are used to identify a child who experienced a recent episode of diarrhoea and ARI are: 1) Has (NAME) had diarrhoea in the last 2 weeks?; 2) Has (Name) had an illness with a cough at any time in the last 2 weeks?; 3) When (NAME) had an illness with a cough, did she breathe faster than usual with short, rapid breath or have difficulty

breathing?; and 4) Was the fast or difficult breathing due to a problem in the chest or to a blocked or runny nose?. These questions were the same for all data collection periods (2006, 2011, 2016) considered in this study.

The data were pooled using IPUMS-DHS online system (Elizabeth Heger et al., 2019), by choosing children under the age of five years and their related records. This included only children aged 0-59 months born in the five years preceding the survey. Supplement 2 summarises the data variable for each of the categories that were selected using IPUMS-DHS.

5.3.2. Response and explanatory variables

The key outcome (response) variables are the prevalence of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea. In the DHS, the measurement of suspected pneumonia is based on the occurrence of short, rapid breathing that is chest-related and/or difficult breathing that is chest-related that is based on women's ability to recall. This was categorised as '1' presence of disease and '0' otherwise. For diarrhoea, women are asked to recall if their children have had diarrhoea in the last 2 weeks, which was categorised as '1' presence of disease and '0' otherwise. The key predictors (explanatory) were selected from a set of 28 variables that were categorised as mothers' demographic position, household assets, household environmental characteristics, and child characteristics. The consideration of the covariates was based on a literature review.

Under household environmental characteristics, studies have indicated how the number of people living under one roof (congestion), the house structure, availability of toilets, treatment of drinking water and indoor air pollution (cooking inside the house or use of firewood) are associated with the occurrence of pneumonia and diarrhoea (Kamal et al., 2015; Kandala et al., 2008; Mahalanabis et al., 2002; Mondal & Paul, 2020; Omona et al., 2020). For child characteristics, studies have indicated how the birth weight of the child, birth category (multiple or single), child age, child sex, and anthropometric measures (height and weight) are associated with the occurrence of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea (Cesar, G. et al., 1994; Fonseca Lima et al., 2016; Jackson et al., 2013; Martins et al., 2016; McGovern, 2019; Omona et al., 2020). Furthermore, studies have also indicated how the mothers' demographic position measures such as maternal age, household head age, household head sex and maternal education are associated with the occurrence of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea (Gebru et al., 2014; Mondal & Paul, 2020; Omona et al., 2020). Lastly, households' assets that have often been used as the measure of household wealth through principal component analysis have been indicated to be associated with pneumonia and diarrhoea (Gebru et al., 2014; Mahalanabis et al., 2002; Mondal & Paul, 2020). Supplements 2 and 3 summarise the data variable for each of the categories that were selected using IPUMS-DHS.

5.3.3. Data analysis

Cleaning of data and the descriptive analysis were done in Stata 16, while ML analysis was performed using R statistical software version 3.6.1 with the caret package (Kuhn, 2008).

During data cleaning, I excluded 7% of children who were not staying with the mothers on the interview day for better estimates, which is not in line with the standard DHS analysis (ICF, 2018) and may lead to differences in the reported estimates of ARI and diarrhoea. The premise was that including children that were not living with their parents at the time of data collection may lead to underestimation as mothers may not be sure of their health status in recent days when they were not home. The total sample size for the pooled dataset includes only children who were residing with their parents at the time of the interview is 27687. **Table 5.1:** shows the distribution of unweighted sample size across years of data collection.

	Sample size of all children			Sample size that only includes children residing with their parents at the time of interview				
Place of residence	2006	2011	2016	Total sample	2006	2011	2016	Total sample
				0-59	months			
Pural	6,746	5,772	12,037	24,555	6,436	5,492	11,222	23,150
nulai	(88.9%)	(78.4%)	(81.8%)	(82.8%)	(89.4%)	(79.6%)	(82.5%)	(83.6%)
Urban	847	1,583	2,673	5,103	763	1,407	2,367	4,537
Orball	11.1%	(21.6%)	(18.2%)	(17.2%)	(10.6%)	(20.4%)	(17.5%)	(16.4%)
Total	7,593	7,355	14,710	29,658	7,199	6,899	13,589	27,687
				6-59	months			
Bural	6035	5171	10824	22030	5726	4894	10023	20643
Kulai	(89%)	(78.9%)	(81.6%)	(82.7%)	(89.6%)	(80.1%)	(82.4%)	(83.7%)
Urban	747	1387	2445	4579	664	1213	2142	4019
UIDall	(11%)	(21.2%)	(18.4%)	(17.2%)	(10.4%)	(19.9%)	(17.6%)	(16.3%)
Total	6782	6558	13269	26609	6390	6107	12165	24662

 Table 5.1: Distribution of unweighted sample size across years of data collection

The dataset was filtered to generate based on the place of residence to generate two datasets: Urban and Rural residents' datasets. Modelling was done on each of the datasets separately. To identify the community and household predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea, I used two models based on ML techniques and a traditional logistic regression model to select the best model that predicts the probability of ARI and diarrhoea prevalence. The ML models were lasso logistic and gradient boosting machine. Based on the theoretical framework, including available literature (Kamal et al., 2015; Kandala et al., 2008; Mosley & Chen, 1984), the predictor variables (Supplement 2) that could be associated with the occurrence of diarrhoea and ARI were entered in all the ML models. Instead of generating a latent variable or index that is normally done through principal component or factor analysis, for instance, assent index (a measure of wealth) that is based on the list of household assets and an environmental index that is based on the household environmental characteristics, all the variables (**Appendix 1**) were included in the models to determine those that were substantial in predicting the occurrence of diarrhoea and ARI.

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Descriptive Statistics

Maternal and household characteristics

As of 2016, the mean age of the children's mothers and household heads was 27 ± 7 and 37 \pm 12, respectively, which were not different from the 2006 and 2011 estimates. Almost 90% and 28% of the children's caretakers or mothers had at least a primary and at least a secondary level of education, respectively, which increased by two times between 2006-2016. Regarding the household structure, as of 2016, 32%, 68% and 9% of the households had incomplete roofs, floors, and walls, respectively. During the same period, 36% of the household had shared toilets, and 99% used wood or charcoal (22% for charcoal). Appendix 2 presents the maternal and household characteristics.

Child-related individual characteristics

Supplement 3 presents the child-related individual characteristics. As of 2016, 34% of the children were of 5th and above birth position, and 3% were born as multiple, and the estimates were the same in the 2006 and 2011 reporting years. Within the same reporting year, 28% were stunted – declining by 9% between 2006-2016, 10% underweight for age (underweight) - declining by 6% between 2006-2016, and 4% under-weight for height (wasted) - decreasing by 2% between 2006-2016. During the same reporting year, the average birth weight was 3.3 kg with a standard deviation of ± 0.8 .

Trends in the prevalence of ARI and diarrhoea among under-5 of age children

Table 5.2 shows the changes in the prevalence of diarrhoea and ARI across time, with their respective confidence intervals disaggregated by the place of residence. Overall, between 2006 and 2016, the national prevalence of suspected diarrhoea reduced by 6% point (27% in 2006 to 21% in 2016), while ARI reduced by 5% point. Disaggregating the estimates by place of residence, the prevalence of diarrhoea declined by 7% point in the rural area and 2% point in the urban area. Similarly, the prevalence of ARI reduced by 6% point in the rural area and 4% point in the urban area.

Catagory		Dic	arrhoea		ARI
Cutegory	Year	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
	2006	27.6	25.9-29.3	15.5	14.1-17.2
Rural	2011	24.6	22.8-26.6	15.7	14.2-17.3
	2016	21.1	19.8-22.4	10.3	9.5-11.3
	2006	21.3	17.3-25.9	11.8	8.3-16.5
Urban	2011	23.7	20.0-27.9	13.8	11.1-17.1
	2016	18.6	16.6-20.7	7.6	6.1-9.5
	2006	26.9	25.3-28.5	15.1	13.8-16.6
National	2011	24.5	22.8-26.3	15.5	14.1-16.9
	2016	20.6	19.5-21.7	9.8	9.0-10.6
The estimates are	e based on the live	children who we	re staying with the p	arents or caretal	ers at the time of

Table 5.2: Trends in the prevalence of ARI and diarrhoea among under-5 of age children

the interview.

5.4.2. Rural-urban differences in the predictors of diarrhoea and ARI using 2006-2016 UDHS data

In the following sub-sections, I present the results on the predictors of diarrhoea and ARI that were identified using the ML modelling technique. I first present the results of the model assessment from which the best model was selected and subsequently present the key predictors that were identified based on the best model. Results on how the identified predictors affect the occurrence of morbidities are presented based on predicted probabilities.

Assessing the best model for selection

The best model was chosen based on the accuracy and sensitivity of the model in predicting the occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea (Table 5.3). Compared to the traditional logistic model and lasso logistic model, GBM model was found to be superior in determining the potential predictors of ARI and diarrhoea. Contrary to other models, the GBM accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, and area under the ROC curve result in predicting the occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea among urban and rural residents on new datasets (testing and validation) were high and consistent (Table 5.3). While the traditional logistic model showed good accuracy in predicting ARI and diarrhoea, the likelihood of the model in identifying the positive cases correctly (sensitivity) was low and inconsistent across the validation and testing datasets (Table 5.3).

_		Rural			Urban	
	Testing	Validation set	Training	Testing	Validation set	Training
_	set(10%)	(30%)	set	set(10%)	(30%)	set
_			AF	RI		
			GB	M		
Sensitivity	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
Specificity	0.90	0.91	0.90	0.96	0.97	0.96
Accuracy	0.91	0.91	0.91	0.96	0.97	0.96
ROC	0.95	0.94	0.94	1.00	1.00	1.00
			Las	so		
Sensitivity	0.33	0.87	0.86	0.75	0.75	0.75
Specificity	0.87	1.00	0.43	0.93	0.94	0.94
Accuracy	0.86	0.87	0.87	0.93	0.93	0.93
ROC	0.73	0.75	0.75	0.91	0.88	0.90
			Logi	stic		
Sensitivity	0.08	0.42	0.04	0.59	1.00	0.38
Specificity	0.99	0.98	1.00	0.97	1.00	0.99
Accuracy	0.87	0.91	0.87	0.94	1.00	0.93
ROC	0.78	0.90	0.75	0.97	1.00	0.89

Table 5.3: Comparing the performance of logistic, Lasso and GBM models in the identification of the predictors of ARI and diarrhoea

		Rural			Ur	ban
		Validation		Testing	Validation	
	Testing set(10%)	set (30%)	Training set	set(10%)	set (30%)	Training set
			Diarrhoea			
				GBM		
Sensitivity	0.69	0.73	0.70	1.00	1.00	1.00
Specificity	0.78	0.77	0.78	1.00	1.00	1.00
Accuracy	0.77	0.77	0.77	1.00	1.00	1.00
ROC	0.80	0.76	0.78	1.00	1.00	1.00
			Las	so		
Sensitivity	NA**	NA**	NA**	NA**	NA**	NA**
Specificity	0.74	0.75	0.75	0.78	0.79	0.78
Accuracy	0.74	0.75	0.75	0.78	0.79	0.78
ROC	0.71	0.68	0.70	0.74	0.76	0.74
			Logi	stic		
Sensitivity	0.28	0.43	0.18	0.46	1.00	0.38
Specificity	0.94	0.89	0.96	0.96	1.00	0.96
Accuracy	0.77	0.78	0.76	0.85	1.00	0.83
ROC	0.77	0.84	0.74	0.86	1.00	0.81
** The predic	tive True Positive wa	is zero				

Table 5.3 continued

5.4.3. Key household and individual predictors of diarrhoea in rural and urban areas

Table 5.4 presents the differences in identified predictors of diarrhoea in traditional logistic regression and GBM. In rural areas, using the traditional logistic regression model based on 95% statistical significance, six variables (child age, childbirth order, maternal age, safe drinking water, and pneumococcal vaccine) would be considered the most important predicators of diarrhoea (Table 5.4). However, the GBM identified 17 important predictors (Table 5.4). While in urban areas, using the traditional logistic regression model based on 95% statistical significance, 10 variables would be considered the most important predicators of diarrhoea and 13 were identified under GBM (Table 5.4).

Table 5.4: Differences in identified predictors of diarrhoea in traditional logistic regressionand GBM

	Rural		Urban	
	Logistic	GBM	Logistic	GBM
Variables	P-value	Level of importance	P-value	Level of importance
Child characteristics				
Child age	0.04	100	0.006	100
Birth weight	-	26.6	-	16.9
Birth order	0.008	3.3		10.1
Nutritional status: Stunted			-	9
Maternal characteristics				
Maternal age	0.019	28.1	0.031	16.4
Maternal occupation: Professional	0.105			
Maternal occupation: Agriculture	0.146		0.041	-
Maternal occupation: Domestic and services	0.011			
Maternal occupation: Manual worker	0.094	13.2		

Table 5.4 continued

	Rural		Urban	
	Logistic	GBM	Logistic	GBM
Variables	P-value	Level of importance	P-value	Level of importance
Education level: Primary	0.037		0.044	-
Maternal education: Secondary	0.015			
Education level: Higher level	-	-	-	6.9
Household characteristics				
Hygiene and sanitation				
Toilet Type: Unimproved	-	20.8	0.161	9.5
Number of households that share toilet	-	15.8		
Household treats water for drinking	0.016			
Household asset position				
Household has electricity	-	3.3	0.003	10.4
Asset ownership: Radio		3.8		
Household asset: TV	0.986		0.027	-
Household congestion measure				
Number of household members		6.3	0.017	-
Number of household members per room	0.102	-	0.001	21.6
Number of old people in the household	-	7	0.002	27.1
Number of under-5 children			0.007	6.3
Household head characteristics				
Age of household head	-	26.5	-	9.5
Household head sex: Male	0.098	7.2		
Exposure to smoke				
Cooking place: Separate room or house	-	5.3		
Cooking fuel: Charcoal	-	4.9		
Household structure				
Incomplete floor	0.053	-	-	6.6
Child vaccination				
vaccine: 1+ doses of pentavalent	-	25.9		
vaccine: 1+ doses of Rota virus vaccine	0.003	18.3		

Figure 5.2 shows the order of importance of the predictors of diarrhoea among rural and urban resident children based on ML (gradient boosted model).

In both places of residence, the individual (child characteristics) predictors were child age, childbirth weight and childbirth order, while nutritional status was identified amongst the predictors in urban residents. In rural areas, the traditional logistic model did not identify birth weight as an important predictor. In contrast, in urban areas, the traditional logistic model did not consider birth weight, birth order and nutritional status (Table 5.4). The maternal predictors of suspected child diarrhoea among rural and urban resident children were maternal occupation, age and education (Table 5.4). Exposure to smoking (indoor and type of fuel used for cooking), hygiene and sanitation measures (number of people sharing a toilet and unimproved toilet), wealth measures (possession of radio, electricity access), household congestion measures (number of household rooms for sleeping and number of people per sleeping room), and household head characteristics (gender and age) were identified as

important household predictors under GBM. Furthermore, pentavalent and rotavirus vaccines were also indicated as an important predictor of diarrhoea among rural residents' children but not for urban residents (Table 5.4).



Figure 5.2: Predictors of diarrhoea among rural and urban residents in order of importance

5.4.4. Key household and individual predictors of ARI in rural and urban areas

Table 5.5 presents the differences in identified predictors of ARI in traditional logistic regression and GBM. The traditional logistic regression and GBM model share the same predictor under maternal characteristics and household characteristics themes, but some key predictors under the child characteristics theme were not identified under the traditional logistic model. In addition, all nutritional status variables, including birth weight, were not considered in the traditional logistics model (Table 5.5). Figure 5.3 shows the identified predictors of ARI in rural and urban residents.



Figure 5.3: predictors of ARI in rural and urban residents in order of importance

In rural areas, considering the level of significance (5%) as the criteria for selecting the potential predictors, occupation, treatment of drinking water, and all congestion measures, including having a separate room or space for cooking, would be considered the potential predictors. Under GBM, various variables in each category were identified (Table 5.5). Similarly, based on the level of significance (5%), most variables under child characteristic theme, maternal characteristic theme, exposure to smoking, and being vaccinated may not be considered key predictors under the traditional logistic model in urban areas (Table 5.5). The exclusion of vaccination variables such as the pentavalent vaccine under the traditional model could be due to the poor performance of traditional models on variables with rare events.

Table 5.5: Differences in identified	1 predictors of	ARI in traditional	logistic regression and
GBM			

		Rural		Urban
	Logistic	GBM	Logistic	GBM
Variables	P-value	Level of importance	P-value	Level of importance
Child Characteristics				
Child age	0.14	100	_	95.8
Childbirth order	0.083	47.9	0.049	63.2
Birth weight	-	67.8	0.088	44.2
Childbirth category: Singleton			0.997	-
Nutritional status: Stunted	-	11	-	9.7
Nutritional status: underweight	-	11.5	-	6.1
Nutritional status: wasted	-	1.3	0.994	-
Maternal characteristic				
Maternal age		27		100
Maternal occupation: Manual worker				
Maternal occupation: Professional	-	10.6		
Maternal occupation: Agriculture	0.008	3.3	-	5.8
Maternal occupation: Domestic and services	0.03	3.4	0.993	-
Maternal occupation: Manual worker	0.001	4.9		
Education level: Primary	-	3.1	-	20.3
Maternal education: Secondary	-	0.1	-	7.9
Education level: Higher level	0.982	-	-	-
Marital status: Married	0.151	-	0.179	-
Household characteristics				
Hygiene and sanitation				
Toilet Type: Unimproved	0.083	13.7		
Number of households that share toilet	-	24.6	0.015	98.8
Household treats water for drinking	0.102	13.5	-	8.7
Household asset possession				
Household has electricity	0.086	-	0.012	14.7
Asset ownership: Radio	-	1.5	-	11.1

Table 5.5 continued

	Rural		Urban	
	Logistic	GBM	Logistic	GBM
Variables	P-value	Level of importance	P-value	Level of importance
Asset ownership: Mobile phone	-	14.5	0.005	12.1
Asset ownership: Motorcycle	-	19.7	0.004	37.5
Household asset: TV	0.056	-		
Household congestion measure				
Number of household members	0.017	15.4	-	23
Number of household members per room	0.039	15	-	26.1
Number of sleep rooms	0.019	3.7	0.144	-
Number of old people in the household		21	-	8.3
Number of under-5 children	0.054	21.6	0.002	33.5
Household head characteristics	-	-		
Age of household head	0.135	52.7	-	62.5
Household head sex: Male	-	0.3	0.079	5.9
Exposure to smoking				
Cooking place: Separate room or house	0.014	21.4		
Cooking fuel: Charcoal	0.098	8.7	-	12
Household structure				
Incomplete floor	0.163	1.9	-	4.7
Incomplete roof	-	4.4		
Child vaccination				
vaccine: 1+ doses of pentavalent vaccine	-	0.6		
vaccine: 1+ doses of pneumococcal vaccine	-	1.5	-	12.8
vaccine: 1+ doses of Rota virus vaccine	0.045	1.9		

5.4.5. Association of identified predictors with the occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea

In both places of residence, the association between child age and the occurrence of diarrhoea is inversely associated with child age. The occurrence appeared to be high among children aged 6-36 months (Figure 5.4). In both places of residence, birth weight (Figure 5.4) appears to be almost linearly negatively related to diarrhoea. At the same time, childbirth order is observed to be positively related associated with suspected diarrhoea (Figure 5.4). All nutritional status measures (underweight, wasted, and stunting) were related to the high occurrence of suspected diarrhoea (Figure 5.4). The relationship between diarrhoea and maternal age is non-linear (almost U-shaped curve), with a sharp reduction observed between 15-20 years and a sharp increase observed among those whose mothers were aged 35 years and above (Figure 5.5). The high likelihood of suspected diarrhoea is also observed among children whose mothers are not educated (Figure 5.4), and those whose mothers' occupations are not professional (Figure 5.5).

Additionally, diarrhoea is likely high among children whose households had an unimproved toilet and did not have a separate place or room for cooking (Figure 5.6). The relationship

between diarrhoea and the household head as well as the number of household members per room, is non-linear (Figure 5.6). Furthermore, in both places of residence, the likelihood of diarrhoea was high among children who had not received the pentavalent vaccine (Figure 5.7). Finally, a substantial association between the rotavirus vaccine and diarrhoeas is observed among rural residents (Figure 5.7).

Table 5.6 shows the differences in identified predictors of ARI and diarrhoea between the places of residence. The analysis shows how diarrhoea and ARI appear to share almost the same predicators, with modest differences. The differences in the identified predictors between places of residence for each morbidity were also modest.



Figure 5.4: Association between children's characteristics and child morbidities

131



Figure 5.5: Association between maternal characteristics and child morbidities



Figure 5.6: Association of household characteristics with child morbidities

133



Figure 5.7: Association of vaccination with child morbidities

	Diarrl	hoea	ŀ	ARI
	Urban	Rural	Urban	rural
Child Characteristics				
Child age	yes	Yes	yes	yes
Childbirth order	yes	Yes	yes	yes
Birth weight	yes	Yes	yes	yes
Nutritional status: Stunted	yes	No	yes	yes
Nutritional status: underweight	no	No	yes	yes
Nutritional status: wasted	no	no	no	yes
Maternal characteristic				
Maternal age	yes	yes	yes	yes
Maternal occupation	yes	yes	yes	yes
Maternal education	yes	no	yes	yes
Marital status: Married	no	no	no	yes
Household characteristics				
Hygiene and sanitation				
Toilet Type: Unimproved	yes	yes	no	yes
Household treats water for drinking	no	no	yes	yes
Number of households that share toilet	no	yes	yes	yes
Household asset position				
Household has electricity	yes	yes	yes	no
Household asset: TV	no	no	no	no
Household asset: radio	no	yes	yes	yes
Asset ownership: Mobile phone	no	no	yes	yes
Asset ownership: Motorcycle	no	no	yes	yes
Household congestion measure				
Number of household members	no	yes	yes	yes
Number of household members per room	yes	no	yes	yes
Number of households sleeping rooms	yes	no	yes	yes
Number of under-5 children	yes	no	yes	yes
Number of old people in the household	no	yes	yes	yes
Household head characteristics				
Age of household head	yes	yes	yes	yes
Household head sex: Male	no	yes	yes	yes
Household structure				
Incomplete floor	yes	no	yes	yes
Incomplete roof	no	no	no	yes
Child vaccination				
vaccine: 1+ doses of pentavalent vaccine	no	yes		yes
vaccine: 1+ doses of pneumococcal vaccine	no	yes	yes	yes
vaccine: 1+ rota virus vaccine	no	no	no	yes
Exposure to smoking				
Cooking place: Separate room or house	no	no	no	yes
Cooking fuel: Charcoal	no	no	yes	yes

Table 5.6: Differences in identified predictors of ARI and diarrhoea between the places of residence

5.5. Discussion

This is the first study that has applied ML to cross-sectional population health data to identify the key predictors of ARI and diarrhoea among the under-five year of age in a low-income setting. The study has demonstrated how household, maternal, and individual characteristics as well as information on protective interventions obtained through cross-sectional studies, could be used to predict the occurrence of health outcomes, including health behaviours. Thus, this study contributes to the knowledge of the application of ML techniques in population health and social science research. The analysis approach may be replicated in other studies to develop prediction models. Additionally, the study not only contributes to the understanding of the variation in the effect of predictors across the places of residence but also explains the trends in the prevalence of diarrhoea and ARI in Uganda and how the identified predictors could contribute to the design of interventions.

Findings from this work point out two important points. First, for the last decade (2006-2016), the study's results show slow progress in reducing the prevalence of diarrhoea and ARI. Such slow progress in a decade demonstrates how Uganda is lagging in achieving the integrated global action plan for ending pneumonia and diarrhoea by 2025 (UNICEF & WHO, 2013) and the need to rethink the strategies that will help the country achieve the SDG objective of reducing deaths due to preventable causes. Understanding the context-specific morbidities' predictors contributes to the identification and implementation of area-specific interventions that may accelerate progress. Second, the ML in the form gradient boosted model (GBM) was the best ML model in generating the predictors of ARI and diarrhoea. For both testing and training datasets, the identified predictors of ARI in urban and rural areas under GBM had an accuracy of 100% in predictions, indicating that the model could correctly predict those with and without the diseases. Similarly, for both testing and training datasets, the identified predictors of the sting and training datasets, the identified predictors of the sting and training datasets, the identified predictors of the sting and training datasets, the identified predictors of the sting and training datasets, the identified predictors of the sting and training datasets, the identified predictors of the sting and training datasets, the identified predictors of the sting and training datasets, the identified predictors of suspected diarrhoea in urban and rural areas under GBM had a prediction accuracy of 100% and close to 70%, respectively.

Using ML, I identified moderate differences in the predictors of ARI and diarrhoea between rural and urban residents. The identified key predictors were categorised as child, maternal and household characteristics, as well as protective interventions. While most of the predictors identified using the traditional logistic regression model appeared in the GBM, a substantial number of predictors identified under GBM did not appear in the traditional logistic model, and the identified one may not be considered because of the selection of the variables based on level of significance (p-value). For instance, child nutritional status, hygiene and sanitation measures, asset position, household health characteristics and household structure were not identified as key predictors of suspected diarrhoea and pneumonia. I discuss the association of identified predictors in each category with the occurrence of suspected diarrhoea and pneumonia in the subsequent subsections.

5.5.1. Individual characteristics and child morbidity

The identified important individual characteristics were child age, birth weight, birth order and nutrition status. The findings affirm a non-linear relationship between a child's age and the occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea, as has been indicated in another study in similar settings (Kandala et al., 2009). An inverse relationship between morbidities' prevalence and child's age was observed, and it appeared to be high among children aged 6-36 months. The high prevalence of the diseases in the early months indicates children's exposure to morbidities' risk factors such as poor nutritional status, poor sanitation, and hygiene that this study identified as key predictors. This finding provides an insight into the need for interventions that target children within the first 36 months of life. Indeed some studies have indicated the need for targeting the first 1000 days of life with health and well-being interventions (da Cunha et al., 2015; Kattula et al., 2014).

Further, the study results show a linear relationship between a child's birth weight and the occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea. In both places of residence, the high occurrence of ARI and diarrhoea was observed among children born with a birth weight of less than 2500 grams. The association of LBW with diarrhoea and ARI has been indicated in some other studies (Fonseca Lima et al., 2016; Jackson et al., 2013; Martins et al., 2016; McGovern, 2019). The thinking could be that LBW is usually mediated by some of the determinants of the prevalence of ARI and diarrhoea such as being underweight for age and anaemia, whose risks are high among children born as LBW. The association of LBW with other child risk factors such as underweight and anaemia has been indicated in several studies (Amare et al., 2019; McGovern, 2019; Ntenda, 2019; Rahman et al., 2016). This finding suggests community interventions that target mothers or families with extreme birth weight (LBW) children, in addition to LBW preventive interventions. Exclusive breastfeeding as a recommended intervention for new-born (Were et al., 2015) has been indicated to lower the probability of pneumonia deaths among LBW (Tallo et al., 2012), while prenatal interventions focusing on better nutrition and lifestyle as well as screening for pregnancy danger signs such as diabetes and infections have been indicated as key interventions for controlling LBW (Henriksen, 2008).

Furthermore, in both places of residence, a positive linear relationship between birth order and morbidities was observed, which has been reported in other studies done in developing countries (Fadl et al., 2020; Fenta & Nigussie, 2021; Ghosh et al., 2021). The relationship between birth order and child morbidity could result from the possible correlation between the number of children and birth positions. Morosow and Kolk, 2020 argue that one of the reasons why earlier-born siblings cope better is that parents' resources (including noneconomic resources such as time) are fixed, and consequently, having more children leads to fewer available resources per child (Morosow & Kolk, 2020). The increase in the number of siblings spacing between them dilutes the time and material resources parents can give to each child (Heer, 1986; Price, 2008). Ultimately, the dilution of resources hinders the wellbeing of later birth orders. For instance, the lower birth order, particularly the firstborns, may receive better attention from the parents than those of birth order or born later (Price, 2008).

Finally, poor nutrition statuses were associated with a high likelihood of child morbidities. The relationship between poor nutritional status and child morbidities has been well documented in studies done in some countries in Africa and Asia (Ferdous et al., 2013; Hassen et al., 2020; Tickell et al., 2017). On the one hand, the poor nutrition outcome could be a result of exposure to poor nutrition during preconception and while pregnant, which usually leads to LBW. Good nutrition in the preconception period is crucial to ensure that women have enough nutrient stores to support both fetal and maternal nutrition throughout gestation (Keats et al., 2021). On the other hand, poor nutrition status could be due to poor maternal and feeding, hygiene, and sanitation (Keats et al., 2021). Such an argument showcases the need for a life course approach in delivering nutrition interventions. Notably, efforts could be focused on improving intervention coverage, especially for the most vulnerable.

5.5.2. Maternal characteristics and child morbidity

Marital status, as well as maternal education, age, and occupation, were associated with the likelihood of child morbidities. The relationship between maternal age and the occurrence was non-linear with a high likelihood observed among children whose mothers were aged less than 20 years and 35 years plus. The association of child health or wellbeing with the caretakers' age results from the caretaker's ability, autonomy, hygiene, and experience of children rearing (Fall et al., 2015). Adolescent age could also be associated with education levels, occupation, and marital status, which this study identified as key predictors. Similarly, maternal age could be correlated with the number of children. Therefore, the high likelihood of morbidities among children aged 35 years plus could be related to the high number of children or increasing birth order, which has been identified in this study as one of the key predictors.

Furthermore, the higher the maternal education and professional occupation, the higher the likelihood of child morbidity. This is expected as education, and professional (elite) occupations are correlated, and evidence has indicated how educated mothers and those engaged in professional work may have better knowledge and resources of child-rearing. These findings suggest the need for targeting the uneducated and younger women with information on how to care for their children. Learning from the COVID-19 experience, such information could perhaps be disseminated through all media platforms, including social media (Tsao et al., 2021), social health campaigns and the integration of sensitisation messages within the community and facility health workers' routine work.

5.5.3. Household characteristics and child morbidity

Household head age, asset ownership, type of the toilet, availability of a separate room or place for cooking, and household members were the key household characteristics that were identified among the important predictors of child morbidities. Important to note also is that the identified household characteristics are a measure of household wealth positions and resources' access (Dungumaro, 2013; Hargreaves et al., 2007; M. L. Smith et al., 2020), which affect the health and well-being of household members including children. The findings show a non-linear relationship between the age of the household's heads and the occurrence of child morbidities. Just like maternal age, the likelihood of morbidities appeared to be high among children of adolescent household head families and those aged beyond 50 years of age. Furthermore, consistent with other studies (Fadl et al., 2020; Fenta & Nigussie, 2021; Ghosh et al., 2021), the likelihood of morbidities was observed among children living in households with unimproved toilets and households without a separate room or place for cooking. Improving households' ability to address the household-based risk factors that affect the children's health may benefit from implementing interventions that are responsive to the unique structure and composition of the household.

5.5.4. Protective interventions and child morbidity

Pentavalent, rotavirus, and pneumococcal vaccines were identified among the list of important predictors of ARI and diarrhoea among rural resident children. In contrast, pneumococcal was identified among the key predictors of ARI in urban resident children. In addition, the effect of other immunization vaccines, such as measles, on reducing the occurrence of diarrhoea and pneumonia has been reported in some studies (Bawankule et al., 2017; Bhutta et al., 2013; Feachem & Koblinsky, 1983; Jain et al., 2013).

5.6. Strengths and limitations

This study, which deliberately focused on identifying the community and household predictors of ARI and diarrhoea, makes two major contributions. First, to the best of my knowledge, the study is the first to apply an algorithmic modelling approach to identify household and individual predictors of pneumonia and diarrhoea in LMICs settings based on cross-sectional surveys. Hence, the study contributes to the knowledge of the application of ML techniques in population health and social science research. Second, the study contributes to understanding risk factors and determinants of ARI and diarrhoea in urban and rural settings, which could be used to measure vulnerable groups in each place of residence.

The limitation of DHS relates to the nature of cross-sectional studies on retrospectively collecting information on human behaviours and events. For instance, the occurrences of diarrhoea and measures of ARI and birth weight in the DHS rely on women's ability to recall. However, the DHS consideration of children born in the last five years preceding the survey may minimise such bias. Further, the DHS consideration of collecting data on occurrences of ARI and diarrhoea episodes and symptoms that occurred in the two weeks preceding the day of the interview may also minimise the reporting bias of the morbidities' symptoms and occurrences. Additionally, the reporting of the occurrences of diarrhoea and ARI are subject to the symptoms and thus may not provide accurate information as it would have been if clinical notes were available (Ayede et al., 2018; H. Campbell et al., 2013). However, for ARI, the questions on if the child had short, rapid breathing, which was chest-related or difficult breathing, are asked as a measure of the occurrence of ARI, which may increase the accuracy

in the estimation of ARI prevalence. Further, the analysis of data in this study only considered children that were staying with the parents or caretakers at the time of the interview, which could have reduced the reporting bias (under-reporting) as caretakers or parents may not know the health status of the children they do not live with.

Additionally, this approach to data analysis does not mean that there are no other variables in the data set that are associated with suspected diarrhoea and ARI, in addition to including only variables that account for the most variance in the study outcomes. Furthermore, the study's findings may be limited to Uganda's context; however, these may apply in other countries with similar contexts. Particularly, the study unveils the need for applying algorithmic modelling approaches to identify a set of vulnerable groups in cross-sectional surveys.

Finally, the use of ML leads to interpretation challenges (James et al., 2013), in particular, the causal-effect interpretation may be challenging since the selection of important variables is based on the extrapolation of patterns found in the labelled training data (Schmidt et al., 2019). Nevertheless, I explain the mechanisms through which the identified topmost variables are associated with the study outcomes by reviewing the literature.

5.7. Conclusion

The descriptive statistics on trends in the prevalence of ARI and diarrhoea show how Uganda has progressed slowly in reducing ARI and diarrhoea in a decade (2006-2016). Such progress raises worries if, at the same pace, the country will be able to achieve an integrated global action plan for ending pneumonia and diarrhoea by 2025 and SDG targets related to reducing deaths due to preventable causes. To accelerate progress, I argue that health interventions could address the risk factors identified in this study. Using ML analysis techniques, I identified a set of variables some of which would not appear when using the traditional logistic model (e.g.: household structure and composition, birthweight and child nutritional status), which shows how the approach may contribute to the design of holistic interventions. Alongside traditional models, machine learning could be applied in generating research hypotheses and providing insight into the selection of key variables that should be considered in the model.

The findings confirm the notion that ARI and diarrhoea risk factors and determinants overlap. These factors relate to the household's structure and composition, characterised by poor hygiene and sanitation, poor household environments; maternal socio-economic factors such as education, occupation, and fertility (birth order); and individual risk factors such as child age and birth weight and nutritional status. All the identified factors appear to be correlated and can be addressed with the same interventions. Additionally, while predictors were different in the order of importance, they appeared to be the same in both urban and rural areas. Such indicates that similar interventions may benefit both rural and urban residents within the identified risk factors categories. Furthermore, these results underscore the need for the life course and multisectoral approaches in addressing some of the identified interventions. First, the association of the morbidities with LBW, younger maternal age and child's birth order confirms the need for lifecourse interventions that improve the health and well-being of children, including their mothers, from pregnancy, conception and early years of age (Clark et al., 2020; WHO, UNICEF, 2018). For instance, early pregnancy interventions such as good nutrition and identification of other risk factors for extreme small birth weight (such as infections) are meant to address the factors that contribute to the LBW during the foetus stage of child development (Berkley et al., 2014). We also know how LBW children are associated with a high likelihood of poor nutritional status and other morbidities, including ARI and diarrhoea. Therefore, immediately after delivery (day 0) up to two years of age and beyond, special health and social interventions could target LBW children, including younger mothers as well as households headed by younger and older caretakers. Secondly, for optimal implementation of interventions that address some of the identified predictors or factors such as nutrition status, immunisation, hygiene, and sanitation, it is important to leverage a multisectoral approach for collaboration and integration. Learning from Covid-19 response within and outside Uganda, addressing these challenges requires responsible sectors working towards integrated services. Finally, some of the factors such as congestion, household structure, household composition, asset ownership, access to electricity, in-door pollution, unimproved toilet, unemployment and informal employment, and lower education levels are measures of deprived individuals and communities such as slums in urban settings; and these were same in rural and urban areas. These findings underscore the importance of reaching all the rural and urban residents with the same intervention package, though the mode of delivery may differ given the differences in residential complexity. Beyond these findings, I recommend a study on understanding how these measures could be used to generate the deprivation level and how health outcomes are distributed across the different groups.

5.8. Acknowledgement

This study is part of my PhD project that is being funded by the London School of Economics and Political Science. I gratefully acknowledge the generous advice, comments, and editing provided by my PhD advisors, Drs Tiziana Leone and Arjan Gjonca. I also appreciate the comprehensive review by Tim Colbourn.

5.9. Appendices

5.9.1. Appendix 1

Table 1: Variables for each of the categories based on 2006-2016 Uganda demographic health surveys

	Variables	Data type and categorisation				
	Outcome categorisation					
1	Had ARI	The measurement of ARI is based on the occurrence of short, rapid breathing that is chest-related and/or difficult breathing that is chest-related that is based on women ability to recall. This was categorised as $1 - for$ the presence and $0 - otherwise$.				
2	Had diarrhoea	Women are asked to recall if their children have had diarrhoea in the last 2 weeks. This was categorised as $1 - $ for the presence and $0 - $ otherwise.				
	Set of predictors					
-	Mothers' demographic position	Castinus and bla				
1	Mothers age	Continuous variable				
2	Household headed by a female	female-headed households				
3	Mothers education	Ordinal variable that was coded as 0 – no education level at all 1 – primary education level 2 – secondary education level and 3 – tertiary education level				
4	Mothers occupations	Nominal variable that was categorised as 0 – no occupation at all, 1 – professional and business work, 2 – agriculture and self-employment, 3 – domestic work, 4 – manual work				
6	Marital status	Dummy variable that was coded as 0 – not married or staying with the partner and 1 – married or staying with a partner. The widows divorced or separated were considered as 0, while married or staying with the partner as if married were considered as 1.				
2.0.	Household assets					
7	Car	These were all considered as dummy variables coded as 0 –				
8	Motorcycle	household without the specified asset and 1 – household				
9	Fridge	with the specified asset. The missing and don't know were				
10	Radio and TV	considered as 0.				
11	Electricity availability					
3.0.	Household Environmental characteristics					
12	Number of people in a house	Continuous variable. Missing fields were considered as 0				
13	Number of children people in a house	Continuous variable. Missing fields were considered as 0				
14	Number of old people in a house	Continuous variable. Missing fields were considered as 0				
15	House's wall structure	Dummy variable that was coded as 0 – incomplete and 1 – complete. Complete is considered for rudimentary and modern building materials.				
16	House's roof structure	Dummy variable that was categorised as 0 – incomplete and 1 – complete. Complete is considered for rudimentary and modern building materials.				
17	House floor structure	Dummy variable that was coded as 0 – incomplete and 1 – complete. Complete is considered for rudimentary and modern building materials.				
18	Cooking	Nominal variable that was categorised as 1 – Electricity, 2 – LPG/Gas, 3 – wood, wood, straw/shrub/grass, crops, and animal dung, and 4 – charcoal				
19	Cooking done outside the house	Dummy variable that was categorised as 1 – household cooking is done in a separate house or room, 0 – otherwise				

	Variables	Data type and categorisation
20	Toilet shared	Coded as 0 – toilets are not shared with other households 1 – otherwise
21	Drinking water treated	Dummy variable categorised as 0 – household drinking
		water is not treated 1 – otherwise
22	Protected water sources	Dummy variable categorised as 0 – household has access to
		protected water 1 – otherwise
23	Improved toilet	Dummy variable categorised as 0 – household has access to
		improved toilet 1 – otherwise
4.0.	Child characteristics	
24	Child sex	Dummy variable coded as 0 – male and 1 – female
25	Child age	Continuous variable measured in months
26	Birth weight	Continuous variable measured in grams
27	Weight for age	Dummy variable coded as 0 – for the standardized (standard
		deviation) weight for age <-2 (below the World Health
		Organization mean child growth standard) and 1 – otherwise
28	Weight for height	Dummy variable that was coded as 0 – for the standardized
		(standard deviation) weight for height <-2 and 1 – otherwise
29	Height for age	Dummy variable that was categorised as 0 – for standardized
		(standard deviation) height for age <-2 (below the World
		Health Organization mean child growth standard) and 1 –
		otherwise
5.0	Vaccination	
30	Pentavalent vaccine	Dummy variable that was coded as 1 – if at least one
31	Rota virus vaccine	recommended doses were received and 0 – otherwise
32	Pneumococcal vaccine	

5.9.2. Appendix 2 Table 1: Maternal and household characteristics

	2006		2011		2016	
	Weighted		Weighted		Weighted	
	sample	%	sample	%	sample	%
Education level						
No education	1,646	22.7	1036	14.7	1501	11.2
Primary	4,609	63.6	4489	63.6	8214	61.5
Secondary	818	11.3	1277	18.1	2777	20.8
Higher	175	2.4	252	3.6	871	6.5
Occupation						
No occupation at all	564	7.8	1,478	21.0	2328	17.4
Professional and business work	687	9.5	275	3.9	2221	16.6
Agriculture and self-employment	5,472	75.5	4,064	57.6	6192	46.3
Domestic work	191	2.6	1,237	17.54	626	4.7
Manual work	335	4.6	-	-	1996	14.9
Household owns a TV						
No	6,908	95.3	6348	90.0	11329	84.8
Yes	341	4.7	707	10.0	2035	15.2
Household owns Radio						
No	2,770	38.2	2400	34.0	5715	42.8
Yes	4,479	61.8	4655	66.0	7649	57.2
Household treats water for drinking						
No	4,684	64.6	4173	59.2	6563	49.1

	2006		2011		2016		
	Weighted		Weighted		Weighted		
	sample	%	sample	%	sample	%	
Yes	2,564	35.4	2882	40.9	6801	50.9	
Household toilet shared with other households							
No	4,435	61.2	4599	65.2	8537	63.9	
Yes	2,814	38.8	2455	34.8	4827	36.1	
Household place of cooking							
Inside the house	838	11.6	575	8.2	1121	8.4	
Outside the house	6,411	88.4	6479	91.8	12243	91.6	
Main cooking fuel							
Electricity	3	0.1	4	0.1	6	0.0	
LPG-gas	6	0.1	28	0.4	50	0.4	
Wood	6,349	87.6	5699	80.8	10292	77.0	
Charcoal	890	12.3	1324	18.8	3016	22.6	
Roof structure							
Incomplete	3,398	46.9	2675	37.9	4285	32.1	
Complete	3,850	53.1	4380	62.1	9079	67.9	
Floor structure							
Incomplete	6,061	83.6	5340	75.7	9017	67.5	
Complete	1,187	16.4	1715	24.3	4347	32.5	
Wall structure							
Incomplete	45	0.6	44	0.6	1171	8.8	
Complete	7,204	99.4	7011	99.4	12192	91.2	
Marital status							
No partner	904	12.5	812	11.5	1874	14.0	
Has a partner or married	6,345	87.5	6243	88.5	11490	86.0	
Sex of the household head							
Female	5,704	78.7	5634	79.9	10168	76.1	
Male	1,544	21.3	1420	20.1	3196	23.9	
Car ownership							
No	7,163	98.8	6,874	97.4	12,866	96.3	
Yes	86	1.2	180	2.6	498	3.7	
Motorcycle ownership							
No	6,836	94.3	6,318	89.6	11,371	85.1	
Yes	205	2.8	631	8.9	1,646	12.3	
Non-resident	208	2.9	106	1.5	347	2.6	
Maternal age	Mean =28.9	, ±6.8	Mean =28.8	Mean =28.8, ±6.8		Mean =28.6, ±6.8	
Age of the household head	Mean =36.9,	±11.5	Mean =37.3	Mean =37.3, ±11.7		Mean =37.4, ±12.0	
Number of rooms used for sleeping	Mean=4.1,	Mean=4.1, ±1.9 Mean=4.1, ±1.9 Mean=3.6		Mean=3.6,	±1.7		
Number of household members	Mean=6.2, ±2.8		Mean=6.6, ±2.6		Mean=6.2, ±2.7		
Tuble 2. Child I clarca mai flaudi chai acter ibties	Table 2:	Child-related	individual	characteristics			
--	----------	----------------------	------------	-----------------			
--	----------	----------------------	------------	-----------------			

	2006		2011		2016	
	Weighted		Weighted		Weighted	
	sample	%	sample	%	sample	%
Childbirth position						
1	1,154	15.9	1,133	16.1	2,672	20.0
2	1,058	14.6	1,183	16.8	2,440	18.3
3	1,009	13.9	1,037	14.7	2,100	15.7
4	913	12.6	891	12.6	1,648	12.3
5	815	11.3	733	10.4	1,328	9.9
6	708	9.8	652	9.2	967	7.2
7	544	7.5	523	7.4	799	6.0
8	415	5.7	362	5.1	565	4.2
9	288	4.0	236	3.4	383	2.9
10+	346	4.8	304	4.4	462	3.5
Birth category						
Multiple	196	2.7	203	2.9	379	2.8
Singleton	7,052	97.3	6852	97.1	12985	97.2
Child sex						
Female	3,555	49.0	3518	49.9	6674	49.9
Male	3,693	51.0	3537	50.1	6690	50.1
SD height for age<-2						
Normal (>=-2)	1500	62.7	1,382	66.8	3,112	71.9
Stunted	891	37.3	686	33.2	1,216	28.1
SD weight for height<-2						
Normal (>=-2)	2233	93.4	1,965	95.0	4,155	96.2
Wasted	158	6.6	103	5.0	166	3.8
SD weight for age<-2						
Normal (>=-2)	2016	84.3	1,786	86.4	3,902	89.7
Underweight	376	15.7	282	13.7	447	10.3
Received at least one dose of pentavalent vaccine **						
No	3192	49.5	399	6.4	5343	44.6%
Yes	3258	50.5	5856	93.0	6631	55.4%
Received at least one dose of rota						
vaccine **						
No	-	-	-	-	11302	94.4
Yes	-	-	-	-	672	5.6
Received at least one dose of						
pneumococcal vaccine **						
No	-	-	-	-	7322	61.2
Yes	-	-	-	-	4653	38.9
Birth weight	Mean =3379.2	2, ±918.6	Mean =3407.	3, ±955.8	Mean =3341.	3, ±823.6
Note: The estimates are based on the live	e children who we	ere stayin <u>o</u>	with the parer	nts or caret	takers at the tin	ne of

interview.

** considered only children aged 6-59 months

CHAPTER SIX

RETHINKING ACCESS TO OBSTETRIC AND UNDER-5 CHILD HEALTHCARE ACCESS CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

A version of this paper is currently being prepared for submission to the journal of Social Science and Medicine. Kananura RM: Towards a multidimensional and multisectoral approach: rethinking access to obstetric and under-5 child healthcare access conceptual framework.

Abstract

Reducing new-born and under-five mortality requires that skilled health professionals conduct all deliveries and care for all sick children. However, in sub-Saharan African countries such as Uganda, access to appropriate obstetric and sick child health care remains low. Access to appropriate health care is concurrently affected by multiple interactions within and across social and structural contexts, including the health service system. Existing obstetric and child health care access frameworks do not account for the complexity of multiple concurrent factors that influence access to appropriate health care services. Using qualitative data collected in June-November 2019 in resource-poor settings of Eastern Uganda, I examine how the interaction within the social, structural and health services system factors influence access to obstetric and sick children's healthcare. I use the findings to develop a multidimensional and multisectoral implementation framework for obstetric and child services in resource-poor settings. The findings are based on in-depth interviews (n=29) with mothers who experienced new-born death, including stillbirths, focus group discussions (n=8) with mothers and fathers of children aged 0-59 months of age, and key informants interviews with public health workers (n=6). Narrative and inductive thematic analysis were guided by concepts of social interactions, behaviour, and health institutional system' drawn from system theory. Analyses suggest that access to obstetric and child health care is a complex process that is concurrently affected by the pluralism of health care providers, multiple social agents, transport system, financial ability, health facility responsiveness, and autonomy of the primary caregiver. These factors intersect and overlap to determine when and how women and children should access appropriate healthcare. The evidence emphasises the need for simultaneous application of multisectoral and life-course approaches if healthcare access barriers are to be addressed.

6.1. Introduction

The global sustainable development goals (SDG) aim to reduce new-born and under-five mortality to below 12 and 25 per 1000 live births, respectively (WHO, 2015a). These targets are ambitious for sub-Saharan countries such as Uganda. Despite the substantial reduction in under-five mortality from 148 to 46 per 1000 live births between 1999/2000 and 2018/2019, rates remain unacceptably high (UN IGME, 2015, 2017, 2018, 2019). New-born mortality (death within the first 28 days of life) accounts for the largest share of under-five mortality. It has stagnated at 27 per 1000 live births for the last two decades (Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International, 2011, 2018). Early access to appropriate obstetric services may reduce new-born mortality and stillbirths by 41% and 70%, respectively, in high-burden countries (Bhutta et al., 2014; Darmstadt et al., 2015). Similarly, a large proportion of mortality in children aged 1-59 months would be prevented if sick children accessed appropriate treatment at the right time. However, in Uganda, access to care for women during labour and sick children continues to be a challenge, with an estimated 30% of deliveries occurring outside formal health institutions and without skilled professional assistance (Källander et al., 2008, 2011; Kananura et al., 2020; Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International, 2018). Less than half (48% and 39%, respectively) of children with fever and suspected pneumonia seek care within 24 hours (Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International, 2018). To reach the 2030 SDG national commitment of reducing new-born and under-five mortality (Uganda Ministry of Health, 2016), increased access to appropriate care is critical.

Health care access is a complex web of relationships that include the interaction between social and structural factors in an ecological structure: individual, family, and community (Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Jack, 2000; Thomas et al., 2017; Umberson & Thomeer, 2020), which affect the ability of the health system to effectively reach those in need. At a family level, obstetric and child health care access is influenced by factors such as family networks, norms, socio-economic and demographic status (marital status, education, age, and wealth) (Colvin et al., 2013). At a community level, access is further influenced by the structure and the functioning of the community that shape human behaviour, cognitive functioning and decisions (Bonner, 2018; Burton-Jeangros et al., 2015; Colvin et al., 2013; Earls & Carlson, 2001). The community structure and functioning characteristics that usually impact access to health care services in resource-poor settings are transport system, societal norms, quality of leadership, and availability of social services, e.g., hospitals and civil society. Most health facilities in resource-poor settings are usually poorly equipped to respond appropriately and adequately in providing required obstetric and child health services (Christmals & Armstrong, 2019; Kruk et al., 2016, 2018), impacting patients' confidence and trust in health care access (Kruk et al., 2016; Martínez-Martínez & Rodríguez-Brito, 2020). These factors and barriers may affect the families or individuals differently, thus affecting them from accessing appropriate health care services. Families and individuals in resource-poor settings often experience multiple barriers such as poor transport system, powers relations (at individual, family, community, and with health providers), financial constraints, and inadequate health services system. However, while there is available evidence on how multiple factors may affect access to healthcare services, we still lack evidence-based multidimensional frameworks that could guide the design and implementation of multiple yet multisectoral interventions.

The Three Delay (Thaddeus and Maine 1994), Mosley and Chen (Mosley & Chen, 1984) and Andersen and Newman frameworks (Andersen & Newman, 1973) have been applied extensively in examining barriers to and determinants of maternal and child health care access. While these frameworks have contributed to the design of socio-economic, structural and health facility-based interventions, they are too simple to emphasise how multiple interventions could be concurrently implemented to tackle access to health care services. Thus, inequities could be hidden in studies that apply these models since the focus is usually on individual behaviour rather than considering how the interaction within and across social structural context, individual behaviours and health facility system curtail the equity in services' accessibility. Such frameworks may lead to the design of unsuitable pro-poor health strategies in resource-poor settings, given the multidimensional nature of factors that concurrently affect the population's well-being.

Building on the life-course principle of agency and linked lives, I used qualitative data that I collected from women who had experienced new-born deaths, including stillbirths, focus group discussions with parents of children aged 6-59 months and key informant interviews with health facility workers, to examine how access to appropriate healthcare is shaped social constraints and opportunities. In particular, I study how social network ties, the community structure, and the organization of the health services influence child and obstetric health care access equity.

6.2. Theoretical framework

While the frameworks by Andersen and Newman, 1973; Mosley and Chen, 1984; and Thaddeus and Maine, 1994 have been crucial over the past three decades in understanding the barriers to and determinants of health care access (Andersen and Newman 1973; Mosley and Chen 1984; Thaddeus and Maine, 1994), they suggest a linear pathway of care-seeking that is out of step with the multiple overlapping factors identified in the literature: multiple social agents that influence decision making, transport system, caregivers financial ability, and poor health services. These frameworks do not comprehensively explain how access to appropriate health care is concurrently affected by the multiple interactions within and across the social structural context, individual behaviours, and health facility system. While a framework by Colvin et al, 2013 on health care seeking for child illness seems to consider how multiple barriers concurrently affect child health care access (Colvin et al., 2013; Kaiser et al., 2018), the mechanism for implementation of interventions that address these multiple barriers remains unclear. Studies that examine inequalities in obstetric and child health care access are based on population-level surveys (Alam et al., 2015; Barros et al., 2012; Barros & Victora, 2013; Boerma et al., 2008; Victora et al., 2017). While these studies give us a sense

of differentials in the distribution of health care access, they cannot reveal the underlying contextual causes of inequality or propose strategies to achieve equity (Larson et al., 2016; Young et al., 2020). Thus, with the global agenda of *"leaving no one behind"*, the growing concern on health inequities among many international organisations (CSDH, 2008; UNICEF, 2017; UN IGME, 2019; WHO, 2013) and the current call for redesigning child health programs (Requejo & Strong, 2021), there is a need for an evidence-based model that can be applied to identify a package of interventions that improve equity in obstetric and child health care access.

I synthesise qualitative data collected in a resource-poor setting to understand how multiple social and structural factors concurrently affect access to obstetric and child health care services. Going beyond individual factors such as socioeconomic status, sex, gender, and race that have been used as inequality proxies (Alam et al., 2015; Barros et al., 2012; Barros & Victora, 2013; Boerma et al., 2008; Victora et al., 2017), I examine how the relationships and interactions between some of these factors and across multiple levels of society shape the health of a particular population group. Above all, this study challenges the culture of blaming the victim (in this case, a mother or family that has lost a child) by considering how community structural set-up and power relations at individual, family, community, and health providers affect health outcomes.

6.3. Methods

Results in this chapter are based on 8 focus group discussions with under-10 parents (mothers and men), 29 in-depth interviews with women who had experienced child or pregnancy loss 4 months prior to the date of interviews and 6 key informant interviews with the public health facility workers. The data was collected in Iganga and Mayuge districts located in central-eastern Uganda. The interviews were done in the Lusoga language, which is the dominant local language. Three Research Assistants (RAs) who had training experience in collecting data and an understanding of the study area context were recruited and trained in data ethics, collection, and management protocol. Upon the formal consent of the study participants, all the interviews were audio-recorded and verbatim transcribed. (See section 2.7 in Chapter 2 for study setting details). Open or inductive coding was done as I read each transcript using RQDA package (Ronggui, 2016). From the analysis, 27 codes were identified, later grouped into 3 themes and 8 sub-themes (Table 2.8 of Chapter 2 shows a list of codes and themes).

6.4. Reflexivity

While I knew the emotional concerns that could happen while interviewing the bereaved women, I was not fully equipped to provide psychosocial support. Though most women did not weep during the interview, their faces showed that they were still grieving and needed more social support. Additionally, all women involved in the in-depth interviews, including a few who wept, indicated how important it was to talk to them as they felt neglected in the community. Whereas the RAs had some training in counselling, to my observation, the bereaved women needed more psychosocial support. Unfortunately, I could not find a formal

organization that would provide psychosocial services. I suggest a post-natal psychosocial package that targets postpartum women who have experienced stillbirth and new-born death. Studies done in the same context have indicated a lack of support for bereaved families (Kiguli et al., 2015; Mills et al., 2021). Details on this chapter's reflexivity are comprehensively explained in Section 2.8 (Chapter 2) of the thesis.

6.4. Findings

6.4.1. Description of study participants

Tables 6.1 and 6.2 summarise the participants' characteristics of in-depth interviews and focus group discussions. Related to child health, overall, 23% of the women had their recent deliveries conducted in the communities. Among the FGD women participants, 41% and 22% had ever experienced child loss and stillbirth, respectively. Among women who had recently experienced child loss (in-depth interview), 48% of the new-borns had died within the first day of delivery, and all death happened within the first 6 days of life.

	Freq	%
Education level		
None	15	53.57
Primary level	10	35.71
Primary occupation		
Community transporters (Boda-boda)	15	53.57
Business	4	14.28
Farmer	9	32.14
Religion		
Muslim	13	46.43
Christian	15	53.57
age group		
20-30	15	53.57
30-40	7	25
41+	6	21.43
Have multiple wives		
No	21	75
Yes	7	25

Tabla 6 1º Doccri	ntion of mon wh	narticipatod in	focus group discussion
i abie 0.1. Desci i	puon or men win	j participateu in	iocus gioup uiscussion.

The stillbirth and new-born deaths within the first day of life highlight the challenges with the overall health system in accessing appropriate health care services as these are mostly resulting from labour complications can be averted given appropriate treatment and care interventions. These challenges may result from the interplay within and across individual, social and health facility systems factors. In this study, women indicated that they usually have plans to deliver in or take their sick children to the health facility but always fail because of multiple factors. The public health facilities that are known to serve the poor are located far from the communities in which most participants live. This intersects with other families, community, and health facility-level challenges to further curtail access.

	Wome	Women with children aged 6-59 months – FGD		Women experienced recent child loss- IDI		Total	
	FGD						
	Freq.	Percent	Freq.	Percent	Freq.	Percent	
Marital status							
Married or stay with a partner	29	90.6	29	100.0	58	95.1	
Unmarried	3	9.4			3	4.9	
Age group							
20-30	21	65.6	19	65.5	40	65.6	
30-40	9	28.1	6	20.7	15	24.6	
<20	2	6.3	4	13.8	6	9.8	
Education level							
None	13	40.6	1	3.5	14	23.0	
Primary level	11	34.4	16	55.2	27	44.3	
Post primary level	8	25.0	3	10.3	11	18	
Occupation							
Civil servant	2	6.3	1	3.5	3	4.9	
Business	4	12.5	7	24.1	11	18.0	
Farmer or casual laborer	26	81.3	21	72.4	47	77.0	
Religion							
Muslim	10	31.3	14	48.3	24	39.3	
Protestant and Catholic	17	53.1	14	48.3	31	50.8	
Others	5	15.6	1	3.5	6	9.8	
Ever experienced child or pregnan	cy loss						
No	19	59.4	-	-	-	-	
Yes	13	40.6	-	-	-	-	
Ever experienced stillbirth							
No	25	78.1	-	-	-	-	
Yes	7	21.9	-	-	-	-	
Gravida							
0-4	18	56.3	19	65.5	37	60.7	
5+	14	43.8	10	34.5	24	39.3	
Place of delivery of the recent birth							
Clinic	6	18.8	7	24.1	13	21.3	
Formal Health facility	16	50.0	18	62.1	34	55.7	
Community	10	31.3	4	13.8	14	23.0	
Age at death in days							
0-1	-	-	14	48.2	-	-	
2-6	-	-	15	51.8	-	-	
Birth weight of the child that died			-	-	1		
2.5+ Kg	_	-	19	62.1	_	-	
<2 5 Kg	-	-	10	34 5	_	-	
Missing -	_	_	1	2 5		_	
iviissilik -	-	-	1 <u>1</u>	3.5	1 -	-	

Table 6.2: Interviewed women in the focus group discussion and in-depth interviews.

Of six health workers that participated in the study, four were midwives and two health facility in-charges (a medical doctor and a clinical officer). Two midwives (aged 50+ years) had spent at least 20 years in service and had worked at the study facilities for at least 5 years. The other 2 midwives aged 25 and 30 years were in service for less than 5 years and had been

at the study facilities for 8-12 months. The 2 health facility in-charges (clinical officer and medical doctor) aged 28 and 30 years had spent less than 5 years in service, and all had been at the study health facilities for 12 months.

6.5. Thematic findings

I identified three main themes that relate to: how social relationships influence access to care (theme 1), how community characteristics moderate access to healthcare (theme 2), and how health facility system factors affect access to healthcare (theme 3). I use the finding to underscore how different factors (sub-themes) within these identified themes overlap and interact to affect appropriate access to obstetric and child healthcare services, and identify the different forms of vulnerability that should be considered in the design and implementation of obstetric and child healthcare interventions.

6.5.1. Theme 1: the role of family and community social support networks

The identified family networks include the child's parents, mothers-in-law, family friends, and neighbours who influence therapeutic access at different community levels (Appendix 6.1). The family support networks are involved in the discussion regarding when and how sick children and women in labour should access treatment. In addition to providing support such as finances or working as caretakers, the family support networks may also provide traditional therapy (traditional drugs or practices) to women during labour and sick children. The network members may persuade the mother on the child's health condition, thereby facilitating the kind of treatment.

The mother's involvement is at different stages. On the one hand, during pregnancy, the mother can decide when and where to access obstetric health services based on labour or obstetric danger signs. On the other hand, since the mothers spend most of their time with children, they are responsible for identifying if the child has developed sickness signs such as fever, cough, convulsion, and diarrhoea, which may facilitate when and how to access health services (Appendix 6.1). However, the urgency of accessing treatment and care choice depends on the mother's knowledge of the child's sickness and obstetric symptoms, their perception of the symptoms and their financial ability. The first treatment is usually traditional therapy and drug shops. Indeed, almost every woman knew the traditional ways of managing labour, progressing and treating the child's suspected ailment (Appendix 6.1). Some women and husbands also indicated having known some modern drugs they would buy from the drug shops whenever a child falls sick (Supplement 2).

".... the fever started at night, so the baby's father got him a syrup, but the fever persisted so we went to Iganga main hospital....". **IDI interview**

Being major caretakers within the family, husbands and mothers-in-law play a significant role in deciding on the places of health services and may themselves provide therapeutic care (Supplement 2). A woman participant in the IDI interview indicated that she was taken to a lower health facility for delivery with her mother-in-law as the caretaker but later was referred to a higher-level health facility due to complications (Appendix 6.1). However, her mother-in-law decided to take her to the traditional birth attendants because they feared that the mother would go under caesarean section (Appendix 6.1). In another IDI interview, a woman indicated how her mother-in-law would bring traditional drugs that she (woman) did not know.

".... she used (Mother-in-law) to bring local herbs that I did not know". IDI interview

Furthermore, the mothers-in-law were identified not only to influence behavioural practices like exclusive breastfeeding and weaning (Supplement 2) but also influencing their sons [women's husbands] on what they should provide for their wives, including health services' access.

"Sometimes, my husband first consults her mother on how I should care for pregnancy. She then gives him advises that buy for her this and leave this". **IDI** *interview*

The interview narratives revealed how caring for children and women is the husband's role (Appendix 6.2). Culturally, mothers are dominant caregivers, and this is because fathers are always away from home for a long time for work. Further, culturally, men are the custodian of resources such as finances and assets that facilitate access to the appropriate service. As such, women are not autonomous in deciding where the children should access treatment and when the treatment should be accessed (Appendix 6.2). Given the women's dependence on their partners for financial support, they must be granted permission on where and when to access the services, thereby limiting their agency in healthcare-seeking. Thus, if the child falls sick or labour contractions occur, the woman must wait until the husband returns home. The husband or family's financial ability determines where, when, and what kind of health care services should be received (Appendix 6.2).

"As a Musoga (relating to the culture of the participants), let me say in Busoga (participant emphasising the culture of the region) because it is where I have lived, I know that it is mainly the men who have money, in Busoga, it is known that the father is the supreme and most of the women just ask. I want this and then a man gives you, if a man says that they do not have, then it may be hard for my children and me to access treatment." **FGD female participant.**

The family networks also suggest where to seek care based on their previous experience at the health facility to affect other network members from accessing health services in the same health facilities.

> "..you may tell someone that I want to take the child to this health facility, but they then tell you that my friend has ever taken there a child, but the health workers there were unbothered or maybe she was given drugs from there that didn't match with the disease and I gave her and the child failed to get healed, so since your child is suffering from a similar disease, do you think it will get

healed? And then you also get demoralised of going there." **FGD women participant**

I also discovered community transporters as another important community network. In this setting, the major means of community transport is motorcycles, commonly known as bodabodas. It was indicated that every family and health facility has a telephone contact for a motorcycle (boda-boda) transporter they would contact whenever there is someone to be transported. The community transporters are important in transporting women and sick children and working as caretakers when they reach the health facilities and looking for health workers, particularly when the transportation is done at night (Appendix 6.1). The transporters were indicated to help mothers address some of the facility needs, such as buying the health facility requirements – sometimes using their money (Appendix 6.1). In cases where the families do not have enough money to transport them, the transporter would take them to health facilities on credit.

"There is someone calling you but when the situation they are in isn't good, but the money they are giving you may not be the right amount suited for the distance you are going to cover but because she is in a bad state of affairs/situation, you just help them and reach them to where they are going". **FGD Men (boda-boda ridders)**

6.5.2. Theme 2: the role of community system characteristics

Social and public infrastructures or services

The interview narratives revealed how well-equipped health facilities and a better transport system, including better roads and access to transport services within the community, are critical interdependent social infrastructures (Appendix 6.2). On the one hand, women and children living in communities with good road networks may easily access the government hospital, and most women close to communities with better road networks or those close to the district centre prefer going to the hospital instead of going to lower health facilities. On the other hand, those from hard-to-reach areas that are characterised by poor transport systems usually have challenges in reaching health facilities. The major means of transport are boda-bodas, which were indicated to be uncomfortable in transporting mothers in labour and sick children. Transport fares were indicated exorbitant because of the long distance to the health facilities and poor roads. Additionally, the poor transport system and use of boda-bodas were indicated to cause accidents, particularly, during the rainy season (Appendix 6.2). The long distances between the lower health facilities and communities and the recurrent stock out of drugs make the distance even longer as communities have to go to higher-level facilities distant from the rural communities (Appendix 6.2).

Civil society and non-governmental organizations

The presence of civil society and non-governmental organisations within the community was indicated to be important in improving the health and well-being of the children, including the general population. I identified some non-governmental institutions providing vouchers

for access to maternal services, child health treatment at a subsidised price, and other services such as malnutrition screening and support (Appendix 6.2). Marie Stopes implemented the voucher project in partnership with selected health facilities that included both public hospitals and private health centres. It was provided at 4000 Uganda shillings (equivalent to 1 USD) to all pregnant women within the organisation's implementation area regardless of their wealth or financial status. However, this seemed to had stopped at the time of research. Additionally, another organisation called "Living Goods" was providing medicine through community health workers at a standardised cost. The same organisation equipped community health workers with basic testing kits and treatment for malaria, pneumonia, fever, and diarrhoea.

"... earlier they used to bring us vouchers, but maybe they are done? We do not know. So now we had this Namalema health facility, they had put their voucher cards which women could use to deliver. That was the biggest luck, she would pay 4000 shillings once and even if she needed a referral, they would send her to new hope, that is how it was." **FGD men participants**

Leadership or political will

Politicians such as a member of parliament and lower-level local leaders were found to be important in the community through resource mobilisation and enforcement of other health interventions such as better hygiene in communities and care for children. In some communities, the member of parliament had bought ambulance motor vehicles stationed at the health facilities for the referral (Appendix 6.2). However, the people that wanted to use them contributed fuel, and therefore, those without money to contribute towards fuel would not benefit.

"...we are a beneficiary of a committed member of parliament for this county. He provided us with two ambulances. However, we have to contribute fuel and therefore those with no money to contribute towards fuel may be transported" **Men's FGD participant**

Community diagnostic and therapeutic providers

The community service providers identified were community health workers, traditional birth attendants, traditional healers, and drug shop owners (Appendix 6.2). The community health workers are major community resources contributing to mobilising and sensitising families on child health care and general health. The community health workers provide the drugs for sick children, provide nutrition guidance, and sometimes refer patients to health facilities.

The traditional birth attendants and healers provide services for pregnant women at the time of delivery and for new-borns—almost 3 in 10 women that participated in this study delivered under the assistance of traditional birth attendants. The preference of the TBA for health facilities results from not only their good customer work but also the worst perception of the community about the caesarean section (Appendix 6.2). Further, traditional practices,

including TBAs and traditional medicine, are due to various circumstances ranging from the poor transport system to the poor services provided at the health facilities.

"At the TBA we go there according to the situation has hardened when the pocket is empty." **FGD woman participant**

"Labour started at around 2:00 am and my partner said now we don't have money for a motorcycle, let me put the bicycle out and I take you to deliver from there at Namukuve's (TBAs home)". **IDI interview**

The interview narratives revealed that some diseases do not need modern therapy, and as a result, when the children fall sick, they are only exposed to traditional therapies. Such information was indicated to originate from their ancestors or grandparents (supplement 3). It was also indicated that, in some instances, the children are taken out of the health facilities to traditional and religious healers (Appendix 6.2).

"There is when the child is suffering from biwala²⁰ and you know that it is biwala, there you don't go to the hospital, and you go to these others [traditional healers]." **FGD Female participant**

Another participant emphasised.

"Yes. That person must not be injected", and another one interjected, "at the health centre if the child is injected, it dies." **FGD female participant**

I also identified drug shops as important facilities in the communities (supplement 4). All participants indicated that they mostly use the drug shops to buy treatment for children since they are close to the community and the owners can provide the medicine at a credit (Supplement 3). Another exciting reason was that drug shops could provide treatment depending on the available money (Appendix 6.3). For instance, they can provide half dose.

"You find a person who may have their 500/= and they ask for some Panadol, some coartem, and they mix for them like that. Even when they do not get the full dose, but they get a quick relief as they wait for the morning." **FGD men participants**

6.5.3. Theme 3: Health services system factors

The major identified health services system factors were those that affect the trust and responsiveness of the health facility to provide services adequately and appropriately. The factors that affect the trust of the type of health service provider are respectful care, service availability, customer care, patient experience with the health service provider, and perceived health workers' experience or skills (Appendix 6.3). Participants in both interviews indicated how the poor health workers' attitude and negligence at the health facilities contribute to women opting to deliver at the traditional birth attendants' homes or accessing treatment for sick children from drug shops. In terms of negligence, most women and men interviewed

 $^{^{20}}$ Was described by participants as a disease condition with symptoms of acute diarrhoea, fever, convulsion and sores

indicated that in addition to other health facility rules, the caretakers/patients have to line up (queue) based on a "first come – first serve" basis without triaging. As a result, some death cases have been indicated at the facility before patients receive the required services. The following interview narratives exemplar illustrate the health workers' negligence experienced by several participants.

"I have ever experienced a child who died while at the health facility because of health workers' delays and negligence. I got this child from this village of ours who was aged 3 years. we reached the health facility and they just told us to queue up and later took us to a small room but before entering, another patient was being worked on. We were then sent to another room where a health worker was working on a patient. We were told to wait, and this took along. We were in the facility and the baby died in our hands without seeing anybody to work on us." **FGD male participant (Community transporter)**

"But then I was handled badly when I went for delivery. A health provider told me that she wanted 20.000/= before she could work on me, yet I never had the money by then". **IDI interview**

Similarly, women's experience at the health facility affects future access to health services. For instance, a woman who lost a new-born at a TBA's place indicated that she could not go back to the health facility because the health worker was apathetic.

> "What prevents me from going to Facility A is that I went there when my stomach was paining thinking I was feeling labour pains, we stayed on the queue up and the health worker who found me there said you mean you are feeling more pain than the others you have found there? That is why when I went to labour went to TBA B's place, I never bothered myself with going there" **IDI women who experienced new-born death.**

> "What made me not to go back to Facility X was because the workers were proud. The way they look at a patient as though we were useless". **IDI**

Another special interest group that suffers from the negligence of the health workers are adolescent mothers. One of the interviewed adolescent mothers who lost her child during delivery at a TBA's place indicated that when she reached the health facility that is close to her place of residence, the midwife never cared and told her that she should go and deliver from somewhere else. Indeed, she left and was taken back to the community to a traditional birth attendant, where she was exposed to traditional ways of delivery. She experienced delivery issues of shoulder dystocia because of a macrosomia birth who died in the process of delivery. As such, most adolescents, therefore, usually access obstetric services in communities under unskilled health personnel. "Immediately (after feeling labour pains) we (with her mother) went to Madina (TBA within the village) but unfortunately she was not around. I and my mother then got a boda-boda and went to the health facility. Reaching the health facility, the midwife looked at me and she told me that since I am a teenager, she will not help me deliver in their health facility. She never even gave me a referral to another facility. Fortunately, the boda-boda rider knew a place (TBA) where his wife normally delivers – that is where he took us. When we reached, the woman (TBA) examined me and found that I had no blood. She then boiled the medicine that can give me the blood for me to be able to push. I took the medicines and later the labour pains increased, and I started pushing. I pushed but I was too tired. The child was born alive but was also too tired. The child was too heavy, and it was not breathing well. After like 10 minutes, it stopped breathing". IDI with an adolescent mother aged 15 years.

Furthermore, the recurrent stock out of drugs at the health facilities makes women use other means of treating their pregnancies or children, such as using traditional practices and self-medication by buying drugs from the community drug shops. It was indicated that in most cases, when women and sick children are taken to health facilities, they are told to buy the drugs (Supplement 4). The study participants indicated that because of the known facility challenges such as stock out of drugs and health workers' absenteeism, they would rather buy the drugs from the drug shops or use traditional means instead of wasting their little money and resources going to the health facilities when they know they may not receive the required services.

".... you reach them [health workers] there and they register you, ask you for a book, once they ask for a book and examine the child to see what they are suffering from, they tell you what to buy, you have to buy drugs, syringe, the canular and all the requirements just like the person giving treatment sometimes...most of the time they need some money because Uganda is a corrupt country so there is nothing free. If you don't have money, you can even lose your child, if you don't have money, thinking that I will go to a government health facility and get free drugs, they are not there." **FGD woman participant**

6.5.4. Concurrent barriers

Based on this study's findings, I have identified key factors that concurrently occur to affect access to appropriate health services in a resource-constrained setting (Box 1). These factors are poor transport system, lack of financial support, unresponsive health facility system and lack of autonomy (Box 1). In most cases, the three identified themes interact with each other to generate different vulnerability levels. For instance, a poor woman living in a hard-to-reach community that is characterised by poor transport systems and a lack of civil societies or organisations is more vulnerable than a poor woman living in communities with better social resources.

Narrative 1 (Box 1) describes how a woman reached the health facility but was not attended to early because the health workers were not available. But later, one came and found when the woman had started pushing. The problem of the shoulder not coming out indicates shoulder dystocia, which needed advanced labour management such as the use of assisted instruments or caesarean section. The referral to the higher-level health facility was not prompt and safe as the woman's husband had to get his brother to help them with their truck. This narrative indicates the challenges of the health facility system in responding to emergencies. The intersection of the health facility capacity, availability of skilled health workers, poverty, and transport challenges affected the birth outcome. Narrative 2 (Box 2) describes how women fail to deliver in health facilities because of health workers' negligence and a lack of finances to pay for health services at the health facilities and transportation(Box 2).

Box 6.1: Selected participants' concurrent barriers narratives

Narrative 1

"She came and found when I was trying to push and she started encouraging me to push. However, the baby's head came out but the shoulders could not come out. I pushed as the midwife insisted I should until I lost energy. The midwife did not do anything to help and later the baby died while still in my legs. It never came out. Later, she told us to go to the higher-level hospital in Iganga but there was no means of transport. My husband had to call his brother who drives a truck which he brought and was put behind in the trial". **IDI participant**

Narrative 2

" Some we fail to deliver from the health facilities because of our poor financial status. We have that fear that health workers will ask for money to pay for their services when we are not ready. We also fear being neglected by the health workers. When we go to the health facilities those health workers just look at us as if they don't know what we as mothers are going through. We, therefore, decide to remain at home where we know we would get some care from the relatives than going to the hospital to be neglected". **Women's FGD participant**

Figure 6.1 is the framework that summarises how multiple barriers affect access to appropriate healthcare services. Even though the individual has decided to go to the health facility, the framework shows that community-based factors may curtail the person from receiving adequate and appropriate healthcare services. The framework also shows that reaching a health facility is not enough as a responsive health facility system is characterised by numerous factors, including adequate and skilled health workers, health providers' category, and respective care. These health facility factors affect trust, which ultimately affects individual and family decisions in accessing the health providers' services.

Figure 6.1: Healthcare access conceptual framework

Demand side

Community

- **Community characteristic**
- Health facility proximity
- Health service providers Transport system
 - Family

- Family structure characteristics e.g., marital status, maternal age, financial ability
 - Family member's influence
- Health conditions' knowledge and perception •



6.6. Discussion

This study's novelty is that beyond the social factors, it uses evidence to holistically examine obstetric and children's health care access in resource-limited settings. The findings are based on the qualitative narratives that I gathered through in-depth interviews with women who experienced child loss during delivery or within one month after delivery, focus group discussions with the parents of children aged 0-5 years and key informant interviews with health workers. The approach provides an important insight into the understanding of how a set of social and health institutional system factors interact to hinder health services access equity. Drawing on the narratives gathered from children's parents, I demonstrate the multiple layers of health care access challenges that inhibit families' rights to access appropriate obstetric and child healthcare services. In an ecological system, I discuss how obstetric and child health care access is influenced by a set of multiple yet interacting factors that occur at the family, community, and health facility level. These factors do not operate in isolation but interact with each other, producing distinct pathways of health care access inequity relating to various domains of the health system, which I categorised as a poor transport system, lack of financial support, unresponsive health facility system and lack of autonomy.

In this study, while women indicated to have always planned to deliver in or take their sick children to the health facility, they are usually unable to access appropriate services because of multiple factors that interplay within and across individual, social and health facility system factors. The public health facilities known to serve the poor are located far from the communities in which most participants live. This intersects with other families, community, and health facility-level challenges to further curtail access.

The findings indicate the lack of autonomy women have in their decision to access obstetric and child health care. The influence of multiple people, including mothers-in-law and family friends in deciding on the type of therapeutic care for sick children and pregnant mothers has been well studied (Colvin et al., 2013; Haskins et al., 2017). The role and influence of the family network are complex. On the one hand, they may support financially and act as caretakers while at home and in hospital (Kerr et al., 2008; Scott et al., 2018). On the other hand, the family networks influence healthcare behaviour by providing traditional therapies, often as primary health care services, which also contributes to the delays or failures in accessing appropriate care in addition to other health consequences. Additionally, the family networks such as grandparents are custodians of traditional practices that may inhibit mothers from practising recommended health interventions such as exclusive breastfeeding (Kerr et al., 2008; Scott et al., 2018; Susin, Giugliani, & Kummer, 2005) and bathing of new-born immediately after birth (Gupta et al., 2015). I also found that grandparents may decide on what their sons should provide to their wives. The influence of the family support through social networks and power over resources means that the mother has to obey what their social support network, such as mothers-in-law, have suggested, even if it is contrary to the

recommended health practices (Aubel, Touré, & Diagne, 2004; Kerr et al., 2008; Gupta et al., 2015). This means that women must subordinate and thus tolerate family network abuses to ensure family solidarity and support.

The findings in this study have revealed that in a rural context, the facilities are not only too far to go to but also undesirable to go to. Such means that the community does not see the benefits of accessing health facilities' services, particularly the public institutions, given their persistent challenges of poor-quality services. High-level facilities, both public hospitals and private facilities, are often located in urban centres. Travelling to high-level facilities always located in urban centres necessitates money for transport, upkeep, and, in most cases, paying bills. Hence, the individual or family's ability to pay for health services and the transport was critical for families in prompt decision-making for obstetric and child health care access. In line with other studies (Colvin et al., 2013; Haskins et al., 2017), women in such settings depend on men for financial support as a traditional role. Thus, the absence of men at home contributes to delays or failures in accessing care. In such context and as this study confirms, traditionally, men are the custodian of financial and assets resources that facilitate access to the appropriate service. The social construct in such a rural setting is that men are the sole financial providers of their families as women are responsible for caring for children in addition to household chores. Such implies that women often do not participate in any income-generating activity and therefore lack autonomy in deciding where and when to receive treatment for themselves and their children. Because of the inability to pay for transport or health services, children and women usually delay or fail to access treatment. As alluded to earlier, such challenges expose them to other treatment alternatives and may result in life-threatening complications, particularly if the child is suffering from severe diseases such as pneumonia and malaria. On the one hand, such highlights how women's social and cultural norms depending on their husbands put the women in a more vulnerable position of violence. On the other hand, such indicates how single parents, particularly adolescents, may lack social support as in such a setting; unmarried adolescents always face sanctions resulting from their pregnancies ranging from inadequate family support to discrimination at the health facilities (Clark & Hamplová, 2013).

Issues of trust in the health providers due to the respectful care, service availability, customer care, patient experience with the health service provider, and perceived health workers' experience or skills were key in affecting formal health care access. In particular, public health facilities were dominated by irrespective care, poor customer care and recurrent stock out of drugs. Further, because of recurrent stock out of drugs in the health facilities, women usually use other treatment complements such as traditional practices and self-medication by buying drugs from the community drug shops. The effect of poor infrastructures and quality of healthcare services on the healthcare system's trust in a low-resource setting was reported in the study conducted in Mexico (Martínez-Martínez & Rodríguez-Brito, 2020). Furthermore, the previous health services experienced by the family member or women while at the facility influenced others to access services in the same facility. For instance, sharing the previous

experience of the health workers' rudeness or poor services stopped their colleagues from accessing the healthcare services in the same health facilities. Such indicates how the performance of the health facility affects the demand for services in the long run.

The poor transport system was vastly cited as the major causes of delays or failures in reaching the facilities. The rural communities in sub-Saharan Africa are characterised by poor road networks and inadequate transport services (Porter, 2002). In the study's setting, albeit being uncomfortable, motorcycles – commonly known as boda-bodas are the major means of transport. The community transporters (boda-boda riders) were potential actors who transport sick children and women and support them as caretakers in the absence of the husband and other family networks. In the study area, each household was found to have the transporter's contacts whom they would call whenever there is a sick person to transport to the health facilities. If the family has insufficient funds to cater to transport, the sick children and women would be transported on credit.

Additionally, the boda-bodas are used at the health facilities, particularly the lower ones, in referring the patients to other high-level health facilities. The importance of community transporters in improving access to health services is also indicated in the implementation research study that was conducted in a context similar to this study area (Ekirapa-Kiracho et al., 2016). However, as Ekirapa-Kiracho et al., 2016 indicate, the poor roads frustrate both the transporters and the community. In addition to long distances to the health facilities, the poor roads would lead to exorbitant charges, contributing to the delays and sometimes failures in reaching the health facilities. Further, boda-boda may be unsafe (Jones et al., 2016) not only for transporting critically ill patients but also transportation on poor roads, particularly during the rainy season, which may lead to accidents as was indicated in this study.

Community health workers, drug shops, and traditional birth attendants were identified as primary healthcare providers; hence, the quality of services provided at these service points affects a child's life (Liow et al., 2016). In addition to mobilising and sensitising the community, the community health workers work with non-governmental organisations to provide treatment for sick children, provide nutrition guidance, and refer patients to health facilities. As alluded to earlier, most of the caretakers first try traditional means or buy drugs from drug shops before reaching the health facilities, which has been indicated in studies done in the same context (Källander et al., 2011; Kananura et al., 2020; Rutebemberwa et al., 2009; Waiswa et al., 2010). Buying drugs from drug shops was based on the flexibility of the drug shops would give half treatment courses depending on the purchaser's financial ability – indicating the substandard health services that are provided by the community drug shops (Liow et al., 2016).

Additionally, as indicated earlier, the transport system's problem and lack of trust in highlevel health facilities were cited as the reasons for using traditional means or buying from drug shops. As indicated in a study by (Liow et al., 2016), because of the stock out drugs at the health facilities, the patients would be told to buy drugs (Liow et al., 2016); thus, the purchase of drugs depends on the financial ability. The findings also reveal that there are still existing community social constructs originating from family ascendants that inhibit the treatment of some diseases using modern medicine. However, from the description of these diseases, they exhibit common symptoms such as convulsion, diarrhoea, and malnutrition.

Civil institutions and political leaders were identified to complement the population's health. In the study area, the civil institutions were providing programs at a standard subsidised cost regardless of the family's wealth or financial status. For instance, one non-governmental organisation was providing vouchers for maternal and postnatal services at the cost of 1USD (4000 Uganda Shillings), while another was providing treatment for sick children (malaria, fever, pneumonia, and diarrhoea) at a subsidised price working through community health workers. I also found that in communities, the member of parliament had bought motor vehicle ambulances that were stationed at the health facilities for the referral; however, the patients must contribute fuel before they are transported. The "most vulnerable people", who include the poorest of the poorest, the unmarried and adolescents, may fail to fulfil the civil society and politicians' conditions of benefiting from some health interventions. For example, they may fail to acquire the minimum set amount needed to acquire the services.

6.7. Conclusion

The study findings have provided a set of variables that may be used to improve equity in the accessibility of appropriate obstetric and child health services. These variables categorised as a poor transport system, lack of financial support, unresponsive health facility system and lack of autonomy are nested within the demand and the supply side of the system and often interrelate to affect access to care for obstetric and child health care service. In areas with a poor transport system, access to finances plays a central role: paying for transport, upkeep and choosing the appropriate health service provider and treatment type. The lack of autonomy among women results from their dependence on their men and other family networks for financial support; thus, women cannot make their independent decisions on the choice of health services. Rural communities, particularly the poor, mostly go to public health facilities because they offer free services. However, because of the costs and other indirect burdens associated with the dyad of the poor transport system and long distances to the health facilities, the community may not see the benefit of going to the health facilities as they are aware of the persistent poor services the public health facilities always experience.

The findings highlight the ecological levels related to the identified themes. The *first* level highlights how the family structure, such as the family network members, marital status, age, caregiver's agency, and financial status, affect the decision in accessing healthcare services (Figure 1). The *second* level indicates that even though the decision has been made to go to the health facility, the community characteristics may control healthcare access (Figure 2). For instance, poor transport systems and long distances to the health facilities would make it

impossible for those with financial inabilities to access the services. This is worse in the communities that do not have civil institutions and local leaders with political will whom we found to address some of the access barriers. The *third* level indicates that even those who want to go to the health facilities (mainly public) find it worthless because of the known persistent poor services that are characterised by poor customer care and stockout of essential amenities (Figure 1). Thus, the community may prefer using other therapeutic alternatives such as traditional means or buying from drug shops. Hence, the type of healthcare services may affect the health conditions; for instance, receiving care from an unqualified health professional may deteriorate the health conditions and ultimately loss of life.

These findings suggest the need to concurrently address the individual, social, and health facility factors. Interventions should aim at attaining the quality of and respective healthcare services that are affordable and accessible. However, addressing such challenges may benefit from a multisectoral and life-course approach in designing and implementing child health and well-being interventions. The multisectoral approach is meant to involve the macro and meso decision-makers who include politicians, non-governmental organisations, civil societies, district and health facility level managers. The life-course is meant to involve those that influence children's health and well-being throughout their life cycle – from preconception, labour, postnatal and beyond.

This study has unmasked areas for further research. *First*, I note the "invisible vulnerable people" who include the poorest of the poorest, the unmarried and adolescents who may fail to fulfil the civil institutions' and other providers' conditions of benefiting from some of the health interventions. These may fail to acquire the minimum required amount to acquire the services. Therefore, I suggest an in-depth study of the distribution of pro-poor interventions. Second, given the substantial contribution of community transportation using boda-boda as gatekeepers amidst numerous challenges that range from poor roads to transporting women on credit, there is a need for studies on how the community transporters navigate such challenges and how they can be included as potential partners in healthcare. *Third*, there are still traditional perceptions regarding treating diseases using modern medicine, yet the description of the symptoms seemed known diseases such as malnutrition, diarrhoea, and pneumonia. Thus, I recommend an anthropological study on the causes and treatment of different diseases' typologies to guide behavioural change interventions. *Lastly*, access to the politicians' services may depend on the political affiliation of the beneficially and the politician's continued services in the office. Therefore, I recommend an in-depth analysis of how such affects service accessibility and sustainability in case the politician is voted out of office.

6.8. Strengths and limitations

The advantage is that the qualitative findings in this thesis complement the quantitative findings by providing a deeper insight into contextual issues that affect access to appropriate obstetric and child health services. The limitations of the qualitative findings are mainly related to generalisation as the findings are specific to the study area context. However, the qualitative findings could be applicable elsewhere due to certain social and health systems similarities that affect population health and well-being, mostly in poor-resource settings. The finding could also be helpful in other countries within sub-Saharan Africa since most communities share the same characteristics as this study's setting.

6.8. Appendices

Appendix 6.1: Interview quotation on family networks in maternal and child
health

Network	Influence	Illustrative quotes
Mother-in-law	Place of care-seeking	"We went to the health facility in this villages [Lower health facility] and they
	decision	[health workers] told us to go to Nakavule [referred to the higher-level hospital].
		But when we were on our way, my mother-in-law changed and decided that we
		go to the TBA since there might be a possibility of operating us at Nakavule. We
		went to the TBA and that's where I delivered from." IDI mother participant
	Financial support	They buy soap, sugar, and help me with money once the child is sick, and at times
		they take the sick child to the hospital. IDI mother participant
	Enforcing other child	as we are in an extended family, the grandparents cannot allow her to stop
	health care	breastfeeding before the child is 6 months no. They force her to breastfeed until the child grows up. FGD men participant
	benaviours	"We are told that when the child is suffering from "Biwala" you take the child
		to the hospital because he or she will die when he is injected FGD women
		participant
	Influence women	"Sometimes, my husband's first consult her mother how I should care for
	husbands (their	pregnancy. She gives him to advise that buy for her this and leave this". IDI
	sons)	mother participant
		" she used (Mother-in-law) to bring local herbs that I did not know". IDI
		mother participant
Family friends	Friend's or	you may tell someone that I want to take the child to this health facility, but
and	neighbours' Previous	they then tell you that my friend has ever taken there a child, but the health
neighbours	experience effect	workers there were unbothered or maybe she was given drugs from there that
		didn't match with the disease and I gave her and the child failed to get healed,
		so since your child is suffering from a similar disease, do you think it will get
		healed? And then you also get demoralised of going there. FGD women
		participant
		Even me it is like that, she [friend] can tell you that you are going to ADRA [name
		of the health facility]! The health workers at ADRA are very rude. That she can
		bark at you. She will tell you everything rudely. That for me I do not go there.
		for you, it is where you're going! You also say that I will also not go there. FGD
		women participant
	Support by escorting	She [neighbour] called me on phone and I woke my friend [wife] up, it was
	and financially by	about 6:00 am then my wife took her to the health facility. But when they
	paying the health	reached there, the health workers said she wanted 70000 shillings for discharge.
	facility bills	I told him that give me the health worker on phone and talked to him that I had
		no money at that time, so give me a mobile number where to send the money.

t to use. FGD
help me with
dicine".
ires me to go
nd give them
ne calling you
are giving you
g to cover but
em and reach
a boda-boda
s not enough
lity since she
a boda-boda
ealth facility
who have no
there is some
this, go bring
ng. There are
back home,
y she has not
eone who will
n participant
reached the
her like her
(working as a
+h foo:1:+h+
in facility but
ofore Lended
at the health
ider)
not open but
adv (bulikintu
ker said let us
rider)
d, I know that
t the father is
n a man gives
r me and my
got from me
s the owner
an will not
e care and
e wiiu is t as she will
n particinant
ou are in the
that you, the

Network	Influence	Illustrative quotes
		child is not fine. So, it is you to be creative and think where to take the child."
		FGD men participant
		"Sometimes they need money for transport and that transport is got from me
		the man. Looking for a solution comes from the man because he is the owner
		of the money the man at home, so if there is no money, the woman will not
		manage to go alone to the health facility. As I arrive, it is me to take care and do
		this and that, if they want tabs to be bought or syringes, it is me who is meant
		to do what? To buy it because she will not manage to buy it as she will be
		consumed in her child. So, I am the overall in those ones." FGD men participant
	Financial provider	" Musawo [referring to the interviewer as a health worker], he [husband] can
		stop you from going to the health facilities in case he doesn't have money
		since most of us depend of them for financial support because he can say that
		"if you have the money, take the child but me I don't have and so if you don't
		have, that means that the child will not receive treatment at all." FGD women
		participant
		"When you come back home, your wife will tell you that my friend, while you
		were away, this child fell sick, so when you ask that what happened? She
		explains for you what transpired that time when you were not around. So as a
		father, you have the role to go to the clinic and bring tabs for the child to
		become better. If it requires taking him to the health facility, then they go".
		FGD men participant
		"it is the father you tell that I am taking the child to a health facility, but they
		need some money. They do not have time to see if the child has bathed how
		they have staved they are there to support us financially" FGD women
		narticinant
	1	"I will not be so much different from what Sumaya has said, women have little
		income compared to men because if I go and they recommend a syrup which
		is 10,000/=, I may have only 2000/= it still needs me tothat is why they say
		that a home needs to have a man and a woman, he supports us, he supports
		the bigger part. That is the authority they have over the health of children."
		FGD women participant
		"No, it started me at 2:00 am, my partner said now we don't have money for a
		motorcycle, let me put the bicycle out and I take you to deliver from there at
		Namukuve's (Traditional birth attendants) place." FGD women participant

Appendix 6.2: Interviews' quotation on community systems that affect assess to appropriate services.

Category	Challenges related to social infrastructures availability	Illustrative quotes
Responsive health	Proximity	"The reason why children die, sometimes you get a child from
facilities within the place		home to the health facility, you reach the nearest health facility
of residence		where you are meant to go and there are no necessary
		requirements for testing and treatment. So, when there are no
		drugs that are going to treat the disease, he/she is suffering
		from they refer you to a far place. In referring you to a far
		place/long distance, it is like you are using a motorcycle and the
		child dies along the way". FGD men participant
		"The situation I was talking about concerns the distance we
		have to the government health facility is a very long journey
		because it is in Busowoobi, and the other is at Bukwaya. To and

Category	Challenges related to social infrastructures availability	Illustrative quotes
		from you may be charged between 5000 - 6000/= for a person, which is expensive for us." FGD women participant
		"Yes, because the nearest health facility is private and it is in another village called Wairama, it is also a distance." FGD women participant
		"The situation I was talking about concerns the distance we have to the government health facility is a very long journey because it is in Busowoobi, and the other is at Bukwaya. To and from you may be charged between 5000 - 6000/= for a person, which is expensive for us." FGD women participant
		"We have challenges because a child falls sick but when you do not have a motorcycle at home. You have to look for one with it and you reach there, and they tell you, this night can I go to Iganga**?" FGD women participant
		"The health facilities are far, yet this is near [referring to the traditional attendant's place]. It's the transport situation to reach you to the far place if you have your bicycle". FGD women participant
Transport system	Status of the roads	"We have challenges because a child falls sick but when you do not have a motorcycle at home. You have to look for one with it and you reach there, and they tell you, this night can I go to Iganga**?" FGD women participants

Note.** Iganga is a town centre which is located close to 8 Km from the village where the interview was conducted from.

Community diagnostic and therapeutic providers

Codes	Illustrative quotes
Existence of community	"If the child has poor feeding, the VHT can call you and trains you on how to feed that child."
health workers	FGD men participant
	"It is like this; here in villages we do not have where to treat worms from, we come here to
	VHTs and they give us tabs." FGD men participant
	"When my child develops diarrhoea, most of the time I bring her to "Musawo Hadijja"
	[Community health worker]. FGD men participant
	" for me musawo [referring the interviewer as health worker] if the child has started having
	diarrhoea, I come to "musawo Hadijja [Community health worker, and tell her that the child
	has diarrhoea. And she gives me drugs that stop diarrhoea, but she first asks for how long
	had the baby had diarrhoea, is it a day or two? I explain to her if the baby has had let me say
	for a day, and she gives me tablets and she says go and give the child every tab until it clears."
	FGD women participant
	"We thank these health workers of ours so much who encourage/ tell us to sleep our children
	under the mosquito net. To help prevent malaria that is spread, when a child gets diarrhoea,
	you rush to the health worker who gives you drugs to treat the child." FGD women
	participant
	"because those health workers emphasize /encourage that we take the children to health
	centres early if they fall sick and they also tell us to keep our homes clean, to give the children
	fluids all the time, they also tell us that if a child got a body temperature you should take
	them to the health facility, and also to go to them and tell them what has happened to the
	child. So they also help us in that way." FGD women participant
Existence of traditional	"Women go to the TBA because of her good work and sometimes women escape from the
birth attendants	hospitals when they are told that they will undergo the operation. For example, one lady last

Codes	Illustrative quotes	
	month had her daughter whom they wanted to operate at the hospital, however, she had to	
	carry her and escape the operation to the place of the TBA and they were helped them	
	deliver. Of course, when other people get such information, they have to come to go	
	FGD women participant	
	"At Mulerwa [Traditional Birth Attendant], we were not charged a lot of money as it would	
	have been at the health facility. She only charged me 2000UGX which was for kuvunda nsiko	
	(loosely translated as going to traverse the bush to look for herbs)." FGD men participant	
	"They told us to go that you will first bring money first, so it pushed us on the wall, we left	
	and went to the local Musawo [Traditional Healer or Birth Attendants]." FGD men	
	participant	
	"At the TBA we go there according to the situation has hardened when the pocket is empty."	
	FGD men participant	
	"What I got from Namukuve [TBAs] is that they care for those educated health workers is	
	different from that of the TBAs we are talking about. A TBA will take care of a person and	
	takes that responsibility, but those educated ones you find when they are less concerned "	
	FGD men narticinant	
	"It was shorter for me depending on my pocket, government charges a lot of money, they	
	said that giving birth is free of charge, but when you reach there, they ask for money so it	
	brings difficulty to me " ECD mon participants	
	"No it started to at 2:00 are the participants	
	No, it started me at 2:00 am, my partner said now we don't have money for a motorcycle,	
	let me put the bicycle out and I take you to deliver from there at Namukuve's [Iraditional	
	birth attendantj place." FGD women participants	
	"I was saying that such beliefs cannot prevent us because even last month I had a child	
	admitted I a far government health facility, but I managed to carry it from there, removed	
	the drip and took it to church and they prayed and prayed for it. Then at the end, we	
	carried it and took it back to the health facility. I also another one they brought suffering	
	from bijadu [evil spirits/witchcraft] that needed traditional medicine, they carried them	
	from the hospital and took it to a traditional healer, and in the end, they carried the person	
	from the traditional healer's place back to the health facility". FGD Women participants	
	"As for us Basoga [Tribe] we know that when a child is developing baby teeth, they develop	
	some diarrhoea. I bought some drugs to treat diarrhoea, but it persisted and when I checked	
	the child's behind, it had turned red. I realized that it was "Lwenyanja" and I went to get	
	some herbs". FGD Women participants	
	"There is when the child is suffering from "Biwala" and you know that it is "Biwala", there	
	you don't go to the hospital, and you go to these others". FGD women participants	
	"they are not supposed to be injected! [respondent emphasizing]. Yes (another person	
	interjecting) must not be injected. At the health centre if the child is injected, it dies	
	(another respondent emphasizing)". FGD women participants	
Existence of drug shops	"I had labour-like pains which were gradually increasing and I told my children that you tell	
	your father that am feeling labour pains so he called a bodaboda and I was taken to the	
	health facilitybut I had just reached the other trading centre where I got a clinic and	
	delivered frombecause when I moved from home to the roadside to get onto the	
	motorcycle, I felt the baby coming, so I told them I couldn't make to the place I was to deliver	
	from. So I was taken to a clinic." IDI women participant	
	"Are there children that you take to drug shops and buy them medicine?" the modulator	
	asked. Mostly, that is where we go. Because It is the one nearest to me". FGD men	
	participant	
	"Yes, so when a child gets body temperature. I go and buy some Panadol and coarterm so	
	that I bring, and he/she swallows. But if it fails, we transfer to the government health	
	centres". FGD men participant	
	"Another thing as to why we use those clinics is because you use/spend little money and	
	secondly, we also know one another. Even when you don't have money, they give you	
	treatment and a day or two days after you can sell your chicken and go to clear " FGD men	
	narticinant	
	Par nei Parite	

Codes	Illustrative quotes
	"You find a person who may have their 500/= and they ask for some Panadol, some coartem,
	and they mix for them like that. Even when they do not get the full dose, but they get a quick
	relief as they wait for the morning." FGD men participant
	" I was on my way to a government health facility and I couldn't make it so I delivered from
	a clinic". IDI woman participant

Leadership and community will

Category	Codes	Illustrative quotes
Service delivery	Ambulance	"they (politicians) are better positioned for some issues like when we needed an ambulance and you approach the member of parliament, he offered one". Health facility worker
		" we are a baneficiary of a committed member of parliament for
		this county. He provided us with two ambulances. However, we have to
		contribute fuel and therefore those with no money to contribute towards
		fuel may be transported". Men's FGD participant
		"we are a beneficiary of a committed member of parliament for this
		county. He provided us with two ambulances. That is a positive impact. But
		still, politics has had some interference in the health services". Health facility
		worker
		"Of course, they have affected. One, they create awareness, secondly, they
		obby for us. Like we have had some good moments in MCH services because
		those are results of politicians. And then, when there are challenges with the
		health care providers, the community members find it easy to run to
		politicians. So, politicians help to give us feedback that there is information
		from the community to help us do some changes here and there. Health
		facility worker
Enforcement	Mobilization	" so they helped us in mobilization because people trust them. People
	and	believe in them. So, they can easily obey to there, to whatever they tell them.
	sensitization	So, we had a good turn up partly because of, so they have a very positive
		Influence in certain behaviours at the community level. And then still at
		" at the community level others said before they advocate they give us
		feedback messages from the community so to help us do changes here and
		there. So, they equally, you know they have an influence on, they advocate
		like improving the rural transport network for easy accessibility to the health
		facilities". Health facility worker
		"It has like for example in some areas we have been able to put outreaches
		because of their effect. Yes. In this district, we have few health centres
		a health centre three. And many of them have some up and demanded
		services Demanded services like HIV services like immunization services
		where they are not. And you sit as a team, either at the district level or what
		level and you decide. So, some of the outreaches that have put have come
		because of their demand". Health facility worker
	Community	"When the LC1 come at your home when you do not have a latrine, they tell
	Rules and	women participant
		"It has greatly helped because you could find little children here in ponds
		[swimming contaminated water]; it was a war for parents to have latrines at
		home, in a home sweeping or clearing the nearby bush, to keep away
		mosquitoes was not easy. But right now, when you tell him that the
		chairman has said that tomorrow the health workers are coming here for the

Category	Codes	Illustrative quotes
		issue of pit latrines. That day a person will look for a worker to dig for them
		a latrine so that they don't find any faecal matter in anyone's compound. In
		so doing, the chairman has already prevented that situation because If flies
		remain in the latrine, they will not come and drop on a child's food which
		they are going to eat". FGD men participant

Appendix 6.3: Interviews' quotation on health systems services factors that affect appropriate care services.

codes	Illustrative quotes		
Stockout of	" you reach them [health workers] there and they register you, ask you for a book, once they		
amenities	ask for a book and examine the child to see what they are suffering from, they tell you what to		
including drugs	buy, you have to buy drugs, syringe, the canular and all the requirements just like the person		
	giving treatment sometimesmost of the time they need some money because Uganda is a		
	corrupt country so there is nothing free. If you don't have money, you can even lose your child, if		
	you don't have money thinking that I will go to a government health facility and get free drugs,		
	they are not there." FGD women participant		
Respect	"They photographed a woman giving birth and they used to show those that had come to take		
	medicine (antenatal) that are you seeing how this colleague of yours is dirty! You should also not		
	come here when you're dirty." FGD women participant		
Health facility	"There are also many needs at the health facilities like gloves, and drugs that the patients have to		
needs	buy before they are worked on, which makes them deliver from the community, in particular, the		
	TBA who sometimes don't ask such items." FGD women participant		
	"They told us to go that you will first bring money first, so it pushed us on the wall, we left and		
	went to the local Musawo who has no much experience". FGD men participant		
	"you buy things such as toilet paper and if you fail to buy them, my dear, they do not work on		
	you even if the child is dying." FGD women participant		
Facility rules	"but those things made me fed up I said that I will never go back to X [which was public health		
	facility]. For me, I no longer want to go to the health facilities." FGD women participant		
	"When the time for giving birth came, I pushed the baby and when they checked my handbag,		
	there were old baby clothes because you prepare after the child grows up, you keep them after		
	using them for another one. That your husband has never bought you new clothes ever since you		
	got pregnant? What kind of woman are you? Things like that, but I never listened to others since		
	I was in a lot of pain." FGD women participant		
	"Others tell us that you go with only new baby clothes, they don't want old ones. And if you go		
	with old ones, they abuse you, you dog, have you been sleeping with an animal! Things like that."		
	FGD women participant		
	"Yes, I went to Nakavule for consultations. That is where I wanted to obtain ANC services from,		
	but when I reached there the situation was not good. What made me not go back to Nakavule		
	was because the workers were proud. The way they look at a patient as though we were		
	useless." IDI woman participant		
	"What I saw, health workers could look at you as if you are useless. Some could abuse some		
	women that "these women who do not want to stop producing" That "they keep coming to our		
	hospital to disturb us all the time" IDI woman participant		
	"What I got from \Namukuve (TBA) is that the care for those educated health workers is different		
	from that of the TBAs we are talking about. A TBA will take care of a person and takes that		
	responsibility, but those educated ones you find when they are less concerned. You tell someone		
	that "osisinaile ebino nani eyakutuma" (you are opening your teeth, who sent you)? FGD		
	participants		
	"Some health providers abuse and are proud and arrogant on us so if you are once abused you		
	may not wish to go back to the facility". IDI woman participants		
	"Sometimes you take a child who is very sick and when you reach the health facility, they just		
	tell you to line-up without checking the child. For instance, I took a child who was convulsing and		
	had pneumonia, but when we reached the health facility, they just told us to line-up. The health		

codes	Illustrative quotes
	workers told us that she will not work on us until we join the queue and indeed, we had to wait
	"I have ever experienced a child who died while at the health facility because of health workers delays and negligence. I got this child from this village of ours who was aged 3 years. we reached the health facility and they just told us to queue and later took us to a small room but before entering, another patient was being worked on. We were then sent to another room where a health worker was working on a patient. We were told to wait, and this took too long. We were in the facility and the baby died in our hands without seeing anybody to work on us". FGD men participants (working as boda-boda riders)
	" We were then referred to the hospital but when we reached the health workers were around but very proud and never attended to us. It was Sunday. The one we got made us sit and wait for long and never appeared. The mother of the child said., my child seems to be dying in my hands and so she suggested that we take her to a private health facility. I carried the child and took her to the private where the child was immediately received, worked on and later improved. Otherwise, if we had remained at that government health facility, the child would have died". FGD boda-boda (men) [7162:7989]
	"I went to the council [first level health facility] when my child had contracted pneumonia, the other health worker barked at me instead of telling me that right now for us we will not manage that one, take him/her to Nakavule, she told me that but did you study? Do you have knowledge? Do you understand? Getaway and you just go to Nakavule now". FGD women participants
Negligence	"the mother had twins and all the children were delivered under the assistance of caretakers. We were 3 caretakers for that mother. The first one went and begged the health worker, she refused to come from the counter with a head like this (participant demonstrates a bent head). The second one went and begged her but she was on the counter like this< <demonstrates bent head>>.There was nothing she was doing, then I walked there myself and told her Musawo. its after seeing the head that I ran and begged the health worker. But by the time I went back the mother to be would not get up from where she was, the baby fell in my hands. I ran back and told her that Musawo, the woman has given birth, come and help because the baby has dropped, after a very long time, even after the second child had dropped, then the Musawo got up from where she was. So, such things put our lives at risk, if I have come to you as a health worker, and you are a truthfully a qualified health worker, and I come to you saying am badly off, you must take responsibility and do your work especially when you are just seated doing nothing. If I come calling you when you are working on another person, you can tell me that let me finish here very fast, then I come and see what's going on, but if you are just seated, just seated". FGD women participants</demonstrates
	"What I saw, health workers could look at you as if you are useless. Some could abuse some women that "these women who do not want to stop producing" That "they keep coming to our hospital to disturb us all the time". IDI woman participants
	"Sometimes you meet them, and they look at you as if you are a stranger. They can decide to shout at you". IDI woman participants
	"They didn't act very fast, because even the time I gave birth I was alone without the presence of a health worker". IDI woman participants

CHAPTER SEVEN DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

This thesis has applied life-course and systemic approaches to understand child health and survival in resource-poor settings. The studies conducted as part of the thesis examined questions relating to under-10 mortality, new-born mortality including stillbirths, child morbidity, and health care access. The focus was on Uganda as a case study. This thesis was motivated by four reasons: 1) the stagnation in new-born mortality in most of the sub-Saharan African countries, 2) the continued largest share of global child and new-born mortality by sub-Saharan African countries; 3) the lack of reliable under-10 mortality; and 4) the need for rethinking the available frameworks that have been used in the studies of child mortality and implementation of child health survival interventions in light of a life course and systemic approaches. Guided by the concepts of interdependence, social interactions and health service delivery systems' drawn from social and health systems and lifecourse perspectives, the thesis' specific objectives were to: 1) determine the under-10 mortality age-specific estimates; 2) assess the epidemiological shift in the under-10 mortality risk factors and causes of death; 3) assess the role of Low Birth Weight (LBW) in mediating the new-born mortality risk factors and the role of institutional delivery in new-born mortality; 4) identify key community and household predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea, and 5) examine how multiple factors concurrently affect access to appropriate health care services.

In light of the thesis's motivations and objectives, I applied multiple data sources and multiple analysis approaches to investigate multiple outcomes that can illustrate several aspects affecting healthcare access and children's survival. The four sub-studies underscore the importance of applying life-course and systemic approaches in addressing child health issues in low-resources settings by highlighting the critical and sensitive periods of survival and the vulnerable groups. The vulnerability is explicated by the continued effect of socioeconomic, maternal or demographic, and intrinsic factors that continue to affect the children's survival and health (morbidity) and various barriers at different levels that interact to inhibit women in labour and sick children from accessing appropriate health services.

First, I use a decade of cohort data collected between 2005 and 2015 on 22385 births and 1815 deaths collected by Iganga-Mayuge HDSS in Chapter 3, to examine the mortality patterns, mechanisms, and risk factors among children aged 0-9. Building on the life-course *principle of life span development and Timing of the outcome and life-source and systems framework for child health and survival (Figure 1.4),* Chapter 3 articulates how the socioeconomic, maternal, and intrinsic factors at birth continue to affect the survival of children thereby indicating the critical period of survival over the life cycle. Similarly, Chapter 3 describes the age-specific causes of death and how the causes of death vary across the age groups. Furthermore, in addition to the description of maternal morbidity, Chapter 3 describes the timing of healthcare access for sick children and during delivery to provide an insight into survival mechanisms.

Second, I used HDSS data collected between 2005 and 2015 on 10,758 birth in Chapter 4 to assess how LBW mediates factors associated with new-born mortality and the role of institutional delivery in moderating the relationship between low birth weight and new-born survival. Building on the

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

life-course principle of life span development and Timing of the outcome as well as life-source and systems framework for child health and survival (Figure 1.4), Chapter 4 describes the timing of newborn death, thereby providing an insight into the critical period of new-born survival. Additionally, Chapter 4 highlights how some of the risk factors continued to affect the survival of new-borns in the later stage.

Third, after identifying pneumonia and diarrhoea as the major causes of mortality in Chapter 3, I moved on to investigate the community and household predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea and how these differed across the place of residence in Chapter 5. Building on the life-course principle of Time and Place as well as the life-course and systems framework for child health and survival (Figure 1.4), I show how the predictors of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea differ between places of residence.

Finally, after assessing at what point sick children and women in labour access health care services, I moved into examining how multiple factors interacted to affect access to obstetric and child health care services in Chapter 6. Building on the life-course *principle of agency and linked lives as well as life-source and systems framework for child health and survival (Figure 1.4)*, Chapter 6 examines how the social network ties, the structure of the community and the organization of the health services shape access to the appropriate services. The chapter illustrates how access to appropriate services is shaped by the choices and actions taken within the opportunities and constraints of social circumstances. Additionally, the Chapter explains the influence of different networks on healthcare access choices and actions.

This concluding chapter summarises the findings and synthesises these in line with available evidence and the global agenda. Before discussing the policy implication in the context of Uganda and beyond, I summarise the strengths, limitations, methodology and conceptual contribution of the thesis. Finally, I indicate the areas for future research.

7.1. Overview of the findings

The first paper presented in Chapter 3 of this thesis explains age-specific mortality estimates, causes of death, and mortality risk factors among children aged 0-9 years old. With the notion of illustrating the mortality mechanisms, Chapter 3 also presents the timing of obstetric health access for women in labour and health care access for sick children. Additionally, the chapter presents data on morbidity in pregnancy among women who had experienced stillbirth and new-born mortality. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first study that comprehensively assessed children's survival beyond 5 years of age in Uganda and sub-Saharan Africa. Based on the new datasets used here, I found that the probability of a new-born child dying before reaching the age of 10 was 99 per 1000, and the probability of a child aged 5 years dying before 10 years was 46 per 1000 live births and 45 per 1000 children. These estimates are consistent with the global reports on sub-Saharan Africa estimates (Masquelier et al. 2018; UN IGME 2018, 2019). The external consistency indicates how health demographic and surveillance data may contribute to monitoring health events, particularly in countries with weak or no civil and vital registration systems. Various

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

studies have indicated how HDSS data could be used to monitor health events in countries with no civil and vital registration systems (Bocquier et al., 2017; de Savigny et al., 2017; Sankoh & Byass, 2012; Ye et al., 2012).

The association of adolescent motherhood, lower wealth status, lower levels of education, rural residence, low birth weight and multiple birth status with child mortality and morbidity was studied in Chapter 3, Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, where their association shifted with age bands. However, the association was much higher among children aged 0-3 years. In light of a life course perspective, such evidence indicates how the age of 0-3 remains a critical period for reducing child mortality. Although there has been a call for nutritional interventions that target child development within 1000 days of life - from conception to 2 years old and beyond (Kattula et al., 2014; Ritte et al., 2016), these findings reveal a need for an extension of 1500 days – from conception to 3 years. Especially, the vulnerable groups identified in both studies that should be targeted with the 1500 interventions are adolescents and those living in poorer socio-economic families or communities such as rural and perhaps slums. Indeed, enormous evidence shows how adolescent women and those with poor socioeconomic positions are more likely to experience adverse maternal, newborn, and post-natal health outcomes (Kattula et al., 2014). Adolescents and women from poor socio-economic status usually experience various challenges that typically concurrently occur to affect their access to better maternal and child health care services. Furthermore, this thesis has revealed that regardless of demographic and socio-economic status, low birth weight babies and those born as multiple should be targeted with special health care until at least 3 years of age (WHO, 2003, 2006, 2015c). Certainly, in line with a life course perspective, a pregnancy, labour, and post-natal package for improving health and survival, and the critical point at which these services should be provided, are well known (Kattula et al., 2014).

Furthermore, using the HDSS data in Chapter 3, I was able to study the causes of death and how they differ by age group. I found that the causes of death also shift by age. Low birth weight and prematurity, antepartum, and intrapartum complications accounted for 94% of all causes of death among new-borns. Malaria, malnutrition, acute respiratory and diarrhoea infections accounted for 88% of all causes of death among children aged 0-5 years. Injuries and gastrointestinal diseases emerged among the top four causes of death in the 5-9 age group, with malaria and malnutrition remaining. In line with the life-course perspective, the epidemiological shift of diseases and risk factors between age bands indicates the need for age-specific prevention and protection interventions. Noteworthy is that the reporting on the causes of deaths in Uganda is usually based on the health facility reports, which are limited to those who died at the health facility (Amouzou et al., 2013; Uganda Ministry of Health. Moreover, health facility reporting completion issues affect the reliability of the results (Amouzou et al., 2013; Kiberu et al., 2014; Maïga et al., 2019). Further, the health facility reporting does not allow disaggregation of data according to several age groups since the data is heaped in the form of under-5 and 5+ years old (Diaz et al., 2021). While the results on the causes of death in this thesis come from one region, the fact that the child mortality estimates match the estimates reported in other external reports, the causes of death estimates may represent the national estimates. Moreover, these estimates provide an insight into the distribution of mortality causes across the age groups, thus guiding the design and implementation Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion of age-specific interventions. While I did not study how the morbidity in pregnancy is associated with child mortality because of data limitations, Chapter 3 revealed that 80% of women who experienced new-born mortality had experienced morbidity in pregnancy.

The findings presented in Chapter 4 of this thesis complement Chapter 3 by providing perinatal and new-born mortality trends. As of 2016, the perinatal mortality was estimated at 32 per 1000 birth, and the estimates had not significantly reduced. Similarly, new-born mortality reduced by 14% from 22 per 1000 in 2011 to 19 per 1000 live births in 2015. Importantly, perinatal mortality and newborn mortality within the first day of life remained unchanged – the first day of life perinatal mortality is estimated at 26 per 1000 births. These findings showcase how Uganda has stagnated in reducing new-born mortality and thus the need for more efforts if the country is to meet the global targets of reducing neonatal mortality to 12 per 1000 and less. Intrapartum maternal diseases such as hypertension, haemorrhage and other infections accounted for 85% of stillbirths, while 10% was due to obstructed labour. Similarly, 33% of the new-born causes were attributed to birth asphyxia and obstructed labour, 26% to unclassified perinatal causes, and 27% to preterm and low birth-related conditions. These causes of perinatal and new-born mortality have been consistently highlighted in various studies, including MDG monitoring reports, as the major contributors of new-born mortality in low- and middle-income countries (Amouzou et al., 2014; Lawn et al., 2009, 2011; Lawn et al., 2005; Mathers, 2014; Mbonye et al., 2012; Savage et al., 2008). In line with the life-course framework, these results highlight the critical period the country needs to address in reducing new-born mortality to accelerate progress.

Furthermore, Chapter 4 findings highlight how health facilities could not significantly reverse the association between low birth weight and new-born mortality, which could perhaps explain the inadequacies in interventions for most-at-risk new-borns in health facilities. Studies in the areas with the same setting have indicated the insignificant contribution of institutional delivery in reducing new-born mortality (Konje et al., 2020). In light of a systemic approach, access to appropriate health facility interventions is complex because of multiple barriers that occur (concurrently) at both community and health facilities. This premise is supported by the qualitative work in Chapter 6 that examined how multiple factors concurrently affected access to obstetric and child health care services. Multiple factors that span from financial inabilities, and poor transport systems to unresponsive health facility systems hindered access to obstetric and child healthcare services. Because of financial inabilities and expected health facility system challenges, women usually access services from unqualified health workers, who later refer them to the health facilities whenever they anticipate poor health outcomes. The financial inabilities and poor transport systems explain the delays and failures in accessing appropriate health care services reported in Chapter 3. Chapter 6 also indicates that women usually depend on social-network agents for advice on therapeutic care and financial support, which affect their agency in accessing healthcare. As Chapter 6 confirms, various studies in a similar context (Kerr et al., 2008; Gupta et al., 2015; Susin et al., 2005) have indicated how men and mothers-in-law as resources holders influence when and how to access obstetric services.

Consistent with other studies, community health workers and community drug shops were found as the first primary health services providers (Awor et al., 2015; Kalyango et al., 2013; Kitutu,

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion Mayora, et al., 2017; Liow et al., 2016; Mukanga et al., 2012; Rutebemberwa et al., 2012). The critical finding that this study unveiled was that self-administered medication was common. Mothers and fathers knew which antibiotics to buy or give, including traditional drugs in case a child presents ill symptoms. Moreover, the parents would buy drugs – usually half dose – from the drug shops. Various studies have indicated an alarmingly high proportion of people accessing drugs over the counter without clinical prescription (Anyama & Adome, 2003; Kagashe et al., 2011; Mbonye et al., 2016) and sometimes drug shops or pharmacies providing incomplete doses (Kagashe et al., 2011). The provision of inappropriate antibiotics, including incomplete doses, has been indicated as the key driver for antibiotic resistance (Shallcross & Davies, 2014).

Chapter 6 showcased how social marketing through working with community health workers and health facilities was key in addressing access barriers. First, an organization known as "Living Goods" that was providing treatment for children through social marketing – was working with community health workers to provide treatment for children at a subsidised price. Additionally, Marie Stopes Uganda was providing subsidised maternal and new-born healthcare services through a voucher scheme. The importance of social marketing, including conditional cash transfers in improving the population's health, has been indicated in many studies done in developing countries (Elmusharaf et al., 2015; Lagarde et al., 2009; Rasella et al., 2013; Rivera et al., 2004). However, what is not clear is if these strategies reach the "poorest of the poor" given the conditions applied in accessing the services. In Chapter 6, community transporters (boda-bodas) and ambulances were identified as the available transportation means that help the community. Some politicians had bought ambulances to transport patients from the community to the health facilities and between facilities in some areas. While these transportation services were very important to the community, the charges were indicated to be high because of poor roads and long distances to the high-level health facilities. For the families to use the politicians' ambulances, they are supposed to contribute money for buying fuel before being transported, which may affect those from low-income families.

7.2. Conceptual and methodological contribution

Methodologically, the thesis applied multiple analysis techniques and multiple data sources to investigate multiple outcomes for a deeper and thorough understanding of child health and mortality in resource-poor settings of sub-Saharan countries such as Uganda. The six methodological contributions are based on the analysis techniques applied in the sub-studies of this thesis. Particularly, the analysis approaches contribute to the health systems' methodological approaches that seek to understand vulnerability in health care access, mortality, and morbidity.

First, Chapter 3 shows the application of lifetables to estimate age-specific child mortality using a decade of data on a cohort of children born between 2005 and 2015. The Royston-Parmar model was also applied to the same data to assess how different mortality risk factors change with children's age. To my knowledge, this is the first analysis approach that has been applied to measure the under 10 and 5-9 mortality rates in sub-Saharan Africa. This analysis approach can be replicated to study child mortality in the different HDSS and DHS. Additionally, disaggregating the study of new-born into two outcomes (perinatal and late neonatal) has helped us understand how different factors affect these groups differently, which helps in the design of age-specific interventions.

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion Second, in Chapter 4, while the aim was not to study causation, the approach provides an insight into how birth weight moderates the association of numerous factors with new-born mortality. Moreover, I have provided a simple approach to generating an indirect effect that can be replicated in other mediation studies. While this approach is rarely applied in health science research, it may unmask the health outcome's underlying risk factors or root causes. This approach contributes to the novel approaches of analysing non-experimental data for causal mechanisms. Further, examining how institutional delivery moderates other health outcomes such as low birth weight is important in understanding its role in reversing the risk of mortality among most-at-risk groups – this was also assessed in Chapter 4. Overall, this study contributes to understanding mediation and moderation analysis in health and social science research.

Third, I applied multiple imputations to address the missing data gaps for some variables in Chapters 3 and 4, particularly birth weight. In the dataset, birth weight was missing among 64% of registered birth records, and therefore, the analysis of such data with a lot of missing gaps may lead to an elusive conclusion. The application of the multiple imputation method has been indicated as an important approach for minimising the missingness bias (Graham et al., 2007), which does not depend on the magnitude of missingness (Lee & Huber, 2011; Madley-Dowd et al., 2019). Nonetheless, the multiple imputations approach is not extensively used in many health studies, perhaps because of limited skills in the application. The method's subsection of multiple imputations may guide the replication of the approach.

Fourth, machine learning techniques have been shown to be effective in classification, regression, clustering, or dimensionality reduction tasks of large sets of especially high-dimensional input data (Breiman, 2001; Schmidt et al., 2019). However, the application has been limited largely to clinical research (Correa et al., 2018; Delen et al., 2010; S. Gupta et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2018; Naydenova et al., 2016; Rose, 2013; Silterra et al., 2017) and only a handful studies have applied ML on cross-sectional population health data (Daoud et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2015). Yet, Machine Learning (ML) models such as lasso, random forest and deep learning have been indicated to perform better than the traditional linear and non-linear models on high dimensional datasets or correlated variables and datasets with too many variables than observations (Breiman, 2001; Luo et al., 2016). Indeed, using the area under the ROC curve (AUC) for model selection in Chapter 5, ML models performed better than the logistic regression model. The ML modelling idea lets the algorithm determine how the outcome and independent variables are linked (Breiman, 2001; Song et al., 2004). ML modelling techniques have not been extensively applied to the available cross-sectional data in LMICs. In Chapter 5, I applied machine learning (artificial intelligence algorithm) techniques to understand the most vulnerable groups at high risk of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea.

Fifth, while the frameworks by Andersen and Newman, 1973; Mosley and Chen, 1984; and Thaddeus and Maine, 1994 have been crucial in understanding the barriers to and determinants of health care access (Andersen and Newman, 1973; Mosley and Chen, 1984; Thaddeus and Maine, 1994), they suggest a linear pathway of care-seeking that is out of step with the multiple overlapping factors. These frameworks do not comprehensively highlight how access to appropriate health care is concurrently affected by the multiple interactions within and across the social structural context, individual behaviours and health facility systems. Beyond the available

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

linear health access frameworks, I use qualitative data to comprehensively understand obstetric and child health care access mechanisms. These findings resulted in a multisectoral implementation conceptual framework that recognises the simultaneous effect of multiple factors.

Last, throughout all sub-studies, the thesis has showcased the need for a life course and multisectoral approach to child health interventions by highlighting the critical and sensitive periods of survival and the vulnerable groups. Although the life course and multisectoral approaches have been emphasised in international and local policies (Aagaard-Hansen et al., 2019; Bundy et al., 2018; Chan et al., 2016; Uganda Ministry of Health, 2016; Kuruvilla et al., 2018; Richter et al., 2017; United Nations, 2016; WHO, 2015a; WHO, 2015b), the emphasis usually falls short of empirical evidence. Thus, conceptually, this thesis contributes to providing a life-course and multisectoral framework that can be used to design and implement child health programs. The broad spectrum of adverse circumstances and risk factors that affect child health and survival and the epidemiological shifts in the mortality causes, mortality risk factors, and the magnitude of death emphasises the need for a life course approach in designing and implementing the intervention.

7.3. Strengths and limitations

7.3.1. Strengths

The major strengths of this thesis are that in the light of life-course and systemic perspective, it uses multiple data sources in the analysis and interpretation of data to describe various vulnerability categories across childhood's life span. More importantly, the thesis evidence contributes to the current call for redesigning child health programs (Requejo & Strong, 2021) in resource-poor settings. Each sub-study provides new insight into the mechanisms and determinants of child mortality in resource-poor settings. Together, the use of different data sources and analysis approaches help us build a stronger life-course framework on child health and survival.

First, HDSS data that was used in Chapters 3 and 4 of the thesis is that the HDSS have the capacity to link the health events data to the other socio-economic, maternal demographic, structural and biological factors (Cunningham et al., 2019; Utazi et al., 2018; Gerritsen et al., 2013; Helleringer et al., 2018; Jia, Sankoh, and Tatem 2015; Mbondji et al. 2014; Sankoh & Byass, 2012), which helped (Chapter 3) to assess how these factors pattern the health outcomes over the life course. The HDSS data comprehensively describe the population. Since the data is collected over time on the same individuals, it was possible to understand how the socioeconomic and individual intrinsic factors at birth continued to affect children's survival. The results show how supporting the HDSS may not only help in monitoring the health events but also the economic and population transition. There are at least four HDSS in different regions in Uganda and others collecting disease-specific longitudinal data like HIV. Therefore, supporting such sites to harmonise the data collection system could represent the national longitudinal data system. Second, the strength of findings based on the analysis of DHS data presented in Chapter 4 is that although the cross-sectional nature of the DHS cannot be used to infer a causal relationship between risks and outcome, contrary to other approaches, the algorithmic modelling approach employed in this study provides important risk factors from a set of variables that may suggest the direction of predicted pneumonia and
Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion diarrhoea. Finally, the qualitative findings in this thesis complement the quantitative findings by providing a deeper insight into contextual issues that affect access to appropriate obstetric and child health services.

7.3.2. Limitations

Several limitations relate to the generalization, data collection approaches and data sources. *Generalization:* Chapters 3, 4 and 6 findings are based on event history (Chapters 2 and 3) and qualitative data (Chapter 6) that are generalisable to the two-district covered by HDSS and perhaps central-eastern Uganda. The findings based on the HDSS may not be extrapolated beyond the areas under surveillance; however, due to certain similarities of social and health systems that affect population health and well-being, mostly in poor-resource settings, the HDSS qualitative findings could be applicable elsewhere. Furthermore, both HDSS and qualitative results contribute to designing health systems interventions that address both mortality causes and risk factors. The finding could also be helpful in other countries within sub-Saharan Africa since most communities share the same characteristics as this study's setting.

Missingness and incomplete birth and death registration in Chapters 3 and 4: While the registration and follow-up of pregnant women until the end of pregnancy is expected to improve the estimation of birth outcomes, the inconsistency in registered births over the years and the inconsistencies between deaths reported in the verbal autopsy and birth registration datasets shows the limitation of HDSS data in registration of all births, which affects the reliability of HDSS in the estimation of child mortality. Studies done in the same setting have shown the limitation of HDSS in the documentation of stillbirths and new-born mortality (Akuze et al., 2020; Kadobera et al., 2017; Nareeba et al., 2021), which could be the result of the data collection approach (Akuze et al., 2020; Nareeba et al., 2021). For instance, in their study, Akuze et al., 2020 indicate how the reporting of SBR was 127% higher and the NMR 16% lower in Iganga-Mayuge HDSS when using full pregnancy history (FPH) than when a full birth history (FBH) was used (Akuze et al., 2020). However, it is surprising that the NMR reported in FPH tool was lower than the reported estimates under FBH tool (Akuze et al., 2020), which affirms that neither source is a "gold standard" as both tools may miss some events (Nareeba et al., 2021). Barriers and enablers to reporting pregnancy and adverse pregnancy outcomes that have been reported in the study done in the same setting include interview tools and processes, socio-cultural and spiritual beliefs, woman-specific factors, the value placed on a baby's life and the terminology and psycho-social (Kwesiga et al., 2021).

Additionally, there was a considerate proportion of missingness for some variables, particularly birth weight. For instance, consistent with other studies (Biks et al., 2021; Blanc & Wardlaw, 2005; Blencowe et al., 2019; Channon et al., 2011; Hutcheon & Platt, 2008), birth weight information was missing for most births in all years of data collection, but this reduced with the increase in the year of data collection. Furthermore, consistent with studies done in the same setting (Biks et al., 2021; Blencowe et al., 2021), the likelihood of not having a birth weight record was associated with the timing of new-born death, place of delivery and maternal education. To minimise the bias that could result from missingness, I performed multiple imputation, which has been recommended (Madley-

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

Dowd et al., 2019; Sullivan et al., 2018; van Ginkel et al., 2020) regardless of the proportion of missingness for missingness at random (Madley-Dowd et al., 2019).

Furthermore, consistent with other studies (Blencowe et al., 2021; Channon et al., 2011), the heaping of birth weight in the HDSS was observed in multiples of 1000g with high frequencies observed for 2000g (14%), 3000g (63%), 4000g(21%) and 5000g (3%). Indeed, the heaping of birth weight data has an impact on the classification of children's birth weight categories (Blencowe et al., 2021; Channon et al., 2011). The health facilities should be strengthened with weighing machines and health workers trained on the need for taking birth weight measurements accurately. Furthermore, the community health workers can be supported to take birth weight measurements for new-borns whose birth weight was not recorded.

Recall bias: The HDSS verbal autopsy data used in Chapter 3 are not based on clinical or laboratory evidence and are thus subject to a high degree of misclassification errors that have a profound effect on the cause of mortality specific estimates (Amek et al., 2018; Anker, 1997; Chandramohan et al., 2001; Herrera et al., 2017). The causes of death are based on the child's mother's narrative of the signs and symptoms recognised before death and the final codes assigned by the physicians. For instance, the death attributable to malaria could be misclassified since malaria is usually based on fever as a major symptom that is also a diagnostic symptom for other morbidities such as diarrhoea and respiratory infections. While the HDSS uses the two physicians to review all the same verbal autopsy data independently to determine the causes and chain of events that lead to death, the classification of the diseases based on the individual narratives may have led to underestimation or overestimation of the true mortality cause-specific fraction.

Furthermore, the limitation of DHS used in Chapter 5 relates to the nature of cross-sectional studies on retrospectively collecting information on human behaviours and events. For instance, the occurrences of diarrhoea and measures of suspected pneumonia and birth weight in the DHS rely on women's ability to recall. However, the DHS consideration of children born in the last five years preceding the survey may minimise such bias. Further, the DHS consideration of collecting data on occurrences of suspected pneumonia and diarrhoea episodes and symptoms that occurred in the two weeks preceding the day of the interview may also minimise the reporting bias of the morbidities' symptoms and occurrences. Additionally, the reporting of diarrhoea and suspected pneumonia occurrences are subject to the symptoms and thus may not provide accurate information as it would have been if clinical notes were available (Ayede et al., 2018; H. Campbell et al., 2013). However, for suspected pneumonia, the questions on if the child had short, rapid breathing, which was chest-related or difficult breathing, are asked as a measure of the occurrence of suspected pneumonia, which may increase the accuracy in the estimation of suspected pneumonia prevalence. Further, the analysis of data in this study only considered children that were staying with the parents or caretakers at the time of the interview, which could have reduced the reporting bias (under-reporting) as caretakers or parents may not know the health status of the children they do not live with.

Limited variables: The analysis of HDSS data in Chapters 3 and 4 of the thesis was limited to the available data variables. For instance, the birth registration data did not have information on the

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion gestation period at birth, which could have been used to generate the preterm births, full-term births, and macerated stillbirths' cutoffs. Some other inexpensive ways yet effective in estimations of pregnancy gestation, such as a pregnancy calendar, could be utilized. The estimation of the gestation period based on the last menstruation period has been indicated to give better estimates (Gernand et al., 2016; Hoffman et al., 2008; Neufeld et al., 2006; Rosenberg et al., 2009). Therefore, the HDSS can train their community data collectors on this method of attaining pregnancy gestation period. Additionally, community-level pregnancy testing for suspected pregnancies can also be used to fill the gap (Comfort et al., 2016, 2019).

7.4. Implications for child health policies in Uganda and other countries with similar context

The fact that the child mortality rates in Uganda are commensurate with the sub-Saharan African estimates, the findings and recommendations that this thesis has identified could potentially be

applied in other countries within the region. Furthermore, sub-Saharan African countries share similar health and social systems challenges that affect children's health and survival. Beyond the science-driven interventions, the thesis has indicated the need for intensive synergetic efforts that address social, structural, and health systems challenges. Thus, the thesis results inform us that to accelerate progress in achieving global commitment the to improving health and well-being, there is a need to address child health problems beyond the health

Why life-course and systemic approach?

- It corresponds to the SDG 3 calls for holistic, peoplecentred, and multisectoral approaches to human health and development.
- The need for rethinking new approaches that improve health and wellbieng for all children

What does the thesis results mean?

- The thesis findings underscore the importantance of addressing social, structural, and health systems challenges throughout the all stages of child development.
- The thesis recommendations emphasise six faceted domains: 1) task shifting, 2) multisectoral approach, 3) behavioural change innovations, 4) referral systems, 5) community health systems, and 6) bringing and enforcing relevant policies from different sectors.

sector. Notably, the thesis highlights how optimising the life course framework's potential impact may lead to high coverage, equity and quality of child health care services. The evidence on how multiple factors affect survival and access to appropriate health care services in this study emphasises the need for a paradigm shift in clinical practices, community social and behavioural programs, and public policies. In particular, my recommendations emphasise six faceted domains: 1) task shifting, 2) multisectoral approach, 3) behavioural change innovations, 4) referral systems, 5) community health systems, and 6) bringing and enforcing relevant policies from different sectors. These have been shown to work in the fight against covid-19 in most countries, including developed countries, and were shown to have facilitated progress in countries that have dramatically reduced child and maternal mortality (WHO & UNICEF, 2010).

Aligning the recommendation with the life course approach and the need for age/stage-specific interventions, I discuss these shifts for each stage of development along the life course (pre-

conception, pregnancy, day 0, post-natal and beyond) in relation to sub-studies findings in the subsequent subsections. In light of life course and systemic perspectives, Figure 7.1 is a holistic framework that summarises vulnerability and some of the suggested interventions at each stage of development. For example, the framework shows the list of interventions that are needed during preconception to address unplanned and unwanted pregnancies. Similarly, the frameworks provide a list of pregnancy and birth interventions that would address adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes. Beyond labour and birth interventions, the framework also includes the list of interventions needed for children to continue surviving and thriving. Importantly, the framework indicates the need for integration, task shifting, multisectoral, referral system, and social or behavioural change as critical health systems interventions throughout the stages of child development.

7.4.1. Preconception

Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 of the thesis identified essential segments of the children at risk of adverse birth outcomes. Maternal age of 10-19 and 30+ years and mothers' previous new-born death experience were new-born mortality risk factors. These factors were also indicated to affect low-

What is known?

- High impact preconception interventions include family planning, better nutrition and immunization services targeting women and girls and screening for risk factors before pregnancy.
- The interventions are not universally implemented in low resource settings.
- In Uganda, there are consistent high unmet need for family planning and high teenage pregnancies.

What do the thesis findings add?

- The association of LBW with adolescent age and the association of newborn mortality with advanced age presented in Chapter 4 underscores the need for preconception interventions that prevent pregnancies among such high risky groups
- The relationship between the mothers' experience of childbirth with birth outcome and child survival reported in Chapter 3 and 4 highlights the need for intensifying preconception screening for maternal risk factors.

birth weight. The high likelihood of newborn mortality among women in extreme age groups (adolescents and advanced aged women) and those with previous child mortality experience preventive interventions suggests targeting these risky groups. High impact pre-conception interventions such as family planning services, better nutrition and immunization primarily targeting adolescents, and proper screening for risk factors before pregnancy (Dean et al., 2014b, 2014a; Gee et al., 2017; Hadar et al., 2015; Hemsing et al., 2017; Lassi, Imam, et al., 2014; Mason et al., 2014) could help in the identification and modification of these risk factors. Usually, pregnancies among advanced aged and adolescent women are unwanted.

Thus, the thesis recommends birth

control interventions that target adolescents, multiparous women in the advanced age, and newly delivered women, particularly those that target women who have experienced new-born loss.



Figure 7.1: Life course and systemic interventions for improving child health



Effective use of family planning has been indicated as the most effective measure of preventing unwanted pregnancies, including adolescent pregnancies (Blumenthal & Voedisch, 2011; Dean et al., 2013; Kopp, 2016; Norton et al, 2017; Tsui et al. 2010). Reaching women with pre-conception family planning interventions contributes to the increased knowledge and awareness of avoiding unplanned pregnancies (Dean et al., 2014a, 2014b; Lassi, Imam, et al., 2014; Mason et al. 2014). Furthermore, pre-conception interventions on family planning encourage women, including couples, to have a reproductive plan, which provides freedom for women to decide how and when to have children (Dean et al., 2014a, 2014b; Lassi, Imam, et al., 2014; Mason et al., 2014). Such indicates that pre-conception family planning interventions may bring multiple effects, including reduced low birth weight, improved child survival and reduced fertility. Available studies have indicated that reproductive health planning may avert 71% of unwanted pregnancies (Dean et al., 2014b). In addition, pre-conception interventions that target adolescents have been indicated to reduce adolescent pregnancy by 15% and repeat adolescent pregnancy by 37% (Dean et al., 2014b).

Uganda's inadequate family planning services are evidenced by the consistent high unmet need for family planning and the current unwanted births among women and men (Figure 7.2). Noteworthy is the enormous evidence on factors that impede access to family planning services that need to be addressed. These factors are identical to obstetric and childcare access barriers identified in Chapter 6. Consistent with other studies (Dean et al., 2013; Nelson et al., 2019; Norton et al, 2017; Tsui et al., 2010), the factors are inadequate staff to provide family planning services, inadequate supplies, family influence, cultural and societal norms, and financial constraints.

Addressing these challenges needs a strong collaboration with other sectors (Subedar et al., 2018). First, there is a need to target the community social agents, such as religious leaders and cultural leaders, with the information on the need for reframing the existing norms on family planning (Dean et al., 2013). Second, to increase access to family planning services at the community level, there is a need to put in place or strengthen the existing community health service points in providing family planning services (Blumenthal & Voedisch, 2011). On the one hand, there is a need to collaborate with community health workers, whom this study indicated as critical primary healthcare givers to provide emergency contraceptives in the communities (Blumenthal & Voedisch, 2011), particularly targeting the hard-to-reach areas and poorer communities, including adolescents and referral for those in need of long-acting methods. Various studies have indicated how emergency family planning services through community health workers have been effective (Chin-Quee et al., 2016; Comfort et al., 2016; Prata et al., 2013). On the other hand, like HIV and immunisation services, the government can provide family planning services through private-public partnerships at affordable prices, particularly targeting the small-scale health service providers, including maternity homes and drug shops or clinics that usually serve the poor communities: rural and urban slums.



Figure 7.2: Unmet need for and access to modern family planning

Source: Demographic Health Surveys STAT Compiler

Third, specifically for adolescents, there should be programs and policies that empower them to reduce early and repeated pregnancies. The adolescents should be empowered through education by identifying the most at-risk adolescents and providing them with youth empowerment services (Dean et al., 2013). In addition, laws and dissemination of information that build the girls' self-esteem in denying and reporting coerced sex and demanding safe sex through various channels are crucial. The stagnation in the high proportion of motherhood among adolescents in Uganda highlights a need for such intervention (Figure 7.3).

Lastly, integrating family planning interventions within the routine maternal and child health services and community health programs has been shown to effectively address short birth spacing (Cooper et al., 2017; Nelson et al., 2019; Pradesh et al., 2016). The risk assessment interventions should be integrated with counselling that should be used to prepare women for pregnancy. These assessments may include screening for non-communicable diseases, sexually transmitted infections, and genetics (Dean et al., 2013). While preconception risk

assessment is a new concept in Uganda, including in other sub-Saharan African countries, there is a need to have a tailored package on the importance of preconceptions disseminated through various communication channels.



Figure 7.3: Teenagers who have begun childbearing.

Source: Demographic Health Surveys STAT Compiler

7.4.2. Pregnancy

The high prevalence of morbidity in pregnancy, low birth weight, and the highest new-born mortality causes and stillbirths attributed to antepartum causes presented in Chapter 3 of the thesis suggest the need for adequate and appropriate pregnancy interventions. Therefore, strengthening antenatal care services for proper screening of the risk factors and providing

preventive services is crucial. While attending antenatal care visits creates the avenue for early identification of pregnancy danger signs and access to preventive intervention (Adam et al., 2005; Bhutta et al., 2009; Ghosh-Jerath et al., 2015; Haws et al., 2009; Lawn et al., 2009; Lincetto et al., 2013; Piso et al., 2014); usually, health facilities lack enough capacity to provide antenatal care services appropriately and adequately (Arsenault et al., 2018; Benova et al., 2018; Kanyangarara et al., 2017; Owili et al., 2019). Moreover, the services in the low-

What is known?

- Foetal growth restriction is usually a consequence of maternal nutrition and morbidity in pregnancy.
- Early screening of pregnancy complications leads to access to appropriate lifesaving services.
- Current effective technologies for screening pregnancies are not universal.

What do the thesis findings add?

- The high prevalence of morbidity in pregnancy reported in Chapter 3 and low birth weight presented in Chapter 3 and 4 highlights the need for pregnancy preventive and screening interventions.
- The new-born mortality causes and stillbirths attributable to antepartum causes reported in Chapter 3 demonstrates the need for pregnancy interventions that identify, monitor, and manage high risky pregnant women.

resource setting do not match the technological advancement. For instance, current effective technologies for screening pregnancies, such as ultrasound scanning, are not universal – they

are usually in hospitals and urban specialized health facilities. Yet, such could be used to identify high-risk women, for instance, multiple births, fetal malposition and malpresentation. WHO recommends that every woman should have access to an ultrasound before 24 weeks gestation for gestational age estimation and detection of multiple pregnancies and fetal anomalies (WHO, 2016). Therefore, the health workers, particularly those in the rural communities, could be supported to provide advanced screening, for instance, ultrasound screening for examining maternal complications. Fortunately, there are portable and cost-effective ultrasound equipment in the market that have been tested to work well in low-resource settings.

Furthermore, we know that foetal growth restriction (small for gestation age and prematurity) is usually a consequence of maternal nutrition and morbidity in pregnancy. Therefore, interventions such as enhancing the community health workers' work to identify pregnant women and assess malnutrition at the community level may contribute to pregnancy interventions. Beyond community sensitization and mobilization, the community health workers could be used to identify the newly pregnant women, particularly those that the study identified to be at high risk of child mortality, and if they have attended antenatal care and need to be referred. Usually, women are uncertain about their pregnancy in the first trimester – contributing to the delays in accessing ANC services (Morroni & Moodley, 2006; Pell et al., 2013). Thus, early pregnancy tests have been indicated to increase early access to ANC services (Morroni & Moodley, 2006). However, these services are often not available in facilities close to the community. In their study, Comfort et al. 2019 indicate how community health workers could offer pregnancy tests in the community, which increased access to early ANC services (Comfort et al., 2019). Additionally, the community health workers may be involved in supporting women and their families in their birth preparedness and identifying women who may need extra support to ensure that required services have been addressed. The work of community health workers in supporting pregnant women has been widely documented in Uganda and other countries with similar contexts (Ekirapa-Kiracho et al., 2017; Nalwadda et al., 2013; Namazzi et al., 2017; Rutebemberwa et al., 2012; Waiswa et al., 2015).

Lastly, the findings on the high prevalence of morbidities in pregnancies and child mortality presented in Chapter 3 suggest interventions that target women, families, and the community with information on pregnancy and child danger signs that affect pregnancy outcomes and child survival as well as child well-being. The transmission of information can be through media such as radio, WhatsApp, telephone messages, and community health workers. Building on covid experience (Bashshur et al., 2020; Betancourt et al., 2020; Galle et al., 2021; Monaghesh & Hajizadeh, 2020; North, 2020; Reynolds, 2020; Smith et al., 2020), there is a need to leverage digital technologies for telemedicine or telediagnosis or telemonitoring and sensitizing the community on pregnancy danger signs. In fact, available research indicates how telehealth has been effective in reducing hypertension and obesity in pregnancy and

monitoring high-risk pregnancies (DeNicola et al., 2020; Ohannessian et al., 2020; Shannon et al., 2019; Van Den Heuvel et al., 2020; Xie et al., 2020).

7.4.3. Birth and postnatal

The largest share of perinatal and new-born mortality attributed to deaths within the first day of delivery that was presented in Chapters 3 and 4 highlights challenges of quality obstetric

and new-born healthcare access. Stillbirth and new-born death due to preterm/low intrapartum, birth weight-related conditions and obstructed labour, including other perinatal conditions, unspecified emphasise challenges the of accessing quality care (Wall et al., 2010). Additionally, the problem of accessing appropriate health care services is further underscored in Chapter 4, which indicates the insignificant effect of health facility delivery on the association between low birth weight and perinatal mortality. Certainly, the delays or failures in accessing obstetric and child health care services highlight the community challenges. These challenges as comprehensively studied in Chapter 6 include financial costs associated with health facilities and transport, and an unresponsive health facility system. These results suggest concurrent interventions that empower women and health facilities to access and provide appropriate health care.

First, building on the pregnancy

What is known?

- The largest share of perinatal and new-born mortality in low resource settings occur within 24 hours of life
- Stillbirth and new-born death due to intrapartum and low birth weight related conditions result from poor healthcare services
- Access to appropriate health services is affected by both community and health facility services' system factors
- Enormous interventions that address health access barriers in low resource settings are known but usually not replicated.

What do the thesis findings add?

- The highest share of death within 24 hours of life presented in Chapter 4 indicates how the day of delivery remains critical period for addressing newborn mortality
- The insignificant inverse moderation effect of health facility deliveries on LBW survival reported in Chapter 4 highlights the health system challenges in addressing the highly risky newborns.
- The existence of multiple factors that inhibit pregnant women and children from accessing adequate and appropriate healthcare services highlight the need for innovates approaches that address the identified barriers concurrently.

interventions, the identified women with maternal danger signs and sick children should receive emergency care in highly equipped facilities. The key barriers to address that this study identified in Chapter 6 are poor referral transport systems at the community level and poor health facility services. Capitalising on existing social systems, the thesis suggests innovative ways of putting up a community transport system that should transport women and sick children to the health facilities at the community level. These may include financing schemes and community transport schemes (Alaofe et al., 2020; Esssien et al., 1997; Nwolise et al., 2015). For instance, we know that there are already existing community schemes that could be leveraged to integrate emergency finances for obstetric and child health care services. These schemes can benefit from the government or donors' capital funds that could be conditioned to maternal and child health care transportation. Further, boda-boda riders are well known as key transporters in low-resource settings (Pariyo et al., 2011). In Chapter 6 of this thesis, I found that each family had contact with a *boda-boda* who could be contacted for transportation in case of an emergence. Thus, community transport can be enhanced by supporting the communities to have an organized transport system at the village level (Elmusharaf et al., 2015). Such could be embedded within the existing community groups with the fund set aside to maintain the community transport system. Chapter 6 indicated how providing vouchers to pregnant mothers contributed to health care services access. Enormous evidence indicates how health conditioned vouchers have improved access to health care services (Bellows et al., 2011; Bhatia & Gorter, 2007; Brody et al., 2013; Engmann et al., 2016; Grainger et al., 2014; Njuki et al., 2015; Potts, 2011; Rob et al., 2011). However, for sustainability, the distribution of these vouchers can be integrated within the existing social groups.

Second, in the view of the total market approach, Chapter 6 of the thesis identified drug shops and community health workers as important resources that should be leveraged to provide primary health care services. To optimise community health workers and drug shops' role in supporting child health care, they should be supported to provide quality care services. Such should be through integrating them within the health system with routine mentorship, training, and monitoring support. I also suggest mechanisms for accrediting and certifying the community drug shops that provide quality services and sensitising communities on the importance of accessing treatment from accredited and certified drug shops. Further, the paper also indicated how integrating triage, testing and treatment for malaria, diarrhoea and pneumonia within the community health workers' routine work improved access to health care services for children. This model complements the integrated community case management, whose enormous significant contribution has been extensively published (Awor et al., 2012; Kitutu, Kalyango, et al., 2017; Kitutu, Mayora, et al., 2017; Nanyonjo et al., 2019). Learning from available evidence of working with community drug shops and community health workers to test and treat common children's diseases in Uganda and similar context (Awor et al., 2012, 2014; Kitutu, Kalyango, et al., 2017; Kitutu, Mayora, et al., 2017; Nanyonjo et al., 2019; Valimba et al., 2014) there is need to extensively spread these interventions to cover all the district.

Lastly, there is a need to ensure the availability of essential emergency obstetric and childcare services at the first-level facilities. Learning from the past, strengthening maternal and child health care at the primary healthcare level was indicated as a key priority for achieving Millennium development goals (Bhutta, A. et al., 2008). The health facilities should be supported to respond to emergencies through proper medical procedures such as triage,

which may facilitate prompt and appropriate treatment as well as referral. Furthermore, simple yet effective interventions such as the use of partograph for labour progress, Apagar score assessment, and Kangaroo mother care for preterm/low birth weight children should be emphasized in lower health facilities.

7.4.4. Beyond birth and early postnatal

The shift in the causes of death, mortality and morbidity risk factors presented in Chapters 3-5 of the thesis highlight the need for age-specific health interventions. The continued high

What is known?

- Postnatal remains the weakest of all reproductive and child health programmes in resource-poor settings.
- Interventions for targeting under-five children are well known but not universally implemented
- Evidence on the survival of children aged 5-10 in remain elusive.

What do the thesis findings add?

- The shift in the causes of death reported in Chapter 3 and risk factors reported in Chapter 3 and 4 suggest for the age specific interventions
- The high occurrence of common morbidities among under-3 aged children reported in Chapter 5 and the high effect of the mortality risk factors among the same groups reported in Chapter 3 show how 1000 days of life remains a critical period for child survival.
- The continued effect of mortality risk factors and occurrence of common morbidities among under-five aged children reported in Chapter 3 and 5 suggest for postnatal care packages including policies.

risk suspected pneumonia, of diarrhoea, and mortality up to the age of 3 years presented in Chapter 5 emphasises the need for a post-natal treatment and care package for and health workers mothers throughout the new-born life-course. In particular, these interventions should target children born as LBW, including multiple birth and those whose mothers or caretakers are adolescents. Some of the family and community level postnatal interventions include supporting economically disadvantaged women and families with a post-natal package that includes information on newborns' appropriate care practices, and routine monitoring throughout infancy. Other their post-natal interventions that should be given to children throughout their development stages are appropriate immunisation, maintaining good sanitation and hygiene, and proper parental care for injuries (Bhutta et al.,

2013; Lassi et al., 2010; Rudan et al., 2007; Were et al., 2015).

Furthermore, we know that the laws governing access to maternity and paternity leave are weak. Usually, women have inadequate time to practice recommended interventions such as exclusive breastfeeding. Yet, maternal leave enables mothers to access appropriate healthcare services, recover from childbirth, and provide adequate care to their new-borns. We also know that other caretakers who look after children in their parents' absence are usually illiterate about proper childcare. As a result, children are usually exposed to feeding

before the recommended age, leading to low immunity and early exposure to infections that may lead to long-term consequences such as stunting. Although not sufficient, the government should strengthen the existing maternity leave employment policy (Government of Uganda, 2006) to make sure that all pregnant women and mothers who have recently delivered, working in formal and informal sectors, acquire adequate maternity leave to access appropriate services and practice recommended post-natal childcare services. The current Uganda employment policy articulates that:

A female employee shall, as a consequence of pregnancy, have the right to a period of sixty working days leave from work on full wages hereafter referred to as "maternity leave", of which at least four weeks shall follow the childbirth or miscarriage (Government of Uganda, 2006).

However, such an employment act may not apply to those engaged in the informal sector. Furthermore, the government and civil society organizations can also invest in campaigns promoting maternity rights and breastfeeding practices at workplaces of work.

Additionally, while the mortality among children aged 5-9 years seemed lower, the thesis indicated that the group remains at the risk of getting sanitation and hygiene-related diseases and injuries. We know that usually, by the age of 5-6 years, almost all children are already in school and spend most of their time with the schoolteachers and caretakers. Therefore, the school is a big opportunity to improve the health of children by influencing health-related practices such as deworming, immunisation, handwashing behaviours and preventing injuries (Bhutta et al. 2013; Bundy et al. 2006; Luong 2010). The health and education sectors should collaborate to supervise schools regularly and ensure schools have a conducive environment for children. The school policy on promoting better health for children should be designed.

7.4.5. Implications for strengthening surveillance data

The use of the Iganga-Mayuge HDSS data has highlighted some of the important data

collection gaps, which may strengthen data collections in DHSS sites. In particular, there is a need to strengthen the documentation of pregnancies, births, and perhaps migration. In addition, FPH has been recommended to provide better estimates than the FBH approach applied in the HDSS (Akuze et al., 2020). Since the DHS has considered having FPH as a core module in the subsequent phases (Demographic and Health Survey, n.d.), it is recommended that HDSS consider

What is known?

- Stillbirths, birth weight, pregnancy gestation data remain a documentation challenge in HDSS
- HDSS have potential in linking health events to economic and behavioural indicators.

What do the thesis findings add?

• The problem in data collection such as inconsistences in stillbirths and newborns between verbal autopsy and birth registration and birth weight heaping shows the need for innovative ways of improving data quality. using the same approach for harmonisation and comparison. Additionally, the use of Iganga-Mayuge HDSS data has shown the potential of HDSS in monitoring health events, and economic and behavioural indicators in countries with limited national longitudinal data systems (Ngom et al., 2001). Given that health service interventions and events are timeconditional since the impact of services is a function of the timing of interventions and their timing relative to specific episodes of illness and seasonal patterns of morbidity, HDSS provide a unique opportunity for providing longitudinal household and population data that could be used to measure the possible correlations between social and economic status and health outcomes (Ngom et al., 2001). However, there is a need to support the HDSS on data interoperability and linkage of datasets of different levels: household and events registration, health service point, social and verbal autopsy.

Furthermore, given the weak civil and vital registration system in Uganda, there is a need for an innovative way of documenting birth and mortality based on available structures (Amouzou et al., 2013). Uganda has community health workers and local leaders at village levels who are part of the health systems and administrative structures. There is a need to optimise their work to report on birth events such as death and births. In addition to tracking mortality, morbidity and health service delivery, the community health workers could help track the vulnerable groups and ensure that the required health care has been received. The use of community health workers in collecting data on health events has been documented in various studies done in sub-Saharan Africa (Amouzou et al., 2015, 2014; Bryce et al., 2016; Joos, Amouzou, et al., 2016; Silva et al., 2016). Leveraging the existing technologies, the reporting can be linked to the national registration system through smartphone or text reporting. Available studies have indicated how leveraging text messaging to report health events through working with community representatives has been effective (Bangura et al., 2016; Bryce, 2016; Joos, Silva, et al., 2016; Nichols et al., 2019). Furthermore, based on their implementation learning (Amouzou et al., 2015, 2014; Bangura et al., 2016; Bryce, 2016; Bryce, Amouzou, et al., 2016; Joos, Amouzou, et al., 2016; Joos, Silva et al., 2016; Nichols et al., 2019; Silva et al., 2016), these reports also provide the recommendations for setting up effective community-based surveillance systems, that we can build on to strengthen the national civil and vital registration system.

7.4.6. Operationalising the implementation of suggested recommendations

It is important to note that the suggested recommendations are implemented at different levels: family, community, health facility and policy and decision-making levels. For the family, community, and facility-level implementation recommendations to be effective, there is a need for strengthening multisectoral planning and collaboration (Figure 7.4).

Multisectoral and collaboration	 Strengthen intersectoral collaboration Involve multiple stakeholders that affect community structural, social, behavioural, and health services changes. a. Politicians b. district administration team and health facility managers c. Civil society and non-governmental organizations d. Transporters e. Cultural leaders
Family	 Develop a surveillance system that maps out all pregnant women and children, including birth outcomes Identify the most vulnerable groups Unmarried women Married but not living with husbands Poor families and those with unresponsible husbands Support vulnerable women to join social support
	 4. Support integrated health campaigns targeting risky groups of women and families Organise social support groups Einancial
Community	 Behavioural change Transport Ensure integrated community outreaches Malnutrition manning and management
	 Inmunization including deworming Sensitization Family planning Strengthen integrated community case management Working with community health workers Working with private clinics and drug shops Implement health campaigns that address cultural values
Health facility	 7. Ensure availability of resource appropriate personal financing (including operational and core funding) availability of material resources (infrastructure,
	 drugs, equipment) 8. Ensure integrated health screening 9. Enhance capacity building and task shifting 10. Emphasise respectful care practices

Figure 7.5: Operationalizing the implementation of suggested recommendations

Source: Author

7.5. Further research

- *Care practices for low birth weight, including preterm and multiple birth:* Given the high burden of low birth weight and multiple births on child mortality, I recommend research on the burden of caring for low birth weight and multiple birth children. Additionally, I recommend more research on care practices for low birth weight and multiple birth children at community and health facility levels. Particularly for twins, there are traditional practices that are performed that usually inhibit the recommended new-born care practices, such as immediate breastfeeding and delayed bathing (Beattie, 1962; Mtaku, 2016). These studies will be important in designing a post-natal care package for children with low birth weight and multiple births children.
- Regional distribution of low birth weight, including preterm: I recommend studies on the geographical distribution of low birth weight and multiple births. In particular, there is a need to understand how regional birth weight estimates relate to other geographic-specific health indicators such as children and women stunting, malaria, diarrhoea and anaemia.
- Obstetric and childcare practices in health facilities: I recommend clinical studies that assess obstetric and childcare practices. While Chapter 6 tries to provide health facility-based hindrances that affect access to obstetric health care services, it leaves out health facilities' capacity in delivering services. Therefore, a comprehensive clinical study that assesses health facilities' capacity in terms of health workers' skills and availability of amenities that facilitate their performance is crucial. The assessment could focus on labour services, care for most at risk (for instance, women presenting shoulder dystocia, preterm), care for preterm and low birth weight children, and other essential care for new-borns, such as resuscitation.
- Child health and care practices in an urban setting: The study area was majorly rural, so I recommend studies focusing on maternal and child health care in purely urban areas (cities and towns). Notably, studies on understanding the people involved in caring for children and childcare practices are needed. We know that the urban health care system is composed of various players targeting specific groups of people. However, there is a paucity of information on the urban context's obstetric and child health care services' mechanism. Besides, the involvement of different groups of people in childcare and how they affect their health and survival in an urban context is elusive. In particular, the type and level of employment in an urban context can profoundly shape children's health at different levels of development.
- Coverage of vouchers and subsidised maternal and child health interventions: There is a need to understand the coverage of vouchers and subsidised maternal and child health interventions. Although these interventions are mainly designed to target the poor communities, the extremely poor families may be left out given the conditions of first paying for the voucher or services. Information on who could be left out and those benefitting and the mechanisms for generating money to purchase the vouchers

may contribute to the reframing of an inclusive voucher system. Such would also contribute to designing the upcoming health insurance scheme's packages to match the rural population's income.

7.6. Conclusion

In conclusion, the thesis has highlighted the critical and sensitive period for children to survive and has discussed age-specific (preconception, pregnancy, delivery, postnatal, infancy, and childhood) interventions that can be applied to improve the health and survival of children. The thesis findings underscore the importance of addressing social, structural, and health systems challenges throughout all stages of child development. First, the thesis has shown how Uganda has stagnated in reducing perinatal and newborn mortality and how death within 24 hours of life has remained a challenge. These results show the need for more efforts if Uganda is to achieve its commitment to reducing new-born and under-five mortality to less than 12% and 25%, respectively. The insignificant inverse effect of institutional delivery on newborn mortality gives us an insight into the need for strengthening the responsiveness of the health system in addressing new-born mortality. The key issues to address are the healthcare access barriers that include poor health facility services, poor referral transport systems, and women empowerment. Second, because of the association of low birth weight with adolescent age, the association of newborn mortality with advanced age and the association of mothers' childbirth experience with the birth outcome and child survival, the thesis recommends preconception interventions that prevent pregnancies among such highrisk groups. *Third*, the high prevalence of morbidity in pregnancy and low birth weight can be addressed through pregnancy preventive and screening interventions that are usually included in the antenatal care package.

Furthermore, to address death due to antepartum causes, the thesis recommends the need for strengthening community health systems to identify, monitor and refer high-risk pregnant women and use digital technologies for screening and prevention including behaviour change and follow-up. *Lastly*, the shift in the causes of death risk factors highlights the need for age-specific interventions and how the risk factors and morbidities remain high among children aged 0-3 years. Malaria and protein deficiency, including malnutrition, appear as the major causes of death with gastrointestinal and injuries emerging among the top mortality causes, suggesting health interventions that target the 5-10 age group.

For the optimal implementation of life-course approaches recommended in this thesis, key areas have been considered: task shifting, multisectoral approach, behavioural change innovations, referral systems, community health systems, and bringing and enforcing relevant policies from different sectors. Indeed, learning from Covid-19 responses, this approach might be the most effective in addressing maternal, reproductive, and child health services, including adolescent health. For instance, the fight against Covid-19 in countries that have succeeded was beyond biomedical interventions of treatment, in which promotive and preventive public health strategies were integrated. Globally, the fight against the pandemic

has required various stakeholders across disciplines to have collective goals and action plans of organizing, spreading, and implementing public health standards and supply of health personnel and amenities to the most deserving area. This approach is needed to address most of the challenges that affect health care access. For instance, we need the transport sector to improve the roads indicated to be critical in the women's movement to health facilities. We also need social service and legislative sectors to address social norms that affect human rights. The education and judicial systems should be revitalised to deliver interventions that contribute to delayed early pregnancies.

Notably, the pandemic taught the country leaders the need for a robust health system that is responsive. A responsive and trusted health system is composed of a robust, coordinated referral system and equipped health facilities in the form of staff and necessary amenities. Lastly, the monitoring and surveillance system optimised the digital technologies for early testing, contact tracing, diagnosis, and tracking of the spread by identifying hotspots.

In the context of maternal and child health and borrowing from Covid-19, digital technology can be applied for prompt birth and death registration, including causes of death at the community level. In fact, some platforms such as U-reporter, mTrack, educTrack, and FamilyConnect, all implemented by the Government of Uganda and UNICEF, have been indicated to be critical in prompt reporting community and health facility issues such as drug stock-outs and disease outbreaks (UNICEF - Webpage, n.d.-a). For instance, the FamilyConnect mobile phone application sends targeted lifecycle-based messages on maternal and child health to pregnant women and children's caregivers (UNICEF - Webpage, n.d.-a). These should be optimised further for integrated health and economic events' reporting.

CHAPTER EIGHT THESIS APPENDICES

8.1. Qualitative data collection tools

8.1.1. Interview consent form

Study title: Child health and survival in Uganda

Name of the Researcher: Kananura Rornald Muhumuza

Institution: Department of International Development, The London School of Economics and Political Science; and Department of Health Policy Planning and Management, Makerere University School of Public Health

Information for participants

Information about the study

Good/morning/afternoon. I am ______ and on this study I am working as______. Mr Kananura Rornald Muhumuza is a study team leader and he is affiliated with Makerere University School of Public Health and London School of Economics and Political Science in the UK. The study is investigating the accessibility of maternal and health services – a cornerstone for child survival, with a focus on how the community and health facility factors contribute to child mortality in this community. This study will be conducted collecting information from women and health facilities from October 2018 to December 2018. This information sheet outlines the purpose of the study and provides a description of your involvement and rights as a participant if you agree to take part.

Participants' involvement

You are being asked to join because you are a recent newly delivered mother. We would want to seek your experience while pregnant and during labour. You will be asked questions related to the services received at the health facility and any other care you did for while pregnant and during delivery. You do not have to take part if you do not want to. You can withdraw at any point of the study, without having to give a reason. If any questions during the interview make you feel uncomfortable, you do not have to answer them, and you can withdraw from the interview at any time for any reason. Withdrawing from the study will have no effect on you. If you withdraw from the study, we will not retain the information you have given thus far unless you are happy for us to do so. However, we hope you will give us your time until the end because your views are crucial in improving maternal and child health services in this community. If you do decide to take part I will ask you to sign a consent form which you can sign and return in advance of the interview or sign at the meeting.

How information will be used

The collected information collected will contribute to the understanding of the maternal and child health services in Uganda and how such could be used to prevent the child mortality not only in Uganda but other countries.

Confidentiality

The records from this study will be kept as confidential as possible. Only me and my supervisor will have access to the files and any audio tapes. Your data will be anonymised – your name will not be used in any reports or publications resulting from the study. All digital files, transcripts and summaries will be given codes and stored separately from any names or other direct identification of participants. Any hard copies of research information will be kept in locked files at all times.

Participation reward

page.

We will not pay you for your participation in the survey. However, at the end of the survey, we shall give you a non-monetary gift as an appreciation for your participation.

Addresses for questions or complaints

If you have any questions regarding this study, please contacts **Kananura Rornald Muhumuza** via: Email: <u>mk.rornald@musph.ac.ug</u> or <u>r.m.kananura@lse.ac.uk</u>, Tel: **UG-256705151722 or UK-447576682644**. In case of any concerns or complaints regarding the conduct of this research, please contact the **LSE Research Governance Manager** via <u>research.ethics@lse.ac.uk</u> Or **Dr Suzanne Kiwanuka** Makerere University School of Public Health Email. <u>skiwanuka@musph.ac.ug</u>, Tel: **256701888163 or 256312291397** To request a copy of the data held about you please contact: <u>glpd.info.rights@lse.ac.uk</u>

If you are happy to take part in this study, please sign the consent sheet attached on the next

PARTICIPATION IN THIS RESEARCH STUDY IS VOLUNTARY.

Please tick the appropriate boxes	Yes	No
I agree to take part in the study		
I understand that I am free to decline to participate in this		
research study, or I may withdraw my participation at any		
point without penalty. My decision whether or not to		
participate in this research study will have no negative impacts		
on me either personally or professionally.		
I confirm that I have read and understood the information		
sheet provided for the above study. I have had the opportunity		
to consider the information and ask any questions I have.		
I understand that my data will be kept safe and will not be		
shared with anybody outside this study.		
I understand that my words may be quoted in publications,		
reports, web pages, and other research outputs.		
I agree to the interview being audio recorded		
Please retain a copy of this consent form.		
Participant name:		

Signature:	Date

Interviewer name: Signature:

Date _____

For information please contact:

Kananura Rornald Muhumuza

Email: <u>mk.rornald@musph.ac.ug</u> or <u>r.m.kananura@lse.ac.uk</u>, Tel: UG-+256705151722 or UK-+447576682644.

Dr Suzanne Kiwanuka

Institutional Review Board Chair, Makerere University School of Public Health Email. <u>skiwanuka@musph.ac.ug</u>, Tel: 256701888163 or 256312291397

8.1.2. Focus Group Discussion interview guide for Women with children aged 6 moths-5 years.

Eligibility: The interview will be conducted with women with children aged 1-5 years. The group should not be more than 7 participants and less than 5.

- 1. What do you say about the health of women and children in this community?
- 2. How do pregnant women in this community access maternal services?
 - a. Probe let each participant talk about how she did access the maternal services for her current child
- 3. How sure were you that you and your child would survive during labour and why?
- 4. How do young children in this community access health services?
- 5. What are the common childhood diseases in this community?
 - a. Probe ask each participant to talk about the diseases that their children experienced
- 6. How are the diseases mostly treated and who are the people involved in the provision of treatment?
 - a. Tell me what happened to your child when she/he fell sick (ask at least five group members to describe what treatment was given to the child and how, who was involved, and why)
- 7. Who are the people in this community that have authority over the health of women and children?
 - a. How has the authority of such groups affected the health of women and children?
- 8. What is your view on the involvement of husbands in caring for their pregnant women?
 - a. Probe for their experience while pregnant
- 9. What is your view on the involvement of women partners/husbands in caring for their care for children?
 - a. Probe for each partners involvement in caring for children
- 10. As mothers, what has been your role in the health of your children?
- 11. How do women in this community care for children?
 - a. Probe for how each mother in the group cared for the child
- 12. How is breastfeeding done in this community?
 - a. Probe for each of the participant to tell how she practices or practiced breastfeeding and for how long
- 13. Why do you think children die in this community?
- 14. How do you think the authority of different groups could have contributed to the death of children in this community?
 - a. Family members authority
 - b. Local leaders' authority
 - c. Health workers authority
- 15. What do you think could not be working well in regard to the health of mothers and children in this community?
- 16. How have you been involved in making the health programming and decision making that could help your community?
- 17. What is your views concerning the health workers perception? Probe for:

1. Respectful (and why through scenarios)

- 2. Disrespectful (and why through scenarios)
- 3. Listened to me and sought my views (and why through scenarios)
- 18. Whom would you blame for child mortality and poor health services in this community and why?

8.1.3. Key Informant Interview Guide for women who experience prenatal deaths

Individual ID	
Village	
Household GPS coordinates	

The Research Assistant must make sure that this is an eligible participant. The eligible participant is the woman who delivered in the last 4 months, and who experienced stillbirth or new-born death. The woman must be a resident of the HDSS and must have accessed services within the HDSS catchment area.

Is the participant eligible?

Yes [] No []

If no, thank her and end the interview otherwise proceed with the consent form.

The Research Assistant must read a consent form in local language highlighting the objectives of the study, risks involved, benefits, and the responsible parties. The participant should be informed that her participation is voluntary and that she was chosen by chance. However, the participant will be given a non-monetary gift as an appreciation for her participation. Two copies of the consent forms should be signed, one for the researchers and the other for the participants. In the instance where the participant is not able to write, a thumbprint may be used.

	ie of tablet to capture the joint	
Individual ID		
Village		
Household GPS coordinates		
Place of delivery		
Name of the health facility		
Marital status		
Education level		
Mothers age		
Maternal occupation		
Religion		
The position of the		
pregnancy (including		
miscarriage or abortion)		
Age of the last child the		
deceased follows		
Number of children		
Deceased age in days		
Deceased pregnancy		
gestation age		

Use the smartphone of tablet to capture the following information

Child MUAC indicator	
Mothers MUAC indicator	

1. Prenatal care seeking behaviours

The interview must inform the participant she will ask you questions related to the experience throughout her pregnancy. The following are the guiding questions.

- 1.1. How did you care for your pregnancy?
 - Probe
 - Used traditional methods (herbs and any other means)
 - Place (traditional birth attendant, family member, self)
 - Sought care from the medical health centre
- 1.2. If she sought care from the medical health facility;
 - what type of the facility (Note that the community might consider a drug shop or nursing home as a health facility, the question should be asked to know which category of the facility).
 - When you went to the health centre, what did the health provider tell you about your pregnancy and what kind of services did you receive
 - how do would describe the services and why
 - how many times did you go to the health facility while pregnant?
- 1.3. If the woman never sought care from the health facility, ask for the reasons?
- 1.4. Ask if the woman sought care from traditional or a community or family member?

Probe

- What kind of care did you receive?
- > What forms of traditional medicine did you take, for how long and why?
- how would you describe the services received from the traditional attendant and why?
- 1.5 In this community, who are the people that have authority over the health of women and children? (list all the people involved in the health of women and children).

Probe to make sure to check if the following categories have authority in case there are not mentioned

- 1. Husband
- 2. Parents (In-laws, and women parents)
- 3. Sisters and brothers (In-laws and mothers' side)
- 4. Local leaders
- 5. Community health workers
- 6. Community transporters
- 7. Traditional healers
- 8. Etc
- 1.6 For each of the group's category mentioned (check the list) how could they have contributed to the health of your pregnancy?
 - 1. Husband
 - 2. Parents (In-laws, and women parents)
 - 3. Sisters and brothers (In-laws and mothers' side)
 - 4. Local leaders

- 5. Community health workers
- 6. Community transporters
- 7. Traditional healers
- 8. Etc
- 1.8 In this community, what kind of traditional and cultural aspects do pregnant women do to keep healthy and deliver healthy children? (Use of traditional medicine, what type, who provide, and at what cost)
- 1.9 Could you tell me what the traditional and cultural aspect you did to keep your recent pregnancy and child healthy? (Let the woman describe on how it was done, from where and at what cost).
- 1.10 How did your family members or partner support you while pregnant?
- 1.11 How were you able to do household chores?

Probe

- what kind of work did you do throughout your pregnancy?
- 1.12 How did you prepare for the birth of the deceased?

2 Skilled assisted delivery and postnatal care access

The interviewer must inform the participant that she will be asked questions related to the experience throughout her labour and delivery experience

- 2.8 In this community, what are traditional and cultural practices that are done to quicken the labour progress?
- 2.9 For each of the practice, ask the woman to mention the people and the cost involved?
- 2.10 Did you take any medicine to quicken labour progress? If yes, where did you get it from, what was the name, how was it taken and for how long?
- 2.11 Tell me a story about your labour and delivery experience (*The story should* capture on how the **labour started** including the **time the labour started**, **the time she left home,** to all places where you went for care. Note that, for each place, let her estimated time of arrival, the time took at the place)

Probe

- Who was involved in deciding where to go (Husband, family member, Transporter)
- Let the woman ask if she was aware of where she was going and if she was involved in the decision
- When you reached the place of delivery, what was your experience (health provider response, had she developed any complications, was the health provider timely available. Note that this question should be asked for each of the places where the woman went)
- How were you handled at the place (each) were you sought care? Let the woman describe the treatment and care received at each place
- At the place of delivery, what services did you receive to help the baby and you survive?
- How was the delivery conducted?
- 2.12 What do you think could have resulted to the death of the child?
 - The baby was to small (preterm/low birth weight)
 - The baby was too big

- Health workers negligence
- > Delays in reaching the health facility
- Others
- 2.13 What is your views concerning the health workers perception? Probe for:
 - 4. Respectful (and why through scenarios)
 - 5. Disrespectful (and why through scenarios)
 - 6. Listened to me and sought my views (and why through scenarios)
- 2.14 How did you travel from home to (each) place of delivery?
- 2.15 Why do you think sometimes women refuse to deliver in health facilities?
- 2.16 Could you share with me the experience you had at the health facility from the time you reached the gate, to the time you exited (Let the woman explain the time reception received by Security guards, receptionist, health workers, congestion on the facility and general environment (light, sanitation etc))

3 Care for the new-born practices

The participant will be asked on how the new-born was cared for immediately after birth while at the place of delivery and henceforth

- 3.8 What happened to the new-born immediately after delivery?
- 3.9 What were you told about the health of the new-born?

Probe

- The New-born had a problem with breathing
- > The new-born was low-birth-weight or premature
- The New-born was very big
- 3.10 What was done at the place of delivery regarding the health conditions of the new-born?
- 3.11 How much time did you spend at the health facility and what did the health worker tell you before leaving?
- 3.12 In this community, what are some of the traditional and cultural things that are done for new-born immediately after birth to improve their health? Probe for Bathing, applying something on the umbilical cord, delayed breastfeeding, feeding the child with some other things (let her mention) etc?
- 3.13 For the traditional and cultural practices mentioned above, what was done on the child immediately after birth to improve its health?
 - 1. Immediate bathing with traditional herbs
 - 2. Applying traditional substances on the umbilical cord
 - 3. Delayed breastfeeding
 - 4. Fed the child with traditional herbs,
 - 5. Anything else
- 3.14 Who was involved in the practice of the mentioned traditional and cultural practices? (For each of the practice done, let the woman mention the person involved)
- 3.15 Was there anything wrong with the cord? what was that and how was it cared?
- 3.16 Tell the experience you went through while caring for your child before death **Probe**
 - Did a child develop any complication and at what age?

- > Tell what was done to treat the child and who provided the treatment?
- Did you seek care from the health facility, if yes at what stage did you go to the health facility?
- What traditional ways or medicine did you apply before taking the child to the hospital?
- If you did not go to the health facility, why?
- 3.17 Whom would you blame for child mortality and poor health services in this community and why?

4: Community sensitization

- 1. How do you get information regarding maternal and child health in this community?
 - 1.1. Health workers
 - 1.2. Community health workers
 - 1.3. Media (radio, etc)
 - 1.4. Community dialogue meetings
- 2. Probe ask the woman if she has ever heard of information regarding maternal health and let her mention, the sources, type of information and how she participated?

8.1.4. Ethics – LSE approval letter



THE LONDON SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

Houghton Street London WC2A 2AE United Kingdom

tel: +44 (0)20 7106 1202 email: rescon@ise.ac.uk www.ise.ac.uk

Research Division

Rornald Kananura Department of Social Policy <u>r.m.kananura@lse.ac.uk</u>

25th June 2018

Dear Rornald

Re: 'Child health and survival in Uganda: an application of system thinking' [REC ref. 000731]

I refer to the above research proposal which you recently submitted for review by the Research Ethics Committee. Having considered your ethics review application and supporting documents, I am satisfied that you have properly addressed the ethical issues raised by your proposed research. I am thus able in my capacity as Chair of the Committee to approve the application. Please note, however, that ethics approval is contingent upon approval of the travel outline/risk assessment by the Health and Safety team for the individual researchers.

Please note that any significant changes to the research design must be reported to the Research Ethics Committee. Amendments to the research design that may affect participants and/or that may have ethical implications must be reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee before commencement (or recommencement) of the project. The Research Ethics Committee may periodically conduct a selective audit of current research projects.

I would like to take this opportunity to wish you well with your research project. If you have any further queries, please feel free to contact Lyn Grove, Research Division.

Yours sincerely,

Wona

Professor John Worrall Chair of the Research Ethics Committee

cc. Dr Lyn Grove, Research Division

The London School of Economics is a School of the University of London. It is a charity and is incorporated in England as a company limited by guarantee under the Companies Acts (keg. No 20527)

8.1.5. Ethics – Uganda National council for Science and Technology approval letter

engar	iva Frational Coun	cil tor Science and Technolo
	(Established by Act of Pa	rliament of the Republic of Uganda)
JNCST		
Our Ref	f: HS395ES	6 th August 2019
Mr. Kananura M	Muhumuza	
Principal Invest Molescon Univ	ligator Sector Kamaala	
Kampala	ersity Kampata	
Dear Mr. Muhu	umuza,	
I am pleased to	inform you that on 06/08/2019, 0	he Uganda National Council for Science and
Technology (U) Eastern Ugand	NCST) approved your study titled da. The Approval is valid for the p	d, Child Health and Survival in Central period of 06/08/2019 to 06/08/2020.
Your study refe correspondence	erence number is HS395KS . Pleases with UNCST in respect of the a	se, cite this number in all your future above study.
Please, note that	d as Principal Investigator, you ar	re responsible for:
L Keeping all c	co-investigators informed about th	he status of the study.
 Submitting a form, where Agoncy, whe 	any changes, amendments, and ad- applicable, to the designated loca are applicable, for re-review and a	denda to the study protocol or the consent d Research Ethics Committee (REC) or Lead approval prior to the activation of the
3. Notifying U) within five w	NCST about the REC or lead ages vorking days.	ncy approved changes, where applicable,
 For clinical to REC for revi 	trials, reporting all serious adverse icw with conies to the National D	e events promptly to the designated local
5. Promptly rep	sorting any unanticipated problem	is involving risks to study
6. Providing an UNCST for 1	requarts to the UNUST, by new information which could e- final registration and elearance.	hange the risk/benefit ratio of the study to the
 Submitting a termination of 	unual progress reports electronic. of the research project.	ally to UNCST. Failure to do so may result in
Please, note that application.	at this approval includes all study	related tools submitted as part of the
Yours sincerely	у,	
Raip		
Hellen Opolot		
For: Executive ECANDA NA	Secretary TIONAL COUNCIL 1997	
COMPENSA INA	TIONAL COUNCIL FOR SCI	IENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

LOCATION/CORRESPONDENCE

Plot 6 Kimera Road, Ntinda P.O.Box 6884 KAMPALA, UGANDA COMMUNICATION

TEL: (256) 414 705500 FAX: (256) 414-234579 EMAIL: info@uncst.go.ug WEBSITE: http://www.uncst.go.ug

8.1.6. Ethics – Local Institutional Review Board approval letter



PhD Student/ Principal Investigator, Protocol (674) International Development, London School of Economics and Political Science, United Kingdom.

Re: Approval of Proposal titled: Child health and survival in Central Eastern Uganda

This is to inform you that, the Higher Degrees, Research and Ethics Committee (HDREC) has granted approval to the above referenced study, the HDREC reviewed the proposal during the 170th meeting held on 26th February, 2019 and provided suggestions and comments which you have adequately responded to and incorporated:

Note that the initial approval date for your proposal by HDREC is $17^{\text{th}}/04/2019$, and therefore approval expires at every annual anniversary of this approval date. The current approval is therefore valid until: $16^{\text{th}}/04/2020$.

Continued approval is conditional upon your compliance with the following requirements:

- No other consent form(s), questionnaire and/or advertisement documents should be used. The consent form(s) must be signed by each subject prior to initiation of any protocol procedures. In addition, each subject must be given a copy of the signed consent form.
- 2) All protocol amendments and changes to other approved documents must be submitted to HDREC and not be implemented until approved by HDREC except where necessary to eliminate apparent immediate hazards to the study subjects.
- 3) Significant changes to the study site and significant deviations from the research protocol and all unanticipated problems that may involve risks or affect the safety or welfare of subjects or others, or that may affect the integrity of the research must be promptly reported to HDREC.

1



- 4) All deaths, life threatening problems or serious or unexpected adverse events, whether related to the study or not, must be reported to HDREC in a timely manner as specified in the National Guidelines for Research Involving Humans as Research Participants.
- Please complete and submit reports to HDREC as follows:
- a) For renewal of the study approval complete and return the continuing Review Report Renewal Request (Form 404A) at least 60 days prior to the expiration of the approval period. The study cannot continue until re-approved by HDREC.

b) Completion, termination, or if not renewing the project – send a final report within 90 days upon completion of the study.

Finally, the legal requirement in Uganda is that all research activities must be registered with the National Council of Science and Technology. The forms for this registration can be obtained from their website <u>www.uncst.go.ug</u>. Please contact the REC Administrator at <u>wtusiime@musph.ac.ug</u> or telephone number (256)-393 291 397 or +256772496136 if you encounter any problems.

etsity School of A Yours sincerely Valid Thru: 16 APR 2020

Dr. John C. Ssempebwas

Ag. Chairman: Higher Degrees, Research and Ethics Committee Enclosures:

a) A stamped, approved study documents (informed consent documents):

8.1.7. Ethics – Iganga District approval letter

District Health Officer, Iganga District Local Government Iganga District P. O. Box 358, IGANGA THE REPUBLIC OF UGANDA Tel: 043-242147 Fax: 043-232245 email:ddhsiganga@yahoo.com pate: 25th May, 2019 Our Ref. 04/0 Your Ref The Executive Secretary Uganda National Council for Science and Technology KAMPALA Dear Sir/Madam; RE: PERMISSION FOR KANANURA RORNALD MUHUMUZA TO COLLECT DATA FOR HIS PHD PROJECT ON MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH IN THE FACILITIES WITHIN IGANGA DISTRICT The Iganga District Health Office hereby grants permission to Kananura Rornald Muhumuza to collect his PhD project data from the health facilities. The findings of this study will help us uncover the health systems challenges that could be contributing to the maternal and newborn adverse birth outcomes within the district. Such will guide us on coming up with optimal innovations for addressing the identified challenges. We therefore have no objection to this study and look forward to the very DISTRICT HEALTH OFFICER important findings. Dr. Muwanguzi David Gangu DISTRICT HEALTH OFFICER/IGANGA DISTRICT ERNMEN

8.1.8. Ethics – Mayuge district approval letter

OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT HEALTH OFFICER MAYUGE DISTRICT P.O. BOX 1317. MAYUGE.

OUR REF: MED/164/1

25th/05/2019

The executive secretary

Uganda National Council for Science and Technology

Kampala

Dear Sir/Madam;

Re: Permission for Kananura Rornald Muhumuza to collect data for his PhD project on Maternal and Child health in the facilities within Mayuge District

The Mayuge District Health Office hereby grants permission to Kananura Rornald Muhumuza to collect his PhD project data from the health facilities. The findings of this study will help us uncover the health systems challenges that could be contributing to the maternal and newborn adverse birth outcomes within the district. Such will guide us on coming up with optimal innovations for addressing the identified challenges.

We therefore have no objection to this study and look forward to the very important findings.

Dr Nabangi Charles **District Health Officer**

Bibliography of Works Cited

- Aagaard-Hansen, J., Norris, S. A., Maindal, H. T., Hanson, M., & Fall, C. (2019). What are the public health implications of the life course perspective? *Global Health Action*, *12*(1), 0–3. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2019.1603491
- Abajobir, A. A., Abate, K. H., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abd-Allah, F., Abera, S. F., Abraha, H. N., Abu-Raddad, L. J., Abu-Rmeileh, N. M. E., Adedeji, I. A., Adedoyin, R. A., Adetifa, I. M. O., Adetokunboh, O., Afshin, A., Aggarwal, R., Agrawal, A., Agrawal, S., Ahmad Kiadaliri, A., Ahmed, M. B., ... Zuhlke, L. J. (2017). Global, regional, and national under-5 mortality, adult mortality, age-specific mortality, and life expectancy, 1970–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet, 390*(10100), 1084–1150. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31833-0
- Abajobir, A. A., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abd-Allah, F., Abera, S. F., Aboyans, V., Adetokunboh, O., Afshin, A., Agrawal, A., Ahmadi, A., Ahmed, M. B., Aichour, A. N., Aichour, M. T. E., Aichour, I., Aiyar, S., Alahdab, F., Al-Aly, Z., Alam, K., Alam, N., ... Gupta, P. C. (2017). Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet, 390*(10100), 1151–1210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32152-9
- Aboubaker, S., Qazi, S., Wolfheim, C., Oyegoke, A., & Bahl, R. (2014). Community health workers : A crucial role in newborn health care and survival. *Journal of Global Health*, *4*(2), 1–5. http://jogh.org/documents/forthcoming/V2_Aboubaker.XML
- Accrombessi, M., Zeitlin, J., Massougbodji, A., Cot, M., & Briand, V. (2018). What Do We Know about Risk Factors for Fetal Growth Restriction in Africa at the Time of Sustainable Development Goals? A Scoping Review. In *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppe.12433
- Ackers, L., Ioannou, E., & Ackers-Johnson, J. (2016). The impact of delays on maternal and neonatal outcomes in Ugandan public health facilities: The role of absenteeism. *Health Policy and Planning*, *31*(9), 1152–1161. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czw046
- Adam, T., Lim, S. S., Mehta, S., Bhutta, Z. A., Fogstad, H., Mathai, M., Zupan, J., & Darmstadt, G. L. (2005). Achieving the millennium development goals for health: Cost effectiveness analysis of strategies for maternal and neonatal health in developing countries. *British Medical Journal*, 331(7525), 1107–1110. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.331.7525.1107
- Agincourt. (n.d.). South Africa 1in10 AHDSS Sample Database. Https://Data.Agincourt.Co.Za/Index.Php/Catalog/70.
- Ahmed, P., & Jaakkola, J. J. K. (2007). Maternal occupation and adverse pregnancy outcomes: A Finnish population-based study. *Occupational Medicine*, *57*(6), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqm038
- Akombi, B. J., Agho, K. E., Merom, D., Renzaho, A. M., & Hall, J. J. (2017). Child malnutrition in sub-Saharan Africa: A meta-analysis of demographic and health surveys (2006-2016). *PLoS ONE*, *12*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177338
- Akuze, J., Blencowe, H., Waiswa, P., Baschieri, A., Gordeev, V. S., Kwesiga, D., Fisker, A. B., Thysen, S. M., Rodrigues, A., Biks, G. A., Abebe, S. M., Gelaye, K. A., Mengistu, M. Y., Geremew, B. M., Delele, T. G., Tesega, A. K., Yitayew, T. A., Kasasa, S., Galiwango, E., ... Serbanescu, F. (2020). Randomised comparison of two household survey modules for measuring stillbirths and neonatal deaths in five countries: the Every Newborn-INDEPTH study. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(4), e555–e566. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30044-9
- Al Kibria, G. M., Khanam, R., Mitra, D. K., Mahmud, A., Begum, N., Moin, S. M. I., Saha, S. K., Baqui, A., & Projahnmo Study Group in Bangladesh. (2018). Rates and determinants of neonatal mortality in two rural sub-districts of Sylhet, Bangladesh. *PloS One*, 13(11), e0206795. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206795
- Alam, N., Hajizadeh, M., Dumont, A., & Fournier, P. (2015). Inequalities in maternal health care utilization in sub-saharan African countries: A multiyear and multi-country analysis. *PLoS ONE*,

10(4), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120922

- Alaofe, H., Lott, B., Kimaru, L., Okusanya, B., Okechukwu, A., Chebet, J., Meremikwu, M., & Ehiri, J. (2020). Emergency transportation interventions for reducing adverse pregnancy outcomes in low-and middle-income countries: A systematic review. *Annals of Global Health*, *86*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.2934
- Alfvén, T., Dahlstrand, J., Humphreys, D., Helldén, D., Hammarstrand, S., Hollander, A. C., Målqvist, M., Nejat, S., Jørgensen, P. S., Friberg, P., & Tomson, G. (2019). Placing children and adolescents at the centre of the Sustainable Development Goals will deliver for current and future generations. *Global Health Action*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2019.1670015
- Aliyu, M. H., Salihu, H. M., Keith, L. G., Ehiri, J. E., Islam, M. A., Jolly, P. E., Aliyu, M. H., Salihu, H. M., Keith, L. G., Ehiri, J. E., Islam, M. A., & Jolly, P. E. (2005). High parity and fetal morbidity outcomes. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 105(5 Pt 1), 1045–1051. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000157444.74674.75
- Althabe, F., Moore, J. L., Gibbons, L., Berrueta, M., Goudar, S. S., Chomba, E., Derman, R. J., Patel, A., Saleem, S., Pasha, O., Esamai, F., Garces, A., Liechty, E. A., Hambidge, K. M., Krebs, N. F., Hibberd, P. L., Goldenberg, R. L., Koso-thomas, M., Carlo, W. A., ... Mcclure, E. M. (2015a). Adverse maternal and perinatal outcomes in adolescent pregnancies : The Global Network's Maternal Newborn Health Registry study. *Reproductive Health*, *12*(Suppl 2), S8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-12-S2-S8
- Amare, Z. Y., Ahmed, M. E., & Mehari, A. B. (2019). Determinants of nutritional status among children under age 5 in Ethiopia: Further analysis of the 2016 Ethiopia demographic and health survey. *Globalization and Health*, *15*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-019-0505-7
- Amek, N. O., Van Eijk, A., Lindblade, K. A., Hamel, M., Bayoh, N., Gimnig, J., Laserson, K. F., Slutsker, L., Smith, T., & Vounatsou, P. (2018). Infant and child mortality in relation to malaria transmission in KEMRI/CDC HDSS, Western Kenya: Validation of verbal autopsy. *Malaria Journal*, *17*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-018-2184-x
- Amouzou, A., Banda, B., Kachaka, W., Joos, O., Kanyuka, M., Hill, K., & Bryce, J. (2014). Monitoring child mortality through community health worker reporting of births and deaths in Malawi: Validation against a household mortality survey. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088939
- Amouzou, A., Kachaka, W., Banda, B., Chimzimu, M., Hill, K., & Bryce, J. (2013). Monitoring child survival in "real time" using routine health facility records: Results from Malawi. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 18(10), 1231–1239. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12167
- Amouzou, A., Kidanu, A., Taddesse, N., Silva, R., Hazel, E., Bryce, J., & Black, R. E. (2015). Using health extension workers for monitoring child mortality in real-time: Validation against household survey data in rural Ethiopia. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(11), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0126909
- Amouzou, A., Kozuki, N., & Gwatkin, D. R. (2014). Where is the gap ?: the contribution of disparities within developing countries to global inequalities in under-five mortality. 1–5.
- Andersen, R., & Newman, J. F. (1973). Societal and individual determinants of medical care utilisation in the United States. *The Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly*, *51*(1), 95–124. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2005.00428.x
- Anderson, J. (2014). The Impact of Family Structure on the Health of Children: Effects of Divorce . *The Linacre Quarterly*, *81*(4), 378–387. https://doi.org/10.1179/0024363914z.0000000087
- Anker, M. (1997). The effect of misclassification error on reported cause-specific mortality fractions from verbal autopsy. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *26*(5), 1090–1096. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/26.5.1090
- Anyama, N., & Adome, R. O. (2003). Community pharmaceutical care: an 8-month critical review of two pharmacies in Kampala. *African Health Sciences*, 3(2), 87–93. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v3i2.6841

APHRC. (n.d.). *Central Data Catalog*. Https://Microdataportal.Aphrc.Org/Index.Php/Catalog/Central.

- Aranda-Ordaz, J., F. (1981). On Two Families of Transformations to Additivity for Binary Response Data. *Biometrika*, 68(2), 357–363. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.2307/2335580
- Arsenault, C., Jordan, K., Lee, D., Dinsa, G., Manzi, F., Marchant, T., & Kruk, M. E. (2018). Equity in antenatal care quality: an analysis of 91 national household surveys. *The Lancet Global Health*, *6*(11), e1186–e1195. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30389-9
- Aubel, J., Touré, I., & Diagne, M. (2004). Senegalese grandmothers promote improved maternal and child nutrition practices: The guardians of tradition are not averse to change. Social Science and Medicine, 59(5), 945–959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.11.044
- Austin, P., Ntenda, M., Chuang, K., Tiruneh, F. N., & Chuang, Y. (2014). Factors Associated with Infant Mortality in Malawi. *Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine*, *6*(4), 125–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecm.2014.06.005
- Awor, P., Wamani, H., Bwire, G., Jagoe, G., & Peterson, S. (2012). Private sector drug shops in integrated community case management of malaria, pneumonia, and diarrhea in children in Uganda. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, *87*(SUPPL.5), 92–96. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2012.11-0791
- Awor, P., Wamani, H., Tylleskar, T., Jagoe, G., & Peterson, S. (2014). Increased access to care and appropriateness of treatment at private sector drug shops with integrated management of malaria, pneumonia and diarrhoea: A quasi-experimental study in Uganda. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115440
- Awor, P., Wamani, H., Tylleskar, T., & Peterson, S. (2015). Drug seller adherence to clinical protocols with integrated management of malaria , pneumonia and diarrhoea at drug shops in Uganda. *Malaria Journal*, 10–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-015-0798-9
- Ayede, A. I., Kirolos, A., Fowobaje, K. R., Williams, L. J., Bakare, A. A., Oyewole, O. B., Olorunfemi, O. B., Kuna, O., Iwuala, N. T., Oguntoye, A., Kusoro, S. O., Okunlola, M. E., Qazi, S. A., Nair, H., Falade, A. G., & Campbell, H. (2018). A prospective validation study in South-West Nigeria on caregiver report of childhood pneumonia and antibiotic treatment using Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) and Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS) questions. *Journal of Global Health*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.08.020806
- Bado, A. R., & Susuman, A. S. (2016). Women's Education and Health Inequalities in Under-Five Mortality in Selected Sub- Saharan African Countries,1990 – 2015. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(7), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159186
- Bai, J., Wong, F. W. S., Bauman, A., & Mohsin, M. (2002). Parity and pregnancy outcomes. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 186(2), 274–278. https://doi.org/10.1067/mob.2002.119639
- Bai, X., Nath, I., Capon, A., Hasan, N., & Jaron, D. (2012). Health and wellbeing in the changing urban environment: Complex challenges, scientific responses, and the way forward. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 4(4), 465–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2012.09.009
- Baiden, F. (2006). Demographic surveillance sites and emerging challenges in international health. *World Health Organisation*, *84*(3), 163. http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/84/3/163.pdf
- Bailey, P. E., Andualem, W., Brun, M., Freedman, L., Gbangbade, S., Kante, M., Keyes, E., Libamba, E., Moran, A. C., Mouniri, H., Ould, D., & Singh, K. (2017). *Institutional maternal and perinatal deaths : a review of 40 low and middle income countries*. 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1479-1
- Bangura, A. H., Ozonoff, A., Citrin, D., Thapa, P., Nirola, I., Maru, S., Schwarz, R., Raut, A., Belbase, B., Halliday, S., Adhikari, M., & Dr, D. M. (2016). Practical issues in the measurement of child survival in health systems trials: Experience developing a digital community-based mortality surveillance programme in rural Nepal. *BMJ Global Health*, 1(4), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2016-000050
- Baral, R., Nonvignon, J., Debellut, F., Agyemang, S. A., Clark, A., & Pecenka, C. (2020). Cost of illness for childhood diarrhea in low- And middle-income countries: A systematic review of evidence

and modelled estimates. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08595-8

- Baratloo, A., Hosseini, M., Negida, A., & El Ashal, G. (2015). Part 1: Simple Definition and Calculation of Accuracy, Sensitivity and Specificity. *Emergency (Tehran, Iran)*, *3*(2), 48–49. https://doi.org/10.22037/emergency.v3i2.8154
- Barros, C., F., Matijasevich, A., Domingues, M. R., & Victora, C. G. (2011). How many low birthweight babies in low- and middle- income countries are preterm? *Rev. Saúde Pública*, *45*(3), 607–616. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-89102011005000019
- Barros, JD, A., Ronsmans, C., Axelson, H., Loaiza, E., Bertoldi, A. D., Frana, G. V., Bryce, J., Boerma, J. T., & Victora, C. G. (2012). Equity in maternal, newborn, and child health interventions in Countdown to 2015: A retrospective review of survey data from 54 countries. *The Lancet*, *379*(9822), 1225–1233. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60113-5
- Barros, A. J. D., & Victora, C. G. (2013). Measuring Coverage in MNCH: Determining and Interpreting Inequalities in Coverage of Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health Interventions. *PLoS Medicine*, 10(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001390
- Barros, A. J., Ronsmans, C., Axelson, H., Loaiza, E., Bertoldi, A. D., Frana, Giovanny, V., Bryce, J.,
 Boerma, J., T., & Victora, C. G. (2012). Equity in maternal, newborn, and child health
 interventions in Countdown to 2015: A retrospective review of survey data from 54 countries.
 The Lancet. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60113-5
- Bashshur, R., Doarn, C. R., Frenk, J. M., Kvedar, J. C., & Woolliscroft, J. O. (2020). Telemedicine and the COVID-19 pandemic, lessons for the future. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, *26*(5), 571–573. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2020.29040.rb
- Bawankule, R., Singh, A., Kumar, K., & Shetye, S. (2017). Does measles vaccination reduce the risk of Acute Respiratory Infection (ARI) and diarrhea in children: A multi-country study? *PLoS ONE*, *12*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169713
- Beattie, J. H. M. (1962). Twin Ceremonies in Bunyoro. *Royal Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland*, *92*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.2307/2844317
- Bellows, N. M., Bellows, B. W., & Warren, C. (2011). Systematic Review: the use of vouchers for reproductive health services in developing countries: systematic review. *Trop Med Int Health*, 16(1), 84–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.2010.02667.x
- Benova, L., Tunçalp, Ö., Moran, A. C., & Campbell, O. M. R. (2018). Not just a number: examining coverage and content of antenatal care in low-income and middle-income countries. *BMJ Global Health*, 3(2), e000779. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000779
- Berkley, S., Dybul, M., Godal, T., & Lake, A. (2014). Integration and innovation to advance newborn survival. *The Lancet*, *384*(9938), e22–e23. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60691-7
- Betancourt, J. A., Rosenberg, M. A., Zevallos, A., Brown, J. R., & Mileski, M. (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on Telemedicine Utilization Across Multiple Service Lines in the United States. *Healthcare*, 8(4), 380. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare8040380
- Bezner Kerr, R., Dakishoni, L., Shumba, L., Msachi, R., & Chirwa, M. (2008). "We Grandmothers Know Plenty": Breastfeeding, complementary feeding and the multifaceted role of grandmothers in Malawi. Social Science and Medicine, 66(5), 1095–1105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.11.019
- Bhatia, M. R., & Gorter, A. C. (2007). Improving access to reproductive and child health services in developing countries: Are competitive voucher schemes an option? *Journal of International Development*, *19*(7), 975–981. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1361
- Bhuiya, A., Hanifi, S. M. A., Urni, F., & Mahmood, S. S. (2009). Three methods to monitor utilization of healthcare services by the poor. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *8*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-8-29
- Bhutta, A., Z., Ali, S., Cousens, S., Ali, T. M., Haider, B. A., Rizvi, A., Okong, P., Bhutta, S. Z., & Black, R.
 E. (2008). Alma-Ata: Rebirth and Revision 6 Interventions to address maternal, newborn, and child survival: what difference can integrated primary health care strategies make? *The Lancet*,
372(9642), 972-989. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61407-5

- Bhutta, A., Z., Das, J. K., Rizvi, A., Gaff, M. F., Walker, N., Horton, S., Webb, P., Lartey, A., & Black, R.
 E. (2013). Maternal and Child Nutrition 2 Evidence-based interventions for improvement of maternal and child nutrition : what can be done and at what cost ? 382. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60996-4
- Bhutta, Z. A., Darmstadt, G. L., Haws, R. A., Yakoob, M., & Lawn, J. E. (2009). Delivering interventions to reduce the global burden of stillbirths: improving service supply and community demand.
 BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 9(Suppl 1), S7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-9-S1-S7
- Bhutta, Z. A., Das, J. K., Bahl, R., Lawn, J. E., Salam, R. A., Paul, V. K., Sankar, M. J., Blencowe, H., Rizvi, A., Chou, V. B., & Walker, N. (2014). Can available interventions end preventable deaths in mothers, newborn babies, and stillbirths, and at what cost? *The Lancet*, 384(9940), 347–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60792-3
- Bhutta, Z. A., Das, J. K., Walker, N., Rizvi, A., Campbell, H., Rudan, I., & Black, R. E. (2013). Interventions to address deaths from childhood pneumonia and diarrhoea equitably: What works and at what cost? *The Lancet*, *381*(9875), 1417–1429. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60648-0
- Bhutta, Z. A., Victora, C., Boerma, T., Kruk, M. E., Patton, G., Black, M. M., Sawyer, S., Horton, S., Black, R. E., & Horton, R. (2019). Optimising the continuum of child and adolescent health and development. *The Lancet*, *393*(10176), 1080–1082. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30488-X
- Bigdeli, M., Jacobs, B., Tomson, G., Laing, R., Ghaffar, A., Dujardin, B., & Van Damme, W. (2013). Access to medicines from a health system perspective. *Health Policy and Planning*, 28(7), 692– 704. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czs108
- Biks, G. A., Blencowe, H., Hardy, V. P., Geremew, B. M., Angaw, D. A., Wagnew, A., Abebe, S. M., Guadu, T., Martins, J. S. D., Fisker, A. B., Imam, M. A., Nettey, O. E. A., Kasasa, S., Di Stefano, L., Akuze, J., Kwesiga, D., Lawn, J. E., Byass, P., Lawn, J., ... Machiyama, K. (2021). Birthweight data completeness and quality in population-based surveys: EN-INDEPTH study. *Population Health Metrics*, 19(Suppl 1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12963-020-00229-w
- Black, R. E., Cousens, S., Johnson, H. L., Lawn, J. E., Rudan, I., Bassani, D. G., Jha, P., Campbell, H., & Walker, C. F. (2008). Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality in 2008 : a systematic analysis. *The Lancet*, *375*(9730), 1969–1987. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60549-1
- Blakely, T., Atkinson, J., Kiro, C., Blaiklock, A., & D'Souza, A. (2003). Child mortality, socioeconomic position, and one-parent families: Independent associations and variation by age and cause of death. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 32(3), 410–418. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyg154
- Blanc, A. K., & Wardlaw, T. (2005). Monitoring low birth weight: An evaluation of international estimates and an updated estimation procedure. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 83(3), 178–185. https://doi.org//S0042-96862005000300010
- Blencowe, H., Bottecchia, M., Kwesiga, D., Akuze, J., Haider, M. M., Galiwango, E., Dzabeng, F.,
 Fisker, A. B., Enuameh, Y. A. K., Geremew, B. M., Nareeba, T., Woodd, S., Beedle, A., Peven, K.,
 Cousens, S., Waiswa, P., Lawn, J. E., Byass, P., Tollman, S. M., ... Machiyama, K. (2021). Stillbirth
 outcome capture and classification in population-based surveys: EN-INDEPTH study. *Population Health Metrics*, *19*(Suppl 1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12963-020-00239-8
- Blencowe, H., Cousens, S., Oestergaard, M. Z., Chou, D., Moller, A., Narwal, R., Adler, A., Garcia, C. V., Rohde, S., Say, L., Lawn, J. E., Town, C., & Africa, S. (2012). National, regional, and worldwide estimates of preterm birth rates in the year 2010 with time trends since 1990 for selected countries : a systematic analysis and implications. *The Lancet*, *379*(9832), 2162–2172. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60820-4
- Blencowe, H., Krasevec, J., de Onis, M., Black, R. E., An, X., Stevens, G. A., Borghi, E., Hayashi, C., Estevez, D., Cegolon, L., Shiekh, S., Ponce Hardy, V., Lawn, J. E., & Cousens, S. (2019a). National,

regional, and worldwide estimates of low birthweight in 2015, with trends from 2000: a systematic analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7(7), e849–e860. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30565-5

- Blomberg, M., Tyrberg, R. B., & Kjølhede, P. (2014). Impact of maternal age on obstetric and neonatal outcome with emphasis on primiparous adolescents and older women : a Swedish Medical Birth Register Study. *BMJ Open*, *4*, e005840. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005840
- Blondel, B., Kogan, M. D., Alexander, G. R., Dattani, N., Kramer, M. S., Macfarlane, A., & Wen, S. W. (2002). The impact of the increasing number of multiple births on the rates of preterm birth and low birthweight: An international study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *92*(8), 1323–1330. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.92.8.1323
- Blumenthal, P. D., & Voedisch, A. (2011). *Strategies to prevent unintended pregnancy : increasing use of long- acting reversible contraception*. *17*(1), 121–137. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmq026
- Bocquier, P., Sankoh, O., & Byass, P. (2017). Are health and demographic surveillance system estimates sufficiently generalisable? *Global Health Action*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1356621
- Boerma, J., T., Bryce, J., Kinfu, Y., Axelson, H., Victora, C. G., Bernstein, S., Kirkwood, B., & Hosseinpoor, A. (2008). Mind the gap: equity and trends in coverage of maternal, newborn, and child health services in 54 Countdown countries. *The Lancet*, *371*(9620), 1259–1267. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60560-7
- Bohren, M. A., Vogel, J. P., Hunter, E. C., Lutsiv, O., Makh, S. K., Souza, J. P., Aguiar, C., Saraiva Coneglian, F., Diniz, A. L. A., Tunçalp, Ö., Javadi, D., Oladapo, O. T., Khosla, R., Hindin, M. J., & Gülmezoglu, A. M. (2015). The Mistreatment of Women during Childbirth in Health Facilities Globally: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review. *PLoS Medicine*, *12*(6), 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001847
- Bonner, A. (2018). The individual: Growing into society. In A. Bonner (Ed.), Social Determinants of Health: An Interdisciplinary Approach to Social Inequality and Well-Being (1st ed., pp. 3–16). Bristol University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt22p7kj8.7
- Breiman, L. (2001). Statistical modeling: The two cultures. *Statistical Science*, *16*(3), 199–215. https://doi.org/10.1214/ss/1009213726
- Brody, C. M., Bellows, N., Campbell, M., & Potts, M. (2013). The impact of vouchers on the use and quality of health care in developing countries: A systematic review. In *Global Public Health* (Vol. 8, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2012.759254
- Bryce, J. (2016). "Real-Time" Monitoring of Under-Five Mortality: A Vision Tempered by Reality. *PLoS Medicine*, *13*(1), e1001912. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001912
- Bryce, J., Amouzou, A., Victor, C. G., Jones, G., Silva, R., Hill, K., & Blac, R. E. (2016). "Real-time" monitoring of under-five mortality: Lessons for strengthened vital statistics systems. *PLoS Medicine*, 13(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001904
- Bundy, D. A. P., de Silva, N., Horton, S., Patton, G. C., Schultz, L., Jamison, D. T., Abubakara, A., Ahuja, A., Alderman, H., Allen, N., Appleby, L., Aurino, E., Azzopardi, P., Baird, S., Banham, L., Behrman, J., Benzian, H., Bhalotra, S., Bhutta, Z., ... Sawyer, S. M. (2018). Investment in child and adolescent health and development: key messages from Disease Control Priorities, 3rd Edition. *The Lancet*, *391*(10121), 687–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32417-0
- Bundy, D. A. P., Shaeffer, S., Jukes, M., Gillespie, A., Drake, L., Lee, S. F., Hoffman, A., Jones, J.,
 Mitchell, A., Barcelona, D., Camara, B., Golmar, C., Savioli, L., Sembene, M., Takeuchi, T., &
 Wright, C. (2006). School-Based Health and Nutrition Programs. In T. D. JamisonJoel, G. B.
 Musgrove, R. A. Measham, G. Alleyne, M. Claeson, B. D. Evans, P. Jha, A. Mills, & P. Musgrove
 (Eds.), *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries* (Second Edi). The World Bank and Oxford University Press.
- Burton-Jeangros, C., Cullati, S., Sacker, A., & Blane, D. (2015). A Life Course Perspective on Health

Trajectories and Transitions (C. Burton-Jeangros, S. Cullati, A. Sacker, & D. Blane (eds.); 1st ed.). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20484-0

- Byass, P., Hussain-Alkhateeb, L., D'Ambruoso, L., Clark, S., Davies, J., Fottrell, E., Bird, J., Kabudula, C., Tollman, S., Kahn, K., Schiöler, L., & Petzold, M. (2019). An integrated approach to processing WHO-2016 verbal autopsy data: The InterVA-5 model. *BMC Medicine*, *17*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1333-6
- Cable, N. (2014). Life course approach in social epidemiology: An overview, application and future implications. *Journal of Epidemiology*, *24*(5), 347–352. https://doi.org/10.2188/jea.JE20140045
- Caleyachetty, R., Tait, C. A., Kengne, A. P., Corvalan, C., Uauy, R., & Echouff o-Tcheugui, J. B. E. (2014). Tobacco use in pregnant women: Analysis of data from Demographic and Health Surveys from 54 low-income and middle-income countries. *The Lancet Global Health*, 2(9), e513–e520. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70283-9
- Campbell, H., el Arifeen, S., Hazir, T., O'Kelly, J., Bryce, J., Rudan, I., & Qazi, S. A. (2013). Measuring Coverage in MNCH: Challenges in Monitoring the Proportion of Young Children with Pneumonia Who Receive Antibiotic Treatment. *PLoS Medicine*, *10*(5), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001421
- Campbell, S. (2014). Fetal macrosomia: A problem in need of a policy. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *43*(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/uog.13268
- Campos, P. A., & Reich, M. R. (2019). Political Analysis for Health Policy Implementation. *Health Systems and Reform*, *5*(3), 224–235. https://doi.org/10.1080/23288604.2019.1625251
- Carpenter, J. R., & Kenward, M. G. (2013). *Multiple Imputation and its Application* (1st ed.). Wiley.
- Cesar, G., V., Sandra, C., F., Antonio, Jose, C., F., Fonseca, W., & Kirkwood, B. (1994). Risk Factors for Pneumonia Among Children in Brazilian Metropolitan Area. *Pediatrics*, *93*(6), 977–985.
- Chan, M., & Lake, A. (2013). Integrated action for the prevention and control of pneumonia and diarrhoea. *The Lancet*, *381*(9876), 1436–1437. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60692-3
- Chan, M., Lake, A., & Hansen, K. (2016). The early years: silent emergency or unique opportunity? *Lancet, 6736*(16), 2016–2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31701-9
- Chandramohan, D., Setel, P., & Quigley, M. (2001). Effect of misclassification of causes of death in verbal autopsy: Can it be adjusted? *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *30*(3), 509–514. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/30.3.509
- Chandramohan, D., Shibuya, K., Setel, P., Cairncross, S., Lopez, A. D., Murray, C. J. L., Zaba, B., Snow, R. W., & Binka, F. (2008). Should data from demographic surveillance systems be made more widely available to researchers? *PLoS Medicine*, *5*(2), 0169–0173. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0050057
- Channon, A. A. R., Padmadas, S. S., & McDonald, J. W. (2011). Measuring birth weight in developing countries: Does the method of reporting in retrospective surveys matter? *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *15*(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-009-0553-3
- Charlan, D. K., Kristin, M. R., David, A. C., Roux, A. V. D., & Violanda, G. (2015). Using the Principles of Complex Systems Thinking and Implementation Science to Enhance Maternal and Child Health Program Planning and Delivery. *Matern Child Health J*, 18(7), 1560–1564. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-014-1586-9.Using
- Chen, X., Wen, S. W., Fleming, N., Demissie, K., Rhoads, G. G., & Walker, M. (2007). Teenage pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes : a large population based retrospective cohort study. *International Journal of Epidemiology 2007;36:368–373, 36,* 368–373. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyl284
- Chin-Quee, D., Mugeni, C., Nkunda, D., Uwizeye, M. R., Stockton, L. L., & Wesson, J. (2016). Balancing workload, motivation and job satisfaction in Rwanda: Assessing the effect of adding family planning service provision to community health worker duties. *Reproductive Health*, 13(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-015-0110-z
- Christiansen, C. S., Gibbs, S., & Chandra-Mouli, V. (2013). Preventing early pregnancy and pregnancyrelated mortality and morbidity in adolescents in developing countries: The place of

interventions in the prepregnancy period. *Journal of Pregnancy*, *2013*, 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/257546

- Christmals, C. Dela, & Armstrong, S. J. (2019). The essence, opportunities and threats to Advanced Practice Nursing in Sub-Saharan Africa: A scoping review. *Heliyon*, *5*(10), e02531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02531
- Clark, H., Coll-Seck, A. M., Banerjee, A., Peterson, S., Dalglish, S. L., Ameratunga, S., Balabanova, D., Bhan, M. K., Bhutta, Z. A., Borrazzo, J., Claeson, M., Doherty, T., El-Jardali, F., George, A. S., Gichaga, A., Gram, L., Hipgrave, D. B., Kwamie, A., Meng, Q., ... Costello, A. (2020). A future for the world's children? A WHO–UNICEF–Lancet Commission. *The Lancet*, *395*(10224), 605–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32540-1
- Clark, S., & Hamplová, D. (2013). Single Motherhood and Child Mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Life Course Perspective. *Demography*, *50*(5), 1521–1549. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-013-0220-6
- Cohen, J. J., Blevins, M., Mapenzi, A., Reppart, L., Reppart, J., Mainthia, R., & Wester, C. W. (2014). Overcoming the perceived barriers to health care access among single mothers in coastal Kenya. *International Journal of Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-013-0511-0
- Colony, K. (2008). Kangaroo Mother Care for Low Birth Weight Infants : A Randomized Controlled Trial.
- Colvin, C. J., Konopka, S., Chalker, J. C., Jonas, E., Albertini, J., Amzel, A., & Fogg, K. (2014). A systematic review of health system barriers and enablers for Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) for HIV-infected pregnant and postpartum women. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108150
- Colvin, C. J., Smith, H. J., Swartz, A., Ahs, J. W., de Heer, J., Opiyo, N., Kim, J. C., Marraccini, T., & George, A. (2013). Understanding careseeking for child illness in sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review and conceptual framework based on qualitative research of household recognition and response to child diarrhoea, pneumonia and malaria. *Social Science and Medicine*, *86*, 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.02.031
- Comfort, A. B., Chankova, S., Juras, R., Hsi, C. N., Peterson, L. A., & Hathi, P. (2016). Providing free pregnancy test kits to community health workers increases distribution of contraceptives: Results from an impact evaluation in Madagascar. *Contraception*, *93*(1), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2015.09.011
- Comfort, A. B., Juras, R. C., Bradley, S. E. K., Ranjalahy Rasolofomanana, J., Noeliarivelo Ranjalahy, A., & Harper, C. C. (2019). Do home pregnancy tests bring women to community health workers for antenatal care counselling A randomized controlled trial in Madagascar. *Health Policy and Planning*, 34(8), 566–573. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czz080
- Connelly, J. (2001). Critical realism and health promotion: Effective practice needs an effective theory. *Health Education Research*, *16*(2), 115–119. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/16.2.115
- Cooper, C. M., Ogutu, A., Matiri, E., Tappis, H., Mackenzie, D., Pfitzer, A., & Galloway, R. (2017).
 Maximizing Opportunities : Family Planning and Maternal , Infant , and Young Child Nutrition Integration in Bondo Sub- County , Kenya. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 21(10), 1880– 1889. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2341-9
- Correa, M., Zimic, M., Barrientos, F., Barrientos, R., Román-Gonzalez, A., Pajuelo, M. J., Anticona, C., Mayta, H., Alva, A., Solis-Vasquez, L., Figueroa, D. A., Chavez, M. A., Lavarello, R., Castañeda, B., Paz-Soldán, V. A., Checkley, W., Gilman, R. H., & Oberhelman, R. (2018). Automatic classification of pediatric pneumonia based on lung ultrasound pattern recognition. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(12), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206410
- Costet, N., Ac, S., Danileviciute, A., Eggesbø, M., Mf, F., Fevotte, J., Am, G., Gražuleviciene, R., Hallner, E., Hanke, W., Kull, I., P, S. L., Melaki, V., Monfort, C., K-c, N., A-m, A., Patelarou, E., Polanska, K., Richiardi, L., ... Vrijheid, M. (2015). Maternal occupation during pregnancy , birth weight , and cohorts Maternal occupation during pregnancy , birth weight , and length of gestation : *Scand J Work Environ Health*, *41*(4), 384–396. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3500

- Countdown to 2030. (2017). Tracking progress towards universal coverage for women's, children's and adolescents' health. The 2017 Report. http://countdown2030.org
- Coveney, J. (2008). "FIRTHLOGIT: Stata module to calculate bias reduction in logistic regression," Statistical Software Components S456948, Boston College Department of Economics, revised 25 Jul 2015.
- CSDH. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. In *World Health Organisation*. World Health Organization.

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43943/9789241563703_eng.pdf;jsess

- Cunningham, S. A., Shaikh, N. I., Nhacolo, A., Raghunathan, P. L., Kotloff, K., Naser, A. M., Mengesha, M. M., Adedini, S. A., Misore, T., Onuwchekwa, U. U., Worrell, M. C., El Arifeen, S., Assefa, N., Chowdhury, A. I., Kaiser, R., Madhi, S. A., Mehta, A., Obor, D., Sacoor, C., ... Breiman, R. F. (2019). Health and Demographic Surveillance Systems within the Child Health and Mortality Prevention Surveillance Network. *Clinical Infectious Diseases, 69*(Suppl 4), S274–S279. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz609
- Cutland, C. L., Lackritz, E. M., Mallett-Moore, T., Bardají, A., Chandrasekaran, R., Lahariya, C., Nisar, M. I., Tapia, M. D., Pathirana, J., Kochhar, S., & Muñoz, F. M. (2017). Low birth weight: Case definition & guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of maternal immunization safety data. *Vaccine*, *35*(48), 6492–6500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.01.049
- da Cunha, A. J. L. A., Leite, Á. J. M., & de Almeida, I. S. (2015). Atuação do pediatra nos primeiros mil dias da criança: A busca pela nutrição e desenvolvimento saudáveis. *Jornal de Pediatria*, *91*(6), S44–S51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jped.2015.07.002
- Da Silva, F. T., Gonik, B., McMillan, M., Keech, C., Dellicour, S., Bhange, S., Tila, M., Harper, D. M., Woods, C., Kawai, A. T., Kochhar, S., & Munoz, F. M. (2016). Stillbirth: Case definition and guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of maternal immunization safety data. *Vaccine*, *34*(49), 6057–6068. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.03.044
- Dahlui, M., Azahar, N., Oche, O. M., & Aziz, N. A. (2016). Risk factors for low birth weight in Nigeria: Evidence from the 2013 Nigeria Demographic and Health Survey. *Global Health Action*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v9.28822
- Daoud, A., Kim, R., & Subramanian, S. V. (2019). Predicting women's height from their socioeconomic status: A machine learning approach. *Social Science and Medicine*, 238(January), 112486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112486
- Darmstadt, L., G., Bhutta, A., Z., Cousens, S., Adam, T., Walker, N., & De Bernis, L. (2005). Evidencebased, cost-effective interventions: How many newborn babies can we save? *Lancet*, *365*(9463), 977–988. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71088-6
- Darmstadt, L., G., Marchant, T., Claeson, M., Brown, W., Morris, S., Donnay, F., Taylor, M., Ferguson, R., Voller, S., Teela, C., K., Makowiecka, K., Hill, Z., Mangham-Jefferies, L., Avan, B., Spicer, N., Engmann, C., Twum-Danso, N., Somers, K., Kraushaar, D., & Schellenberg, J. (2013). A strategy for reducing maternal and newborn deaths by 2015 and beyond. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*, *13*, 216. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-216
- Darmstadt, G. L., Oot, D. A., & Lawn, J. E. (2012). Newborn survival: Changing the trajectory over the next decade. *Health Policy and Planning*, *27*(SUPPL.3), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czs054
- Darmstadt, G. L., Shiffman, J., & Lawn, J. E. (2015). Advancing the newborn and stillbirth global agenda: Priorities for the next decade. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, *100*(Suppl 1), S13–S18. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2013-305557

Das, J. K., Kumar, R., Salam, R. A., Lassi, Z. S., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2014). Evidence from facility level inputs to improve quality of care for maternal and newborn health: interventions and findings. *Reproductive Health*, 11 Suppl 2(Suppl 2), S2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-S2-S2

de Savigny, D., Riley, I., Chandramohan, D., Odhiambo, F., Nichols, E., Notzon, S., AbouZahr, C., Mitra, R., Muñoz, D. C., Firth, S., Mairea, N., Sankoh, O., Bronson, G., Setel, P., Byass, P., Jakob, R., Boerman, T., & Lopez, A. D. (2017). Integrating community-based verbal autopsy into civil registration and vital statistics (CRVS): System-level considerations. *Global Health Action*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1272882

- Dean, S. V., Lassi, Z. S., Imam, A. M., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2014a). Preconception care: Nutritional risks and interventions. *Reproductive Health*, *11*(Suppl 3), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-S3-S3
- Dean, S. V., Lassi, Z. S., Imam, A. M., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2014b). Preconception care: Promoting reproductive planning. *Reproductive Health*, *11*(Suppl 3), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-S3-S2
- Dean, S. V, Mason, E. M., Howson, C. P., Lassi, Z. S., Imam, A. M., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2013). Born Too Soon : Care before and between pregnancy to prevent preterm births : from evidence to action. 10(Suppl 1), 1–16.
- Delen, D., Oztekin, A., & Kong, Z. (2010). A machine learning-based approach to prognostic analysis of thoracic transplantations. *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine*, *49*(1), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.artmed.2010.01.002
- Demelash, H., Motbainor, A., Nigatu, D., Gashaw, K., & Melese, A. (2015). Risk factors for low birth weight in Bale zone hospitals, South-East Ethiopia: a case control study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 264. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-015-0677-y
- Demographic and Health Survey. (n.d.). *DHS-8 Questionnaires: Revision Process and New Content Review Process*. Retrieved January 10, 2022, from https://dhsprogram.com/
- DeNicola, N., Grossman, D., Marko, K., Sonalkar, S., Butler Tobah, Y. S., Ganju, N., Witkop, C. T., Henderson, J. T., Butler, J. L., & Lowery, C. (2020). Telehealth Interventions to Improve Obstetric and Gynecologic Health Outcomes: A Systematic Review. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 135(2), 371–382. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000003646
- Dhaded, S. M., Somannavar, M. S., Vernekar, S. S., Goudar, S. S., Mwenche, M., Derman, R., Moore, J. L., Patel, A., Pasha, O., Esamai, F., Garces, A., Althabe, F., Chomba, E., Liechty, E. A., Hambidge, K. M., Krebs, N. F., Berrueta, M., Ciganda, A., Hibberd, P. L., ... Carlo, W. A. (2015). Neonatal mortality and coverage of essential newborn interventions 2010 2013 : a prospective , population-based study from low-middle income countries. *Reproductive Health*, *12*(Suppl 2), S6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-12-S2-S6
- Diaz, T., Strong, K. L., Cao, B., Guthold, R., Moran, A. C., Moller, A.-B., Requejo, J., Sadana, R., Thiyagarajan, J. A., Adebayo, E., Akwara, E., Amouzou, A., Aponte Varon, J. J., Azzopardi, P. S., Boschi-Pinto, C., Carvajal, L., Chandra-Mouli, V., Crofts, S., Dastgiri, S., ... Banerjee, A. (2021). A call for standardised age-disaggregated health data. *The Lancet Healthy Longevity*, *2*(7), e436– e443. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2666-7568(21)00115-x
- Dickson, K. E., Simen-Kapeu, A., Kinney, M. V., Huicho, L., Vesel, L., Lackritz, E., De Graft Johnson, J., Von Xylander, S., Rafique, N., Sylla, M., Mwansambo, C., Daelmans, B., & Lawn, J. E. (2014).
 Every Newborn: Health-systems bottlenecks and strategies to accelerate scale-up in countries. *The Lancet*, 384(9941), 438–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60582-1
- Donnell, O. O. (2007). Access to health care in developing countries : breaking down demand side barriers. *Cad Saude Publica.*, *23*(12), 2820–2834. https://doi.org/S0102-311X2007001200003 [pii]
- Dudenhausen, J. W., & Maier, R. F. (2010). Perinatale probleme von mehrlingen. *Deutsches Arzteblatt*, *107*(38), 663–668. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2010.0663
- Dungumaro, W. (2013). Gender Differentials in Household Structure and Socioeconomic Characteristics in South Africa Author (s): Esther W. Dungumaro Source : Journal of Comparative Family Studies, Vol. 39, No. 4 (AUTUMN 2008), pp. 429-451 Published by : Dr. George Ku. 39(4), 429–451.
- Dyregrov, K. (2004). Bereaved parents' experience of research participation. In *Social Science & Medicine* (Vol. 58, Issue 2, pp. 391–400). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00205-3
- Earls, F., & Carlson, M. (2001). The social ecology of child health and well-being. In Annual Review of

Public Health (Vol. 22, Issue 1, pp. 143–166).

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.22.1.143

- Edson, C., U., Sahu, S. K., Atkinson, P. M., Tejedor-Garavito, N., Lloyd, C. T., & Tatem, A. J. (2018). Geographic coverage of demographic surveillance systems for characterising the drivers of childhood mortality in sub-Saharan Africa. *BMJ Global Health*, *3*(2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000611
- Ehrenstein, O. S. Von, Wilhelm, M., Wang, A., & Ritz, B. (2014). Preterm Birth and Prenatal Maternal Occupation : The Role of Hispanic Ethnicity and Nativity in a Population-Based Sample in Los Angeles , California. *RESEARCH AND PRACTICE*, 104(S1), 65–73. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301457
- Ekirapa-Kiracho, E., Tetui, M., Bua, J., Kananura, R. M., Waiswa, P., Makumbi, F., Atuyambe, L.,
 Ajeani, J., George, A., Mutebi, A., Kakaire, A., Namazzi, G., Paina, L., & Kiwanuka, S. N. (2017).
 Maternal and neonatal implementation for equitable systems. A study design paper. *Global Health Action*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1346925
- Ekirapa-Kiracho, Elizabeth, Namazzi, G., Tetui, M., Mutebi, A., Waiswa, P., Oo, H., Peters, D. H., & George, A. S. (2016). Unlocking community capabilities for improving maternal and newborn health: participatory action research to improve birth preparedness, health facility access, and newborn care in rural Uganda. *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*(Suppl 7), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1864-x
- Ekirapa Kiracho, E., DE BROUCKER, G., SSEBAGEREKA, A., MUTEBI, A., Racheal APOLOT, R., PATENAUDE, B., & CONSTENLA, D. (2021). The Economic Burden of Pneumonia in Children Under Five in Uganda. *Vaccine: X, 8,* 100095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvacx.2021.100095
- Elizabeth Heger, B., King, M., & Sobek, M. (2019). *PUMS-Demographic and Health Surveys: Version 7*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.18128/D080.V7
- Elmusharaf, K., Byrne, E., & Donovan, D. O. (2015). Strategies to increase demand for maternal health services in resource-limited settings : challenges to be addressed. *BMC Public Health*, *15*(870), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2222-3
- Engel, P. J., Smith, R., Brinsmead, M. W., Bowe, S. J., & Clifton, V. L. (2008). Male sex and pre-existing diabetes are independent risk factors for stillbirth. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 48(4), 375–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-828X.2008.00863.x
- Engmann, C. M., Khan, S., Moyer, C. A., Coffey, P. S., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2016). Transformative Innovations in Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health over the Next 20 Years. *PLoS Medicine*, *13*(3), e1001969. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001969
- Engmann, C., Wall, S., Darmstadt, G., Valsangkar, B., Claeson, M., & Acceleration, K. M. C. (2013). Consensus on kangaroo mother care acceleration. *The Lancet, 382*(9907), e26–e27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62293-X
- Esssien, E., Ifenne, D., Sabitu, K., Musa, A., Altimu'azu, M., Adidu, V., Golji, N., & Mukaddas, M. (1997). Community loan funds and transport services for obstetric emergencies in northern Nigeria. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 59(Suppl. 2), S237–S244. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0020-7292(97)00171-9
- Every Woman Every Child. (2015). *The global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health (2016-2030)*. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Fadl, N., Ashour, A., & Yousry Muhammad, Y. (2020). Pneumonia among under-five children in Alexandria, Egypt: a case-control study. *Journal of the Egyptian Public Health Association*, *95*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s42506-020-00043-0
- Fall, C. H. D., Sachdev, H. S., Osmond, C., Restrepo-Mendez, M. C., Victora, C., Martorell, R., Stein, A. D., Sinha, S., Tandon, N., Adair, L., Bas, I., Norris, S., Richter, L. M., Barros, F. C., Gigante, D., Hallal, P. C., Horta, B. L., Ramirez-Zea, M., Bhargava, S. K., ... Stein, A. (2015). Association between maternal age at childbirth and child and adult outcomes in the offspring: A prospective study in five low-income and middle-income countries (COHORTS collaboration).

The Lancet Global Health, *3*(7), e366–e377. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(15)00038-8

Fawole, A. O., Shah, A., Tongo, O., Dara, K., El-Ladan, A. M., Umezulike, A. C., Alu, F. E., Eniayewun, A. B., Fabanwo, A. O., Adewunmi, A. A., Adegbola, O., Adebayo, A. A., Obaitan, F. O., Onala, O. E., Usman, Y., Sullayman, A. O., Kailani, S., & Sa'id, M. (2011). Determinants of perinatal mortality in Nigeria. *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2011.01.013

Feachem, R. G., & Koblinsky, M. A. (1983). Interventions for the control of diarrhoeal diseases among young children: Measles immunization. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 61(4), 641– 652.

Fenn, B., Kirkwood, B. R., Popatia, Z., & Bradley, D. J. (2007). Inequities in neonatal survival interventions: Evidence from national surveys. Archives of Disease in Childhood: Fetal and Neonatal Edition. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2006.104836

Fenta, S. M., & Nigussie, T. Z. (2021). Factors associated with childhood diarrheal in Ethiopia; a multilevel analysis. Archives of Public Health, 79(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-021-00566-8

Ferdous, F., Das, S. K., Ahmed, S., Farzana, F. D., Latham, J. R., Chisti, M. J., Ud-Din, A. I. M. S., Azmi, I. J., Talukder, K. A., & Faruque, A. S. G. (2013). Severity of diarrhea and malnutrition among under five-year-old children in rural Bangladesh. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, *89*(2), 223–228. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.12-0743

Fonseca Lima, E. J. da, Mello, M. J. G., Albuquerque, M. de F. P. M. de, Lopes, M. I. L., Serra, G. H. C., Lima, D. E. P., & Correia, J. B. (2016). Risk factors for community-acquired pneumonia in children under five years of age in the post-pneumococcal conjugate vaccine era in Brazil: A case control study. *BMC Pediatrics*, 16(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-016-0695-6

Fotso, J. C. (2007). Urban-rural differentials in child malnutrition: Trends and socioeconomic correlates in sub-Saharan Africa. *Health and Place*, *13*(1), 205–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2006.01.004

Fuller, D., Buote, R., & Stanley, K. (2017). A glossary for big data in population and public health: Discussion and commentary on terminology and research methods. *Journal of Epidemiology* and Community Health, 71(11), 1113–1117. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2017-209608

Galle, A., Semaan, A., Huysmans, E., Audet, C., Asefa, A., Delvaux, T., Afolabi, B. B., El Ayadi, A. M., & Benova, L. (2021). A double-edged sword-telemedicine for maternal care during COVID-19: Findings from a global mixed-methods study of healthcare providers. *BMJ Global Health*, *6*(2). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-004575

 Gebru, T., Taha, M., & Kassahun, W. (2014). Risk factors of diarrhoeal disease in under-five children among health extension model and non-model families in Sheko district rural community, Southwest Ethiopia: Comparative cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-395

Gee, M., Piercy, H., & Machaczek, K. (2017). Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare Family planning decisions for parents of children with a rare genetic condition : A scoping review. *Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare*, 14, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2017.08.001

Gernand, A. D., Paul, R. R., Ullah, B., Taher, M. A., Witter, F. R., Wu, L., Labrique, A. B., West, K. P., & Christian, P. (2016). A home calendar and recall method of last menstrual period for estimating gestational age in rural Bangladesh: a validation study. *Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition, 35*(1), 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41043-016-0072-y

Gerritsen, A., Bocquier, P., White, M., Mbacke, C., Alam, N., Beguy, D., Odhiambo, F., Sacoor, C., Phuc, H. D., Punpuing, S., & Collinson, M. A. (2013). Health and demographic surveillance systems: Contributing to an understandingof the dynamics in migration and health. *Global Health Action*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v6i0.21496

Getahun, D., Lawrence, J. M., Fassett, M. J., Strickland, D., Koebnick, C., Chen, W., & Jacobsen, S. J. (2009). The association between stillbirth in the first pregnancy and subsequent adverse perinatal outcomes. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *201*(4), 378.e1-378.e6.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.06.071

- Ghosh-Jerath, S., Devasenapathy, N., Singh, A., Shankar, A., & Zodpey, S. (2015). Ante natal care (ANC) utilization, dietary practices and nutritional outcomes in pregnant and recently delivered women in urban slums of Delhi, India: an exploratory cross-sectional study. *Reproductive Health*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-015-0008-9
- Ghosh, K., Chakraborty, A. S., & Mog, M. (2021). Prevalence of diarrhoea among under five children in India and its contextual determinants: A geo-spatial analysis. *Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health*, *12*(March), 100813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cegh.2021.100813
- Gilson, L., Barasa, E., Nxumalo, N., Cleary, S., Goudge, J., Molyneux, S., Tsofa, B., & Lehmann, U. (2017). Everyday resilience in district health systems: Emerging insights from the front lines in Kenya and South Africa. *BMJ Global Health*, *2*(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2016-000224
- Goldenberg, R. L., McClure, E. M., & Saleem, S. (2018). Improving pregnancy outcomes in low- and middle-income countries. *Reproductive Health*, *15*, 2017–2018. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-018-0524-5
- Government of Uganda. (2006). The Employment Act, 2006. In Uganda Gazette of the Uganda Publishing and Printing Corporation (UPPC), Entebbe (pp. 1–52). https://ulii.org/akn/ug/act/2006/6/eng@2006-06-08
- Government of Uganda, & Ministry of Gender Labour and Social Development. (2016). *The National Integrated Early Childhood Development Policy Action Plan of Uganda (2016-2021)* (Issue March). Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development. http://health.go.ug/sites/default/files/FINAL_National_Integrated_ECD_ACTION_PLAN_Approv ed.pdf
- Government of Uganda, & Ministry of Health. (2015). Health Sector Development Plan 2015/16 2019/20. In *Ministry of Health* (Issue September). Ministry of Health, Uganda. http://health.go.ug/sites/default/files/Health Sector Development Plan 2015-16 2019-20.pdf
- Government of Uganda, & Ministry of Health. (2016). Investment Case for reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health sharpened plan for Uganda 2016/17 - 2019/20. In *Ministry of Health, Kampala* (Issue April 2016). http://health.go.ug/sites/default/files/RMNCAH Sharpened Plan%2C Final June 2017.pdf
- Graham, J. W., Olchowski, A. E., & Gilreath, T. D. (2007). How many imputations are really needed? Some practical clarifications of multiple imputation theory. *Prevention Science*, *8*(3), 206–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-007-0070-9
- Grainger, C., Gorter, A., Okal, J., & Bellows, B. (2014). Lessons from sexual and reproductive health voucher program design and function: A comprehensive review. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-13-33
- Grépin, K. A., & Bharadwaj, P. (2015). Maternal education and child mortality in Zimbabwe. *Journal of Health Economics*, 44(2015), 97–117.
- Grønvik, T., & Sandøy, I. F. (2018). Complications associated with adolescent childbearing in Sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(9), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204327
- Gupta, M. L., Aborigo, R. A., Adongo, P. B., Rominski, S., Hodgson, A., Engmann, C. M., & Moyer, C. A. (2015). Grandmothers as gatekeepers? The role of grandmothers in influencing health-seeking for mothers and newborns in rural northern Ghana. *Global Public Health*, *10*(9), 1078–1091. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2014.1002413
- Gupta, S., Tran, T., Luo, W., Phung, D., Kennedy, R. L., Broad, A., Campbell, D., Kipp, D., Singh, M., Khasraw, M., Matheson, L., Ashley, D. M., & Venkatesh, S. (2014). Machine-learning prediction of cancer survival: A retrospective study using electronic administrative records and a cancer registry. *BMJ Open*, 4(3), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004007
- Hadar, E., Ashwal, E., & Hod, M. (2015). Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology The preconceptional period as an opportunity for prediction and prevention of

noncommunicable disease. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 29*(1), 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2014.05.011

- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2006). *Multivariate Data Analysis* (Seventh Ed). Pearson Education Limited.
- Hale, L., Davanzo, J., & Razzaque, A. (2009). Which factors explain the decline in infant and child mortality in Matlab, Bangladesh? *Journal of Population Research*, 26(1), 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12546-008-9003-0
- Halfon, N., Larson, K., Lu, M., Tullis, E., & Russ, S. (2014). *Lifecourse Health Development: Past, Present and Future*. 344–365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-013-1346-2
- Halonen, J. I., Vahtera, J., Oksanen, T., Pentti, J., Virtanen, M., Jokela, M., Diez-Roux, A. V., & Kivimäki, M. (2013). Socioeconomic characteristics of residential areas and risk of death: Is variation in spatial units for analysis a source of heterogeneity in observed associations? *BMJ Open*, *3*(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002474
- Halsey, L. G. (2019). The reign of the p-value is over: What alternative analyses could we employ to fill the power vacuum? *Biology Letters*, *15*(5). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2019.0174
- Hanson, C., Munjanja, S., Binagwaho, A., Vwalika, B., Pembe, A. B., Jacinto, E., Chilinda, G. K., Donahoe, K. B., Wanyonyi, S. Z., Waiswa, P., Gidiri, M. F., & Benova, L. (2019). National policies and care provision in pregnancy and childbirth for twins in eastern and southern africa: A mixed-methods multi-country study. *PLoS Medicine*, *16*(2), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002749
- Hargreaves, J. R., Morison, L. A., Gear, J. S. S., Kim, J. C., Makhubele, M. B., Porter, J. D. H., Watts, C., & Pronyk, P. M. (2007). Assessing household wealth in health studies in developing countries: A comparison of participatory wealth ranking and survey techniques from rural South Africa. *Emerging Themes in Epidemiology*, 4, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-7622-4-4
- Haskins, L., Grant, M., Phakathi, S., Wilford, A., Jama, N., & Horwood, C. (2017). Insights into health care seeking behaviour for children in communities in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine*, *9*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4102/phcfm.v9i1.1378
- Hassen, S., Getachew, M., Eneyew, B., Keleb, A., Ademas, A., Berihun, G., Berhanu, L., Yenuss, M., Natnael, T., Kebede, A. B., & Sisay, T. (2020). Determinants of acute respiratory infection (ARI) among under-five children in rural areas of Legambo District, South Wollo Zone, Ethiopia: A matched case–control study. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases, 96*, 688–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.05.012
- Hatt, L., Stanton, C., Ronsmans, C., Makowiecka, K., & Adisasmita, A. (2017). *Did professional attendance at home births improve early neonatal survival in Indonesia ?* 1(April 2009), 270–278. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czp012
- Haver, J., Brieger, W., Zoungrana, J., Ansari, N., & Kagoma, J. (2015). Experiences engaging community health workers to provide maternal and newborn health services: Implementation of four programs. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics: The Official Organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, 130 Suppl*, S32-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.03.006
- Haws, R. A., Thomas, A. L., Bhutta, Z. A., & Darmstadt, G. L. (2007). Impact of packaged interventions on neonatal health: A review of the evidence. *Health Policy and Planning*, 22(4), 193–215. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czm009
- Haws, R. A., Yakoob, M., Soomro, T., Menezes, E. V, Darmstadt, G. L., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2009).
 Reducing stillbirths: screening and monitoring during pregnancy and labour. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 9(Suppl 1), S5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-9-S1-S5
- Hay, K., McDougal, L., Percival, V., Henry, S., Klugman, J., Wurie, H., Raven, J., Shabalala, F., Fielding-Miller, R., Dey, A., Dehingia, N., Morgan, R., Atmavilas, Y., Saggurti, N., Yore, J., Blokhina, E., Huque, R., Barasa, E., Bhan, N., ... Rao Gupta, G. (2019). Disrupting gender norms in health systems: making the case for change. *The Lancet*, 393(10190), 2535–2549.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30648-8

- He, Z., Bishwajit, G., Yaya, S., Cheng, Z., Zou, D., & Zhou, Y. (2018). Prevalence of low birth weight and its association with maternal body weight status in selected countries in Africa: A crosssectional study. *BMJ Open*, 8(8), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020410
- Heather M, W., Selina K, W., Therese, D., Helen M, W., & Mary J, R. (2017). Breastfeeding education and support for women with twins or higher order multiples. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012003.pub2.www.cochranelibrary.com
- Heazell, A. E. P., & Clewlow, J. (2015). Protecting families from recurrent stillbirth. *BMJ (Online)*, *350*(June), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h3262
- Heer, D. M. (1986). Effect of number, order, and spacing of siblings on child and adult outcomes: an overview of current research. *Social Biology*, 33(1–2), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1080/19485565.1986.9988617
- Helleringer, S., Arhinful, D., Abuaku, B., Humes, M., Wilson, E., Marsh, A., Clermont, A., Black, R. E., Bryce, J., & Amouzou, A. (2018). Using community-based reporting of vital events to monitor child mortality: Lessons from rural Ghana. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192034
- Hemsing, N., Greaves, L., & Poole, N. (2017). Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare Preconception health care interventions : A scoping review. Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare, 14, 24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srhc.2017.08.004
- Henriksen, T. (2008). The macrosomic fetus: A challenge in current obstetrics. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, *87*(2), 134–145. https://doi.org/10.1080/00016340801899289
- Heredia-Pi, I., Servan-Mori, E., G. Darney, B., Reyes-Morales, H., & Lozano, R. (2016). Measuring the adequacy of antenatal health care: a national cross-sectional study in Mexico. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *94*(6), 452–461. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.15.168302
- Herrera, S., Enuameh, Y., Adjei, G., Ae-Ngibise, K. A., Asante, K. P., Sankoh, O., Owusu-Agyei, S., & Yé, Y. (2017). A systematic review and synthesis of the strengths and limitations of measuring malaria mortality through verbal autopsy. *Malaria Journal*, *16*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-017-2071-x
- Hill, K. (2003). Frameworks for studying the determinants of child survival. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *81*(2), 138–139.
 - http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2572395/pdf/12751422.pdf
- Hoffman, C. S., Messer, L. C., Mendola, P., Savitz, D. A., Herring, A. H., & Hartmann, K. E. (2008).
 Comparison of gestational age at birth based on last menstrual period and ultrasound during the first trimester. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 22(6), 587–596.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2008.00965.x
- Hosseinpoor, A. R., Victora, C. G., Bergen, N., Barros, A. J. D., & Boerma, T. (2011). Towards universal health coverage: The role of within-country wealth-related inequality in 28 countries in sub-Saharan Africa. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *89*(12), 881–890. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.11.087536
- Huang, C., Clayton, E. A., Matyunina, L. V., McDonald, L. D. E., Benigno, B. B., Vannberg, F., & McDonald, J. F. (2018). Machine learning predicts individual cancer patient responses to therapeutic drugs with high accuracy. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-34753-5
- Huq, M. N., & Tasnim, T. (2008). Maternal education and child healthcare in Bangladesh. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *12*(1), 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-007-0303-3
- Hutcheon, J. A., & Platt, R. W. (2008). The missing data problem in birth weight percentiles and thresholds for "small-for-gestational-age." *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *167*(7), 786–792. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwm327
- ICF. (2018). Guide to DHS statistics. In *Demographic and Health Surveys*. https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/DHSG1/Guide_to_DHS_Statistics_DHS-7.pdf
- INDEPTH. (n.d.). *iSHARE Repository*. Https://Www.Indepth-Ishare.Org/Index.Php/Home. Retrieved

December 5, 2018, from https://www.indepth-ishare.org/index.php/home

- INDEPTH Network. (n.d.). *The Verbal and Social Autospy tools*. Retrieved May 8, 2020, from http://www.indepth-network.org/resources/tools
- Jack, G. (2000). Ecological influences on parenting and child development. *British Journal of Social Work*, *30*(6), 703–720. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/30.6.703
- Jackson, S., Mathews, K. H., Pulanić, D., Falconer, R., Rudan, I., Campbell, H., & Nair, H. (2013). Risk factors for severe acute lower respiratory infections in children - a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Croatian Medical Journal*, *54*(2), 110–121. https://doi.org/10.3325/cmj.2013.54.110
- Jacobs, B., Ir, P., Bigdeli, M., Annear, P. L., & Van Damme, W. (2012). Addressing access barriers to health services: An analytical framework for selectingappropriate interventions in low-income Asian countries. *Health Policy and Planning*, *27*(4), 288–300. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr038
- Jacobson, D., & Mustafa, N. (2019). Social Identity Map: A Reflexivity Tool for Practicing Explicit Positionality in Critical Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919870075
- Jain, D. L., Sarathi, V., & Jawalekar, S. (2013). Predictors of treatment failure in hospitalized children [3-59 months] with severe and very severe pneumonia. *Indian Pediatrics*, *50*(8), 787–789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13312-013-0220-z
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2013). *An Introduction to Statistical Learning with Application in R*. Springer Texts in Statistics. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7138-7
- Jancloes, M. (1998). The poorest first: WHO's activities to help the people in greatest need. *World Health Forum*, *19*(2), 182–187.
- Jeylan T., M., & Michael J., S. (2003). *Handbook of the LIFE COURSE* (M. Jeylan T. & S. Michael J. (eds.); 1st ed.). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/b100507
- Jia, P., Sankoh, O., & Tatem, A. J. (2015). Mapping the environmental and socioeconomic coverage of the INDEPTH international health and demographic surveillance system network. *Health and Place*, *36*, 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2015.09.009
- Jones, N. L., Gilman, S. E., Cheng, T. L., Drury, S. S., Hill, C. V., & Geronimus, A. T. (2019). Life Course Approaches to the Causes of Health Disparities. *American Journal of Public Health*, *109*(S1), S48–S55. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304738
- Jones, S., Tefe, M., Zephaniah, S., Tedla, E., Appiah-Opoku, S., & Walsh, J. (2016). Public transport and health outcomes in rural sub-Saharan Africa - A synthesis of professional opinion. *Journal* of Transport and Health, 3(2), 211–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2015.12.005
- Joos, O., Amouzou, A., Silva, R., Banda, B., Park, L., Bryce, J., Kanyuka, M., Baugh, G., Hazel, E., Chimzimu, M., Lajia, K., Makoko, R., & Mleme, T. (2016). Strengthening community-based vital events reporting for real-time monitoring of under-five mortality: Lessons learned from the Balaka and Salima districts in Malawi. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138406
- Joos, O., Silva, R., Amouzou, A., Moulton, L. H., Perin, J., Bryce, J., & Mullany, L. C. (2016). Evaluation of a mhealth data quality intervention to improve documentation of pregnancy outcomes by health surveillance assistants in Malawi: A Cluster randomized trial. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145238
- Kabir, S., Gilson, L., Agyepong, Irene, A., Hanson, K., Ssengooba, F., & Sara, B. (2011). Building the Field of Health Policy and Systems Research: Framing the Questions. *PLoS Medicine*, 8(8), e100107. https://doi.org/doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001073
- Kadobera, D., Waiswa, P., Peterson, S., Hannah Blencowe, Lawn, J., Kerber, K., & Tumwesigye, N. M. (2017). Comparing performance of methods used to identify pregnant women, pregnancy outcomes, and child mortality in the Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Global Health https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/16549716.2017.1356641
- Kagashe, G. A. B., Minzi, O., & Matowe, L. (2011). An assessment of dispensing practices in private pharmacies in Dar-es-Salaam, Tanzania. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 19(1), 30–

35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7174.2010.00075.x

- Kaiser, J. L., Fong, R. M., Hamer, D. H., Biemba, G., Ngoma, T., Tusing, B., & Scott, N. A. (2018). How a woman's interpersonal relationships can delay care-seeking and access during the maternity period in rural Zambia: An intersection of the Social Ecological Model with the Three Delays Framework. *Social Science & Medicine*, 220(May 2018), 312–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOCSCIMED.2018.11.011
- Kajantie, E., Osmond, C., Barker, D. J. P., Forsén, T., Phillips, D. I. W., & Eriksson, J. G. (2005). Size at birth as a predictor of mortality in adulthood: A follow-up of 350 000 person-years.
 International Journal of Epidemiology, 34(3), 655–663. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyi048
- Kajungu, D., Hirose, A., Rutebemberwa, E., Pariyo, G. W., Peterson, S., Guwatudde, D., Galiwango, E., Tusubira, V., Kaija, J., Nareeba, T., & Hanson, C. (2020). Cohort Profile: The Iganga-Mayuge Health and Demographic Surveillance Site, Uganda (IMHDSS, Uganda). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 49(4), 1082-1082G. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyaa064
- Källander, K., Hildenwall, H., Waiswa, P., Galiwango, E., Petersona, S., & Pariyob, G. (2008). Delayed care seeking for fatal pneumonia in children aged under five years in Uganda: A case-series study. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *86*(5), 332–338. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.07.049353
- Källander, K., Kadobera, D., Thomas N Williams, Nielsen, R. T., Yevoo, L., Mutebi, A., Akpakli, J., Narh, C., Gyapong, M., Amu, A., & Waiswa, P. (2011). Social autopsy: INDEPTH Network experiences of utility, process, practices, and challenges in investigating causes and contributors to mortality. *Population* https://pophealthmetrics.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1478-7954-9-44
- Kalter, H. D., Salgado, R., Babille, M., Koffi, A. K., & Black, R. E. (2011). Social autopsy for maternal and child deaths: a comprehensive literature review to examine the concept and the development of the method. *Popul. Health Metr, 9:45.*, 45.
- Kalyango, J. N., Alfven, T., Peterson, S., Mugenyi, K., Karamagi, C., & Rutebemberwa, E. (2013).
 Integrated community case management of malaria and pneumonia increases prompt and appropriate treatment for pneumonia symptoms in children under five years in Eastern Uganda. *Malaria Journal*, 12(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-12-340
- Kamal, M. M., Hasan, M. M., & Davey, R. (2015). Determinants of childhood morbidity in
 Bangladesh: Evidence from the Demographic and Health Survey 2011. BMJ Open, 5(10), 1–7.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007538
- Kananura, R.M., Kiwanuka, S. N., Ekirapa-Kiracho, E., & Waiswa, P. (2017). Persisting demand and supply gap for maternal and newborn care in eastern Uganda: a mixed-method cross-sectional study. *Reproductive Health*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-017-0402-6
- Kananura, R. M., Leone, T., Nareeba, T., Kajungu, D., Waiswa, P., & Gjonca, A. (2020). Under 10 mortality patterns, risk factors, and mechanisms in low resource settings of Eastern Uganda: An analysis of event history demographic and verbal social autopsy data. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234573
- Kandala, N. B., Emina, Jacques, B., Nzita, Paul, Denis, K., & Cappuccio, Francesco, P. (2009).
 Diarrhoea, acute respiratory infection, and fever among children in the Democratic Republic of Congo. *Social Science and Medicine*, *68*(9), 1728–1736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.02.004
- Kandala, N. B., Ji, C., Stallard, N., Stranges, S., & Cappuccio, F. P. (2008). Morbidity from diarrhoea, cough and fever among young children in Nigeria. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology*, 102(5), 427–445. https://doi.org/10.1179/136485908X300797
- Kanmiki, E. W., Bawah, A. A., Agorinya, I., Achana, F. S., Awoonor-williams, J. K., Oduro, A. R., Phillips, J. F., & Akazili, J. (2014). Socio-economic and demographic determinants of under-five mortality in rural northern Ghana. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 14, 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-698X-14-24
- Kanyangarara, M., Munos, M. K., & Walker, N. (2017). Quality of antenatal care service provision in

health facilities across sub-Saharan Africa: Evidence from nationally representative health facility assessments. *Journal of Global Health*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.07.021101

- Kattula, D., Sarkar, R., Sivarathinaswamy, P., Velusamy, V., Venugopal, S., Naumova, E. N., Muliyil, J., Ward, H., & Kang, G. (2014). The first 1000 days of life: Prenatal and postnatal risk factors for morbidity and growth in a birth cohort in southern India. *BMJ Open*, 4(7). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005404
- Kayode, G. A., Adekanmbi, V. T., & Uthman, O. A. (2012). Risk factors and a predictive model for under-five mortality in Nigeria : evidence from Nigeria demographic and health survey. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 12(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-12-10
- Kayom, V. O., Kakuru, A., & Kiguli, S. (2015). Newborn Care Practices among Mother-Infant Dyads in Urban Uganda. *International Journal of Pediatrics*, 2015, 8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/815938
- Keats, E. C., Das, J. K., Salam, R. A., Lassi, Z. S., Imdad, A., Black, R. E., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2021). Effective interventions to address maternal and child malnutrition: an update of the evidence. *The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health*, 5(5), 367–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30274-1
- Kendrick, D., Mulvaney, C., Ye, L., Stevens, T., Mytton, J., & Stewart-Brown, S. (2013). Parenting interventions for the prevention of unintentional injuries in childhood (Review). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 3(Art. No. CD006020), 1–75. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006020.pub3.www.cochranelibrary.com
- Kerber, K. J., de Graft-Johnson, J. E., Bhutta, Z. A., Okong, P., Starrs, A., & Lawn, J. E. (2007). Continuum of care for maternal, newborn, and child health: from slogan to service delivery. *Lancet*, 370(9595), 1358–1369. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61578-5
- Khalil, M., M., & Alzahra, E. (2013). Fetal gender and pregnancy outcomes in Libya: A retrospective study. *Libyan Journal of Medicine*, *8*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3402/ljm.v8i0.20008
- Khalil, A., Syngelaki, A., Maiz, N., Zinevich, Y., & Nicolaides, K. H. (2013). Maternal age and adverse pregnancy outcome : a cohort study. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol*, 42, 634–643. https://doi.org/10.1002/uog.12494
- Khatlani, K., Alonge, O., Rahman, A., Hoque, D. M. E., Bhuiyan, A. A., Agrawal, P., & Rahman, F. (2017). Caregiver supervision practices and risk of childhood unintentional injury mortality in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(5), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14050515
- Kiberu, V. M., Matovu, J. K. B., Makumbi, F., Kyozira, C., Mukooyo, E., & Wanyenze, R. K. (2014). Strengthening district-based health reporting through the district health management information software system: the Ugandan experience. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 14(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-14-40
- Kibria, G. M. Al, Burrowes, V., Choudhury, A., Sharmeen, A., Ghosh, S., Mahmud, A., & Angela, K. C. (2018). Determinants of early neonatal mortality in Afghanistan: An analysis of the Demographic and Health Survey 2015. *Globalization and Health*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-018-0363-8
- Kiguli, J., Namusoko, S., Kerber, K., Peterson, S., & Waiswa, P. (2015). Weeping in silence:
 Community experiences of stillbirths in rural eastern Uganda. *Global Health Action*, 8(1).
 https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v8.24011
- Kitutu, F. E., Kalyango, J. N., Mayora, C., Selling, K. E., Peterson, S., & Wamani, H. (2017). Integrated community case management by drug sellers influences appropriate treatment of paediatric febrile illness in South Western Uganda: A quasi-experimental study. *Malaria Journal*, 16(1), 1– 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-017-2072-9
- Kitutu, F. E., Mayora, C., Johansson, E. W., Peterson, S., Wamani, H., Bigdeli, M., & Shroff, Z. C. (2017). Health system effects of implementing integrated community case management (*iCCM*) intervention in private retail drug shops in South Western Uganda : a qualitative study. *iCCM*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000334

- Kiwanuka, S. N., Ekirapa, E. K., Peterson, S., Okui, O., Rahman, M. H., Peters, D., & Pariyo, G. W. (2008). Access to and utilisation of health services for the poor in Uganda: a systematic review of available evidence. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 102(11), 1067–1074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trstmh.2008.04.023
- Konje, E. T., Magoma, M. T., Hatfield, J., Kuhn, S., Sauve, R. S., & Dewey, D. (2020). No difference in perinatal mortality between home and facility delivery in rural Tanzania: a prospective community-based study. *Journal of Global Health Reports*. https://doi.org/10.29392/001c.14599
- Kopp, H. (2016). *Prevention of unintended pregnancy and use of contraception important factors for preconception care*. 121(4), 252–255.
- Kruk, M. E., Gage, A. D., Arsenault, C., Jordan, K., Leslie, H. H., Roder-DeWan, S., Adeyi, O., Barker, P., Daelmans, B., Doubova, S. V., English, M., Elorrio, E. G., Guanais, F., Gureje, O., Hirschhorn, L. R., Jiang, L., Kelley, E., Lemango, E. T., Liljestrand, J., ... Pate, M. (2018). High-quality health systems in the Sustainable Development Goals era: time for a revolution. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(11), e1196–e1252. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30386-3
- Kruk, M. E., Leslie, H. H., Verguet, S., Mbaruku, G. M., Adanu, R. M. K., & Langer, A. (2016). Quality of basic maternal care functions in health facilities of five African countries: an analysis of national health system surveys. *The Lancet Global Health*, 4(11), e845–e855. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(16)30180-2
- Kuhn, M. (2008). Building predictive models in R using the caret package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *28*(5), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v028.i05
- Kuruvilla, S., Sadana, R., Eugenio, Villar, M., Beard, J., Jennifer, Vasdeki, F., de Carvalho, I. A., Rebekah, Thomas, B., Drisse, M. B., Daelmans, B., Goodman, T., Koller, T., Officer, A., Vogel, J., Valentine, N., Wootton, E., Banerjee, A., Magar, V., Neira, M., Okwo, Jean, Marie, B., ... Bustreo, F. (2018). & practice A life-course approach to health : synergy with sustainable development goals. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization, November 2017*, 42–50.
- Kwesiga, D., Tawiah, C., Imam, M. A., Tesega, A. K., Nareeba, T., Enuameh, Y. A. K., Biks, G. A., Manu, G., Beedle, A., Delwar, N., Fisker, A. B., Waiswa, P., Lawn, J. E., & Blencowe, H. (2021). Barriers and enablers to reporting pregnancy and adverse pregnancy outcomes in population-based surveys: EN-INDEPTH study. *Population Health Metrics*, *19*(Suppl 1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12963-020-00228-x
- Kyei, N. N. A., Chansa, C., & Gabrysch, S. (2012). Quality of antenatal care in Zambia: A national assessment. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-12-151
- Lagarde, M., Haines, A., & Palmer, N. (2009). The impact of conditional cash transfers on health outcomes and use of health services in low and middle income countries. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *4*.
- Larson, E., George, A., Morgan, R., & Poteat, T. (2016). 10 Best resources on... intersectionality with an emphasis on low- and middle-income countries. *Health Policy and Planning*, *31*(8), 964–969. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czw020
- Lartey, S. T., Khanam, R., & Takahashi, S. (2016). The impact of household wealth on child survival in Ghana. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition, 35*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41043-016-0074-9
- Lassi, Z. S., Haider, B. A., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2010). Community-based intervention packages for reducing maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality and improving neonatal outcomes. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *11*, CD007754. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007754.pub2
- Lassi, Z. S., Imam, A. M., Dean, S. V., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2014). Preconception care: Preventing and treating infections. *Reproductive Health*, *11*(Suppl 3), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-S3-S4
- Lassi, Z. S., Mallick, D., Das, J. K., Mal, L., Salam, R. A., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2014). Essential interventions for child health. *Reproductive Health*, *11*(Suppl 1), S4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-

S1-S4

- Lassi, Z. S., Middleton, P. F., Crowther, C., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2015). Interventions to Improve Neonatal Health and Later Survival: An Overview of Systematic Reviews. *EBioMedicine*, *2*(8), 985–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.05.023
- Lawn, E., J., Blencowe, H., Oza, S., You, D., Lee, C., C., A., Waiswa, P., Lalli, M., Bhutta, Z., & Barros, A. J. D. (2015). Every Newborn 2 Every Newborn : progress, priorities, and potential beyond. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60496-7
- Lawn, E., J., Blencowe, H., Pattinson, R., Cousens, S., Kumar, R., Ibiebele, I., Gardosi, J., Day, L. T., & Stanton, C. (2011). Stillbirths: Where? When? Why? How to make the data count? *The Lancet*, *377*(9775), 1448–1463. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62187-3
- Lawn, E., J., Osrin, D., Adler, A., & Cousens, S. (2008). Four million neonatal deaths: Counting and attribution of cause of death. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, *22*(5), 410–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2008.00960.x
- Lawn, E., J., Yakoob, M. Y., Haws, R. a, Soomro, T., Darmstadt, G. L., & Bhutta, Z. a. (2009). 3.2 Million Stillbirths: Epidemiology and Overview of the Evidence Review. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 9 Suppl 1, S2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-9-S1-S2
- Lawn, J. E., Kerber, K., Enweronu-Laryea, C., & Massee Bateman, O. (2009). Newborn survival in low resource settings--are we delivering? *BJOG : An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *116 Suppl*, 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2009.02328.x
- Lawn, J., Shibuya, K., & Stein, C. (2005). No cry at birth: Global estimates of intrapartum stillbirths and intrapartum-related neonatal deaths. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *83*(6), 409–417. https://doi.org//S0042-96862005000600008
- Lean, S. C., Derricott, H., Jones, R. L., & Heazell, A. E. P. (2017). Advanced maternal age and adverse pregnancy outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186287
- Lee, J., & Huber, J. J. (2011). Multiple imputation with large proportions of missing data: How much is too much? In *United Kingdom Stata Users' Group Meetings 2011*.
- Leone, T., James, K. S., & Padmadas, S. S. (2013). The burden of maternal health care expenditure in India: Multilevel analysis of national data. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *17*(9), 1622– 1630. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-012-1174-9
- Leung, D. T., Chisti, M. J., & Pavia, A. T. (2017). Prevention and Control of Childhood Pneumonia and Diarrhea. *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, *63*(1), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2015.08.003
- Li, C. I., Daling, J. R., & Emanuel, I. (2003). Birthweight and risk of overall and cause-specific childhood mortality. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, *17*(2), 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3016.2003.00487.x
- Lin, M., Lucas, H. C., & Shmueli, G. (2013). Too big to fail: Large samples and the p-value problem. Information Systems Research, 24(4), 906–917. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2013.0480
- Lincetto, O., Mothebesoane-anoh, S., Gomez, P., & Munjanja, S. (2013). Antenatal Care: Opprotunities for Africa's Newborns. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research*, 2(2), 51–62.
- Lindberg, S. M., Adams, A. K., & Prince, R. J. (2012). Early predictors of obesity and cardiovascular risk among American Indian children. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, *16*(9), 1879–1886. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-012-1024-9
- Liow, E., Kassam, R., & Sekiwunga, R. (2016). How unlicensed drug vendors in rural Uganda perceive their role in the management of childhood malaria. *Acta Tropica*, *164*, 455–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2016.10.012
- Lisonkova, S., Janssen, P. A., Sheps, S. B., Lee, S. K., & Dahlgren, L. (2010). The Effect of Maternal Age on Adverse Birth Outcomes: Does Parity Matter? *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada*, *32*(6), 541–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1701-2163(16)34522-4
- Liu, L., Hill, K., Oza, S., Hogan, D., Chu, Y., Cousens, S., Mathers, C., Stanton, C., Lawn, J., & Black, E.,

R. (2016). Levels and Causes of Maternal Mortality and Morbidity. In R. E. Black, R. Laxminarayan, M. Temmerman, & N. Walker (Eds.), *Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health: Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition (Volume 2).* (Third Edit, pp. 51–70). https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0348-2_ch3

- Liu, L., Oza, S., Hogan, D., Chu, Y., Perin, J., Zhu, J., Lawn, J. E., Cousens, S., Mathers, C., & Black, R. E. (2016). Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000–15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. *The Lancet*, 388(10063), 3027–3035. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31593-8
- Lohela, T. J., Nesbitt, R. C., Pekkanen, J., & Gabrysch, S. (2019). Comparing socioeconomic inequalities between early neonatal mortality and facility delivery: Cross-sectional data from 72 low- and middle-income countries. *Scientific Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45148-5
- Lule, S. A., Namara, B., Akurut, H., Muhangi, L., Lubyayi, L., Nampijja, M., Akello, F., Tumusiime, J., Aujo, J. C., Oduru, G., Smeeth, L., Elliott, A. M., & Webb, E. L. (2019). Are birthweight and postnatal weight gain in childhood associated with blood pressure in early adolescence? Results from a Ugandan birth cohort. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *48*(1), 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyy118
- Luo, W., Nguyen, T., Nichols, M., Tran, T., Rana, S., Gupta, S., Phung, D., Venkatesh, S., & Allender, S. (2015). Is demography destiny? Application of machine learning techniques to accurately predict population health outcomes from a minimal demographic dataset. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0125602
- Luo, W., Phung, D., Tran, T., Gupta, S., Rana, S., Karmakar, C., Shilton, A., Yearwood, J., Dimitrova, N., Ho, T. B., Venkatesh, S., & Berk, M. (2016). Guidelines for developing and reporting machine learning predictive models in biomedical research: A multidisciplinary view. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(12), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5870
- Luong, T. V. (2010). *De-worming school children and hygiene intervention De-worming school children and hygiene intervention*. *3123*. https://doi.org/10.1080/0960312031000102912
- Lynch, J., & Smith, G. D. (2005). ALIFE COURSE APPROACH TO CHRONIC DISEASE EPIDEMIOLOGY. Annual Review of Public Health, 26, 1–35.

```
https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.26.021304.144505
```

- Madley-Dowd, P., Hughes, R., Tilling, K., & Heron, J. (2019). The proportion of missing data should not be used to guide decisions on multiple imputation. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *110*, 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.02.016
- Mahalanabis, D., Gupta, S., Paul, D., Gupta, A., Lahiri, M., & Khaled, M. A. (2002). Risk factors for pneumonia in infants and young children and the role of solid fuel for cooking: A case-control study. *Epidemiology and Infection*, *129*(1), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268802006817
- Mahumud, R. A., Sultana, M., & Sarker, A. R. (2017). Distribution and Determinants of Low Birth Weight in Developing Countries. *J Prev Med Public Health*, *50*, 18–28.
- Maïga, A., Jiwani, S. S., Mutua, M. K., Porth, T. A., Taylor, C. M., Asiki, G., Melesse, D. Y., Day, C., Strong, K. L., Faye, C. M., Viswanathan, K., O'Neill, K. P., Amouzou, A., Pond, B. S., & Boerma, T. (2019). Generating statistics from health facility data: The state of routine health information systems in Eastern and Southern Africa. *BMJ Global Health*, *4*(5), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001849
- Makate, M., & Makate, C. (2016). Social Science & Medicine The causal effect of increased primary schooling on child mortality in Malawi : Universal primary education as a natural experiment. *Social Science & Medicine*, *168*, 72–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.09.003
- Makoka, D., & Masibo, P. K. (2015). Is there a threshold level of maternal education sufficient to reduce child undernutrition ? Evidence from Malawi , Tanzania and Zimbabwe. *BMC Pediatrics*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-015-0406-8
- Manyeh, A. K., Kukula, V., Odonkor, G., Ekey, R. A., Adjei, A., Narh-bana, S., Akpakli, D. E., &

Gyapong, M. (2016). Socioeconomic and demographic determinants of birth weight in southern rural Ghana : evidence from Dodowa Health and Demographic Surveillance System. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-016-0956-2

- Marchant, T., Jaribu, J., Penfold, S., Tanner, M., & Schellenberg, J. A. (2010). Measuring newborn foot length to identify small babies in need of extra care : a cross sectional hospital based study with community follow-up in Tanzania Measuring newborn foot length to identify small babies in need of extra care : a cross sectional hos. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*, *10*(624). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-624
- Marchant, T., Penfold, S., Mkumbo, E., Shamba, D., Jaribu, J., Manzi, F., & Schellenberg, J. (2014). The reliability of a newborn foot length measurement tool used by community volunteers to identify low birth weight or premature babies born at home in southern Tanzania. *BMC Public Health*, 14(849). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-859
- Marsh, D. R., Darmstadt, G. L., Moore, J., Daly, P., Oot, D., & Tinker, A. (2002). Advancing newborn health and survival in developing countries: a conceptual framework. *Journal of Perinatology : Official Journal of the California Perinatal Association*, 22(7), 572–576. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jp.7210793
- Martikainen, P., Kauppinen, T. M., & Valkonen, T. (2003). Effects of the characteristics of neighbourhoods and the characteristics of people on cause specific mortality: A register based follow up study of 252 000 men. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *57*(3), 210–217. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.57.3.210
- Martínez-Martínez, O. A., & Rodríguez-Brito, A. (2020). Vulnerability in health and social capital: A qualitative analysis by levels of marginalization in Mexico. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *19*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-1138-4
- Martins, A. L. O., Da Silva Fernandes Nascimento, D., Schneider, I. J. C., & Schuelter-Trevisol, F. (2016). Incidence of community-acquired infections of lower airways among infants. *Revista Paulista de Pediatria*, 34(2), 204–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rppede.2015.10.005
- Mason, E., Chandra-Mouli, V., Baltag, V., Christiansen, C., Lassi, Z. S., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2014). Preconception care: Advancing from "important to do and can be done" to "is being done and is making a difference." *Reproductive Health*, *11*(Suppl 3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-S3-S8
- Masquelier, B., Hug, L., Sharrow, D., You, D., Hogan, D., Hill, K., Liu, J., Pedersen, J., & Alkema, L. (2018). Global, regional, and national mortality trends in older children and young adolescents (5–14 years) from 1990 to 2016: an analysis of empirical data. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(10), e1087–e1099. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30353-X

Mathers, C. (2014). Ending preventable child deaths: addressing the high-risk days after birth. *The Lancet Global Health*, *2*(11), e617–e618. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70333-X

- Mbondji, P. E., Kebede, D., Soumbey-Alley, E. W., Zielinski, C., Kouvividila, W., & Lusamba-Dikassa, P.
 S. (2014). Health information systems in Africa: Descriptive analysis of data sources, information products and health statistics. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 107, 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076814531750
- Mbonye, A. K., Buregyeya, E., Rutebemberwa, E., Clarke, S. E., Lal, S., Hansen, K. S., Magnussen, P., & LaRussa, P. (2016). Prescription for antibiotics at drug shops and strategies to improve quality of care and patient safety: A cross-sectional survey in the private sector in Uganda. *BMJ Open*, *6*(3), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010632
- Mbonye, A. K., Sentongo, M., Mukasa, G. K., Byaruhanga, R., Sentumbwe-Mugisa, O., Waiswa, P., Sengendo, H. N., Aliganyira, P., Nakakeeto, M., Lawn, J. E., & Kerber, K. (2012). Newborn survival in Uganda: A decade of change and future implications. *Health Policy and Planning*, 27, 104–117. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czs045
- McCormick, T. H., Li, Z. R., Calvert, C., Crampin, A. C., Kahn, K., & Clark, S. J. (2016). Probabilistic Cause-of-Death Assignment Using Verbal Autopsies. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, *111*(515), 1036–1049. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.2016.1152191

- McGovern, M. E. (2019). How much does birth weight matter for child health in developing countries? Estimates from siblings and twins. *Health Economics (United Kingdom), 28*(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.3823
- Melamed, N., Meizner, I., Mashiach, R., Wiznitzer, A., Glezerman, M., & Yogev, Y. (2013). Fetal sex and intrauterine growth patterns. *Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine*, *32*(1), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.7863/jum.2013.32.1.35
- Memirie, S. T., Metaferia, Z. S., Norheim, O. F., Levin, C. E., Verguet, S., & Johansson, K. A. (2017).
 Household expenditures on pneumonia and diarrhoea treatment in Ethiopia: a facility-based study. *BMJ Global Health*, 2(1), e000166. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2016-000166
- Midgley, G. (2006). Systemic intervention for public health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *96*(3), 466–472. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.067660
- Mikkelsen, B., Williams, J., Rakovac, I., Wickramasinghe, K., Hennis, A., Shin, H.-R., Farmer, M., Weber, M., Berdzuli, N., Borges, C., Huber, M., & João Breda. (2019). Life course approach to prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. *Bmj*, 364(I257). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I257
- Mikkelsen, L., Phillips, D. E., Abouzahr, C., Setel, P. W., De Savigny, D., Lozano, R., & Lopez, A. D. (2015). A global assessment of civil registration and vital statistics systems: Monitoring data quality and progress. *The Lancet*, *386*(10001), 1395–1406. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60171-4
- Mills, T. A., Ayebare, E., Mukhwana, R., Mweteise, J., Nabisere, A., Nendela, A., Ndungu, P., Okello, M., Omoni, G., Wakasiaka, S., Wood, R., & Lavender, T. (2021). Parents' experiences of care and support after stillbirth in rural and urban maternity facilities: a qualitative study in Kenya and Uganda. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *128*(1), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.16413
- Ministry of Health. (2019). Annual Health Sector Performace Report 2018/19. http://library.health.go.ug/publications/performance-management/annual-health-sectorperformance-report-20182019
- Ministry of Health. (2020). Annual Health Sector Performance Report 2019/20. https://www.health.go.ug/cause/annual-health-sector-performance-report-financial-year-2019-20/
- Mokomane, M., Kasvosve, I., Melo, E. de, Pernica, J. M., & Goldfarb, D. M. (2017). The global problem of childhood diarrhoeal diseases: emerging strategies in prevention and management. *Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders*, *23*(2s), 153–156. https://doi.org/10.1177/https
- Moller, A. B., Petzold, M., Chou, D., & Say, L. (2017). Early antenatal care visit: a systematic analysis of regional and global levels and trends of coverage from 1990 to 2013. *The Lancet Global Health*, *5*(10), e977–e983. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30325-X
- Momeni, M., Danaei, M., Jabbari, A., Kermani, N., Bakhshandeh, M., Foroodnia, S., Mahmoudabadi, Z., Amirzadeh, R., & Safizadeh, H. (2017). Prevalence and Risk Factors of Low Birth Weight in the Southeast of Iran. *Int J Prev Med*, *8*, 12. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM
- Monaghesh, E., & Hajizadeh, A. (2020). *The role of telehealth during COVID-19 outbreak: A systematic review based on current evidence*. *4*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-23906/v1
- Mondal, D., & Paul, P. (2020). Effects of indoor pollution on acute respiratory infections among under-five children in India: Evidence from a nationally representative population-based study. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(8 August), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237611
- Monden, C. W. S., & Smits, J. (2017). Mortality among twins and singletons in sub-Saharan Africa between 1995 and 2014: a pooled analysis of data from 90 Demographic and Health Surveys in 30 countries. *The Lancet Global Health*, *5*(7), e673–e679. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30197-3
- Montgomery, K. S., Cubera, S., Belcher, C., Patrick, D., Funderburk, H., Melton, C., & Fastenau, M. (2005). Childbirth Education for Multiple Pregnancy. *Journal of Perinatal Education*, 14(3), 33–

38. https://doi.org/10.1624/105812405x57561

- Morgan, R., George, A., Sssali, S., Hawkins, K., Molyneux, S., & Theobald, S. (2016). How to do (or not to do). . . gender analysis in health systems research. *Health Policy and Planning*.
- Morosow, K., & Kolk, M. (2020). How Does Birth Order and Number of Siblings Affect Fertility? A Within-Family Comparison Using Swedish Register Data. In *European Journal of Population* (Vol. 36, Issue 2). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10680-019-09525-0
- Morroni, C., & Moodley, J. (2006). The role of urine pregnancy testing in facilitating access to antenatal care and abortion services in South Africa: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *6*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-6-26
- Mosley, W. H., & Chen, L. C. (1984). An analytical framework for the study of child survival in developing countries. *Popul Dev Rev*, *10*(Suppl), 25–45. https://doi.org/10.2307/2807954
- Mtaku, C. Y. (2016). Twin Ritual (Kamta Bulikur): The Significance of Traditional Music in the Health and Wellbeing of Twins among the Bura of North-east Nigeria. *Legon Journal of the Humanities*, 27(2), 105. https://doi.org/10.4314/ljh.v27i2.6
- Mukanga, D., Tibenderana, J. K., Peterson, S., Pariyo, G. W., Kiguli, J., Waiswa, P., Babirye, R., Ojiambo, G., Kasasa, S., Pagnoni, F., & Kallander, K. (2012). *Access , acceptability and utilization of community health workers using diagnostics for case management of fever in Ugandan children : a cross-sectional study*. 1–10.
- Mukuru, M., Kiwanuka, S. N., Gibson, L., & Ssengooba, F. (2021). Challenges in implementing emergency obstetric care (EmOC) policies: perspectives and behaviours of frontline health workers in Uganda. *Health Policy and Planning*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czab001
- Mulatya, D. M., & Ochieng, C. (2020). Disease burden and risk factors of diarrhoea in children under five years: Evidence from Kenya's demographic health survey 2014. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *93*, 359–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.02.003
- Mutebi, A., & Elisabeth, kiracho E. (2015). BENEFITS OF A MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH TRANSPORT VOUCHER STUDY. A TRANSPORTER'S PERSPECTIVE IN PALLISA DISTRICT IN EASTERN UGANDA. *BMJ Open*, *5*(Suppl 1), 2015. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015forum2015abstracts.132
- Nabyonga Orem, J., Mugisha, F., Kirunga, C., MacQ, J., & Criel, B. (2011). Abolition of user fees: The Uganda paradox. *Health Policy and Planning*, *26*(SUPPL. 2). https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr065
- Nalwadda, C. K., Guwatudde, D., Peter Waiswa, Kiguli, J., Namazzi, G., Namutumba, S., Tomson, G., & Peterson, S. (2013). Community health workers–a resource for identification and referral of sick newborns in rural Uganda. *Tropical Medicine & ...*. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12106
- Namazzi, G., Okuga, M., Tetui, M., Kananura, R. M., Kakaire, A., Namutamba, S., Mutebi, A., Kiwanuka, S. N., Ekirapa-Kiracho, E., & Waiswa, P. (2017). Working with community health workers to improve maternal and newborn health outcomes: Implementation and scale-up lessons from eastern Uganda. *Global Health Action*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1345495
- Nandi, A., Hajizadeh, M., Harper, S., Koski, A., Strumpf, E. C., & Heymann, J. (2016). Increased Duration of Paid Maternity Leave Lowers Infant Mortality in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Quasi-Experimental Study. *PLoS Medicine*, *13*(3), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001985
- Nanyonjo, A., Counihan, H., Siduda, S. G., Belay, K., Sebikaari, G., & Tibenderana, J. (2019).
 Institutionalization of integrated community case management into national health systems in low- and middle-income countries: a scoping review of the literature. *Global Health Action*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2019.1678283
- Nanyonjo, A., Makumbi, F., Etou, P., Tomson, G., & Källander, K. (2013). Perceived quality of care for common childhood illnesses: Facility versus community based providers in Uganda. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(11), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079943
- Nareeba, T., Dzabeng, F., Alam, N., Biks, G. A., Thysen, S. M., Akuze, J., Blencowe, H., Helleringer, S.,

Lawn, J. E., Mahmud, K., Yitayew, T. A., Fisker, A. B., Byass, P., Lawn, J. E., Waiswa, P., Blencowe, H., Yargawa, J., Akuze, J., Martins, J. S. D., ... Machiyama, K. (2021). Neonatal and child mortality data in retrospective population-based surveys compared with prospective demographic surveillance: EN-INDEPTH study. *Population Health Metrics*, *19*(Suppl 1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12963-020-00232-1

- National Planning Authority. (2020). Third National Development Plan (NDPIII) 2020/21-2024/25. In *Government of Uganda* (Issue January). http://www.npa.go.ug/wpcontent/uploads/2020/08/NDPIII-Finale Compressed.pdf
- National Population Council. (2018). *The State of Uganda Population Report 2018* (Vol. 53, Issue 9). National Population Council. http://npcsec.go.ug/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/2019-SUPRE.pdf
- Nattey, C., Masanja, H., & Klipstein-Grobusch, K. (2013). Relationship between household socioeconomic status and under-five mortality in Rufiji DSS, Tanzania. *Global Health Action*, 6(2), 19278. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v6i0.19278
- Naydenova, E., Tsanas, A., Howie, S., Casals-Pascual, C., & De Vos, M. (2016). The power of data mining in diagnosis of childhood pneumonia. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, *13*(120). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2016.0266
- Nelson, A. R., Cooper, C. M., Kamara, S., Taylor, N. D., Zikeh, T., Kanneh-kesselly, C., Fields, R., Hossain, I., Oseni, L., Getahun, B. S., Fiedler, A., & Schuster, A. (2019). Operationalizing Integrated Immunization and Family Planning Services in Rural Liberia : Lessons Learned From Evaluating Service Quality and Utilization. 418–434.
- Neufeld, L. M., Haas, J. D., Grajéda, R., & Martorell, R. (2006). Last menstrual period provides the best estimate of gestation length for women in rural Guatemala. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, *20*(4), 290–298. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2006.00741.x
- Ngom, P., Binka, F. N., Phillips, J. F., Pence, B., & Macleod, B. (2001). Demographic surveillance and health equity in sub-Saharan Africa. *Health Policy and Planning*, *16*(4), 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/16.4.337
- Nichols, E. K., Ragunanthan, N. W., Ragunanthan, B., Gebrehiwet, H., & Kamara, K. (2019). A systematic review of vital events tracking by community health agents. *Global Health Action*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2019.1597452
- Niyibitegeka, F., Riewpaiboon, A., Youngkong, S., & Thavorncharoensap, M. (2021). Economic burden of childhood diarrhea in Burundi. *Global Health Research and Policy*, *6*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-021-00194-3
- Njuki, R., Abuya, T., Kimani, J., Kanya, L., Korongo, A., Mukanya, C., Bracke, P., Bellows, B., & Warren, C. E. (2015). Does a voucher program improve reproductive health service delivery and access in Kenya? Health policies, systems and management. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-0860-x
- North, S. (2020). Telemedicine in the Time of COVID and Beyond. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 67(2), 145–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.05.024
- Norton, M., & Chandra-mouli, V. (2017). *Interventions for Preventing Unintended , Rapid Repeat Pregnancy Among Adolescents : A Review of the Evidence and Lessons From High-Quality Evaluations. Table 1,* 547–570.
- Ntenda, P. A. M. (2019). Association of low birth weight with undernutrition in preschool-aged children in Malawi. *Nutrition Journal*, *18*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12937-019-0477-8
- Ntenda, P. A. M., & Chuang, Y. C. (2018). Analysis of individual-level and community-level effects on childhood undernutrition in Malawi. *Pediatrics and Neonatology*, *59*(4), 380–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedneo.2017.11.019
- Nwolise, C. H., Hussein, J., Kanguru, L., Bell, J., & Patel, P. (2015). The effectiveness of communitybased loan funds for transport during obstetric emergencies in developing countries: A systematic review. *Health Policy and Planning*, *30*(7), 946–955. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czu084

Oakley, L., Penn, N., Pipi, M., Oteng-ntim, E., & Doyle, P. (2016). Risk of Adverse Obstetric and Neonatal Outcomes by Maternal Age : Quantifying Individual and Population Level Risk Using Routine UK Maternity Data. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(10), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164462

Ohannessian, R., Duong, T. A., & Odone, A. (2020). Global telemedicine implementation and integration within health systems to fight the COVID-19 pandemic: A call to action. *JMIR Public Health and Surveillance*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.2196/18810

Oliveira-Cruz, V., Hanson, K., & Mills, A. (2003). Approaches to overcoming constraints to effective health service delivery: A review of the evidence. *Journal of International Development*, *15*(1), 41–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.965

Omona, S., Malinga, G. M., Opoke, R., Openy, G., & Opiro, R. (2020). Prevalence of diarrhoea and associated risk factors among children under five years old in Pader District, northern Uganda. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *20*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-020-4770-0

Owili, P. O., Muga, M. A., Mendez, B. R., & Chen, B. (2019). Quality of care in six sub-Saharan Africa countries: A provider-based study on adherence to WHO's antenatal care guideline. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, *31*(1), 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzy105

Påfs, J., Musafili, A., Binder-Finnema, P., Klingberg-Allvin, M., Rulisa, S., & Essén, B. (2015). "They would never receive you without a husband": Paradoxical barriers to antenatal care scale-up in Rwanda. *Midwifery*, *31*(12), 1149–1156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2015.09.010

Pampaka, M., Hutcheson, G., & Williams, J. (2016). Handling missing data: analysis of a challenging data set using multiple imputation. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, *39*(1), 19–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.979146

Pariyo, G. W., Mayora, C., Okui, O., Ssengooba, F., Peters, D. H., Serwadda, D., Lucas, H., Bloom, G., Rahman, M. H., & Ekirapa-Kiracho, E. (2011). Exploring new health markets: experiences from informal providers of transport for maternal health services in Eastern Uganda. *BMC International Health and Human Rights, 11 Suppl 1*, S10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-698X-11-S1-S10

Pathirana, J., Muñoz, F. M., Abbing-Karahagopian, V., Bhat, N., Harris, T., Kapoor, A., Keene, D. L., Mangili, A., Padula, M. A., Pande, S. L., Pool, V., Pourmalek, F., Varricchio, F., Kochhar, S., & Cutland, C. L. (2016). Neonatal death: Case definition & guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of immunization safety data. *Vaccine*, *34*(49), 6027–6037. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.03.040

Patterson, J. A., Ford, J. B., Morris, J. M., & Roberts, C. L. (2014). Trends and recurrence of stillbirths in NSW. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *38*(4), 384–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12179

Pell, C., Meñaca, A., Were, F., Afrah, N. A., Chatio, S., Manda-Taylor, L., Hamel, M. J., Hodgson, A., Tagbor, H., Kalilani, L., Ouma, P., & Pool, R. (2013). Factors Affecting Antenatal Care Attendance: Results from Qualitative Studies in Ghana, Kenya and Malawi. *PLoS ONE*, 8(1), e53747. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053747

Peneza, A. K., & Maluka, S. O. (2018). 'Unless you come with your partner you will be sent back home': strategies used to promote male involvement in antenatal care in Southern Tanzania. *Global Health Action*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2018.1449724

Piso, B., Zechmeister-koss, I., & Winkler, R. (2014). Antenatal interventions to reduce preterm birth : an overview of Cochrane systematic reviews.

 Popova, S., Lange, S., Probst, C., Shield, K., Kraicer-Melamed, H., Ferreira-Borges, C., & Rehm, J. (2016). Actual and predicted prevalence of alcohol consumption during pregnancy in the WHO African Region. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, *21*(10), 1209–1239. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12755

Porter, G. (2002). Living in a walking world: Rural mobility and social equity issues in sub-Saharan Africa. *World Development*, *30*(2), 285–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)00106-1

- Potts, M. (2011). Systematic review The Impact of Vouchers on the Use and Quality of Health Goods and Services in Developing Countries A systematic review by Carinne Meyer (Issue May). http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/PDF/Outputs/SystematicReviews/HealthVouchers2011Meyer.pdf
- Pradesh, U., Achyut, P., Mishra, A., Montana, L., Sengupta, R., Calhoun, L. M., & Nanda, P. (2016). Integration of family planning with maternal health services : an opportunity to increase postpartum modern contraceptive use in urban. 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1136/jfprhc-2015-101271
- Prakash, R., Beattie, T., Javalkar, P., Bhattacharjee, P., Ramanaik, S., Thalinja, R., Murthy, S., Davey, C., Blanchard, J., Watts, C., Collumbien, M., Moses, S., Hesie, L., & Isac, S. (2017). Correlates of school dropout and absenteeism among adolescent girls from marginalized community in north Karnataka, south India. *Journal of Adolescence*, *61*, 64–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.09.007
- Prata, N., Weidert, K., Fraser, A., & Gessessew, A. (2013). Meeting Rural Demand: A Case for Combining Community-Based Distribution and Social Marketing of Injectable Contraceptives in Tigray, Ethiopia. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068794
- Price, J. (2008). Parent-child quality time: Does birth order matter? *Journal of Human Resources*, 43(1), 240–265. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.43.1.240
- Rahman, M. S., Howlader, T., Masud, M. S., & Rahman, M. L. (2016). Association of low-birth weight with malnutrition in children under five years in Bangladesh: Do mother's education, socioeconomic status, and birth interval matter? *PLoS ONE*, *11*(6), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157814
- Rakkappan, I., & Kuppusamy, N. (2016). Newborn Foot Length Measurement to Identify High-risk Neonate. *13 International Journal of Scientific Study*, *4*(2). https://doi.org/10.17354/ijss/2016/243
- Rasella, D., Aquino, R., Santos, C. A. T., Paes-sousa, R., & Barreto, M. L. (2013). Effect of a conditional cash transfer programme on childhood mortality : a nationwide analysis of Brazilian municipalities. *The Lancet*, *382*(9886), 57–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60715-1
- Reinebrant, H. E., Leisher, S. H., Coory, M., Henry, S., Wojcieszek, A. M., Gardener, G., Lourie, R., Ellwood, D., Teoh, Z., Allanson, E., Blencowe, H., Draper, E. S., Erwich, J. J., Frøen, J. F., Gardosi, J., Gold, K., Gordijn, S., Gordon, A., Heazell, A. E. P., ... Flenady, V. (2018). Making stillbirths visible: a systematic review of globally reported causes of stillbirth. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *125*(2), 212–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.14971
- Remes, H., Martikainen, P., & Valkonen, T. (2011). The effects of family type on child mortality. *European Journal of Public Health*, 21(6), 688–693. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckq159
- Requejo, J., Diaz, T., Park, L., Chou, D., Choudhury, A., Guthold, R., Jackson, D., Moller, A. B., Monet, J. P., Moran, A. C., Say, L., Strong, K. L., & Banerjee, A. (2020). Assessing coverage of interventions for reproductive, maternal, newborn, child, and adolescent health and nutrition. *The BMJ*, 368(table 1), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.l6915
- Requejo, J., & Strong, K. (2021). Redesigning health programmes for all children and adolescents. *The BMJ*, *372*(n533), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n533
- Reynolds, R. M. (2020). Telehealth in pregnancy. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*, 8(6), 459–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30158-3
- Richter, L. M., Daelmans, B., Lombardi, J., Heymann, J., Boo, F. L., Behrman, J. R., Lu, C., Lucas, J. E., Perez-Escamilla, R., Dua, T., Bhutta, Z. A., Stenberg, K., Gertler, P., & Darmstadt, G. L. (2017). Investing in the foundation of sustainable development: pathways to scale up for early childhood development. *The Lancet*, *389*(10064), 103–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31698-1
- Rijnhart, J. J. M., Twisk, J. W. R., Eekhout, I., & Heymans, M. W. (2019). Comparison of logisticregression based methods for simple mediation analysis with a dichotomous outcome variable. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0654-z

- Ritte, R., Panozzo, S., Johnston, L., Agerholm, J., Kvernmo, S. E., Rowley, K. A., & Arabena, K. (2016). An Australian model of the First 1000 Days: an Indigenous-led process to turn an international initiative into an early-life strategy benefiting indigenous families. *Global Health, Epidemiology and Genomics*, 1(e11), 10. https://doi.org/10.1017/gheg.2016.7
- Rivera, J., Sotres-alvarez, D., Habicht, J., & Shamah, T. (2004). Impact of the Mexican Program for Education, Health, and Nutrition (Progresa) on Rates of Growth and Anemia in Infants and Young Children: A Randomized Effectiveness Study. JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association, 291, 2563–2570. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.21.2563
- Rob, U., Rahman, M., & Bellows, B. (2011). Evaluation of the impact of the voucher and accreditation approach on improving reproductive behaviors and RH status: Bangladesh. *BMC Public Health*, *11*(May 2014). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-257
- Rodríguez, M. M., Heymann, J., & Kaufman, J. S. (2014). Are tuition-free primary education policies associated with lower infant and neonatal mortality in low- and middle-income countries ? *Social Science & Medicine*, *120*, 153–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.09.016
- Ronda, E., Hernández-Mora, A., García, A. M., & Regidor, E. (2009). [Maternal occupation, pregnancy length and low birth weight]. *Gaceta Sanitaria / S.E.S.P.A.S, 23*(3), 179–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaceta.2008.06.002
- Ronggui, H. (2016). *R-based Qualitative Data Analysis. R package version 0.2-8*. http://rqda.r-forge.r-project.org/
- Ronsmans, C., Holtz, S., & Stanton, C. (2006). Socioeconomic differentials in caesarean rates in developing countries: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69639-6
- Rose, S. (2013). Mortality risk score prediction in an elderly population using machine learning. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *177*(5), 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kws241
- Rosenberg, R. E., Ahmed, A. S. M. N. U., Ahmed, S., Saha, S. K., Chowdhury, M. A. K. A., Black, R. E., Santosham, M., & Darmstadt, G. L. (2009). Determining gestational age in a low-resource setting: Validity of last menstrual period. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition*, 27(3), 332–338. https://doi.org/10.3329/jhpn.v27i3.3375
- Rossin, M. (2012). The Effects of Maternity Leave on Children's Birth and Infant Health Outcomes in the United States. *J Health Econ*, 40(6), 1301–1315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-011-0452-9
- Royston, P., & Lambert, P. C. (2011). *Flexible parametric survival analysis using Stata: beyond the Cox model.* (First Edit). StataCorp LP.
- Rudan, I., El Arifeen, S., Black, R. E., & Campbell, H. (2007). Childhood pneumonia and diarrhoea: setting our priorities right. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 7(1), 56–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70687-9
- Ruhm, C. (2000). Parental Leave and Child Health. *Journal of Health Economics*, 19(6), 931–960. https://doi.org/10.3386/w6554
- Ruiz-Casares, M., Nazif-Muñoz, J. I., Iwo, R., & Oulhote, Y. (2018). Nonadult supervision of children in low-and middle-income countries: Results from 61 national population-based surveys. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15081564
- Rutebemberwa, E., Kadobera, D., Katureebe, S., Kalyango, J. N., Mworozi, E., & Pariyo, G. (2012). Use of Community Health Workers for Management of Malaria and Pneumonia in Urban and Rural Areas in Eastern Uganda. 87(Suppl 5), 30–35. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2012.11-0732
- Rutebemberwa, E., Kallander, K., Tomson, G., Peterson, S., & Pariyo, G. (2009). Determinants of delay in care-seeking for febrile children in eastern Uganda. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, *14*(4), 472–479. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.2009.02237.x
- Rutherford, M. E., Mulholland, K., & Hill, P. C. (2010). How access to health care relates to under-five mortality in sub-Saharan Africa: Systematic review. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, *15*(5), 508–519. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.2010.02497.x

- Sahn, D. E., & Stifel, D. C. (2003). Urban-Rural Inequality in Living Standards in Africa. *Journal of African Economics*, 12(4), 564–597. https://doi.org/10.1093/jae/12.4.564
- Salam, R. A., Mansoor, T., Mallick, D., Lassi, Z. S., Das, J. K., & Bhutta, Z. A. (2014). Essential childbirth and postnatal interventions for improved maternal and neonatal health. *Reproductive Health*, *11*(Suppl 1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-S1-S3
- Sankar, M. J., Natarajan, C. K., Das, R. R., Agarwal, R., Chandrasekaran, A., & Paul, V. K. (2016). When do newborns die? A systematic review of timing of overall and cause-specific neonatal deaths in developing countries. *Journal of Perinatology*, *36*(S1), S1–S11. https://doi.org/10.1038/jp.2016.27
- Sankoh, O., & Byass, P. (2012). The INDEPTH network: Filling vital gaps in global epidemiology. International Journal of Epidemiology, 41(3), 579–588. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dys081
- Savage, F., Renfrew, M. J., & Bland, R. M. (2008). Countdown to 2015 for maternal, newborn, and child survival. *Lancet*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61149-6
- Scharf, R. J., DeBoer, M. D., & Guerrant, R. L. (2014). Recent advances in understanding the longterm sequelae of childhood infectious diarrhea. *Current Infectious Disease Reports*, 16(6), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-014-0408-y
- Schmidt, J., Marques, M. R. G., Botti, S., & Marques, M. A. L. (2019). Recent advances and applications of machine learning in solid-state materials science. *Npj Computational Materials*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41524-019-0221-0
- Scott, M., Malde, B., King, C., Phiri, T., Chapota, H., Kainja, E., Banda, F., & Vera-Hernandez, M. (2018). Family networks and infant health promotion: A mixed-methods evaluation from a cluster randomised controlled trial in rural Malawi. *BMJ Open*, 8(6). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019380
- Sekine, K., & Hodgkin, M. E. (2017). Effect of child marriage on girls' school dropout in Nepal: Analysis of data from the Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2014. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0180176
- Semba, R. D., Pee, S. De, Sun, K., Sari, M., Akhter, N., & Bloem, M. W. (2008). Effect of parental formal education on risk of child stunting in Indonesia and Bangladesh: a cross-sectional study. *Lancet*, *371*(9609), 322–328.
- Serina, P., Riley, I., Stewart, A., Flaxman, A. D., Lozano, R., Mooney, M. D., Luning, R., Hernandez, B., Black, R., Ahuja, R., Alam, N., Alam, S. S., Ali, S. M., Atkinson, C., Baqui, A. H., Chowdhury, H. R., Dandona, L., Dandona, R., Dantzer, E., ... Lopez, A. D. (2015). A shortened verbal autopsy instrument for use in routine mortality surveillance systems. *BMC Medicine*, 13(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-015-0528-8
- Settersten, R. A., Bernardi, L., Härkönen, J., Antonucci, T. C., Dykstra, P. A., Heckhausen, J., Kuh, D., Mayer, K. U., Moen, P., Mortimer, J. T., Mulder, C. H., Smeeding, T. M., van der Lippe, T., Hagestad, G. O., Kohli, M., Levy, R., Schoon, I., & Thomson, E. (2020). Understanding the effects of Covid-19 through a life course lens. *Advances in Life Course Research*, *45*(July), 100360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr.2020.100360
- Shah, P. S. (2010). Parity and low birth weight and preterm birth: a systematic review and metaanalyses. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 89(7), 862–875. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016349.2010.486827
- Shah, P. S., Zao, J., & Ali, S. (2011). Maternal Marital Status and Birth Outcomes : A Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses. *Matern Child Health J*, *15*, 1097–1109. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-010-0654-z
- Shallcross, J., L., & Dame, Sally, C., D. (2014). Antibiotic overuse: a key driver of antimicrobial resistance The. *British Journal of General Practice, December 2014*, 604–605. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp14X682561

Shannon, H. H., Joseph, R., Puro, N., & Darrell, E. (2019). Use of Technology in the Management of Obesity: A Literature Review. *Perspectives in Health Information Management*, 16(Fall), 1–18.

Sharma, R., Gaffey, M. F., Alderman, H., Bassani, D. G., Bogard, K., Darmstadt, G. L., Das, J. K., de

Graft-Johnson, J. E., Hamadani, J. D., Horton, S., Huicho, L., Hussein, J., Lye, S., Pérez-Escamilla, R., Proulx, K., Marfo, K., Mathews-Hanna, V., Mclean, M. S., Rahman, A., ... Bhutta, Z. A. (2017). Prioritizing research for integrated implementation of early childhood development and maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and nutrition platforms. *Journal of Global Health*, *7*(1). https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.07.011002

- Sharma, V., Katz, J., Mullany, L. C., Khatry, S. K., Leclerq, S. C., Shrestha, S. R., Darmstadt, G. L., & Tielsch, J. M. (2009). *Young Maternal Age and the Risk of Neonatal Mortality in Rural Nepal*. *162*(9), 828–835. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.162.9.828.Young
- Silterra, J., Gillette, M. A., Lanaspa, M., Pellé, K. G., Valim, C., Ahmad, R., Acácio, S., Almendinger, K. D., Tan, Y., Madrid, L., Alonso, P. L., Carr, S. A., Wiegand, R. C., Bassat, Q., Mesirov, J. P., Milner, D. A., & Wirth, D. F. (2017). Transcriptional categorization of the etiology of pneumonia syndrome in pediatric patients in malaria-endemic areas. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *215*(2), 312–320. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiw531
- Silva, R., Amouzou, A., Munos, M., Marsh, A., Hazel, E., Victora, C., Black, R., & Bryce, J. (2016). Can Community Health Workers Report Accurately on Births and Deaths? Results of Field Assessments in Ethiopia, Malawi and Mali. *Plos One*, *11*(1), e0144662. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144662
- Singh-manoux, A., Dugravot, A., Smith, G. D., & Subramanyam, M. (2008). Adult Education and Child Mortality in India. *Epidemiology*, *19*(2), 294–301. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181632c75
- Singh, U., Ueranantasun, A., & Kuning, M. (2017). *Factors associated with low birth weight in Nepal using multiple imputation*. 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1252-5
- Sinha, S., Sc, M., & Indian, F. (2017). Association between maternal age at childbirth and perinatal and under-five mortality in a prospective birth cohort from Delhi. *Indian Pediatrics*, *53*(10), 871–877.
- Smith, A. C., Thomas, E., Snoswell, C. L., Haydon, H., Mehrotra, A., Clemensen, J., & Caffery, L. J. (2020). Telehealth for global emergencies: Implications for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, *26*(5), 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X20916567
- Smith, G. D. (2007). Life-course approaches to inequalities in adult chronic disease risk: Boyd Orr Lecture. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *66*(2), 216–236. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665107005460
- Smith, M. L., Kakuhikire, B., Baguma, C., Rasmussen, J. D., Bangsberg, D. R., & Tsai, A. C. (2020). Do household asset wealth measurements depend on who is surveyed? Asset reporting concordance within multi-adult households in rural Uganda. *Journal of Global Health*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.10.010412
- Snilstveit, B., Stevenson, J., Menon, R., Phillips, D., Gallagher, E., Geleen, M., Jobse, H., Schmidt, T., & Jimenez, E. (2016). The impact of education programmes on learning and school participation in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review summary report (Issue September 2016). http://www.3ieimpact.org/media/filer_public/2016/09/20/srs7-education-report.pdf
- Sochas, L. (2019). Women who break the rules: Social exclusion and inequities in pregnancy and childbirth experiences in Zambia. *Social Science and Medicine*, *232*(May), 278–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.05.013
- Song, X., Mitnitski, A., Cox, J., & Rockwood, K. (2004). Comparison of machine learning techniques with classical statistical models in predicting health outcomes. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, *107*(February), 736–740. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-60750-949-3-736
- Soremekun, S., Kasteng, F., Lingam, R., Vassall, A., Kertho, E., Settumba, S., Etou, P. L., Nanyonjo, A., Asbroek, G. ten, Kallander, K., & Kirkwood, B. (2018). Variation in the quality and out-of-pocket cost of treatment for childhood malaria, diarrhoea, and pneumonia: Community and facility based care in rural Uganda. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(11), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200543

Stuyft, P., Sorensen, S. C., Delgado, E., & Bocaletti, E. (2007). Health seeking behaviour for child illness in rural Guatemala. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 1(2), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.1996.tb00022.x

Subedar, H., Barnett, S., Chaka, T., Dladla, S., Hagerman, E., Jenkins, S., Matshimane, G., Mangold, K., Msimanga, B., Pooe, R., Schultz, L., & Pillay, Y. (2018). Tackling HIV by empowering adolescent girls and young women: A multisectoral, government led campaign in South Africa. *BMJ* (*Online*), 363(box 2), 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k4585

Sullivan, T. R., White, I. R., Salter, A. B., Ryan, P., & Lee, K. J. (2018). Should multiple imputation be the method of choice for handling missing data in randomized trials? *Statistical Methods in Medical Research*, *27*(9), 2610–2626. https://doi.org/10.1177/0962280216683570

- Suman, R. P. N., Udani, R., & Nanavati, R. (2008). Kangaroo mother care for low birth weight infants: a randomized controlled trial. *Indian Pediatrics*, 45(1), 17–23.
- Susin, L. R. O., Giugliani, E. R. J., & Kummer, S. C. (2005). Influence of grandmothers on breastfeeding practices. *Revista de Saude Publica*, *39*(2), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0034-89102005000200001
- Swamy, G. K., Østbye, T., & Skjærven, R. (2008). Association of preterm birth with long-term survival, reproduction, and next-generation preterm birth. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*, 299(12), 1429–1436. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.299.12.1429

Tallo, K. T., Suandi, I. K. G., & Wandita, S. (2012). *The effect of exclusive breastfeeding on reducing acute respiratory infections in low birth weight infants*. *52*(4), 229–232. https://paediatricaindonesiana.org/index.php/paediatrica-indonesiana/article/view/402

Tamirat, K. S., Sisay, M. M., Tesema, G. A., & Tessema, Z. T. (2021). Determinants of adverse birth outcome in Sub-Saharan Africa : analysis of recent demographic and health surveys. 1–10.

Thaddeus, S., & Maine, D. (1994). Too Far to Walk : Maternal Mortality in Context. *Elsevier Science Ltd*, *38*(April 1994), 1091–1110. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(94)90226-7

Thomas, P. A., Liu, H., & Umberson, D. (2017). Family Relationships and Well-Being. *Innovation in Aging*, 1(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igx025

Tickell, K. D., Pavlinac, P. B., John-Stewart, G. C., Denno, D. M., Richardson, B. A., Naulikha, J. M., Kirera, R. K., Swierczewski, B. E., Singa, B. O., & Walson, J. L. (2017). Impact of childhood nutritional status on pathogen prevalence and severity of acute diarrhea. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 97(5), 1337–1344. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.17-0139

Tinker, A., Ten Hoope-Bender, P., Azfar, S., Bustreo, F., & Bell, R. (2005). A continuum of care to save newborn lives. *Lancet*, *365*(9462), 822–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71016-3

Tomlinson, M., Hunt, X., Daelmans, B., Rollins, N., Ross, D., & Oberklaid, F. (2021). Optimising child and adolescent health and development through an integrated ecological life course approach. *The BMJ*, 372, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m4784

Tsao, S. F., Chen, H., Tisseverasinghe, T., Yang, Y., Li, L., & Butt, Z. A. (2021). What social media told us in the time of COVID-19: a scoping review. *The Lancet Digital Health*, *3*(3), e175–e194. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30315-0

Tsui, A. O., Mcdonald-mosley, R., & Burke, A. E. (2010). *Family Planning and the Burden of Unintended Pregnancies. 32*, 152–174. https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxq012

Uganda Bureau of Statistics. (2016). National Population and Housing Census 2014.

Uganda Bureau of Statistics. (2017). *Statistical Abstract. Uganda Bureau of Statistics.* http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/statistical_abstracts/2017_Statistical_Abstract. pdf

Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International. (2011). *Uganda Demographic and Health Survey* 2011. http://ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf documents/Uganda DHS 1988-89 Final Report.pdf

Uganda Bureau of Statistics and ICF International. (2018). Uganda Demographic and Health Survey 2016. https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR333/FR333.pdf

Uganda Ministry of Health. (2018a). Annual Health Sector Performance Report 2017/18.

http://library.health.go.ug/publications/annual-quarterly-performance-reports/annual-health-sector-performance-report-201718

Uganda Ministry of Health. (2018b). *National Health Facility Master List 2018*. http://library.health.go.ug/publications/health-facility-inventory/national-health-facilitymaster-list-2017

Umberson, D., & Thomeer, M. B. (2020). Family Matters: Research on Family Ties and Health, 2010 to 2020. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *82*(1), 404–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12640

- UNICEF. (2014). The State of the World's Children 2014 -Every Child Counts. In *United Nations Children's Fund*. http://www.unicef.org/sowc2014/numbers/documents/english/SOWC2014_In Numbers_28 Jan.pdf
- UNICEF. (2017). Narrowing the Gaps: the Power of Investing in the Poorest Children. In *Unicef*. United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF).

https://www.unicef.org/publications/files/UNICEF_The_power_of_investing_in_the_poorest_c hildren.pdf

- UNICEF Webpage. (n.d.-a). *Innovations UNICEF Uganda*. Retrieved August 17, 2021, from https://www.unicef.org/uganda/what-we-do/innovations
- UNICEF Webpage. (n.d.-b). *U-Report Uganda*. Retrieved August 17, 2021, from http://ureport.ug/story/185/%0Ahttp://www.ureport.ug/story/185/

UNICEF, & WHO. (2013). Ending Preventable Child Deaths from Pneumonia and Diarrhoea by 2025: The integrated Global Action Plan for Pneumonia and Diarrhoea (GAPPD). In *World Health Organisation*. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/79200/1/9789241505239_eng.pdf

- United Nation Children's Emergency Fund. (n.d.). *Query Data UNICEF DATA*. Retrieved June 22, 2021, from https://data.unicef.org/dv_index/
- United Nations. (2016). *The Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescent's Health (2016-2030).*
- United Nations Children's Fund and World Health Organization. (2004). Low Birthweight: Country, regional and global estimates. In *Unicef*.
- United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME). (2015). *Levels & Trends in Child Mortality Report 2015*. http://www.childmortality.org/
- United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME). (2017). Levels & Trends in Child Mortality: Report 2017, Estimates Developed by the UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. http://www.childmortality.org/files_v21/download/IGME report 2017 child mortality final.pdf
- United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME). (2018). Levels & Trends in Child Mortality: Report 2018, Estimates developed by the United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation'.
- United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME). (2019). *Levels & Trends in Child Mortality: Report 2019, Estimates developed by the UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation*. United Nations Children's Fund.
- United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME). (2020). Levels & Trends in Child Mortality: Report 2020, Estimates Developed by the UN Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. https://www.unicef.org/media/60561/file/UN-IGME-child-mortalityreport-2019.pdf
- Upadhyay, P., Rai, S. K., & Krishnan, A. (2017). Using Three Delays Model to Understand the Social Factors Responsible for Neonatal Deaths in Rural Haryana, India. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics*, *59*(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/tropej/fms060
- Uthman, O. A., Uthman, M. B., & Yahaya, I. (2008). A population-based study of effect of multiple birth on infant mortality in Nigeria. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *8*, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-8-41
- Valimba, R., Liana, J., Joshi, M. P., Rutta, E., Embrey, M., Bundala, M., & Kibassa, B. (2014). Engaging the private sector to improve antimicrobial use in the community: Experience from accredited

drug dispensing outlets in Tanzania. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Policy and Practice*, 7(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/2052-3211-7-11

- Van de Poel, E., O'Donnell, O., & Van Doorslaer, E. (2007). Are urban children really healthier? Evidence from 47 developing countries. *Social Science and Medicine*, *65*(10), 1986–2003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.06.032
- Van Den Heuvel, J. F. M., Teunis, C. J., Franx, A., Crombag, N. M. T. H., & Bekker, M. N. (2020). Homebased telemonitoring versus hospital admission in high risk pregnancies: A qualitative study on women's experiences. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 20(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-2779-4
- van Ginkel, J. R., Linting, M., Rippe, R. C. A., & van der Voort, A. (2020). Rebutting Existing Misconceptions About Multiple Imputation as a Method for Handling Missing Data. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *102*(3), 297–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2018.1530680
- Vaughan, D. A., & Cleary, B. J. (2013). Delivery outcomes for nulliparous women at the extremes of maternal age a cohort study. *BJOG*, *121*, 261–268. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12311
- Vesel, L., Bergh, A., Kerber, K. J., Valsangkar, B., Mazia, G., Moxon, S. G., Blencowe, H., Darmstadt, G. L., Johnson, J. D. G., & Dickson, K. E. (2015). Kangaroo mother care : a multi-country analysis of health system bottlenecks and potential solutions. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 15(Suppl 2), S5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-15-S2-S5
- Victora, C. G., Barros, A. J. D., França, G. V. A., da Silva, I. C. M., Carvajal-Velez, L., & Amouzou, A. (2017). The contribution of poor and rural populations to national trends in reproductive, maternal, newborn, and child health coverage: analyses of cross-sectional surveys from 64 countries. *The Lancet Global Health*, 5(4), e402–e407. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30077-3
- Victora, C. G., Wagstaff, A., Schellenberg, J. A., Gwatkin, D., Claeson, M., & Habicht, J. P. (2003). Applying an equity lens to child health and mortality: More of the same is not enough. *Lancet*, *362*(9379), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13917-7
- Vogel, J. P., Souza, J. P., Mori, R., Morisaki, N., Lumbiganon, P., Laopaiboon, M., Ortiz-Panozo, E., Hernandez, B., Pérez-Cuevas, R., Roy, M., Mittal, S., Cecatti, J. G., Tunçalp, Ö., Gülmezoglu, A. M., & WHO Multicountry Survey on Maternal. (2014). Maternal complications and perinatal mortality: findings of the World Health Organization Multicountry Survey on Maternal and Newborn Health. *BJOG : An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *121 Suppl*, 76– 88. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12633
- Wainstock, T., Shoham-Vardi, I., Glasser, S., Anteby, E., & Lerner-Geva, L. (2015). Fetal sex modifies effects of prenatal stress exposure and adverse birth outcomes. *Stress*, *18*(1), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2014.974153
- Waiswa, P., Akuze, J., Moyer, C., Kwesiga, D., Arthur, S., Sankoh, O., Welaga, P., Bangha, M., Eminas, J., Muuo, S., Ziraba, A., Kerber, K., Mclean, E., Afolabi, S., Twine, R., Lele, P., Juvekar, S., Abera, M., Tessema, F., ... Mwangangi, M. N. (2019). Status of birth and pregnancy outcome capture in Health Demographic Surveillance Sites in 13 countries. *International Journal of Public Health*, 64(6), 909–920. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-019-01241-0
- Waiswa, P., Kallander, K., Peterson, S., Tomson, G., & Pariyo, G. W. (2010). Using the three delays model to understand why newborn babies die in eastern Uganda. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, *15*(8), 964–972. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.2010.02557.x
- Waiswa, P., Kalter, H. D., Jakob, R., & Black, R. E. (2012). Increased use of social autopsy is needed to improve maternal, neonatal and child health programmes in low-income countries. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *90*(6). https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.12.105718
- Waiswa, P., Pariyo, G., Kallander, K., Akuze, J., Namazzi, G., Ekirapa-Kiracho, E., Kerber, K., Sengendo, H., Aliganyira, P., Lawn, J. E., Peterson, S., Byaruhanga, R., Kadobera, D., Kalungi, J., Nakakeeto, M., Naikoba, S., Namusoko, S., Namutamba, S., & Tagoola, A. (2015). Effect of the Uganda Newborn Study on care-seeking and care practices: A cluster-randomised controlled trial. *Global Health Action*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v8.24584

- Wall, S. N., Lee, A. C. C., Carlo, W., Goldenberg, R., Niermeyer, S., Darmstadt, G. L., Keenan, W., Bhutta, Z. A., Perlman, J., & Lawn, J. E. (2010). Reducing Intrapartum-Related Neonatal Deaths in Low- and Middle-Income Countries-What Works? *Seminars in Perinatology*, 34(6), 395–407. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2010.09.009
- Weiner, R., Ronsmans, C., Dorman, E., Jilo, H., Muhoro, A., & Shulman, C. (2003). Labour complications remain the most important risk factors for perinatal mortality in rural Kenya. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *81*(8), 561–566. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed6&NEWS=N&AN=200336 2020
- Weng, Y. H., Yang, C. Y., & Chiu, Y. W. (2014). Risk assessment of adverse birth outcomes in relation to maternal age. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114843
- Were, W. M., Daelmans, B., Bhutta, Z., Duke, T., Bahl, R., Boschi-Pinto, C., Young, M., Starbuck, E., & Bhan, M. K. (2015). Children's health priorities and interventions. *Bmj*, *262*, h4300. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h4300
- Whitney, C. G. (2017). Measuring progress on preventing pneumonia deaths: are we there yet? *The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 17*(11), 1100–1101. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30481-4
- WHO. (2015). WHO recommendations on health promotion interventions for maternal and newborn health. World Health Organization. http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/172427
- WHO, & UNICEF. (2008). World report on child injury prevention World report on child injury prevention (M. Peden, Kayode Oyegbite, J. Ozanne-Smith, A. A. Hyder, C. Branche, A. F. Rahman, Kidist, F. Rivara, & B. Kidist (eds.)). https://www.unicef.org/media/files/PDF.pdf
- WHO, & UNICEF. (2014). *Every newborn: an Action Plan To End Preventable Deaths*. World Health Organization. http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/127938
- Williams, C. L., & Heikes, E. J. (1993). The importance of researcher's gender in the in-depth interview: Evidence from Two Case Studies of Male Nurses. *Gender & Society*, 7(2), 280–291. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124393007002008
- World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, W. B. G. (2018). Nurturing care for early childhood development: a framework for helping children survive and thrive to transform health and human potential. In *World Health Organisation*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/child/nurturing-care-framework/en/
- World Health Organization. (2013). Handbook on health inequality monitoring: with a special focus on low- and middle-income countries. In *World Health Organization*. World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2015). *Health in 2015: from MDG Millennium Development Goals to SDG Sustainable Development Goals*. http://www.who.int/gho/publications/mdgs-sdgs/en/
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2003). *Kangaroo mother care: A practical guide*. World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2006). *Optimal feeding of low-birth-weight infants: technical review* (E. Karen & B. Rajiv (eds.)). World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/child-adolescent-health
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2010). Trends in Maternal Mortality: 1990 to 2008 Estimates developed by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA and The World Bank. In *Organization* (Vol. 32). https://doi.org/15 April 2012
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2012). Verbal autopsy standards: WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data. World Health Organization.

http://www.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/WHO_VA_2012_RC1_Instrument.pdf

World Health Organization (WHO). (2015a). *Health in 2015: From MDG to SDG* (Vol. 37, Issue 1). https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=112592255&site=ehostlive%5Cnhttps://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/3490griggs.pdf

World Health Organization (WHO). (2015b). WHO recommendations on interventions to improve

preterm birth outcomes. World Health Organization.

- World Health Organization (WHO). (2016). WHO Recommendation on Antenatal care for positive pregnancy experience. In *World Health Organization*. World Health Organization. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/250796/1/9789241549912-eng.pdf
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2017). Primary Health Care Systems (PRIMASYS): case study from Uganda. In *World Health Organisation*. http://www.who.int/alliance-hpsr/projects/primasys/en/
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2018). *World Malaria Report 2018*. https://www.who.int/malaria/publications/world-malaria-report-2018/en/
- World Health Organization & United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF. (2010). *Countdown to 2015 decade report (2000-2010) with country profiles: taking stock of maternal, newborn and child survival.* https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44346
- Xie, W., Dai, P., Qin, Y., Wu, M., Yang, B., & Yu, X. (2020). Effectiveness of telemedicine for pregnant women with gestational diabetes mellitus: An updated meta-analysis of 32 randomized controlled trials with trial sequential analysis. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 20(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-02892-1
- Ye, Y., Wamukoya, M., Ezeh, A., Emina, J. B. O., & Sankoh, O. (2012). Health and demographic surveillance systems: A step towards full civil registration and vital statistics system in sub-Sahara Africa? *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-741
- Young, R., Ayiasi, R. M., Shung-King, M., & Morgan, R. (2020). Health systems of oppression: applying intersectionality in health systems to expose hidden inequities. *Health Policy and Planning*, 35(9), 1228–1230. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czaa111
- Zhang, J., Himes, J. H., Guo, Y., Jiang, J., Yang, L., Lu, Q., Ruan, H., & Shi, S. (2013). Birth Weight, Growth and Feeding Pattern in Early Infancy Predict Overweight/Obesity Status at Two Years of Age: A Birth Cohort Study of Chinese Infants. *PLoS ONE*, 8(6), 4–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0064542
- Zupan, J. (2005). Perinatal mortality in developing countries. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 352(20), 2047–2048. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp058032